
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2 March 2015 
 
To: Councillor Robert Turner, Portfolio Holder 
 
  Henry Batchelor Opposition Spokesman 
 Kevin Cuffley Scrutiny and Overview Committee 

Monitor 
 Aidan Van de Weyer Opposition Spokesman 
 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of PLANNING PORTFOLIO HOLDER'S MEETING, 
which will be held in MONKFIELD ROOM, FIRST FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall on 
TUESDAY, 10 MARCH 2015 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Yours faithfully 
JEAN HUNTER 
Chief Executive 
 
Requests for a large print agenda must be received at least 48 hours before the meeting. 
 

 
AGENDA 

PAGES 
 PROCEDURAL ITEMS   
 
1. Apologies for absence    
 To receive any apologies for absence.  
   
2. Declarations of interest    
 To receive any declarations of interest from Members.  
   
3. Minutes of previous meeting   1 - 4 
 To consider the minutes of the previous meeting held on 3 February 

2015 as a correct record. 
 

   
 DECISION ITEMS   
 
4. Section 106 planning obligations - speeding up negotiations: 

student accommodation and affordable housing contributions 
consultation  

 5 - 32 

 
5. South Cambridgeshire Local Plan - responding to the local green 

space landowner consultation (Key) 
 33 - 130 

 
6. Response to building more homes on brownfield land 

Government consultation  
 131 - 138 

 
 

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge 
CB23 6EA 
t: 03450 450 500 
f: 01954 713149 
dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15 
minicom: 01480 376743 
www.scambs.gov.uk 



7. Local Development Framework annual monitoring report 2013-14 
- part 2  

 139 - 302 
 
 STANDING ITEMS   
 
8. Work Programme   303 - 304 
 
9. Date of next meeting    
 To note that the next meeting will be held on 9 June 2015 at 10am.  
   

 
OUR LONG-TERM VISION 

 
South Cambridgeshire will continue to be the best place to live, work and study in the country. 
Our district will demonstrate impressive and sustainable economic growth. Our residents will 
have a superb quality of life in an exceptionally beautiful, rural and green environment. 
 
 

OUR VALUES 
 

We will demonstrate our corporate values in all our actions. These are: 
• Working Together 
• Integrity 
• Dynamism 
• Innovation 
  



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices  
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 
When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

• Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 
emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 
If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 
We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 

   



This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Planning Portfolio Holder's Meeting held on 
Tuesday, 3 February 2015 at 2.30 p.m. 

 
Portfolio Holder: Robert Turner 
 
Councillors in attendance: 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee monitors: 
 

Kevin Cuffley 
 

Also in attendance: Anna Bradnam and Lynda Harford 
 
Officers: 
 Jonathan Dixon Principal Planning Policy Officer (Transport) 
Jane Green Head of New Communities 
Caroline Hunt Planning Policy Manager 
John Koch Planning Team Leader (West) 
Jo Mills Planning and New Communities Director 
Tony Pierce Interim Development Control Manager 
Ian Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 There were no declarations of interest. 
  
2. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder signed, as a correct record, the minutes of he meeting held 

on 18 November 2014. 
  
3. PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE SERVICE 
 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder considered a report reviewing the current processes and 

associated fees for providing pre-application advice.  
 
The Team Leader (East) summarised the report and highlighted a number of key 
elements. 
 
The Portfolio Holder welcomed agents’ increasingly positive reaction to the service. 
 
Those present discussed how the Service could develop so as to embrace highways, 
Planning Performance Agreements, and Management Plans. It must remain effective. The 
Head of New Communities summarised the steps being taken to balance the interests of 
Agents and Parish Councils. The Portfolio Holder said that they should always be 
encouraged to speak with each other as this should help reduce any suspicion and 
misunderstanding. 
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder approved 
 
1. the introduction of a one-off meeting service in addition to the existing service; 
2. cessation of the existing free written permitted development advice service with the 
retention of the Planning Duty Officer service to provide up to 15 minutes of free 
verbal advice; and 

3. Implementation of the above changes from 1 April 2015, with a six-month review 
taking place at the Portfolio Holder meeting scheduled for 10 November 2015. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Planning Portfolio Holder's Meeting Tuesday, 3 February 2015 

The Planning Portfolio Holder endorsed the increase in fees and recommends that 
Cabinet approves the increase in fees at its next meeting on 12 February 2015 to be 
introduced on 1 April 2015 as the new fees are likely to generate an annual increase in 
income of more than £50,000. 

  
4. NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS: GAMLINGAY AREA DESIGNATION 
 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder considered a report relating to Gamlingay Parish Council’s 

application to designate the parish of Gamlingay as a Neighbourhood Area. 
 
The Senior Planning Policy Officer clarified the boundary of the proposed Neighbouhood 
Area. 
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder approved the designation of the Gamlingay Neighbourhood 
Area.   

  
5. RESPONSE TO UTTLESFORD GYPSY AND TRAVELLER ISSUES AND OPTIONS 

CONSULTATION 
 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder considered a report seeking his agreement to the proposed 

response to Uttlesford District Council’s Gypsy and Traveller Local Plan Issues and 
Options Consultation. 
 
In particular, he welcomed the Duty to Cooperate measures outline in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  Should needs arise in the future that could not be 
met appropriately in South Cambridgeshire, South Cambridgeshire District Council would 
be able to seek collaboration with surrounding areas, as indicated in the NPPF. 
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder endorsed the following response: 
 
“‘South Cambridgeshire District Council has no objections to the proposals in the Issues 
and Options Consultation. Uttlesford District Council are commended for planning to meet 
the needs of travellers. However, further clarification is needed as to how wider needs 
identified in the Essex GTAA, such as for transit provision, will be met in Essex, if this is 
not in Uttlesford.  

 
The South Cambridgeshire Submission Local Plan, submitted to the Secretary of State in 
March 2014, identifies a target of 85 Gypsy and Traveller pitches between 2011 and 2031. 
This reflects the Cambridge SubRegion GTANA 2011 (as amended 2012). The Council 
has granted planning permissions which meet this figure, such that no allocations are 
proposed in the Local Plan, although it indicates that opportunities will be sought to deliver 
sites through new communities. The Local Plan has been subject to objections which 
consider that the target should be higher, and this will be tested at the Examination. 
Several planning application appeal inspectors have also indicated that they consider 
there remains an outstanding need. 

 
Under the Duty to Cooperate, should needs arise in the future that cannot be met 
appropriately in South Cambridgeshire, the Council may seek collaboration with 
surrounding areas, as indicated in the NPPF, Planning for Travellers and the Duty to 
Cooperate.’ 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 2



Planning Portfolio Holder's Meeting Tuesday, 3 February 2015 

6. PLANNING, BUILDING CONTROL, ENFORCEMENT, SECTION 106 AND APPEALS 
PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 3 2014/15 

 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder received and noted a report detailing Planning, Building 

Control, Enforcement and Appeals Performance information for Quarter 3 (October - 
December 2014). 
 
The Interim Development Control Manager concluded that performance was improving.  
 
Those present discussed how future statistics should be presented. The Portfolio Holder 
said that the figures should be reported in as clear and simple a format as possible. 
Lessons might be learnt from how other local authorities presented information.  

  
7. WORK PROGRAMME 
 
 With the addition of reviewing the Pre-Applicarion Advice Service in November 2015, the 

Work Programme would be updated as soon as possible. 
  
8. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
 Those present noted that the next Planning Portfolio Holder meeting would take place on 

Tuesday 10 March 2015, starting at 10.00am 
  
  

The Meeting ended at 3.35 p.m. 
 

 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Portfolio Holder 10 March 2015 
Lead Officer: Director – Planning and New Communities  

 
 

 
Section 106 planning obligations – speeding up negotiations: student accommodation 

and affordable housing contributions consultation 
 

Purpose 
 
1. On 20 February 2015 CLG launched a consultation seeking views on proposals 

relating to the following 2 areas:  
 
•  speeding up the negotiation and completion of section 106 planning obligations 
 
•  whether the requirement to provide affordable housing contributions acts as a 

barrier to development providing dedicated student accommodation 
  

2. The closing date for responses is 19 March 2015. 
 
3. This is not a key decision because it is securing the Portfolio Holder’s endorsement 

as to the Councils consultation response, rather than creating new policy itself. 
 

Recommendations 
 
4. It is recommended that the Portfolio Holder approves the draft response as per 

Appendix B and further provides delegated authority to the Director - New 
Communities & Planning to (i) make minor changes and (ii) provide supplemental 
information to support the response. 

 
Executive Summary 

 
5. Section 106 agreements are negotiated alongside the planning decision-taking 

process. Negotiations should be concluded within the statutory timeframes of 8 
weeks, 13 weeks for major development or a longer period agreed in writing between 
the applicant and local planning authority.  
 

6. Guidance is clear that apart from in exceptional circumstances, planning obligations 
should not be the subject of a planning condition. Therefore, any delays in finalising 
Section 106 agreements can hold up decision notices being issued, extending the 
time it takes to deliver much needed housing and commercial development. 
 

7. The Government claims that protracted s106 negotiations arise for a variety of 
reasons, including: 
 
• The contentious nature of agreeing: 

(i) what is fair, reasonable and necessary mitigation in the circumstances of 
the case, exacerbated by parallel viability testing to “prove” what is affordable. 
(ii) detailed and robust drafting of the agreement itself. 

• Limited legal capacity, particularly in smaller authorities. 
• A lack of incentives to resolve negotiations quickly. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



8. Officers consider that common reasons for section 106 agreements being delayed 
are: 

 
(i) The applicant not engaging in proper community engagement or seeking pre-

application advice that would help determine the heads of terms  
(ii) The applicant being unwilling to submit a heads of terms alongside the 

planning application, including land registry details 
(iii) The time period within which consultation responses are received 
(iv) The requirement for multiple signatories to the agreement, including 

mortgagees 
(v) Land being unregistered 
(vi) The issue of development unviability being raised at a later point in the 

application process, or being raised but with insufficient information for the 
Council to properly assess the claims 

(vii) Competing and conflicting workloads within legal services 
 
9. Government are proposing that legislative change is required to bring about a 

significant reduction in the delays associated with negotiating Section 106 
agreements, and that this should best be achieved by the introduction of a new 
dispute resolution mechanism. 
 

10. Officers support the use of conditional time limits on planning approvals, but do not 
support the proposal for any dispute resolution, as this would introduce additional 
bureaucracy, probable delay and expense. 
 

11. Lastly Government are seeking views as to what extent consultees consider that the 
requirement to provide affordable housing contributions acts as a barrier to 
development providing dedicated student accommodation.  
 

12. Officers confirm that affordable housing is not sought on developments proposing 
student housing. 
 

13. Responses will inform consideration of detailed proposals to speed up section 106 
negotiations, which may require primary legislation in the next Parliament.  

 
Considerations 

 
14. Any new legislation of guidance introduced by Government will have an effect on the 

Councils decision making process and resourcing. 
 

Options 
 
15. (i) To approve the consultation response as currently drafted 

(ii) To propose an alternative response to the consultation 
 

Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 
 
16. No consultation has been undertaken on the content of this report. 
 

Implications 
 

17. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, there are no significant implications. 

 
 

Page 6



Background Papers 
 
APPENDIX A: CLG CONSULTATION 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/405819/Sectio
n_106_Planning_Obligations___speeding_up_negotiations.pdf 
 
APPENDIX B: DRAFT SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE RESPONSE 
 
Report Author:  Tony Pierce – Development Control Manager (interim) 

Telephone: (01954) 713165 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

February 2015 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Section 106 Planning Obligations – speeding 
up negotiations 

Student accommodation and affordable housing 
contributions 

 

Consultation 

 

Page 9



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2015 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the 
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence,http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

February 2015 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4497-6

Page 10



 

3 

Contents 

The consultation process and how to respond 4 

Introduction 5 

Speeding up Section 106 negotiations 6 

Affordable housing contributions and student accommodation 11 

Consultation Questions – response form 12 

 

 

Page 11



 

4 

The consultation process and how to respond 
 

Scope of the consultation  

Topic of this 
consultation:  

The Autumn Statement 2014 included a 
commitment to consult on measures to  speed up 
the negotiation and agreement of section 106 
agreements as part of the Government’s 
commitment to delivering a faster and more 
effective planning system 

Scope of this 
consultation:  

The consultation seeks views on what mechanisms 
may be used to speed up the process of agreeing 
planning obligations.   
 
The consultation also seeks views on whether the 
requirement to provide affordable housing 
contributions acts as a barrier to development 
providing dedicated student accommodation. 

Geographical scope:  These proposals relate to England only.  

 
Basic information 

To:  This is a public consultation and it is open to 
anyone with an interest in these proposals to 
respond. 

Body responsible for 
the consultation:  

The Department for Communities and Local 
Government is responsible for the policy and the 
consultation exercise.  

Duration:  This consultation will begin on 20 February and end 
on 19 March. 

Enquiries:  planning.consultation@communities.gsi.gov.uk 
How to respond:  Please respond to this consultation by email to: 

planning.consultation@communities.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Alternatively, please send postal responses to:  
Department for Communities and Local 
Government  
3rd Floor, Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street  
London 
SW1P 4DF 

After the  
consultation:  

A summary of responses to the consultation will be 
published. 

 
Background 

Getting to this stage:  The Autumn Statement 2014 can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-
events/autumn-statement-2014 

Page 12



 

5 

Introduction 
 
 

About this consultation 
 
1. The Government has already taken steps to transform the planning system into a 

simpler, more transparent and streamlined process, through which new homes can be 
delivered and business investment secured. The National Planning Policy Framework 
streamlined over 1,000 pages of planning policy into a clear, easily accessible 
statement of national policy. Through the Localism Act 2011 and the Growth and 
Infrastructure Act 2013, important reforms to simplify and speed-up planning 
procedures have been taken forward. 

 
2. Our reforms have given significant additional power to local authorities and 

communities in deciding the scale, location and form of development in their areas. 
But with this power comes a responsibility to exercise planning functions properly. We 
are making good progress. Since the introduction of these reforms, decision making 
performance has improved. Local residents have seen the positive impact of Section 
106 contributions while small scale developers and self-builders have benefited from 
new policy thresholds to remove disproportionate charges. There remains some way 
to go, however, before every local authority uses its powers effectively to encourage 
appropriate development.  

 
3. Views are sought on proposals relating to the following two areas:  

· Speeding up the negotiation and completion of Section 106 planning obligations.  

· Whether the requirement to provide affordable housing contributions acts as a 
barrier to development providing dedicated student accommodation. 

 
4. We would welcome comments from any individuals or organisations with an interest 

in these proposals, which apply to England only. Responses will inform consideration 
of detailed proposals to speed up section 106 negotiations, which may require 
primary legislation in the next Parliament. We will consult further on any changes in 
relation to student accommodation should the responses to this consultation suggest 
that there is an issue. The closing date for responses is 19 March. 

Page 13



 

6 

 

Speeding up Section 106 negotiations 
 

Section 106 agreements and planning performance 
 
5. The Community Infrastructure Levy is the Government’s preferred mechanism for 

collecting developer contributions to infrastructure identified as necessary to support 
the development of an area. Nevertheless, planning obligations entered into under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (“Section 106 agreements”) 
continue to play an important role in securing mitigation to make proposed 
developments acceptable.  
 

6. Subject to meeting the tests in national policy1 and legislation2, Section 106 
agreements can provide a flexible tool for delivering a broad range of site-specific 
infrastructure and community facilities necessary to get schemes off the ground. 
Given this important role in unlocking development, it is vital that the process of 
finalising Section 106 agreements is as swift and efficient as possible. 
 

7. Section 106 agreements are negotiated alongside the planning decision-taking 
process. Negotiations should be concluded within the statutory timeframes of 8 
weeks, 13 weeks for major development or a longer period agreed in writing between 
the applicant and local planning authority (“agreed extension of time”). Guidance is 
clear that apart from in exceptional circumstances, planning obligations should not be 
the subject of a planning condition. Therefore, any delays in finalising Section 106 
agreements can hold up decision notices being issued, which in turn delays the 
delivery of much needed housing and commercial development. 
 

8. Clear feedback from the sector suggests that protracted Section 106 negotiations can 
cause significant delays to the planning application process. These may arise for a 
variety of reasons, including: 
· The contentious nature of agreeing: 

o what is fair, reasonable and necessary mitigation in the circumstances of 
the case, exacerbated by parallel viability testing to “prove” what is 
affordable. 

o detailed and robust drafting of the agreement itself. 
· Limited legal capacity, particularly in smaller authorities. 
· A lack of incentives to resolve negotiations quickly. 

9. Delays may occur after a planning committee has resolved to grant planning 
permission subject to the completion of a Section 106 agreement. To incentivise 
speedy negotiations, we are aware that some councils attach a time limit to such 
committee resolutions, after which the application will be refused if the Section 106 
agreement is not signed. As long as this encourages swift negotiations and does not 

                                            
 
1 See paragraph 204 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2 See Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 

Page 14



 

7 

lengthen the application process beyond statutory or agreed timeframes, we support 
the use of such local time limits. 
 

10. However, where negotiations get bogged down (even after a committee resolution to 
grant), councils may seek repeated extensions of time to avoid Section 106 delays 
from adversely affecting planning performance statistics. While applicants do not have 
to agree to an extension of time, the prospect of being refused planning permission 
and going to appeal makes it unlikely that they would not do so.  

 
11. Agreeing to an extension of time may also be preferable to appealing against non-

determination because this could potentially add even more time – and cost - to the 
application process than waiting out local delays.  Appealing against non-
determination also involves the Planning Inspectorate considering the whole scheme, 
not just the specific terms of the Section 106 agreement. We therefore consider that 
the current appeal routes provide too blunt a mechanism where Section 106 
negotiations are the principal source of delay to a planning decision being issued. 

 
Question 1: Do you agree that Section 106 negotiations represent a significant 
source of delay within the planning application process? 
 
Question 2: Do you agree that failure to agree or complete Section 106 
agreements are common reasons for seeking extra time to determine a 
planning application? 
 

Discussion 

12. The Government is determined to tackle delays associated with Section 106 
negotiations. Implementation of the Community Infrastructure Levy should help 
because where a charging schedule is in place, the scope of Section 106 agreements 
is scaled back, enabling these to be simpler and quicker to negotiate. Section 106 
plays a useful role in securing site-specific mitigation, particularly on large strategic 
sites, which justifies taking decisive action to speed up this part of the planning 
system. 
 

13. In the short-term we will amend guidance to address some of the issues identified in 
paragraph 8. Revised guidance will: 

· confirm that Section 106 negotiations should be concluded within statutory 
timescales; 

· set expectations of earlier engagement at the pre-application stage by all 
parties to front-load discussions about the scope of the Section 106 “ask”; 

· encourage greater use of standardised clauses to minimise the need to draft 
agreements from scratch; 

· set expectations for greater transparency about what has been raised through 
Section 106 and what it has been spent on. 

14. Although guidance has a role to play, we consider that the current statutory 
framework provides neither sufficient incentives to conclude Section 106 negotiations 
promptly, nor effective sanctions where delays and/or disputes occur. Delivering real 

Page 15



 

8 

change requires primary legislation. We therefore propose to consider primary powers 
to tackle these shortcomings in the next Parliament, with the aim of significantly 
streamlining the process. 
 
Question 3: Do you agree that the current legal framework does not provide 
effective mechanisms for resolving Section 106 delays and disputes in a timely 
manner? 

 
Question 4: Do you agree that legislative change is required to bring about a 
significant reduction in the delays associated with negotiating Section 106 
agreements? 
 

15. As noted above, the current appeal routes provide too blunt an instrument to deal 
effectively with delays or disputes related solely to the Section 106 agreement. We 
think creation of a much more focussed mechanism may be required to bring 
resolution where: 

· Parties to the Section 106 agreement cannot agree on the scale and scope of 
mitigation necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
or 

· Parties agree on the Section 106 “ask” but the process of completing the 
necessary agreement drags on beyond statutory or agreed timeframes.  

16. There are a number of possible options, and we invite the views of developers, local 
authorities and others on how future legislation might tackle the issues discussed 
above. We have set out below what we consider to be the broad parameters of any 
future resolution mechanism. Subject to the views of respondents, a further 
consultation on detailed proposals will be held in the next Parliament ahead of any 
amendments to primary legislation. 
 
When should dispute resolution be available?  

17. To tie Section 106 negotiations more closely to planning timeframes and reduce the 
incidence of delays associated with the negotiation process, we think that a  specific 
dispute resolution mechanism for Section 106 agreements should be available where 
statutory or agreed timeframes (such as in a Planning Performance Agreement) have 
elapsed.  
 
Question 5: Do you agree that any future dispute resolution mechanism should 
be available where Section 106 negotiations breach statutory or agreed 
timescales? 
 
 
What form should dispute resolution take? 

18. We are interested in the views of respondents about what form the resolution process 
itself might take once it is invoked, and what the outcome of the process would be.  
 

19. The fastest form of resolution would be to allow for an automatic or “deemed” 
solution. For example, if the applicant submitted a draft Section 106 or unilateral 
undertaking with a planning application, this would become the deemed planning 

Page 16



 

9 

obligation after statutory or agreed timeframes were breached. We consider such an 
option unlikely to be workable in practice because: 

· Local planning authorities would refuse applications where they did not 
consider the draft agreement/unilateral undertaking made the proposal 
acceptable in planning terms. 

· There would be limited incentive for an applicant to negotiate with the local 
planning authority – the negotiation process would be significantly skewed in 
favour of the applicant. 

· Unilateral undertakings cannot oblige an authority to deliver any of the items 
funded through the undertaking. 

20. Rather than providing an automatic source of resolution, the submission of a draft 
Section 106 agreement or unilateral undertaking during the course of negotiations 
could instead be a requirement of being able to refer the case to “external” dispute 
resolution (see below) in the event that set timescales are not met. Unlike the deemed 
approach, this may also help to encourage early engagement between parties. 

 
Question 6: Do you agree that a solution involving an automatic or deemed 
agreement after set timescales would be unworkable in practice? 

 
Question 7: Could submission of a draft Section 106 agreement or unilateral 
agreement during the negotiation process be a requirement of being able to 
seek dispute resolution where statutory or agreed timescales are breached? 

 
21. Instead of a deemed approach, an option would be to provide access to external 

mediation where parties cannot agree on the scope of the Section 106 agreement 
within set timeframes. However, mediation has been trialled in the context of 
renegotiating Section 106 agreements on stalled sites and only had limited uptake. 
Part of the problem is that a mediated draft Section 106 agreement would not be 
binding on the parties involved, and so may not bring the process to conclusion.  
 

22. The resolution process may therefore need to involve an external body or suitably 
qualified individual, who would help determine what was necessary to make a 
proposed development acceptable, and their judgement would need to be binding on 
the parties to the Section 106 agreement. We are interested in the views of 
respondents on which bodies or appointed persons would be suitable for this role.  
 

23. Given the overall ambition of reducing planning delays, the resolution process would 
need to be completed quickly. To cover the costs of this fast-track service, we think it 
should be self-funding through an appropriate level of fees. We would welcome views 
on how long the dispute resolution process should take and whether it should be 
subject to a fee. 
 
Question 8: Do you agree any dispute resolution mechanism would need to be 
binding on the parties involved? 
 
Question 9: Which bodies or appointed persons would be suitable to provide 
the dispute resolution service? 

Page 17



 

10 

 
Question 10: How long should the process take?   
 
 
Question 11: Do you agree that the body offering Section 106 dispute resolution 
should be able to charge a fee to cover the cost of providing the service? 
 

24. A further consideration is what types of application should have access to a Section 
106 dispute resolution mechanism. Restricting it to certain types of application, such 
as those for major development, may reduce the overall burden on the body 
appointed to provide the service. We are interested in the views of respondents on 
this point, including whether Section 106 delays are an issue for small-scale as well 
as major developments. 
 
Question 12: Should all types of planning application have recourse to Section 
106 dispute resolution?  
 

25. Section 106 agreements mitigate the impact of unacceptable development to make it 
acceptable in planning terms. The terms of the agreement are therefore closely linked 
to the planning application itself.  We think that if the dispute resolution mechanism 
created a binding Section 106 agreement, then the question arises as to whether it 
would also need to determine the related planning application.     
 

26. However we are keen to ensure that any dispute resolution mechanism was focused 
on instances where there is an issue with the Section 106 agreement specifically.   

 
Question 13: Do you consider that any dispute mechanism would need to also 
involve the determination of the related planning application? 

 
Question 14: Are there any ways in which this could be done where only the 
Section 106 agreement is the subject of the resolution mechanism? 

 
 

Page 18



 

11 

Affordable housing contributions and Student 
Accommodation 
 
27. In many of our university towns and cities purpose built accommodation provides 

affordable housing for students. Local authorities are rewarded through the New 
Homes Bonus for the provision of such accommodation, and planning guidance 
already allows them to count the provision of all student accommodation towards 
meeting their local housing requirement. 
 

28. Student housing provided by individual private landlords is a low-cost form of housing. 
Therefore encouraging more dedicated student accommodation will help free up low-
cost properties in the private rented sector and help address problems associated 
with the cheaper end of the private housing market and with homes in multiple 
occupation. It will also help to address any harm to local amenity that can be 
experienced in some university towns. 
 

29. However, there is concern that some local authorities are seeking Section 106 
affordable housing contributions for proposals for dedicated student accommodation, 
and that this is deterring such types of development from coming forward. The 
Government is therefore keen to understand the extent of any barriers to dedicated 
student accommodation. 
 

30. The Government will also provide further guidance to local planning authorities on the 
policies in their Local Plans concerning student accommodation. 
 

 
Question 15: To what extent do you consider that the requirement to provide 
affordable housing contributions acts as a barrier to development providing 
dedicated student accommodation?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

12 

Consultation questions – response form 
 
 
We are seeking your views to the following questions on the proposals to speed up section 
106 negotiations and on student accommodation.  
 

How to respond:  
 
The closing date for responses is 19 March 2015.  
 
Responses should be sent to: planning.consultation@communities.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Written responses may be sent to:  
Section 106 Consultation 
Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
 

About you 
 
i) Your details: 
 

Name:  

Position:  

Name of organisation  
(if applicable): 
 

 

Address: 
 

 

Email: 
 

 

Telephone number:  

 

Page 20



 

13 

ii)  Are the views expressed on this consultation an official response from the  
organisation you represent or your own personal views? 
 

Organisational response   

Personal views    
 
iii) Please tick the box which best describes you or your organisation: 
 

District Council  

Metropolitan district council  

London borough council  

Unitary authority  

County council/county borough council  

Parish/community council  

Non-Departmental Public Body  

Planning Consultant  

Professional trade association  

Private developer/house builder  

Developer association  

Residents association  

Voluntary sector/charity  

Other  
 

(please comment): 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 21



 

14 

iv)  What is your main area of expertise or interest in this work? 
(please tick one box) 
 

Chief Executive   

Planner   

Developer   

Surveyor   

Member of professional or trade association  

Councillor   

Planning policy/implementation   

Environmental protection   

Other   
  

(please comment):  

 
Would you be happy for us to contact you again in relation to this questionnaire? 
 
Yes   No  
 
 
 

Page 22



 

15 

v) Questions 
 
Please refer to the relevant parts of the consultation document for narrative relating to 
each question. 
 
Question 1: Do you agree that Section 106 negotiations represent a significant 
source of delay within the planning application process? 
 
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 2: Do you agree that failure to agree or complete Section 106 agreements 
are common reasons for seeking extra time to determine a planning application? 
 
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 3: Do you agree that the current legal framework does not provide 
effective mechanisms for resolving Section 106 delays and disputes in a timely 
manner? 
 
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 

Page 23



 

16 

Question 4: Do you agree that legislative change is required to bring about a 
significant reduction in the delays associated with negotiating Section 106 
agreements? 
 
Yes   No  
 
Comments 

 

 
 
Question 5: Do you agree that any future dispute resolution mechanism should be 
available where Section 106 negotiations breach statutory or agreed timescales? 
 
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 6: Do you agree that a solution involving an automatic or deemed 
agreement after set timescales would be unworkable in practice? 
 
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 

Page 24



 

17 

Question 7: Could submission of a draft Section 106 agreement or unilateral 
agreement during the negotiation process be a requirement of being able to seek 
dispute resolution where statutory or agreed timescales are breached? 
  
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 8: Do you agree any dispute resolution mechanism would need to be 
binding on the parties involved? 
 
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 9: Which bodies or appointed persons would be suitable to provide the 
dispute resolution service? 
 
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 

Page 25



 

18 

Question 10: How long should the process take?   
  
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 11: Do you agree that the body offering Section 106 dispute resolution 
should be able to charge a fee to cover the cost of providing the service? 
  
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 12: Should all types of planning application have recourse to Section 106 
dispute resolution?  
  
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

19 

Question 13: Do you consider that any dispute mechanism would need to also 
involve the determination of the related planning application? 
  
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 14: Are there any ways in which this could be done where only the Section 
106 agreement is the subject of the resolution mechanism? 
  
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
Question 15: To what extent do you consider that the requirement to provide 
affordable housing contributions acts as a barrier to development providing 
dedicated student accommodation?  
 
Yes   No  
 

Comments 

 

 
 
 
 
Thank you for your comments. 
 

Page 27



Page 28

This page is left blank intentionally.



 
  

 
 
 

 
 
Section 106 Planning Obligations – 
speeding up negotiations  
 
 
Student accommodation and affordable housing 
contributions  
  
Consultation  
  

 
 

Page 29



Consultation questions – response form  
  
  
We are seeking your views to the following questions on the proposals to speed up 
section 106 negotiations and on student accommodation.   
  

How to respond:   
  
The closing date for responses is 19 March 2015.   
  
Responses should be sent to: planning.consultation@communities.gsi.gov.uk  
  
Written responses may be sent to:   
Section 106 Consultation  
Department for Communities and Local Government  
Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
London   
SW1P 4DF  
  

About you  
  

i) Your details:  
 
Name: Tony Pierce 

 
Position: Development Control Manager (Interim) 
 
Name of organisation: South Cambridgeshire District COuncl 
  
Address: South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, 
CB23 6EA 
  
Email: tony.pierce@scambs.gov.uk  
  
Telephone number: 01954 713165 
 
  

Page 30



ii)  Are the views expressed on this consultation an official response from the 
organisation you represent or your own personal views?  
  
Organisational response    
 
iii) Please tick the box which best describes you or your organisation:  
  
District Council   
 
iv) What is your main area of expertise or interest in this work?  
  
Planner    
  
Would you be happy for us to contact you again in relation to this 
questionnaire?  
  
Yes  
   
v) Questions  
  
Please refer to the relevant parts of the consultation document for narrative 
relating to each question.  
  
Question 1: Do you agree that Section 106 negotiations represent a 
significant source of delay within the planning application process?  
  
Yes 
  
It is a misconception that the delay in completing a planning obligation rests 
entirely at the door of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
There are many (practical) measures that could be taken to ensure that section 
106 agreements do not unnecessarily delay the decision making process that 
could usefully be explored by CLG. 
 
Common reasons experienced by this Council are as follows: 
 
(i) The applicant not engaging in proper community engagement or seeking 

pre-application advice that would help determine the heads of terms  
(ii) The applicant being unwilling to submit a heads of terms alongside the 

planning application, including land registry details 
(iii) The time period within which consultation responses are received 
(iv) The requirement for multiple signatories to the agreement, including 

mortgagees 
(v) Land being unregistered 
(vi) The issue of development unviability being raised at a later point in the 

application process, or being raised but with insufficient information for the 
Council to properly assess the claims 

 
Question 2: Do you agree that failure to agree or complete Section 106 
agreements are common reasons for seeking extra time to determine a 
planning application?  
  
Yes 

Page 31



Question 3: Do you agree that the current legal framework does not provide 
effective mechanisms for resolving Section 106 delays and disputes in a 
timely manner?  
  
No 
  
Question 4: Do you agree that legislative change is required to bring about a 
significant reduction in the delays associated with negotiating Section 106 
agreements?  
  
No   
 
Question 5: Do you agree that any future dispute resolution mechanism 
should be available where Section 106 negotiations breach statutory or 
agreed timescales?  
  
No   
  
Question 6: Do you agree that a solution involving an automatic or deemed 
agreement after set timescales would be unworkable in practice?  
  
Question 7: Could submission of a draft Section 106 agreement or unilateral 
agreement during the negotiation process be a requirement of being able to 
seek dispute resolution where statutory or agreed timescales are breached?  
   
Question 8: Do you agree any dispute resolution mechanism would need to 
be binding on the parties involved?  
  
Question 9: Which bodies or appointed persons would be suitable to provide 
the dispute resolution service?  
  
Question 10: How long should the process take?    
   
Question 11: Do you agree that the body offering Section 106 dispute 
resolution should be able to charge a fee to cover the cost of providing the 
service?  
 
Question 12: Should all types of planning application have recourse to 
Section 106 dispute resolution?   
   
Question 13: Do you consider that any dispute mechanism would need to 
also involve the determination of the related planning application?  
  
Question 14: Are there any ways in which this could be done where only the 
Section 106 agreement is the subject of the resolution mechanism?  
 
Question 15: To what extent do you consider that the requirement to provide 
affordable housing contributions acts as a barrier to development providing 
dedicated student accommodation? 
 
This Council does not secure affordable housing on schemes that provide 
dedicated student accommodation. 
 

Page 32



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Portfolio Holder’s Meeting 10 March 2015 
Lead Officer: Director, Planning and New Communities  

 
 

 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan – Responding to the Local Green Space  

landowner consultation  
 

Purpose 
 
1. To report the responses received by the Council following a consultation carried out 

with the owners of land proposed as Local Green Space in the draft South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan.    

 
2. This is a key decision because proposed local green spaces have been included in 

the draft Local Plan and are found district-wide. It was first published on                     
2 December 2014 in the Forward Plan. 
 
Recommendations 

 
3. It is recommended that the Planning Portfolio Holder agrees the following, to: 
 

i) note the representations received during the consultation with landowners 
of Local Green Space proposed in the draft Local Plan as set out in 
Appendix E and to forward these late representations to the Inspector 
examining the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 

  
ii) agree the proposed Council response to the representations received, to be 

provided to the Local Plan Examination Inspector as set out in Appendix D. 
 
iii) put forward to the Local Plan examination Inspector the following proposed 

modifications to the Submission South Cambridgeshire Local Plan, that 
would be considered at the appropriate part of the examination and be 
subject to public consultation alongside any other modifications at an 
appropriate time: 
a. To include a new appendix to the Submission Local Plan to provide a 

numbered list of the Local Green Space sites included within the plan 
as set out in Appendix B of this report. 

b. To amend the Policies Map in respect of seven Local Green Space 
sites as set out in paragraph 20 to 34 and shown on maps included in 
Appendix E. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
4. Following the publication of new Government guidance related to the designation of 

Local Green Space (LGS) in March 2014, too late to inform the submitted Local Plan, 
the Council carried out an additional round of consultation specifically with the owners 
of land proposed as LGS in the local plan. These representations will be forwarded to 
the Inspector examining the local plan. As a result of some of the objections received, 
a small number of modifications are proposed in respect of seven LGS sites included 
in the submitted Local Plan to address clear anomalies.    

Agenda Item 5

Page 33



 

 

 
Background 
 

5. Within the villages of South Cambridgeshire there are undeveloped areas of land that 
are important to the amenity and character of these rural settlements and should be 
protected from development.  In the Council’s existing plans such areas that are 
within villages have been identified as Protected Village Amenity Areas (PVAA). The 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) introduced a new designation – Local 
Green Space (LGS), which would enable green areas of particular importance to local 
communities to be designated, and rule out development other than in very special 
circumstances.  
  

6. During the issues and options consultations carried out whilst the Local Plan was 
being prepared there was support for the inclusion of a policy on LGS, particularly 
from parish councils and local communities. The Council invited sites to be proposed 
for consideration as LGSs and at each stage of consultation of the plan (Issues and 
Options 1 in 2012 and Issues and Options 2 in 2013) sites were submitted for 
assessment by parish councils, local community groups and individuals.  In total 
some 270 sites were considered for designation as LGS. The criterion used by 
Council officers in assessing the sites is based on the guidance provided in the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  An extract from the Draft Final Sustainability 
Appraisal is included in Appendix A of this report which indicates how the Council 
interpreted the particular criteria in its assessment work.  
 

7. Potential LGS sites proposed during the Issues and Options 1 consultation were 
assessed and  included in the next consultation carried out  in January/February 2013 
- Issues and Options 2.  Further sites were proposed during this consultation and an 
extension to the consultation deadline was specifically given for Parish Councils to 
propose sites within their area.   
 

8. The Proposed Submission Local Plan contained 172 LGS sites and there was an 
opportunity during the consultation of this plan in the summer of 2013 for comments 
to be made about the policy for LGS and about the designated sites.  The audit trail 
for Chapter 6 of the draft Local Plan contains a summary of the representations 
received during these consultations (see Annex A of the Draft Final Sustainability 
Appraisal – pages A438 –A483 - the link to this annexe is item 4 of the Background 
Papers at end of this report) 

 
9. The draft Local Plan that was submitted for examination in March 2014 contained 

both a policy for PVAAs and one for LGSs.  Sites have been designated as LGS 
across the district and are identified in the Policies Map submitted with the draft Local 
Plan.  An evidence paper for LGSs and PVAAs was submitted with the Local Plan 
explaining why the Council decided to include both policies in the plan, what 
consultation was carried out relating to these matters, how sites were put forward for 
assessment and how the LGS sites were identified for inclusion in the plan (see the 
Draft Final Sustainability Appraisal in Annex A, Appendix 5 - the link to this evidence 
paper is at item 5 of the Background Paper at the end of this report)  

 
10. In the same month as the Local Plan was being submitted for examination the 

Government published the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) which 
included more advice on LGS.  The Council is aware that it must take into account 
national guidance for the Local Plan to be found sound and therefore considered in 
detail the changes resulting from the publication of the NPPG and how these would 
impact on the soundness of the plan. 
 

Page 34



 

 

 
11. The NPPG in the section relating to LGS states the following -   
 

Does land need to be in public ownership? 
 
A Local Green Space does not need to be in public ownership. However, the 
local planning authority (in the case of local plan making) or the qualifying 
body (in the case of neighbourhood plan making) should contact landowners 
at an early stage about proposals to designate any part of their land as Local 
Green Space. Landowners will have opportunities to make representations in 
respect of proposals in a draft plan. 
 
(Paragraph 018 (Reference ID: 37-018-20140306)    
Revision date: 06 03 2014 

 
12. The Council carried out extensive public consultation during the preparation of its 

draft Local Plan and received 424 comments on proposed Local Green Spaces 
including some from landowners. However with the publication of the new guidance 
relating to consultation specifically with landowners of LGS included in the NPPG the 
Council decided to ask the inspector appointed to examine the draft Local Plan for 
her view on the appropriateness of providing an additional opportunity for landowners 
to make comments on proposed LGS which was on their land.   
 

13. The Local Plan inspector has endorsed this consultation but it was emphasised to the 
Council that the NPPG was considered to be an exceptional circumstance that 
justified this targeted consultation.  She advised that it was only landowners of 
proposed LGS who should be able to submit late representations and the Council 
should not widen the remit to allow other respondents any further opportunity to make 
late representations on other aspects of the plan.   
 

14. The Council obtained the landownership details of all 172 LGS sites included in the 
draft Local Plan from the Land Registry.  A unique reference number was given to 
each LGS site.  It is proposed that this list of LGS sites be included as an appendix to 
the Local Plan to provide clarity about the location of specific LGS sites included in 
the plan (Appendix B of this report). A minor modification would be required to be 
made to the Local Plan.   
 

15. The consultation with landowners ran from 17 October until 1 December 2014. 
Letters were sent out to all the landowners who owned all or part of any site proposed 
as a LGS in the Submission Local Plan. The individual letter to each owner included a 
list of the specific LGS sites owned by them with the site reference number and a 
map showing the designated sites within the relevant villages.  This was to ensure 
that the owner was fully aware of the extent of the sites and had the opportunity to 
make comments.  
 
Results of the consultation     

 
16. During the six week consultation 113 submissions were made to the Council which 

comprised 61 objections and 52 supports. A summary of all the representations 
received is set out in Appendix C. 
 

17. Of the 61 objections, 32 were from landowners requesting that the whole of a LGS 
site be removed from the draft Local Plan, and 29 representations from owners 
requesting amendments be made to the boundary of the LGS.  Appendix D is a 
schedule that sets out each stage of assessment through the plan making process for 

Page 35



 

 

each of these sites. This information is extracted from the evidence document for 
LGS and PVAA and from the Audit Trail for Chapter 6 (referenced in paragraphs 8 
and 9 of this report). The final two columns of the schedule provide a summary of the 
objections received through this consultation, and a draft response from the Council 
that would be provided to the Examination Inspector.   
 

18. Officers consider that the assessment of all the sites proposed as LGS was carried 
out in a robust manner, following the national guidance that was available at that time 
in the NPPF. Following the publication of the NPPG the methodology used to assess 
the sites has been reviewed and the new guidance taken into account by carrying out 
the consultation with landowners.  Unless new issues have been raised during the 
consultation with the landowners that affect the assessment or it has been shown that 
circumstances have changed it is recommended that the site designations should 
remain in the plan and any outstanding objections be addressed through the Local 
Plan examination process.  
 

19. There are 7 sites where a change is recommended to the LGS as a result of 
representations received, which address anomalies.  Subject to the agreement of the 
portfolio holder these modifications will be proposed to the Inspector.  
 
Proposed changes following the consultation  
 

20. NH/12-022 – Camping Close, Bourn - The site was originally proposed by Bourn 
Parish Council during the Issues and Options 2 consultation in 2013. The landowners 
are concerned that the extent of the LGS designation is contrary to the guidance in 
the NPPF.  The land is already protected as it is within the conservation area and in 
the flood plain.  The owners consider that by having this designation on their land it 
could impact on the future uses they may wish to carry out affecting the economic 
viability of their farm.  They are supportive of the LGS policy but have taken the 
opportunity during the consultation to submit a revised boundary for the site.  If the 
boundary is not amended they have requested that the whole LGS designation be 
removed from their land.   
 

21. The main area of special character is the open area adjacent to Bourn Brook which is 
a well used local route for informal recreation. The wider open field objected to by the 
landowner has less special character. A smaller site would be more acceptable to the 
landowners who are supportive of the policy but not the scale of the original LGS 
proposed for their land. The Parish Council is supportive of the amendment.   
  

22. Recommendation: Amend the boundary of the Camping Close, Bourn LGS to include 
just the area adjacent to Bourn Brook (see Appendix E Map 1). 
 

23. NH/12-050 - Land in front of Village College, Cottenham – This site includes part of 
the front garden of a house adjacent to Cottenham Village College. The owner has 
requested that the boundary of the LGS be amended to exclude this residential land. 
The residential property has a different character to the adjoining open green area in 
front of the village college. It forms one of a row of residential properties. A minor 
change to exclude this and adjoining front gardens would better reflect the area of 
special character and would not undermine the protection of this wider area.        
 

24. Recommendation: Amend the boundary of the Village College, Cottenham LGS to 
exclude the front gardens of adjacent residential properties (see Appendix E Map 2). 

 
25. NH/12-094 - Village Orchard, Kingston – Kingston Parish Council submitted this site 

for inclusion as a LGS during the Issues and Options 2 consultation in 2013. The map 

Page 36



 

 

provided included an error.  The northern boundary of the ‘Village Orchard' was 
defined to include a private house and garden which lies immediately to north of the 
orchard.  The owner of the house and garden has objected to its inclusion in the LGS. 
This property has never been part of the ‘Village Orchard' and the Parish Council has 
submitted a representation requesting that this house and garden be excluded from 
the designation.  An amendment to the boundary is appropriate to correct this error. 
 

26. Recommendation:  Amend the Village Orchard, Kingston LGS to exclude the private 
house and garden adjacent to the “Village Orchard” (see Appendix E Map 3). 
 

27. NH/12 – 098 Glebe Land, Linton – Although no representation was made by the 
landowner, the Council was made aware during the consultation that this site in 
Linton had been identified incorrectly on the Polices Map. Linton Parish Council 
originally submitted the site for consideration during the Issues and Options 2 
consultation in 2013, described as an area by the river and used by the local 
community for informal recreation. However, the boundary provided by the Parish 
Council and shown on the submitted Policies Map comprises a private house and 
garden, and not the adjacent area of special character alongside the river, which is 
shown on the Policies Map as forming part of a wider PVAA. The Parish Council has 
provided the Council with the boundary it intended for the site. This involves deleting 
the current LGS boundary in its entirety and instead designating the area to the west 
that lies adjacent to the river as LGS.  The current PVAA designation would then be 
removed from the new LGS.  
 

28. Recommendation: Delete the existing boundary of the Glebe Land, Linton LGS. 
Replace with the correct LGS area adjacent to the river and remove the PVAA 
designation from the LGS (see Appendix E Map 4).  
 

29. NH/12 - 115 -Stockbridge Meadows, Melbourn – This site was submitted for 
consideration as a LGS by Melbourn Parish Council in the Issues and Options 2 
consultation in 2013. An objection has been received from the owner of a triangle of 
land included on the southern edge of the meadow. The purpose of this LGS is to 
identify and protect the Riverside Park. The site that received planning permission as 
a public open space in 2005 to form the Riverside Park is slightly different from the 
LGS shown on the Policies Map. It excluded the objector’s triangle of land and 
included an additional small parcel of land on the north-eastern edge of the meadow. 
The Parish Council has confirmed that it supports a revised boundary to reflect the 
planning permission boundary.  
 

30. Recommendation: Amend the Stockbridge Meadows, Melbourn LGS boundary to 
exclude a triangle of land on the southern boundary and include an additional area to 
the north (see Appendix E Map 5). 

 
31. NH/12 - 143 Millennium Copse , Sawston – A representation was received from the 

owners of the western section of this site indicating that a nursery had been built on 
their land in 2000 and therefore in their opinion could not be designated as LGS. The 
designated area incorrectly extends across the nursery site, beyond the wooded area 
of the Copse.  It is appropriate to amend the western boundary to this area. 
 

32. Recommendation: Amend the Millenium Copse, Sawston LGS to exclude the nursery 
site (see Appendix E Map 6). 
 

33. NH/12- 167 Barracks Frontage, Waterbeach – Defence Infrastructure Organisation 
objects to designation of the site, as it falls within the Area Action Plan area for the 
new town, and could be important for creating sustainable transport links. DIO says 

Page 37



 

 

that the area should be considered as part of the wider masterplan.  The LGS does 
lie within the area proposed to be covered by an Area Action Plan for the new town. 
On reflection, it is considered that the AAP process is the appropriate mechanism for 
deciding the future of land within its boundary and the LGS should be deleted from 
the Local Plan Policies Map. 
 

34. Recommendation: Delete the Barracks Frontage, Waterbeach LGS (see Appendix E 
Map 7).  

 
Options 

 
35. The Portfolio Holder could: 

(a) Approve the recommendations as set out and submit to the Inspector for 
consideration. 

(b) Decide to submit the late representations received to the Inspector examining 
the Local Plan with no responses provided from the Council and no changes 
proposed to the submitted local plan.  It would then be for the Inspector to 
consider the objections made to the LGS sites proposed without the benefit of 
the view of the Council. 

(c) Decide not to submit the late representations – however the Inspector had 
endorsed this targeted consultation as being consistent with the NPPG in 
respect of designating LGS.  

 
Implications 
 

36. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered:  

 
 Legal 
37. The additional consultation is consistent with the NPPG, which was published too late 

to inform the submitted Local Plan.  
 
 Risk Management 
38. If the soundness of the draft Local Plan was challenged as it did not comply with 

national planning guidance there was a risk that there would be delay in the district 
having an adopted local plan.   

 
Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 

 
39. The report is setting out the results of the targeted consultation that was carried out 

with owners of land where there is a proposal for LGS on all or part of their land 
within the draft Local Plan. The views of Parish Councils and local groups have been 
sought as appropriate in preparing this report. 

 
Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
Aim 1 - Engagement: engage with residents, parishes and businesses to 
ensure we deliver first class services and value for money 
The additional consultation with landowners gave them an opportunity to comment on 
the LGS proposals within the Local Plan for the district.  This engagement increases 
awareness of these proposals within the plan. 
 
Aim 3 – Ensure that South Cambridgeshire continues to offer an outstanding 
quality of life for our residents.  

Page 38



 

 

By including a policy in the Local Plan for LGS this will ensure that areas of the 
district that are valued for their particular local significance by the local community are 
protected from development.  
 
  

Appendices 
Appendix A – The criteria for assessing LGS  
Appendix B – List of Local Green Space proposed in the Submission Local Plan 
Appendix C - Summary of representations received during 2014 consultation.  
Appendix D – Schedule of sites where objections received during 2014 consultation.    
Appendix E – Maps of LGS where changes are proposed.    
 
Background Papers 
 
1.National Planning Practice Guidance  
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/  
 
2.National Planning Policy Framework  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2  
 
3.Proposed Submission Local Plan  
http://scambs.jdi-consult.net/localplan/readdoc.php?docid=224  
 
4. Draft Final Sustainability Appraisal in Annex A – Audit Tables – Local Plan Chapter 6: 
Protecting and Enhancing the Natural and Historic Environment –  
Policy NH/11: Protected Village Amenity Areas –Pages A438 – A474 
Policy NH/12: Local Green Space – Pages A475 – A483  
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Chapter%206%20%2
0Protecting%20and%20Enhancing%20the%20Natural%20and%20Historic%20Environment
%20(audit%20trail).pdf  
 
5.Draft Final Sustainability Appraisal in Annex A, Appendix 5 – Evidence paper on LGS and 
PVAAs  
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Appendix%205%20-
%20Evidence%20paper%20for%20Local%20Green%20Spaces%20and%20Protected%20Village%20
Amenity%20Areas.pdf 
 
 
Report Author:  Alison Talkington – Senior Planning Policy Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713182 

Page 39



Page 40

This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix A 
Extract from The Draft Final Sustainability Appraisal in Annex A, Appendix 5 
Assessment criteria used for Local Green Space  
The criterion used by Council officers in assessing the sites is based on the guidance 
provided in the National Planning Policy Framework.   All the sites have been 
assessed using these criteria and the following table indicates how the Council has 
interpreted the particular criteria. 
NPPF Criteria   
1. The green area must be 
demonstrably special to a local 
community; 

Site must pass this criterion to be 
considered.  Added weight if submitted by 
Parish Council representing their local 
community.  

2 .The green space must hold a 
particular local significance, for 
example because of  
• Its beauty,  
• Its historic significance,  
• Its recreational value (including 
as a playing field),  
• Tranquillity or  
• Richness of its wildlife; 

A green space must have one of these - 
Beauty – Enhances rural character of 
village.  Adds to setting of groups of 
buildings.  
Historic significance – Listed building near 
or on site – setting of said building / 
Green with war memorial or local asset 
whose setting needs protecting.  
Recreational – Play area, allotments, 
sports fields, informal grassy area within 
housing estate.  Relates to an event in 
village such as a fete. 
Tranquillity – Near a church, open space 
with seating and views of village or wider 
countryside beyond.  Green space that 
allows for quiet enjoyment. 
Richness of Wildlife – Provides for 
biodiversity, protecting community 
woodlands, meadows, known protected 
species.  Not just general presence of 
wildlife.   

3 .The green space must be in 
reasonably close proximity to the 
community it serves; 

The site needs to relate to a particular 
village.  It must be either within a village 
or on edge.  If it is at a distance there 
should be a public footpath to access it 
from the village.   Needs to be closest to 
the parish that has submitted site. 

4. The green area must be local in 
character and not be an extensive tract 
of land 

It cannot be just an area of green grass – 
must have something else from criterion 2 
to meet the tests.  Large fields on the 
edge of villages have not been 
designated unless they have an additional 
reason within criterion 2 for meriting 

Page 41



NPPF Criteria   
designation.  Extensive areas between 
settlements have also not been 
designated - LGS should not be used as a 
means of creating a green separation/ 
buffer between villages. 

5. Most green areas or open space will 
not be appropriate.  Must be consistent 
with the local planning of sustainable 
development and complement 
investment in sufficient homes, jobs 
and other essential services. 

Need to ensure that designation is not 
over used so that a village ends up with 
no future space for growth.  
 

 

There are other policies that give existing protection to green space within the Local 
Plan and it is not the intention of the Council to double protect such sites by 
identifying them as LGS.   Therefore all sites that are currently protected as Sites of 
Biodiversity or Geological Importance which includes County Wildlife sites; Local 
Nature Reserve; Site of Special Scientific Interest; Scheduled Monuments and 
Historic Parks and Gardens have not been designated as LGS.   
Playing fields relating to schools also have protection and therefore have not been 
designated.  Designation could also have a detrimental impact on local education 
provision if it were to prevent or delay the construction of new school buildings.   
Important Countryside Frontages are designated along edges of some of the 
proposed LGS.  This policy protects the views across a site into open countryside 
and therefore some sites have not been designated as LGS as the ICF policy will 
protect the open land from development.    
LGS designations are not required to protect a public right of way.  
Since LGS has the same level of protection as Green Belt any sites that were 
proposed within the existing Green Belt have not been identified as LGS.  If at a 
future date the Green Belt is reviewed there will be an opportunity for the local 
community to put forward sites that could be considered and assessed as LGS.  
 

Page 42



Appendix B 
 
Local Green Space included in the Proposed Submission Local Plan 2013 
 
NH/12-001  -  Land north of Almond Grove, Bar Hill 
NH/12-002  -  Land east of Acorn Avenue, Bar Hill 
NH/12-003  -  Land north of Appletrees, Bar Hill 
NH/12-004  -  Village Green, Bar Hill 
NH/12-005  -  Recreation Ground, Bar Hill 
NH/12-006  -  Land north of Little Meadow, Bar Hill 
NH/12-007  -  Land south of Viking Way, Bar Hill 
NH/12-008  -  Allotments, south of Saxon Way, Bar Hill 
NH/12-009  -  Land south of Saxon Way, Bar Hill 
NH/12-010  -  Green areas bordering each side of the perimeter road, Bar Hill 
NH/12-011 - Church Close Nature Reserve, Barton 
NH/12-012 - Hines Close, Barton 
NH/12-013  -  Elbourn Way South, Bassingbourn 
NH/12-014  -  Elbourn Way North, Bassingbourn 
NH/12-015  -  Fortune Way, Bassingbourn 
NH/12-016 - The Rouses, Bassingbourn 
NH/12-017 - Ford Wood, Bassingbourn 
NH/12-018 - Recreation Ground, Bassingbourn 
NH/12-019 - Hall Close Playground, Bourn 
NH/12-020 - Hall Close Green, Bourn 
NH/12-021 - Jubilee Recreation Ground, Bourn 
NH/12-022 - Camping Close, Bourn 
NH/12-023 - Access to Camping Close, Bourn 
NH/12-024 - Caldecote, Recreation Ground 
NH/12-025 - Land north of Jeavons Lane, north of Monkfield Way, Cambourne 
NH/12-026 - Land south of Jeavons Wood Primary School, Cambourne 
NH/12-027 - Cambourne Recreation Ground, Back Lane, Cambourne (2) 
NH/12-028  -  Land east of Sterling Way, Cambourne 
NH/12-029  -  Land east of Sterling way, north of Brace Dein, Cambourne 
NH/12-030  -  Land north of School Lane, west of Woodfield Lane, Cambourne 
NH/12-031  -  Land east of Greenbank, Cambourne 
NH/12-032  -  Land north of School Lane, west of Broad Street, Cambourne 
NH/12-033  -  Cambourne Recreation Ground, Back Lane, Cambourne (1) 
NH/12-034  -  Land north of Grean Common Farm, west of Broadway, Cambourne 
NH/12-035  -  Large areas within village and around edge of village, Cambourne 
NH/12-036 - Honeysuckle Close and Hazel Lane green space, Cambourne 
NH/12-037 - The Old Market Place, Caxton 
NH/12-038 - Land South of Barton Road, Comberton 
NH/12-039 - All Saints Church, Cottenham 
NH/12-040 - Broad Lane - High Street Junction, Cottenham 
NH/12-041 - Land at Victory Way, Cottenham 
NH/12-042 - Cemetery, Cottenham 
NH/12-043 - Orchard Close, Cottenham 
NH/12-044 - Coolidge Gardens, Cottenham  
NH/12-045 - South of Brenda Gautry Way, Cottenham 
NH/12-046 - Dunstall Field, Cottenham  
NH/12-047 - West of Sovereign Way, Cottenham 
NH/12-047 - West of Sovereign Way, Cottenham  
NH/12-048 - Old Recreation Ground, Cottenham  
NH/12-049 - Recreation Ground and Playing Fields, Cottenham 
NH/12-050 - Land in front of Village College, Cottenham 

Page 43



NH/12-051 - Fen Reeves Wood, Cottenham 
NH/12-052 - Les King Wood, Cottenham 
NH/12-053 - Village Green, Cottenham 
NH/12-054 - Village Green, Dry Drayton 
NH/12-055 - Greenacres, Duxford 
NH/12-056 - End of Mangers Lane, Duxford 
NH/12-057 - Allotments, Elsworth 
NH/12-058 - Fardells Lane Nature Reserve, Elsworth  
NH/12-059 - Grass Close, Elsworth 
NH/12-060 - Glebe Field, Elsworth 
NH/12-061 - Grounds of Low Farm, Elsworth 
NH/12-062 - Field between Brockley Road and Brook Street, Elsworth 
NH/12-063 - Land at south end of Brook Street, Elsworth 
NH/12-064 - Land at Fardell's Lane, Elsworth 
NH/12-065 - Village Green, Eltisley 
NH/12-066 - Allotments for Labouring Poor, Eltisley 
NH/12-067 - Pocket Park, Eltisley 
NH/12-068 - Paddock, Ditton Lane at the junction with High Ditch Road, Fen Ditton 
NH/12-069 - Village Green, Fen Ditton 
NH/12-070 - Recreation Ground, Foxton 
NH/12-071 - The Green, Foxton 
NH/12-072 - Dovecote Meadow, Foxton 
NH/12-073 - Green Area on Station Road, Foxton 
NH/12-074 - Field between Cox's Drove, Cow Lane and Land adjacent the Horse 
Pond, Fulbourn 
NH/12-075 - Victorian garden, Fulbourn 
NH/12-076 - Lupin Field, Gamlingay 
NH/12-077 - Middle of Magna Close, Great Abington 
NH/12-078 - Recreation Ground, Guilden Morden 
NH/12-079 - The Craft, Guilden Morden 
NH/12-080 -  Church Meadow, Guilden Morden 
NH/12-081 - Land between Swan Lane and Pound Green, Guilden Morden 
NH/12-082 - Pound Green, Guilden Morden 
NH/12-083 - Thompsons Meadow, Guilden Morden 
NH/12-084 - Play area adjacent to the Church, Hardwick 
NH/12-085 - Recreation ground in Egremont Road, Hardwick 
NH/12-086 - Recreation Ground, Harston 
NH/12-087 - Welhouse Meadow, Haslingfield 
NH/12-088 - Willow Way Recreation Ground, Hauxton 
NH/12-089 - East of New Road, Impington 
NH/12-090 - Ickleton, Village Green (opposite the church) 
NH/12-091 - Driver’s Meadow, Ickleton 
NH/12-092 - Village Green, Kingston 
NH/12-093 - Field Road Green, Kingston 
NH/12-094 - Village Orchard, Kingston 
NH/12-095 - Playground, Kingston 
NH/12-096 - Recreation Ground, Linton 
NH/12-097 - Village Green (Camping Close), Linton 
NH/12-098 - Glebe Land, Linton 
NH/12-099 - Village Green, Litlington 
NH/12-100 - St. Peters Hill, Litlington 
NH/12-101 - Recreation Ground, Litlington 
NH/12-102 - Scout Camp Site, Church Lane, Little Abington 
NH/12-103 - Bowling Green, High Street, Little Abington 
NH/12-104 - Meadows, Bancroft Farm, Little Abington 

Page 44



NH/12-105 - Camping Close, Camping Field, Little Shelford 
NH/12-106 - Recreation Ground, Little Wilbraham 
NH/12-107 - Allotments, Lolworth 
NH/12-108 - Allotments, The Moor, Melbourn 
NH/12-109 - New Recreation Ground and Millennium Copse, The Moor, Melbourn 
NH/12-110 - Old Recreation Ground, The Moor, Melbourn 
NH/12-111 - Recreational Green, Armingford Cresent, Melbourn 
NH/12-112 - Recreational Green, Russet Way, Melbourn  
NH/12-113 - Recreational Green and wood, Worcester Way, Melbourn 
NH/12-114 - The Cross, High Street, Melbourn  
NH/12-115 - Stockbridge Meadows, Dolphin Lane, Melbourn 
NH/12-116 - Recreational Green, Clear Crescent, Melbourn  
NH/12-117 - Play Park, Clear Crescent, Melbourn 
NH/12-118 - Recreational Green, Elm Way, Melbourn 
NH/12-119 - Recreational Green, Beechwood Avenue, Melbourn 
NH/12-120 - Recreational Green, Greengage Rise, Melbourn 
NH/12-121 - Recreational Green, Chalkhill Barrow, Melbourn 
NH/12-122 - Land between Worcester Way and Armingford Crescent, Melbourn  
NH/12-123 - Recreation Ground, Meldreth 
NH/12-124 - Flambards Green, Meldreth 
NH/12-125 - Chapel Orchard, Orwell 
NH/12-125 - Chapel Orchard, Orwell 
NH/12-126 - Allotments at Fishers Lane, Orwell 
NH/12-127 - Chapel Orchard Allotments, Orwell 
NH/12-128 - Glebe Field, behind St Andrews Church, Orwell 
NH/12-129 - Recreation Ground, Town Green Road, Orwell 
NH/12-130 - Station Road/Turn Lane, Over 
NH/12-131 - Land to rear of The Lane, Over 
NH/12-132 - Wood behind Pendragon Hill, Papworth Everard 
NH/12-133 - Jubilee Green, Papworth Everard 
NH/12-134 - Baron's Way Wood, Papworth Everard  
NH/12-135 - Rectory Woods, Papworth Everard 
NH/12-136 - Meadow at western end of Church Lane, Papworth Everard 
NH/12-137 - Summer's Hill Open Space, Papworth Everard 
NH/12-138 - Papworth Hall, Papworth Everard 
NH/12-139 - Village Playing Field, Papworth Everard 
NH/12-140 - Challis Garden, Mill Lane, Sawston 
NH/12-141 - The Spike Playing Field, South Terrace, Sawston 
NH/12-142 - Mill Lane Recreation Ground, Sawston 
NH/12-143 - Millennium Copse, Sawston 
NH/12-144 - Butlers Green, Sawston 
NH/12-145 - Spicers' Sports Field, Sawston 
NH/12-146 - Lynton Way Recreation Ground, Sawston 
NH/12-147 - Orchard Park, Sawston 
NH/12-148 - Deal Grove, Sawston 
NH/12-149 - Ransom Strip, Craft Way, Steeple Morden 
NH/12-150 - Recreation Ground, Hay Street, Steeple Morden 
NH/12-151 - The Cowslip Meadow, Steeple Morden 
NH/12-152 - White Ponds Wood, Steeple Morden 
NH/12-153 - Tween Town Wood, Steeple Morden 
NH/12-154 - Village Green, Thriplow 
NH/12-155 - Cricket Pitch, Thriplow 
NH/12-156 - Recreation Ground, Thriplow 
NH/12-157 - The Spinney, Thriplow 
NH/12-158 - Open Land, Church Street, Thriplow 

Page 45



NH/12-159 - Dower House Woodland Area, Thriplow 
NH/12-160 - Toft, Land adjacent 6 High Street 
NH/12-161 - Toft, Recreation Ground 
NH/12-162 - Small green area immediately to west of G58, Toft 
NH/12-163 - Allotments, Toft 
NH/12-164 - Village Green, Waterbeach 
NH/12-165 - The Gault, Waterbeach 
NH/12-166 - Old Pond Site, Waterbeach 
NH/12-167 - Barracks Frontage, Waterbeach 
NH/12-168 - Coronation Close, Waterbeach 
NH/12-169 - School frontage, Waterbeach 
NH/12-170 -Recreation Ground / play area, Whaddon 
NH/12-171 -Newton Road Play Area, Whittlesford 
NH/12-172 - The Lawn, Whittlesford 

Page 46



Appendix C   
Summary of representations received during the Local Green Space consultation 2014  
 
Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH12/001 - Land 
north of Almond 
Grove; 
NH12/002 - Land 
East of Acorn 
Avenue; 
NH12/003 - Land 
north of 
Appletrees; 
NH12/004 - Village 
Green; 
NH12/005 - 
Recreation 
Ground; 
NH12/006 - Land 
north of Little 
Meadow; 
NH12/007 - Land 
South of Viking 
Way; 
NH12/008 - 
Allotments, south 
of Saxon Way; 
NH12/009 - Land 

Bar Hill  64922 
64960 
64961 
64962 
64963 
64964 
64965 
64966 
64967 
64968 
 
 
Support 

Bar Hill Parish Council – same response for each site. 
 
Sites of great value on lives of people who live in Bar Hill and they respect and value 
these green areas of play and relaxation. They have been in use for residents since the 
inception of Bar Hill from 1966. 
 
Green spaces, particularly natural green spaces, located close to local people provide a 
range of social, environmental and economic benefits, including: 
 
Ø Increased social activity 
Ø Increased physical activity 
Ø Improvements to children's learning 
Ø Improved community cohesion and sense of belonging 
Ø Attractive places to live, work, play, visit 

P
age 47



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

south of Saxon 
Way; 
NH12/0010 - 
Green area 
bordering each 
side of perimeter 
NH/12 - 011 
Church Close 
Nature Reserve,  

Barton 64898 
Support 

Barton Parish Council 
 
Parish Council put forward this green area which it owns and is currently a nature 
reserve because it was felt to be a green asset to the village. 
However, there is one question which we have thought of at a very late stage. It had 
been intended originally that the area could eventually be used as an extension to the 
church burial ground. Would this still be permissible in a ' Local Green Space’? 

NH/12-012 - Hines 
Close 

Barton 64889 
Support 

Individual  
NH/12-012 - Hines 
Close 

Barton 64916 
Support 

CRFS Ltd  
NH/12-012 - Hines 
Close 

Barton 64976 
Support 

Individual 
NH/12-013 - 
Elbourn Way 
South 

Bassingbourn 
cum 
Kneesworth 

64866 Support Bassingbourn cum Kneesworth Parish Council 

NH/12-014 - 
Elbourn Way North 

Bassingbourn 
cum 
Kneesworth 

64865 Support Bassingbourn cum Kneesworth Parish Council 

NH/12-015 - 
Fortune Way 

Bassingbourn 
cum 

64864  
Support 

Bassingbourn cum Kneesworth Parish Council 

P
age 48



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

Kneesworth 
NH/12-016 - The 
Rouses,  

Bassingbourn 64932 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Of the three tests in NPPF the site fails on the second and third. 
 
The site is a featureless agricultural field and the Council has not shown that the site is 
'demonstrably special' to the community or of particular local significance. 
 
The site is well located within the village and has development potential. A LGS 
designation would prevent development which is inconsistent with national policy on 
enabling sustainable development. 
 
Part of the site (shown on the attached plan as "Area leased to Bassingbourn PC") is 
considered to be an extension to the playing fields, benefiting the village and can be 
designated a LGS. 
 
The Inspector is respectfully requested to exclude the designation from the Local Plan 
with the exception of the area of land shown on the attached plan 

NH/12-018 - 
Recreation Ground 

Bassingbourn 
cum 
Kneesworth 

64867 Support Bassingbourn cum Kneesworth Parish Council 

NH/12-022 - 
Camping Close 

Bourn 64899 
Object 
Amend 
boundary 

Saunderson & Co  
 
The Landowner strongly objects to the proposed designation on the basis that the 
boundary put forward by the Parish Council is inaccurate and if it is not removed it 
should be amended. 
In addition the scale of proposed site is unreasonable ( contrary to Paragraph 77 of the 

P
age 49



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NPPF) 
Also the land does not meet the criteria of Local Green Space designation detailed in 
the NPPG and the land is already protected by nature of it lying within the conservation 
area and flood plain.  
There has been no sound consultation process regarding this proposal which renders it 
unsound. 

NH/12-022 - 
Camping Close,  

Bourn 64900 
Object  
Amend 
boundary  

Saunderson & Co  
 
The Landowner strongly objects to the proposed designation on the basis that the 
boundary put forward by the Parish Council is inaccurate and if it is not removed it 
should be amended. 
In addition the scale of proposed site is unreasonable (contrary to Paragraph 77 of the 
NPPF) 
Also the land does not meet the criteria of Local Green Space designation detailed in 
the NPPG and the land is already protected by nature of it lying within the conservation 
area and flood plain.  
There has been no sound consultation process regarding this proposal which renders it 
unsound. 

NH/12-022 - 
Camping Close,  

Bourn 64901 
Object 
Amend 
boundary 

Saunderson & Co  
 
The Landowner strongly objects to the proposed designation on the basis that the 
boundary put forward by the Parish Council is inaccurate and if it is not removed it 
should be amended. 
In addition the scale of proposed site is unreasonable (contrary to Paragraph 77 of the 
NPPF) 
Also the land does not meet the criteria of Local Green Space designation detailed in 
the NPPG and the land is already protected by nature of it lying within the conservation 

P
age 50



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

area and flood plain.  
There has been no sound consultation process regarding this proposal which renders it 
unsound. 

NH/12-022 - 
Camping Close,  

Bourn 64904 
Object  Amend 
boundary 

Individual  
 
The proposed Local Green Space designation for land adjacent to Camping Close 
Bourn does not comply with the NPPF and supporting NPPG and should be removed. A 
failure to amend the plan and the proposals map on this basis will render the local plan 
unsound. 
The respondent is aware of the submission by the owners  of Camping Close and fully 
supports their objections and proposed revised boundary for the Local Green Space 
designation. 
 

NH/12-022 
Camping Close,  

Bourn 64910 
Object  
 
Amend 
boundary 

Saunderson & Co  
 
The landowner of Camping Close strongly objects to the proposed designation. The 
boundary put forward by the Parish Council is inaccurate and if the proposed 
designation is not removed, it should be amended.  
In addition the scale of the proposed site is unreasonable in proportion (contrary to 
Paragraph 77 of the NPPF).  
Also the land does not meet the specific criteria of LGS designation detailed in the 
NPPG and it is within a conservation area and flood plain, it is within the curtilage of 2 
listed buildings and has 2 public rights of way crossing it protected by the Highways Act 
1980.  
There has been no sound consultation process regarding this proposal which renders it 
unsound. 
 

P
age 51



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12 - 023 - 
Access to 
Camping Close,  

Bourn 64977 
Support 

Individual  
 
The respondent supports the proposed local green space over their land. Land has 
been in ownership of Haggers family for generations. The respondent is the last 
surviving member of the family and desires that after she has gone the community will 
benefit from the land. Believe the land has particular local significance because of its 
beauty, tranquillity and recreational value. 
 

NH/12-025 - Land 
north of Jeavons 
Lane north of 
Monkfield Way  

Cambourne 64934 
Object 
 
Do not 
designate –
more 
appropriate as 
PVAA 

MCA Developments Limited 
 
Extent of LGS designation for Cambourne is unsound for following reasons: 
* Not 'positively prepared' as it seeks to replicate Green Belt function and prohibit 
development in sustainable locations; 
* Not 'effective' as applied extensively and not just to areas of 'particular local 
significance' ; 
* Not 'justified' as contact with landowners at an early stage in planning process to 
designate their land as LGS not been undertaken and as such consultation process has 
not allowed for effective engagement of all interested parties; 
* Not 'consistent with national policy' as proposed allocation does not meet LGS 
assessment criteria of paragraph 77 of NPPF or accord with paragraph 76 of NPPF 
which denotes designations should be consistent with sustainable development 
objectives. 

NH/12-028 - Land 
East of Sterling 
Way,  

Cambourne 64937 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS – 

MCA Developments Limited 
 
The extent of the LGS designation for Cambourne is unsound for the following reasons: 
* It is not 'positively prepared' as it seeks to replicate a Green Belt function and prohibit 
development in sustainable locations; 

P
age 52



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

In order to be 
consistent with 
other village 
greens in 
Cambourne 
should be 
PVAA 

* It is not 'effective' as it has been applied extensively and not just to areas of 'particular 
local significance'; 
* It is not 'justified' as contact with landowners at an early stage in the planning process 
to designate their land as LGS has not been undertaken and as such the consultation 
process has not allowed for effective engagement of all interested parties; 
* It is not 'consistent with national policy' as the proposed allocation does not meet the 
LGS assessment criteria of paragraph 77 of the NPPF or accord with paragraph 76 of 
the NPPF which denotes designations should be consistent with sustainable 
development objectives. 

NH/12-029 - Land 
east of Sterling 
Way, north of 
Brace Dein,  

Cambourne 64938 
Object 
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 
To be 
consistent with 
other village 
greens in 
Cambourne 
should be 
designated as 
PVAA 

MCA Developments Limited 
 
The extent of the LGS designation for Cambourne is unsound for the following reasons: 
* It is not 'positively prepared' as it seeks to replicate a Green Belt function and prohibit 
development in sustainable locations; 
* It is not 'effective' as it has been applied extensively and not just to areas of 'particular 
local significance'; 
* It is not 'justified' as contact with landowners at an early stage in the planning process 
to designate their land as LGS has not been undertaken and as such the consultation 
process has not allowed for effective engagement of all interested parties; 
* It is not 'consistent with national policy' as the proposed allocation does not meet the 
LGS assessment criteria of paragraph 77 of the NPPF or accord with paragraph 76 of 
the NPPF which denotes designations should be consistent with sustainable 
development objectives. 
 

NH/12-030 - Land 
north of School 
Lane, west of 

Cambourne 64939 
Do not 
designate as 

MCA Developments Limited 
 
The extent of the LGS designation for Cambourne is unsound for the following reasons: 

P
age 53



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

Woodfield Lane LGS 
More 
appropriate to 
designate as 
PVAA. 

* It is not 'positively prepared' as it seeks to replicate a Green Belt function and prohibit 
development in sustainable locations; 
* It is not 'effective' as it has been applied extensively and not just to areas of 'particular 
local significance'; 
* It is not 'justified' as contact with landowners at an early stage in the planning process 
to designate their land as LGS has not been undertaken and as such the consultation 
process has not allowed for effective engagement of all interested parties; 
* It is not 'consistent with national policy' as the proposed allocation does not meet the 
LGS assessment criteria of paragraph 77 of the NPPF or accord with paragraph 76 of 
the NPPF which denotes designations should be consistent with sustainable 
development objectives. 

NH/12-035 - Large 
areas within and 
around the edge of 
village,  

Cambourne 64944 
Object 
 
Should 
designate 
smaller sites 
as LGS rather 
than have one 
large area. 
Also some 
areas are 
more 
appropriate as 
PVAA. 

MCA Developments Limited 
 
The extent of the LGS designation for Cambourne is unsound for the following reasons: 
* It is not 'positively prepared' as it seeks to replicate a Green Belt function and prohibit 
development in sustainable locations; 
* It is not 'effective' as it has been applied extensively and not just to areas of 'particular 
local significance'; 
* It is not 'justified' as contact with landowners at an early stage in the planning process 
to designate their land as LGS has not been undertaken and as such the consultation 
process has not allowed for effective engagement of all interested parties; 
* It is not 'consistent with national policy' as the proposed allocation does not meet the 
LGS assessment criteria of paragraph 77 of the NPPF or accord with paragraph 76 of 
the NPPF which denotes designations should be consistent with sustainable 
development objectives. 

NH/12-036 - 
Honeysuckle 

Cambourne Support  MCA Developments Limited 
 

P
age 54



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

Close and Hazel 
Lane green space 

No objection to designation of this site which is a small private copse and is worthy of 
retention as a LGS 

NH/12-038 - Land 
South of Barton Rd 

Comberton 64905 
Object  
Amend 
boundary 

Individual  
 
Respondent objects to inclusion of his land within this Local Green Space designation. 
Propose site boundary is amended as per attached map.  
Land in question is garden of 36 Barton Road, Comberton. In respondent’s view does 
not meet criteria in that it holds no particular local significance in terms of its beauty, 
historical significance, recreational value, tranquillity or its wildlife. The land cannot be 
accessed or viewed by the local community from any public access point. 
 
Land is already protected as its within curtilage of No 36 Barton Road, a Grade ll listed 
building and the conservation area. 

NH/12-038 - Land 
south of Barton 
Road  

Comberton 64952 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary  

Individuals 
 
Object (to how the PVAA/LGS boundaries are currently proposed). 
 
1/ Please give max LGS protection to ALL the fields/meadows and orchards and open 
areas within the currently adopted PVAA for the wildlife, particularly barn owls, kestrels 
and badgers.  
2/ Please amend the south east corner of the proposed LGS as per plan 3 so that 
brown field bits are removed and some of the omitted green and wooded bits are 
included (if the LGS idea is to be used at all). 
 
3/ If one leaves the adopted PVAA as is, maybe this would in practice, provide more 
sound protection. But better to afford all the Comberton PVAA fields meadows and 
orchards and open areas - LGS status. 

P
age 55



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12- 049 - 
Recreation Ground 
and Playing Fields 

Cottenham 64933 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Objection relates to part of proposed designation area which is not considered to 
comply with tests set out in NPPF. 
 
Objection site forms an extension to recreation ground, is poorly drained, not well 
related to existing recreation ground and currently underused by community. 
 
CCC lease site to Parish Council. Lease requires that should area be used by CCC for 
other purposes an equivalent area in close proximity to recreation ground would be 
provided by CCC. Any residential scheme on adjacent land could accommodate this 
and provide a better overall solution. LGS designation may preclude such a 
consideration. 
 
Site is featureless open area of land that is not demonstrably special to the local 
community. Only value is for recreation and it is currently underused. 

NH/12 – 050 
Land in front of 
Village College 

Cottenham 64981 
Object  
 
Amend 
boundary  

Individual  
 
Respondent comment is that as far as he can tell the reference area referred to 
above which relates mainly to land adjoining Cottenham Village College appears 
possibly to include part of his front garden. There has been a hedge defining his 
garden boundary for at least 20 years so the Council’s plans may pre date that. 
His front garden has a driveway and some lawn behind the hedge. As such he is 
not sure that it is relevant to the local green space designation. 

 

NH/12-055 - 
Greenacres,  

Duxford 64914 
Object 
 

Individual  
 
Site does not meet any of 5 tests set out in NPPF for Local Green Space. Parish 

P
age 56



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Council claim land is special to local community - open nature and recreational value.  
Site is area of left over grassed highway verge adjacent to road in middle of housing 
estate - not beautiful by normal standard, no historic interest, not tranquil, not wildlife 
rich. Land only available for recreation with permission of landowner - now withdrawn. 
Land to be fenced off.  
Site better suited to meeting the main focus of the NPPF of providing increased housing 
numbers and sustainable development 

NH/12 - 056 End 
of Mangers Lane  

Duxford 64973 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary  

Individual  
 
Inclusion of site as LGS not following robust assessment of site. Previously designated 
as PVAA - does not mean it meets criteria for LGS.  
 
Concerned that the landowners  had received no notification of proposed designation.  
 
Site enclosed area, not accessible to public. Not visible from public domain therefore 
does not contribute to village character. No community role. No recreational value. No 
significant wildlife. Extensive tract of land - not suitable as LGS. Some parts may be 
suitable but not northern section owned by respondent - College Farm. This should not 
be LGS. 
Site within conservation area which will protect its character and appearance. 

NH/12 - 056 End 
of Mangers Lane, 

Duxford 64975 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary  

Individual  
 
Site within conservation area - does not need further constraint. Comprises of 2 
paddocks and 2 garden areas enclosed by fences. Accept paddocks have only limited 
development potential due to access constraints.  
 
Have been assured that LGS designation would not allow public right of access onto the 

P
age 57



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

land or use of compulsory purchase of site. On that understanding the landowner  does 
not object to LGS on paddock areas but does strongly object to gardens being included. 
Both areas in full use as garden for adjoining houses. Delineation includes front portion 
of their house. Adjoining and neighbouring gardens not designated as LGS - expect to 
be treated likewise.  
 
Site not visible from public road or footpath - do not think site has been properly visited 
and assessed before designation. 

NH/12-057 - 
Allotments  

Elsworth 64911 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

Davison & Sons (Great Barford) Ltd 
 
Designation is not justified and Council has been inconsistent in approach to assessing 
recreational open space and consequently LGS. Site privately owned and no 
mechanism to secure use for public.  
 
Relevant draft policy in Local Plan (NH/12) does not accord with the NPPF. Assessment 
of site's quality as allotments is not reflective of it circumstances. Alternative policy - 
SC/9 would provide adequate protection of allotment from development.  
 
LGS designation will not secure the allotments, indeed there is a distinct risk that their 
use for these purposes may be significantly curtailed altogether. 

NH/12-058 - 
Fardells Lane 
Nature Reserve 

Elsworth 64881 
Support 

Elsworth Parish Council 
 
Valuable village amenity accessible to all residents. 
Supports wide variety of plant and animal species in their natural habitat. 
Site provides a nearby educational asset for nature study for pupils at  local Primary 
School. 
 

P
age 58



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12-060 - Glebe 
Field,  

Elsworth 64927 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Site should only be designated if it passes tests set out in paragraph 77 of NPPF 
Site is valued for its mature trees which are already statutorily protected. 
The Council has not demonstrated that site is special and holds a particular local 
significance apart from trees which could be retained with a sensitive development 
proposal. 
Eight sites have been identified within the village amounting to an extensive overall 
reduction in potential for the bringing forward of sustainable development, contrary to 
NPPF. 
The Inspector is respectfully requested to exclude the designation from the Local Plan. 

NH/12-062 - Field 
between Brockley 
Road and Brook 
Street 

Elsworth 64896 
Object 
Amend 
boundary 

Individuals 
 
Owners of land believe that there is an opportunity to provide a large element of green 
space on the site whilst integrating it with a sustainable development of open market 
and affordable housing - More detailed information is available on the proposed 
scheme. 

NH/12 - 063 Land 
at south end of 
Brook Street,  

Elsworth 64974 
Object 
Amend 
boundary 

Individual 
 
No robust assessment of LGS against criteria in para 77 of NPPF. 
Concerned that no formal notification of proposed designation.  
 
Site does not meet criteria for LGS - no public access; vacant and unkempt site; not 
special to local community - not previously designated as PVAA; Valued as next to 
County Wildlife site - no significant wildlife on site. Limited evidence as to why LGS.  
 
Site within conservation area which will protect its appearance and character. 

P
age 59



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12 – 065 – 
Village Green 

Eltisley  64971 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary  

Eltisley Parish Council 
 
Support the designation of village green as a LGS but wish to point out that the 
designated area must match the original land as mapped in the inclosure award of 
17/3/1864.  
 
Attached an extract from the original document but this does not show the full extent of 
the land. The original document is very large and can be viewed at Cambridgeshire 
archives, Shire Hall.  
Council are aware of an error in the land registered with land registry and are in the 
process of seeking amendment of their records 

NH/12-068 - 
Paddock, Ditton 
Lane junction with 
High Ditch Road 

Fen Ditton 64926 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS  

RM Francis Will Trust 
 
Site should only be designated if it passes tests set out in paragraph 77 of NPPF 
Site fails second test as it has not been shown to be demonstrably special and of 
particular local significance. 
Concept of bringing countryside into village to enhance rural character is not considered 
demonstrably special due to the existing scale of the village and its already strong rural 
character. 
Views of the site are limited. Views of properties and gardens are not considered 
special. Views out towards open countryside are restricted by mature trees and views 
are already protected by Importance Countryside Frontage designation. 
Designation will preclude any consideration of a sensitively designed scheme for 
sustainable housing development. 

NH/12-070 - 
Recreation Ground 

Foxton 64890 
Support 

Foxton Parish Council 
 
Valuable recreational amenity for village. 

P
age 60



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/070 - 
Recreation 
Ground,  

Foxton Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Site should only be designated if it passes the tests set out in paragraph 77 of NPPF 
 
Objection to part of site being designated 
 
Site used as allotment land -this has not been demonstrated by District Council to be 
special to local community or to hold a particular local significance.  
 
Site forms part of an extensive tract of land of different character areas that have not 
been assessed for their individual contributions to local community. 
 
Site fails to comply with second and third tests set out in NPPF. 
 
Designation will risk harming future delivery of sustainable housing development on 
adjacent land contrary to aims of enabling sustainable development set out in NPPF. 
 
Inspector requested to amend designation to exclude objection site shown on attached 
plan CJ001. 

NH/12-073 - Green 
Area on Station 
Road,  

Foxton 64950 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

Goreway Holdings Limited c/o Endurance Estates Limited 
 
This wide roadside verge does not hold any recreational value for community and would 
be unsafe to use. Does not provide tranquil oasis due to its proximity to Station Road. 
No evidence that significant wildlife is present.  
Statement from Parish Council does not demonstrate land is demonstrably special to 
local community and no evidence has been submitted. 
Council's assessment in 2012 concluded land did not meet criteria of Local Green 

P
age 61



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

Space. From Council's Submission documents designation is based on Parish Council's 
recommendations, which were limited and vague. 
To apply LGS designation to roadside verge undermines criteria of LGS. Applying 
designation to one roadside verge suggests it could be applied to many, which is not 
intention of Paragraph 77 of the NPPF. Proposed designation is unsound and should be 
removed. 

NH/12-074 - Field 
between Cox's 
Drove, Cow Lane 
and Land adjacent 
the Horse Pond  

Fulbourn 64958 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

Castleford International Ltd 
 
The proposed designation is not 'positively prepared' as it seeks to sterilise a site which 
clearly has development potential. 
 
It is not 'effective' as it would be contrary to designate this site as a LGS given that 
SCDC do not currently have a 5 year land supply and development should be directed 
to the most sustainable settlements.  
 
It is not 'justified' as the consultation process has not allowed for effective engagement 
of all interested parties. We question why the site is now proposed as LGS when the 
site has never been incorporated within the Green Belt, or had any other special 
protection in the current Plan. 
 
It is not 'consistent with national policy' as it does not meet the LGS criteria of para 77 of 
the NPPF or accord with para 76 of the NPPF which denotes designations should be 
consistent with sustainable development objectives. 

NH/12-075 - 
Victorian Garden,  

Fulbourn 64907 
Object  
 
Amend 

Individuals 
 
Leg of Site NH/12-075 extending east across frontage of their private property is not 
part of adjacent Victorian Garden. Maps accompanying PVAA and LGS documents are 

P
age 62



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

boundary inconsistent, lacking definition as to extent of land to be designated. Potential 
designated area includes paved access roads and parking areas. 
Local community may not know that land now has no connection to the Victorian 
Garden and therefore the landowners  request that it is deleted from designated area. 
Alternatively, the respondents request the designation be limited to a 10m deep strip 
north from the property's southern site boundary with Cow Lane extending eastwards 
from Victorian Garden only as far as the western side of existing property main access 
road. 

NH/12-075 - 
Victorian Garden,  

Fulbourn 64959 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

Castleford International Ltd  
 
Proposed designation is not 'positively prepared' as it seeks to sterilise a site which 
clearly has development potential and is capable of coming forward during the SCDC 
five year period under assessment (2014-2019) 
 
It is not 'effective' as the site is already designated as Conservation Area and not 
afforded any other special protection in the Local Plan.  
 
It is not 'justified' as the consultation process has not allowed for effective engagement 
of all interested parties. 
 
It is not 'consistent with national policy' as it does not meet LGS criteria of para 77 or 
accord with para 76 of NPPF which denotes designations should be consistent with 
sustainable development objectives. 

NH/12-076 - Lupin 
Field,  

Gamlingay 64951 
Object 
 

Merton College 
 
* The land lies outside of the Village Framework.  
* It is not an area of beauty, comprising a scrub area and open grazing land that is 

P
age 63



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

indistinguishable from other areas around the village.  
* There has been no identification of any of the College land being of ecological value 
* It is not of known historic significance or tranquillity. 
* Only part of the land serves any recreational use and this is only on a temporary 
arrangement.  
* It is not demonstrably special to the local community. 
 
For the reasons above the proposed allocation is considered inappropriate, 
unnecessary and contrary to the NPPF, as such it is considered not sound. This is 
reflected in the fact that when initially requested to designate the area as a Local Green 
Space officers concluded the 'Site does not meet test for either PVAA or LGS' and in 
the absence of any change in circumstances this remains the case. 

NH/12-078 - 
Recreation 
Ground,  

Guilden Morden 64917 
Support 

Guilden Morden Parish Council 
 
Used as Public Open Space 

NH/12-079 - The 
Craft,  

Guilden Morden 64928 
Object 
 
Not to 
designate as 
LGS 

Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Site should only be designated if it passes tests set out in paragraph 77 of NPPF 
 
Site is an extensive tract of open rough grassland of no particular character. 
 
It is not considered to have been demonstrated to be special to the local community and 
to hold a particular local significance. 
 
Site fails the second and third tests set out in the NPPF. 
 
Designation will preclude consideration of any sensitively designed scheme for 

P
age 64



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

sustainable housing development contrary to the aims of enabling sustainable 
development set out within NPPF. 
 
The Inspector is respectfully requested to exclude the designation from the Local Plan 

NH/12-080 - 
Church Meadow  

Guilden Morden 64929 
Object 
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Site is a largely enclosed featureless area of open rough grassland of no particular 
character. Significant areas of open land exist in vicinity that are more readily visible 
from built up area and already bring a rural character to village. 
 
It is not considered to have been demonstrated to be special to the local community and 
to hold a particular local significance. 
 
The site fails the second test set out in the NPPF. 
 
The designation will preclude consideration of any sensitively designed scheme within 
the context of the setting of the church for sustainable housing development contrary to 
the aims of enabling sustainable development set out within the NPPF 

NH/12 081  
Land between 
Swan Lane and 
Pound Green 

Guilden Morden 64854 Object  
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

FW Pepper Ltd   
 
1. Field is agricultural  
2. No amenity value. 
3. No footpath on site. 
4. Not visible from the road. 
5. No historical significance. 
6. No recreational value, no tranquillity (Agricultural), no richness of wildlife. 
7. Not demonstrably special to local community. 

P
age 65



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12-082 - 
Pound Green,  

Guilden Morden 64893 
Support 

Individual 
 
Site is of historic significance to village, being the area where animals were kept before 
being moved to a different location. It is also one of the few green spaces within the 
village, acting as a surrogate ' village green'. It is a useful amenity, recently acting as a 
display area in the recent successful ' Guilden Morden in the 1940's' staged by the 
Local History Group. 

NH/12-083 - 
Thompsons 
Meadow,  

Guilden Morden 64918 
Support 

Guilden Morden Parish Council 
 
Used as Public Open Space 

NH12/084 - Play 
area adjacent to 
the Church 

Hardwick 64912 
Support 

Hardwick Parish Council 
 
Currently used as a Public open space. 

NH12/085 - 
Recreation Ground 
in Egremont Rd,  

Hardwick 64913 
Support 

Hardwick Parish Council 
 
Currently used as a Public open space. 

NH/12-087 - 
Wellhouse 
Meadow,  

Haslingfield 64923 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

Individuals 
 
Site boundary of Wellhouse Meadow is incorrect in including the respondents’ private 
lands. 
 
These private lands are already doubly protected by listed building status and 
conservation area designation and to include their private lands in a LGS is contrary to 
the Council’s document Draft Final Sustainability Appraisal (March 2014), Annex A - 
Audit Trail, Appendix 5, page A1391. 
 
The respondents  did not know this designation was being made until November 2014 

P
age 66



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

when their neighbours first received their notification. The respondents note it was 
March 2014 that SCDC was told to advise ALL landowners but it was not until 
November that they were advised. They have owned this land since 1974. 

NH/12-087 - 
Wellhouse 
Meadow 

Haslingfield  64924 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

Individuals 
 
Seems totally unnecessary to add another designation when conservation area and 
PVAA already apply to the respondents’ land and seem to hold enough restrictions to 
development to satisfy the Council’s aims.  
 
Please note the statements in Draft Final Sustainability Appraisal Annex A, Appendix 5, 
page A1390 shows ".... a second opportunity for consultation in 2013" and still no direct 
contact with the respondents. Unaware of earlier designation as PVAA.  
 
Also on page A1391, "There are policies that give existing protection to green space 
within the Local Plan and it is not the intention of the council to double protect such sites 
by identifying them as LGS." 

NH/12-087 - 
Wellhouse 
Meadow,  

Haslingfield 64930 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
The objection relates to part of site only, to south of Broad Lane, and shown on 
attached plan. 
 
Objection site is residential land sitting behind 2m high wall. Not open in character and 
is distinct from orchard and meadowland. 
 
Site is set in area of some historic significance, but not demonstrably special to local 
community and more historically significant sites lie adjacent that are not included.  
 

P
age 67



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

Objection site forms part of tract of land of different character areas that have not been 
assessed for their individual contributions to local community. 
 
Site fails to comply with second and third tests set out in NPPF. 
 
Designation will preclude consideration of any sensitively designed scheme for 
sustainable housing development. 

NH/12 - Site 089 
East of New Road,  

Impington 64978 
Support 

Histon & Impington Parish Council 
 
Support subject to designation will not stop Parish Council carrying out any work on 
improvements e.g. electricity / water supply. Part of land is in the ownership of Histon 
Football Club holdings. 

NH/12-094 - 
Village Orchard 

Kingston 64888 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

Kingston Parish Council 
 
Boundary amendment of site NH/12-094 requested to exclude a private house and 
garden which was included in error in the Parish Council's original submission. 

NH/12-094 - 
Village Orchard 

Kingston 64895 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

Individuals 
 
Error made by Parish Council when Northern boundary of ‘Village Orchard' was defined 
and the respondent’s property which lies immediately to north of the site has never 
been part of the 'Village Orchard'. 
Map enclosed indicating in red the actual northern boundary of ‘Village Orchard' and  
southern boundary of the respondents property. 
The respondents  fully support the proposal for Local Green Space provided boundary 
is redrawn according to actual boundary of  'Village Orchard' as they have outlined. 
 

P
age 68



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12-099 Village 
Green 

Litlington 64857 Support Litlington Parish Council 
 
Important open space in the village. 

NH/12-100  
St Peter's Hill 

Litlington  64856 Support Litlington Parish Council 
 
Important open space in the village. 

NH/12-101 
Recreation Ground 

Litlington  64858 Support Litlington Parish Council 
 
Important open space in the village. 

NH/12-102 Scout 
camp site, Church 
Lane 

Little Abington 64902 
Object  
Amend 
boundary 

Abington Woods CIC  
 
New owner of site is Abington Woods CIC not Cambridge International School. 
The site has an existing planning permission (S/0893/11) which is valid for 3 years from 
3 August 2012. The documents relating to the planning permission make it clear that 
only 2/3rds of the site lies within a conservation area. Given the existence of the 
planning permission it seems sensible for the Local Green Space only to cover that part 
of the site that is already in the conservation area. 

NH/12-104 - 
Meadows, 
Bancroft Farm,  

Little Abington 64925 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

Individual 
 
It has clearly not been demonstrated that the proposed designation meets all of the 
criteria set out in the NPPF for assessing LGS designations. 
It should also be noted that nowhere does national policy suggest that a failure to meet 
policy requirements should be balanced against other considerations when designating 
Local Green Space. 
The allocation of this area as LGS would almost certainly prevent part of the site coming 
forward as a sustainable residential development opportunity within the defined 
settlement boundary for the village. 

P
age 69



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

Council have not demonstrated that proposed designation meets detailed requirements 
of national policy, and therefore is inappropriate and unjustified. 

NH/12 - 105 - 
Camping Close, 
Camping Field 

Great Shelford 64892 
Support 

Individual 
 
The landowner supports this decision to include her property in the proposed 'Local 
Green Space' on the understanding that her house will remain as it is and that she 
retains full control over what she can plant in her garden. 
A recent valuation of her property quoted on the value for the property as it is and 
substantially higher value as a building site. This will however affect the value to her 
heirs. 

NH/12-106 
Recreation ground 

Little Wilbraham 64876 
Support 

Little Wilbraham and Six Mile Bottom Parish Council 
 
Part of site was converted to allotments 4 years ago by Parish Council and they are all 
let to local residents. The project has been a great success. 
Site should remain as allotments for use by the local residents.  

NH/12-112 - 
Recreational 
Green, Russet 
Way 

Melbourn 64884 
Support 

Individual 
 

NH/12-112 
Recreational 
Green, Russet 
Way 

Melbourn 64875 Object - 
suggest 
change of use. 

Individual 
 
Object to any developments being built on NH/12-112 but would support designated 
parking lots for each house that owns part of the Local Green Space. 

NH/12-112 - 
Recreational 
Green, Russet 
Way 

Melbourn 64897 
Support 

Individual 

P
age 70



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12-112 - 
Recreational 
Green, Russet 
Way 

Melbourn 64949 
Support 

Individual 
 
Although the plot in question is very small in area the respondent fully endorses the 
decision to designate it as a local green space and is pleased to note that other larger 
areas of green space in the village have been included in the plan. The respondent 
should like to see further areas in the village included under this designation. 

NH/12 - 115 -
Stockbridge 
Meadows 

Melbourn 64873 Object 
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Individual 
 
Document outlines boundaries of 100 High Street, Melbourn and demonstrates that  
triangular parcel of land to  rear of  property is not part of Stockbridge Meadows  

NH/12-118 - 
Recreational 
Green, Elm Way,  

Melbourn 64947 
Support 

Individual 
 
Support 

NH/12-128 - Glebe 
Field, behind St 
Andrews Church,  

Orwell 64931 
Object 
 
Not to 
designate as 
LGS 

Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Site should only be designated if it passes tests set out in paragraph 77 of NPPF 
Site is an area of open rough grassland of no particular character, crossed by a public 
footpath. 
 
It has not been demonstrated that the site is special and of particular local significance 
to the community. The site therefore fails the second of three tests. 
The site fails the third test as it is an extensive tract of land. 
 
The designation will preclude consideration of any sensitively designed scheme for 
sustainable housing development contrary to the aims of enabling sustainable 
development set out within the NPPF. 

P
age 71



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12 - 130 - 
Station Road/Turn 
Lane,  

Over 64870 Object  
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Individual 
 
Site privately owned. Does not hold any particular significance to local community.  
No public access to site has ever existed. Previous PVAA designation was removed in 
2009 by an inspector who stated land does not contribute to amenity and character of 
village. Site has not changed since that time. 
 
Parish Council's proposal to make this a 'Local Green Space' is flawed - site does not 
meet any of the criteria laid out in the NPPF. Not in Conservation Area. 
 
Sensitively planned development would enhance this part of village - no change to 
character. 

NH/12 - 130 - 
Station Road/Turn 
Lane,  

Over  64871 Object 
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Individual 
 
Site does not meet any of criteria laid out in the NPPF.  
Over PC never agreed or debated the local plan submission. 
Over PC have since approved a planning application on the site. 
Site does not and has never served the community. 
No richness of wildlife. 
More suitable 'Green Spaces' exist within the village, (e.g.  Village Green and 
Community Centre playing fields and skate park 
High demand for affordable housing in village 

NH/12 - 130 
Station Road/Turn 
Lane,  

Over 64872 Object 
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Individual 
 
Joint owner of land.  
Area not special to community. Question method used by Parish Council in their 
submission as to why area is special as it is in private ownership with no access and is 

P
age 72



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

covered in shrub. PVAA was lifted from it in 2009. Inspector stated land does not 
contribute to amenity or character of village.  
Site is not an 'Area of Local Significance' as it does not meet any of the criteria for local 
green space. 

NH/12-130 -
Station Road, Turn 
Lane,  

Over 64948 
Object 
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Individual 
 
As joint owner of this site, strongly object to proposal by Over PC to include it as 'Local 
Green Space'.  
Site is privately owned and has NEVER had any particular significance to the village as 
there HAS NEVER BEEN any public access. Previous PVAA was placed in error in 
1992 and removed in 2009.  
Site is within village framework, is bounded on all sides by high hedges, covered in 
scrub and brambles affording no amenity to village. Not in conservation area, so a 
tasteful development would enhance site and improve this area while adding to village 
amenities without changing it's character. 
 
Parish Council's proposal for site to be classed as LGS DOES NOT MEET the criteria 
as laid out by NPPF. 

NH/12 - 131 Land 
to the rear of The 
Lanes,  

Over 64972 
Object 
 
Not to 
designate as 
LGS 

Individuals 
 
Concern that representation submitted in earlier consultation in 2013 - Rep 57527 was 
not included in the evidence paper submitted to government in March 2014.  
 
Site does not demonstrably meet criteria under NPPF para 77 - limited views of land for 
public and no public access; no visual impact on listed buildings; no historic 
significance; no recreational value; no more tranquil than other sites in village; no 
significant wildlife. Site should have existing PVAA designation removed too 

P
age 73



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12 – 132 Wood 
behind Pendragon 
Hill,  

Papworth 
Everard   

64954 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

The Papworth Trust 
 
This is land within the Framework, which has 'run wild' over time. There is no evidence 
of either local support or the 'richness' of wildlife value which the NPPF advice requires. 
As the Council's own studies established, the tests for LGS status are not met. 

NH/12-134 - 
Baron's Way 
Wood,  

Papworth 
Everard 

64953 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

The Papworth Trust 
 
This is land within the Framework, which has 'run wild' over time. There is no evidence 
of either local support or the 'richness' of wildlife value which the NPPF advice requires. 

NH/12-135 - 
Rectory Woods 

Papworth 
Everard 

64887 
Support 

Individuals 
 
The respondents’ property is adjacent to NH/12-135. They do not own any part of it as 
mentioned in the Council’s letter. Would love green space to stay as it is. 
Supports an abundance of wildlife, including deer, fox, hedgehogs, squirrels and all 
sorts of birds and butterflies 

NH/12- 137 - 
Summer's Hill 
Open Space,  

Papworth 
Everard 

64957 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

The Varrier Jones Foundation 
 
Whilst this is land the subject of a Section 106 Obligation (in relation to the development 
of the residential estate to its east), the Council's own studies confirm that its extent is 
such as not to qualify for LGS status drawing on the NPPF guidance. 

NH/12-138 - 
Papworth Hall,  

Papworth 
Everard 

64903 
Object 
Amend 
boundary 

Individuals 
 
No objection to Local Green Space 
Would like hatched red area to be separated from Papworth Hall NH/12-138 as now 
private land 
LGS would not stop minor planning applications to property in hatched red area. 

P
age 74



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12-138 
Papworth Hall,  

Papworth 
Everard 

64955 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary. 
Not designate 
that part of 
land in 
respondent’s 
ownership.  

The Varrier Jones Foundation 
 
This designation takes in (at least) two ownerships. So far as those parts owned by the 
objector are concerned, none meet the criteria for 'particular significance' cited in the 
NPPF and the Council's own studies. Thus the tests for LGS status are not met. 

NH/12-139 - 
Village Playing 
Field,  

Papworth 
Everard 

64956 
Object  
 
Amend 
boundary 

The Varrier Jones Foundation 
 
Self-evidently, the majority of the site has a local recreational function. The same is not, 
however, true of the woodland strip along its northern edge. There is no evidence that 
this is the home for the 'richness of wildlife' which the NPPF expects. Delete this strip. 

NH/12-141 - The 
Spike Playing 
Field, South 
Terrace,  

Sawston 64906 
Object 
 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Sawston Church Institute  
 
The "Spike Field" is in fact private land that was bequeathed over 100 years ago to 
Sawston Church/Institute. The respondent is secretary of SCI and also a trustee of the 
Towgood Charities. They are responsible for the field, hence it is partially fenced off, 
apart from a few residents cars near the entrance. This is not a recreational area for the 
public. 
 
From time to time they also have to fund the pruning of trees, hedges etc, from 
overgrowth. 
 
It is not our intention to permit the public access to this private area. 

P
age 75



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12-141 - The 
Spike Playing 
Field, South 
Terrace  

Sawston 64915 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

The Towgoods' Charities of St Mary the Virgin Sawston 
 
1. Designated land is Charity Land in Trust. 
2. Trustees are bound to ensure this area of land is used as set out in the Indenture 
dated 1903. 
3. Trustees have insufficient income to insure themselves for local community access. 
4. As the Trustees cannot accept any public liability they will have to fence it off if 
necessary. 

NH/12-142 Mill 
Lane Recreation 
Ground 

Sawston  64877 Support Sawston Parish Council 
 
Fully support  inclusion of the local green space 

NH/12 - 143 
Millenium Copse 

Sawston  64878 Support Sawston Parish Council 
 
Fully support  inclusion of the local green space 

NH/12 - 143 
Millenium Copse 

Sawston 64882 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary 

John Huntingdon Charity 
 
Part of this site is owned by the charity, but has a nursery built on it back in 2000, so 
cannot be allocated as a green space. 
Other part of the site is owned by Sawston Parish Council as marked on the attached 
plans. The respondent  has also attached the Land Registry document for further 
clarification. 

NH/12-144 - 
Butlers Green,  

Sawston 64946 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS 

Individual 
 
The respondent objects to this nomination. This site should not be designated as a LGS 
as there are: 
1- No evidences exist that the John Falkner School playing field has been a special site 
of historic importance or a specifically cherished site.  

P
age 76



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

2- There are no evidences of shortage of green in this area. 
3- The Council did not find any evidence to convince them this land should be 
designated a public green. 
4- The site was sold by the Council for development only three years ago. 
5- Any such a designation would harm the potential for a sympathetic and much needed 
investment in and development of the site. 

NH/12 - 145 
Spicers Sports 
field. 

Sawston  64879 Support Sawston Parish Council 
 
Fully support  inclusion of the local green space 

NH/12-147 - 
Orchard Park 

Sawston 64883 
Support 

John Huntingdon Charity 
 
Decision to support this was taken at a trustees meeting on17/11/14 Results of vote for 
allocating it as a local green space was 7 for and 1 against. 

NH/12 - 148 Deal 
Grove 

Sawston  64880 Support Sawston Parish Council 
 
Fully support  inclusion of the local green space 

NH/12-149 - 
Ransom Strip, 
Craft Way,  

Steeple Morden 64921 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary. 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS part of 
site owned by 
respondent 

Individual 
 
As privately owned land designating site as LGS will provide no benefit to the public as 
they will have no legal access to it. 
Village badly in need of affordable housing and as this site is already adjacent to other 
local housing in Craft Way an ideal opportunity exists to extend services and amenities 
to this site. 
If left undeveloped the site will be at risk of being used by fly tippers and other 
unauthorised access. 
The designation of this site as local green space will not meet the objectives of the 
NPPF as the land is privately owned thereby barring the local community from 

P
age 77



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

access to it. 
NH/12 - 150 
Recreation 
Ground, Hay 
Street 

Steeple Morden 64860 Support Steeple Morden Parish Council 

NH/12 - 151 - The 
Cowslip Meadow 

Steeple Morden 64861 Support Steeple Morden Parish Council 
NH/12-157 The 
Spinney  

Thriplow 64855 Object 
Do not 
designate as 
LGS 

Individual 
 
Idea for green space site comes from one man who wished to cease mowing and 
tidying up his border to this track and wants to stop land being an entry and exit to Pegs 
Close. 
It is not used by members of the public for any reason whatsoever and if made a green 
space will be forced to remain so thereby shutting off the access to Pegs Close. 

NH/12-158 - Open 
Land, Church 
Street 

Thriplow 64886 
Object  
Amend 
boundary 

Individuals 
 
We own 3.5 strip on southern edge of site which is only access to the land we own to 
the south east of the site. It is a vehicular access track which is regularly used, so the 
Local Green Space Site should have it's boundary amended to exclude that strip. 

NH/12-161 - Toft 
Recreation Ground 

Toft 64908 
Object 
 
Amend 
boundary  

Toft Parish Council 
 
The proposed local green space NH/12-161 marked in green on the map is the 
Recreation Ground, and its inclusion as a Local Green Space in the Local Plan is 
correct. 
The Community Land, however, is not shown on the map, and this should also be 
included in the Local Plan as a Local Green Space. The area involved is marked in red 
on the map. 

P
age 78



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

NH/12-163 - 
Allotments 

Toft 64909 
Support 

Toft Parish Council 
 
 

NH/12- 167 
Barracks Frontage,  

Waterbeach 64970 
Object 
 
Not designate 
as LGS  

Defence Infrastructure Organisation 
 
Object to the proposed designation NH/12 - 167. There are positive opportunities to 
achieve sustainable pedestrian, cycling and public transport links between the proposed 
Waterbeach New Town, Waterbeach and Cambridge. This may require some highway 
re-alignment at the Barracks frontage. A master planning process has begun and will 
fully incorporate the objectives of achieving high quality and attractive green spaces in 
this location. In this context the proposed designation could undermine sustainable 
development objectives of the Submission Draft Local Plan, including Policy SS/5, and 
does not meet the criteria of the NPPF. Proposed change: Delete designation NH/12 - 
167 

NH/12-170 - 
Recreation 
Ground/play area 

Whaddon 64885 
Support 

Whaddon Parish Council 
 
Play area and recreation ground are very important to Whaddon village for both social 
and recreational purposes. Only publically owned green space in village, has a footpath 
running through it, is well used by residents and wider local community. 
Various social events are held on the recreation ground. Also has active cricket club. 
Play area is extremely popular with residents and also families from local area. 
Parish Council would like to see this important area protected for its residents so that 
they can continue to benefit from it. 

NH/12-172 - The 
Lawn 

Whittlesford 64891 
Support 

Whittlesford Parish Council 
 
Currently only recreational open space in village and accommodates numerous football 
teams from 5-year olds to adult. There is a full sized cricket pitch plus practice nets 

P
age 79



Site Reference 
and address  

Village Rep ID 
Object/ 
Support/ 
Change to 
plan 

Respondent  and summary of comments submitted 
 

supporting an active cricket club and two hard-surface tennis courts. 
Local Primary school, adjacent , also use the facility for many activities. 
There is also an enclosed play area, sports wall and 'trim trail'. All these activities are 
supported by a well equipped pavilion. The Lawn Trust Management Committee run a 
recreation programme in a professional manner that the Parish Council helps with 
financially. 

 
 
 P

age 80



 

1 
 

Appendix D 
 
Schedule sets out each stage of assessment through the plan making process for the Local Green Space sites where objections were received in the consultation with landowners in 
2014 
 
Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

NH/12-016 - 
The Rouses,  
 
Bassingbourn 

Identified in ‘Issues and Options 1’ 
consultation as Site Option 39 –
amber site. This site consists of an 
agricultural field and the house and 
garden at 60 Spring Lane. The site 
adjoins housing to the north, west and 
east. The site adjoins Ford Wood to 
the south a Woodland Trust area 
open to the public. A footpath runs 
along part of this southern boundary 
giving access to this rural edge of the 
village. Willmott Playing Field is to the 
north and there is to be an extension 
to the playing fields on land adjoining 
the site. The site is close to a number 
of Grade II listed buildings. Site is 
outside of village framework and 
therefore could not be considered as 
PVAA. According to Parish Council 
this site is valued as a green, tranquil 
area and footpath is well used. The 
site in their opinion would be suitable 
for additional recreation uses located 
as it is close to the existing recreation 
ground and to the local community. 
The site is currently identified as a 
potential site option for housing for 
inclusion in the draft Local Plan. 
The site meets the test for LGS. 

Support: 15 
Object: 1 
Comment: 1 
 
Only objection from 
Cambridgeshire County Council, 
who claims it does not meet all 
the tests.  Agricultural field – not 
special to community. Site is 
highly sustainable for future 
development. 
 
Support for the option, including 
from Parish Council.  Parish 
Council claim valued as a green, 
tranquil area and used for 
informal recreation.  Site forms 
part of the setting of Listed 
Buildings and the Conservation 
Area.   
 
Site meets the tests for LGS. 
 
  

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Support LGS from 71 
respondents. Open access 
including informal paths leading to 
Ford Wood, Willmott playing field 
and South End. Setting for listed 
buildings. Undisturbed meadow 
area. Rich in wildlife. Development 
of site would harm character and 
appearance of historic part of 
village. Surviving relic of village's 
manorial / field system. Site of 
Rowses manor house, recorded 
as vacant 1589. Valuable village 
amenity – used by many for 
informal recreation / meeting place 
/ dog walkers. Green space near 
centre of village. Additional 
recreational land needed by 
Bassingbourn-cum-Kneesworth. 

Cambridgeshire County Council 
Rep no 64932 
Object 
Amend boundary – Not designate 
site except for area leased to 
Parish Council. 
 
Three tests in NPPF for LGS - 
site fails on second and third. 
 
Site is a featureless agricultural 
field. Council has not shown that 
site is 'demonstrably special' to 
the community or of particular 
local significance. 
 
Site is well located within village 
and has development potential. A 
LGS designation would prevent 
development which is inconsistent 
with national policy on enabling 
sustainable development. 
 
Part of the site leased to 
Bassingbourn PC as an extension 
to the playing fields. Benefits 
village and can be designated a 
LGS. 
 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-022 - 
Camping Close 
 
Bourn 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Used by walkers (especially the 
dog walking community) and 
has become an informal 
meeting place; it is also a very 
important flood plain for the 
village. Beautiful area of green 
space valued by community. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Saunderson & Co  
 
Rep nos. 64899; 64900; 64901; 
64910 
Object  
Delete site if boundary not 
amended. 
 

The site was originally proposed by 
Bourn Parish Council during the 
Issues and Options 2 consultation in 
2013. The landowners are concerned 
that the extent of the LGS 
designation is contrary to the 
guidance in the NPPF.  The land is 
already protected as it is within the 

P
age 81



 

2 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

Meets the tests for LGS. Reasons for objection-  
1. Boundary put forward by 

Parish Council is 
inaccurate and if 
designation is not 
removed it should be 
amended. 

 
2. Scale of proposed site is 

unreasonable ( contrary to 
Paragraph 77 of the 
NPPF) 
 

3. Land does not meet 
criteria of Local Green 
Space designation in 
NPPG.  
 

4. Land already protected as 
within conservation area 
and flood plain, curtilage 
of two listed buildings and 
has two rights of way ( 
protected under Highway 
Act 1980)  
 

5. Not sound consultation 
process regarding this 
proposal which renders it 
unsound. 

conservation area and in the flood 
plain.  The owners consider that by 
having this designation on their land 
it could impact on the future uses 
they may wish to carry out affecting 
the economic viability of their farm.  
They are supportive of the LGS 
policy but have taken the opportunity 
during the consultation to submit a 
revised boundary for the site.  If the 
boundary is not amended they have 
requested that the whole LGS 
designation be removed from their 
land.   

 
The main area of special character is 
the open area adjacent to Bourn 
Brook which is a well used local route 
for informal recreation. The wider 
open field objected to by the 
landowner has less special character. 
A smaller site would be more 
acceptable to the landowners who 
are supportive of the policy but not 
the scale of the original LGS 
proposed for their land. The Parish 
Council is supportive of the 
amendment.   
  
Recommendation: Amend the 
boundary of the Camping Close, 
Bourn LGS to include just the area 
adjacent to Bourn Brook.   
See Map 1 showing revised 
boundary. 
 
 
 

     Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64904  
Object  
Delete site if boundary not 
amended. 
 
Proposed designation for land 
does not comply with the NPPF 
and supporting NPPG and should 
be removed.  
 
Aware of submission by 
landowners of Camping Close. 
Fully support their objections and 
proposed revised boundary for 
LGS. 

P
age 82



 

3 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

NH/12-025 - 
Land north of 
Jeavons Lane 
north of 
Monkfield Way 
 
Cambourne 

This is an area of grassland with trees 
and a pond that is accessible to the 
public. Having a pond it has a value 
for wildlife. It is within the village and 
adds character. It meets the criteria 
for being a PVAA. 

Support: 7 
Object: 0 
Comment: 0 
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations MCA Developments Limited 
 
Rep 64934 
Object 
Do not designate –more 
appropriate as PVAA 
 
Extent of LGS designation for 
Cambourne is unsound for 
following reasons: 

1. Not 'positively prepared' 
as it seeks to replicate 
Green Belt function and 
prohibit development in 
sustainable locations; 

2. Not 'effective' as applied 
extensively and not just to 
areas of 'particular local 
significance' ; 

3. Not 'justified' as contact 
with landowners at an 
early stage in planning 
process to designate their 
land as LGS not been 
undertaken - consultation 
process has not allowed 
for effective engagement 
of all interested parties; 

4. Not 'consistent with 
national policy' as 
proposed allocation does 
not meet LGS assessment 
criteria of paragraph 77 of 
NPPF or accord with 
paragraph 76 of NPPF 
which denotes 
designations should be 
consistent with 
sustainable development 
objectives. 

The Council has not identified new 
PVAAs in preparing the current draft 
Local Plan.  It is the Council’s 
intension when it next reviews its 
planning policies to consider having 
one designation for protecting valued 
green spaces within a village.  
Therefore all existing PVAAs would 
be assessed to see if they will meet 
the test for LGS.  This review could 
also form part of a neighbourhood 
plan-making process for local 
communities to decide within their 
local area.    
 
This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-028 - 
Land East of 
Sterling Way, 
 
Cambourne 

Triangular areas of open space north 
of the large area of informal open 
space within village framework of 
Upper Cambourne. It forms part of 
this larger green informal space 
separated only by a small road. It has 
trees planted within it and a piece of 

Support: 6 
Object: 0 
Comment: 0 
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations MCA Developments Limited 
 
Rep 64937 
Object 
Not designate as LGS – 
In order to be consistent with 
other village greens in 

The Council has not identified new 
PVAAs in preparing the current draft 
Local Plan.  It is the Council’s 
intension when it next reviews its 
planning policies to consider having 
one designation for protecting valued 
green spaces within a village.  

P
age 83



 

4 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

public art. It meets the criteria for 
being a PVAA. 

Cambourne should be PVAA 
 
Extent of  LGS designation for 
Cambourne is unsound for 
following reasons: 

1. Not 'positively prepared' 
as seeks to replicate a 
Green Belt function and 
prohibit development in 
sustainable locations; 

2. Not 'effective' as applied 
extensively and not just to 
areas of 'particular local 
significance' 

3. Not 'justified' as contact 
with landowners at an 
early stage in planning 
process to designate their 
land as LGS has not been 
undertaken - consultation 
process has not allowed 
for effective engagement 
of all interested parties; 

4. Not 'consistent with 
national policy' as 
proposed allocation does 
not meet LGS assessment 
criteria of paragraph 77 of  
NPPF or accord with 
paragraph 76 of  NPPF 
which denotes 
designations should be 
consistent with 
sustainable development 
objectives. 

 

Therefore all existing PVAAs would 
be assessed to see if they will meet 
the test for LGS.  This review could 
also form part of a neighbourhood 
plan-making process for local 
communities to decide within their 
local area.    
 
This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-029 - 
Land east of 
Sterling Way, 
north of Brace 
Dein  
 
Cambourne 

This is a large area within the village 
framework of Upper Cambourne. 
Provides informal green space for 
Upper Cambourne having large green 
area plus play equipment and public 
art located on it. It meets the criteria 
for being a PVAA. 

Support: 4 
Object: 0 
Comment: 0 
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations MCA Developments Limited 
 
Rep 64938 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
To be consistent with other village 
greens in Cambourne should be 
designated as PVAA 
 
Extent of LGS designation for 
Cambourne is unsound for  

The Council has not identified new 
PVAAs in preparing the current draft 
Local Plan.  It is the Council’s 
intension when it next reviews its 
planning policies to consider having 
one designation for protecting valued 
green spaces within a village.  
Therefore all existing PVAAs would 
be assessed to see if they will meet 
the test for LGS.  This review could 
also form part of a neighbourhood 

P
age 84



 

5 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

following reasons: 
1. Not 'positively prepared' 

as it seeks to replicate a 
Green Belt function and 
prohibit development in 
sustainable locations; 

2. Not 'effective' as it has 
been applied extensively 
and not just to areas of 
'particular local 
significance'; 

3. Not 'justified' as contact 
with landowners at an 
early stage in planning 
process to designate their 
land as LGS has not been 
undertaken - consultation 
process has not allowed 
for effective engagement 
of all interested parties; 

4. Not 'consistent with 
national policy' as 
proposed allocation does 
not meet  LGS 
assessment criteria of 
paragraph 77 of  NPPF or 
accord with paragraph 76 
of  NPPF which denotes 
designations should be 
consistent with 
sustainable development 
objectives. 

plan-making process for local 
communities to decide within their 
local area.    
 
This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-030 - 
Land north of 
School Lane, 
west of 
Woodfield Lane 
 
Cambourne 

This site has the cricket pavilion and 
a children’s play area and therefore it 
valued as a recreational area by the 
community. It is located next to an 
existing PVAA. Within village 
framework so could be considered as 
a PVAA. 

Support: 6 
Object: 0 
Comment: 1 
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations MCA Developments Limited 
 
Rep 64939 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
More appropriate to designate as 
PVAA 
 
Extent of LGS designation for 
Cambourne is unsound for  
following reasons: 

1. Not 'positively prepared' 
as it seeks to replicate a 
Green Belt function and 
prohibit development in 

The Council has not identified new 
PVAAs in preparing the current draft 
Local Plan.  It is the Council’s 
intension when it next reviews its 
planning policies to consider having 
one designation for protecting valued 
green spaces within a village.  
Therefore all existing PVAAs would 
be assessed to see if they will meet 
the test for LGS.  This review could 
also form part of a neighbourhood 
plan-making process for local 
communities to decide within their 
local area.    
 

P
age 85



 

6 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

sustainable locations; 
2. Not 'effective' as it has 

been applied extensively 
and not just to areas of 
'particular local 
significance'; 

3. Not 'justified' as contact 
with landowners at an 
early stage in planning 
process to designate their 
land as LGS has not been 
undertaken - consultation 
process has not allowed 
for effective engagement 
of all interested parties; 

4. Not 'consistent with 
national policy' as 
proposed allocation does 
not meet LGS assessment 
criteria of paragraph 77 of  
NPPF or accord with 
paragraph 76 of NPPF 
which denotes 
designations should be 
consistent with 
sustainable development 
objectives. 
 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-035 - 
Large areas 
within and 
around the 
edge of village,  
 
Cambourne 

Large areas particularly around Lower 
and Upper Cambourne - to the 
western and eastern extent of the 
village; thin strip alongside A428 and 
finger of green around northern 
roundabout areas entering the village. 
These are areas of green space 
which are integral to the masterplan 
of Cambourne.   

Support: 8 
Object: 0 
Comment: 6 
 
Wildlife Trust manage boundary 
green area in Cambourne as 
part of Section 106 agreement.  
Boundary of G16 slightly 
different so suggest amending 
area so same as their 
management area.  
Some revisions made to the  
boundary.  
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS 

No representations MCA Developments Limited 
 
Rep 64944 
Object 
Should designate smaller sites as 
LGS rather than have one large 
area. Also some areas are more 
appropriate as PVAA 
 
Extent of  LGS designation for 
Cambourne is unsound for 
following reasons: 

1. Not 'positively prepared' 
as it seeks to replicate a 
Green Belt function and 
prohibit development in 
sustainable locations; 

2. Not 'effective' as it has 
been applied extensively 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 86



 

7 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

and not just to areas of 
'particular local 
significance'; 

3. Not 'justified' as contact 
with landowners at an 
early stage in planning 
process to designate their 
land as LGS has not been 
undertaken - consultation 
process has not allowed 
for effective engagement 
of all interested parties; 

4. Not 'consistent with 
national policy' as 
proposed allocation does 
not meet LGS assessment 
criteria of paragraph 77 of  
NPPF or accord with 
paragraph 76 of  NPPF 
which denotes 
designations should be 
consistent with 
sustainable development 
objectives. 

 
 

NH/12-038 - 
Land South of 
Barton Rd 
 
Comberton 
 
Green areas 
north and south 
of Barton 
Road.  

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Part of site is existing PVAA and 
part of site is within the Green 
Belt. North side of Barton Rd is 
within the Green Belt with an 
important countryside frontage 
protecting views across the 
green space northwards. The 
south side is within a PVAA.  
Both come within the 
Conservation Area for the 
village. The areas provide a 
valuable green rural character to 
the village.  

Only south 
side of road 
meets the 
tests for LGS.  
North side of 
road is within 
Green Belt 
therefore not 
designate as 
LGS and not 
include in 
local plan.  

No representations Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64905 
Object 
Amend boundary  
 
Object to inclusion of 
respondent’s land within 
designation. Propose site 
boundary is amended.  
Reason for objection: 

1. Land is garden of 36 
Barton Road, Comberton. 
Does not meet criteria in 
that it holds no particular 
local significance in terms 
of its beauty, historical 
significance, recreational 
value, tranquillity or its 
wildlife. The land cannot 
be accessed or viewed by 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 87



 

8 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

the local community from 
any public access point. 

2. Land is already protected 
as its within curtilage of 
No 36 Barton Road, a 
Grade ll listed building and 
the conservation area. 

     Individual respondents  
 
Rep 64952 
Object to boundaries as currently 
proposed for LGS 
 
Amend boundary  
 
Or have all of existing PVAA as 
LGS. 
 
Or leave as a PVAA. 
 

1. Give max LGS protection 
to all fields/meadows and 
orchards and open areas 
within the currently 
adopted PVAA for the 
wildlife, particularly barn 
owls, kestrels and 
badgers. 
 

2. Amend south east corner 
of proposed LGS so that 
brown field bits are 
removed and some of the 
omitted green and wooded 
bits are included (if the 
LGS idea is to be used at 
all). 
 

3. More sound protection 
provided in practice if one 
leaves adopted PVAA as 
is.  But better to afford all 
the Comberton PVAA 
fields meadows and 
orchards and open areas - 
LGS status. 

 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 88



 

9 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

NH/12- 049 - 
Recreation 
Ground and 
Playing Fields  
 
Cottenham 

This is an extensive area of open 
space which includes the village 
recreation ground with pitches for 
football and cricket, plus a bowling 
green as well as allotments. It has a 
variety of uses which are of value to 
the local community. It is outside of 
the village framework.  
Site meets test for LGS only. 

Support: 3 
Object: 0 
Comment: 1 
 

Playing fields 
relating to 
schools are 
not being 
designated 
for LGS and 
therefore part 
of the site is 
not included 
in local plan 
as LGS.  The 
rest of the site 
meets the 
tests for LGS. 

No representations Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Rep 64933 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
Objection relates to part of 
proposed designation area which 
is not considered to comply with 
tests set out in NPPF. 
 
Objection site forms an extension 
to recreation ground, is poorly 
drained, not well related to 
existing recreation ground and 
currently underused by 
community. 
 
CCC lease site to Parish Council. 
Lease requires that should area 
be used by CCC for other 
purposes an equivalent area in 
close proximity to recreation 
ground would be provided by 
CCC. Any residential scheme on 
adjacent land could 
accommodate this and provide a 
better overall solution. LGS 
designation may preclude such a 
consideration. 
 
Site is featureless open area of 
land that is not demonstrably 
special to the local community. 
Only value is for recreation and it 
is currently underused. 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

Morgans 1, 2,3 
and 4 
 
NH/12 – 050 
Land in front of 
Village College  

 
Cottenham 

These are areas of open space at the 
entrance to the village college.  They 
provide a setting to this entrance with 
well established trees. This area is 
already a PVAA. 
The site is already within a PVAA and 
meets the test for LGS. 

 Existing 
PVAA.  As it 
meets the test 
for LGS it can 
be included in 
the local plan 
as LGS. 

No representations Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64952 
Object  
Amend boundary 
 
Respondent’s only comment is 
that as far as he can tell the 
reference area referred to above 
which relates mainly to land 
adjoining Cottenham Village 

This site includes part of the front 
garden of a house adjacent to 
Cottenham Village College. The 
owner has requested that the 
boundary of the site be amended to 
exclude this residential land. The 
residential property has a different 
character to the adjoining open green 
area in front of the village college. It 
forms one of a row of residential 
properties. A minor change to 

P
age 89



 

10 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

College appears possibly to 
include part of his front garden. 
There has been a hedge defining  
garden boundary for at least 20 
years so Council’s  plans may pre 
date that. Front garden has a 
driveway and some lawn behind 
the hedge. Not sure that it is 
relevant to the local green space 
designation. 

exclude this and adjoining front 
gardens would better reflect the area 
of special character and would not 
undermine the protection of this wider 
area.        
 
Recommendation: Amend the 
boundary of the Village College, 
Cottenham LGS to exclude the front 
gardens of adjacent residential 
properties. 
See Map 2 showing the revised 
boundary. 

NH/12-055 – 
Greenacres,   
 
Duxford 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Area of mown grass with 
scattered trees within a housing 
estate. Area for informal 
recreation use so valued by 
local community. Meets the 
tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Support for LGS from 9 
respondents. Village already short 
of green areas. Popular safe play 
area in cul-de-sac – can be 
viewed by parents. Alternative 
play area requires crossing busy 
road, blind junction. Valued by 
local residents – LGS preserves 
open, pleasing aspect to area – 
character noted recently by 
planning inspector. Venue for 
annual street BBQ – helps bring 
community together.    

Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64914 
Object  
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Site does not meet any of 5 tests 
set out in NPPF for Local Green 
Space. Parish Council claim land 
is special to local community - 
open nature and recreational 
value.  
Site is area of left over grassed 
highway verge adjacent to road in 
middle of housing estate - not 
beautiful by normal standard, no 
historic interest, not tranquil, not 
wildlife rich. Land only available 
for recreation with permission of 
landowner - now withdrawn. Land 
to be fenced off.  
Site better suited to meeting the 
main focus of the NPPF of 
providing increased housing 
numbers and sustainable 
development 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12 - 056 
End of 
Mangers Lane 
 
Duxford 

Site is within the village framework 
adjacent to Duxford Primary school 
and playing fields. Is within 
Conservation Area. Appears not to be 
accessible to the public. Fields with 
trees can be seen from Green St to 
the east. Enclosed area with well-
established trees which adds to the 

 Existing 
PVAA.  As it 
meets the test 
for LGS it can 
be included in 
the local plan 
as LGS. 

Objection to designation by 
individuals  - should remove 
designation of PVAA as no longer 
meets criteria. Replace with more 
flexible and responsive community 
use allocation / designation (for 
allotments / orchard / affordable 
housing) to serve local community 

Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64973 
Object 
Amend boundary  
Remove College Farm area. 
 
Reasons for objection:  

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 

P
age 90



 

11 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

character of this part of the village. 
Respondent who wishes the existing 
PVAA designation to be removed 
states that within the site lie two 
derelict former barns which are 
beyond functional use. Entire site has 
overgrown and has unkempt 
appearance which detracts from 
character and appearance of PVAA 
and wider Conservation Area. No 
longer satisfies the set criteria for 
PVAAs according to the respondent. 
This should be retained as a PVAA.  
It meets the test for a LGS. 

and village. 
 
Assessment by Council 
All the sites where representations 
have been submitted were 
previously assessed by the 
Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that 
affect the assessment or it has 
been shown that circumstances 
have changed the Council 
remains of the opinion that these 
site designations should remain in 
the plan. 

 
1. Inclusion of site as LGS 

not following robust 
assessment of site. 
Previously designated as 
PVAA - does not mean it 
meets criteria for LGS.  

 
2. Concerned that  

landowners  had received 
no notification of proposed 
designation.  

 
3. Site enclosed area, not 

accessible to public. Not 
visible from public domain 
therefore does not 
contribute to village 
character. No community 
role. No recreational 
value. No significant 
wildlife. Extensive tract of 
land - not suitable as LGS. 
Some parts may be 
suitable but not northern 
section owned by 
respondent - College 
Farm. This should not be 
LGS. 

 
4. Site within conservation 

area which will protect its 
character and 
appearance. 

the plan. 

     Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64975 
Object 
Amend boundary  
No not include private garden 
areas in LGS 
 
Site within conservation area - 
does not need further constraint. 
Comprises of 2 paddocks and 2 
garden areas enclosed by fences. 
Accept paddocks have only 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 91



 

12 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

limited development potential due 
to access constraints.  
 
Have been assured that LGS 
designation would not allow public 
right of access onto the land or 
use of compulsory purchase of 
site. On that understanding do not 
object to LGS on paddock areas 
but do strongly object to gardens 
being included. 
Both areas in full use as garden 
for adjoining houses. Delineation 
includes front portion of 
respondent’s house. Adjoining 
and neighbouring gardens not 
designated as LGS - expect to be 
treated likewise.  
 
Site not visible from public road or 
footpath - do not think site has 
been properly visited and 
assessed before designation. 

NH/12-057 – 
Allotments 
 
Elsworth 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Valued community asset 
providing recreational use for 
village.  Meets the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Davison & Sons (Great Barford) 
Ltd 
 
Rep 64911 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Designation is not justified and 
Council has been inconsistent in 
approach to assessing 
recreational open space and 
consequently LGS. Site privately 
owned and no mechanism to 
secure use for public.  
 
Relevant draft policy in Local Plan 
(NH/12) does not accord with  
NPPF. Assessment of site's 
quality as allotments is not 
reflective of it circumstances. 
Alternative policy - SC/9 would 
provide adequate protection of 
allotment from development.  
 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 92



 

13 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

LGS designation will not secure 
allotments, indeed there is a 
distinct risk that their use for 
these purposes may be 
significantly curtailed altogether. 
 

NH/12-060 - 
Glebe Field,  
 
Elsworth 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Existing PVAA. Field adjacent to 
the local church surrounded by 
mature trees. Brings green treed 
area to within the village adding 
rural character. Meets the tests 
for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Rep 64927 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Site should only be designated if 
it passes tests set out in 
paragraph 77 of NPPF. 

1. Site is valued for its 
mature trees which are 
already statutorily 
protected. Council has not 
demonstrated that site is 
special and holds a 
particular local 
significance apart from 
trees which could be 
retained with a sensitive 
development proposal. 
 

2. Eight sites have been 
identified within village 
amounting to an extensive 
overall reduction in 
potential for bringing 
forward of sustainable 
development, contrary to 
NPPF. 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-062 - 
Field between 
Brockley Road 
and Brook 
Street  
 
Elsworth 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
This is grassland on the 
southern edge of the village with 
a mature hedgerow following the 
western boundary. Views across 
the site towards scattered 
properties in the village are 
protected by an important 
countryside frontage along 
Brockley Road. Many of these 
properties are listed and 
therefore this grassland 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Individual respondents  
 
Rep 64896  
Object 
Amend boundary  
 
Owners of land believe that there 
is an opportunity to provide a 
large element of green space on 
the site whilst integrating it with a 
sustainable development of open 
market and affordable housing - 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 93



 

14 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

provides a rural setting to them. 
This creates a rural entrance to 
the village from the south. Meets 
the tests for LGS. 

More detailed information is 
available on the proposed 
scheme. 

NH/12 - 063 
Land at south 
end of Brook 
Street, 
 
 Elsworth 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Adjacent to Brockley End 
Meadow County Wildlife site.  
This is a wooded area with the 
village brook running through it 
with a bridge. It provides a 
tranquil area and has wildlife 
value.  Meets the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64974 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Reason for objection: 

1. No robust assessment of 
LGS against criteria in 
para 77 of NPPF. Site 
does not meet criteria for 
LGS - no public access; 
vacant and unkempt site; 
not special to local 
community - not 
previously designated as 
PVAA; Valued as next to 
County Wildlife site - no 
significant wildlife on site. 
Limited evidence as to 
why LGS.  

2. Concerned that no formal 
notification of proposed 
designation.  

3. Site within conservation 
area which will protect its 
appearance and 
character. 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12 – 065 – 
Village Green 
 
Eltisley 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
The village green in Eltisley is 
an important key green feature 
within the village recognised by 
already being identified as a 
PVAA. It provides a setting for 
the buildings in the centre of the 
village which include listed 
buildings.   Meets the tests for 
LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Eltisley Parish Council 
 
Rep 64971 
Object  
Amend boundary 
 
Support the designation of village 
green as a LGS but wish to point 
out that designated area must 
match original land as mapped in 
the enclosure award of 17/3/1864.  

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-068 - 
Paddock, 
Ditton Lane 
junction with 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
The western edge of the site 
has an important countryside 
frontage along its length in the 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations RM Francis Will Trust 
 
Rep 64926 
Object 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 

P
age 94



 

15 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

High Ditch 
Road  
 
Fen Ditton 
 

Cambridge East Area Action 
Plan protecting views out across 
the site towards properties and 
gardens and beyond to the 
wider open countryside. Area of 
pastureland which is a green 
space which brings countryside 
into village and enhances rural 
character of this part of Fen 
Ditton. Meets the tests for LGS. 

Do not designate as LGS 
 
Site should only be designated if 
passes tests set out in para 77 of 
NPPF.  
Site fails second test as it has not 
been shown to be demonstrably 
special and of particular local 
significance. 
Concept of bringing countryside 
into village to enhance rural 
character is not considered 
demonstrably special due to the 
existing scale of the village and its 
already strong rural character. 
Views of site are limited. Views of 
properties and gardens are not 
considered special. Views out 
towards open countryside are 
restricted by mature trees and 
views are already protected by 
Importance Countryside Frontage 
designation. 
Designation will preclude any 
consideration of a sensitively 
designed scheme for sustainable 
housing development. 

assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/070 - 
Recreation 
Ground  
 
Foxton 
 

Recreation ground in the middle of 
the village outside of the village 
framework so could not be 
considered as a PVAA. To the north 
of the site is a grade I listed church 
which overlooks the recreation 
ground with views across the green 
space to open countryside. Housing 
overlooks the green space on two 
sides. The local character of this part 
of the village would be protected if 
this area were designated as LGS.   

Support: 2 
Object: 0 
Comment: 0 
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Rep 64969 
Object 
Amend boundary to exclude 
allotment area from LGS. 
 
Site should only be designated if 
it passes the tests set out in 
paragraph 77 of NPPF 
 
Objection to part of site being 
designated 
 
Site used as allotment land -this 
has not been demonstrated by 
District Council to be special to 
local community or to hold a 
particular local significance.  
 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 95



 

16 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

Site forms part of an extensive 
tract of land of different character 
areas that have not been 
assessed for their individual 
contributions to local community. 
 
Site fails to comply with second 
and third tests set out in NPPF. 
 
Designation will risk harming 
future delivery of sustainable 
housing development on adjacent 
land contrary to aims of enabling 
sustainable development set out 
in NPPF. 

NH/12-073 - 
Green Area on 
Station Road,  
 
Foxton 

This is a wide grass verge following 
the western side of Station Road.  It 
has some trees within it creating a 
rural character to this stretch of road.  
As it is beside a road it would not 
have a recreational value or be 
tranquil.  It is within the village 
framework.  The Council does not 
consider that it meets the criteria for 
either a PVAA or LGS 

Support: 2 
Object: 1 
Comment: 0 
 
Foxton Parish Council confirm 
their and local support for this 
site. It adds character to this 
area of the village and is setting 
of two listed buildings. A recent 
planning application was 
refused on the grounds that this 
open green space was an 
important part of the village. 
 
An objection was received from 
landowner of site to rear of 
properties in Station Rd (SHLAA 
site 233) to having a parish 
council proposed important 
green space since this is not 
consistent with NPPF or the 
Council's approach.  Site does 
add to the setting of two listed 
buildings in Station Rd and to 
the rural character of this part of 
Foxton.  
 
Meets the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Goreway Holdings Limited c/o 
Endurance Estates Limited 
 
Rep 64950 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
This wide roadside verge does 
not hold any recreational value for 
community and would be unsafe 
to use. Does not provide tranquil 
oasis due to its proximity to 
Station Road. No evidence that 
significant wildlife is present.  
Statement from Parish Council 
does not demonstrate land is 
demonstrably special to local 
community and no evidence has 
been submitted. 
Council's assessment in 2012 
concluded land did not meet 
criteria of Local Green Space. 
From Council's Submission 
documents designation is based 
on Parish Council's 
recommendations, which were 
limited and vague. 
To apply LGS designation to 
roadside verge undermines 
criteria of LGS. Applying 
designation to one roadside verge 
suggests it could be applied to 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 96



 

17 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

many, which is not intention of 
Paragraph 77 of the NPPF. 
Proposed designation is unsound 
and should be removed. 

NH/12-074 - 
Field between 
Cox's Drove, 
Cow Lane and 
Land adjacent 
the Horse Pond  
 
Fulbourn 

The site is located on the northern 
edge of Fulbourn south of the railway 
line from Cambridge to Ipswich. The 
site comprises of two enclosed fields 
and is adjacent to Green Belt land. 
This site was submitted during the 
Call for Sites as part of the SHLAA 
(Site 162). The site was assessed 
and was found to have limited 
development opportunities. Two 
existing PVAAs adjoin the southern 
boundary one of which includes the 
Horse Pond. The site is outside of the 
village framework and therefore 
cannot be considered as a PVAA. 
The respondents have stated that the 
area is used by many residents for 
recreation, dog walking, toddler 
walking etc. and is a green space that 
is widely used and appreciated. 
Site meets test for only LGS. 

Support: 60 
Object: 2 
Comment: 1 
 
Objection  from owner of land to 
LGS. Site is neither available for 
open space nor capable of 
delivery of such purposes. The 
land is entirely within private 
ownership and does not benefit 
from any form of public access. 
 
Lots of support for the option. 
Fulbourn Parish Council 
supports this as the Parish Plan 
calls for the village's setting and 
best landscapes and views to be 
preserved.   
 
LGS does not have to be 
accessible to the local 
community  to be considered 
special to them in providing a 
rural setting to their village. Site 
meets test for LGS. 
 
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Fulbourn PC – support LGS 
policy as it protects intrinsic 
character of village and 
surrounding countryside. 
 
Support designation from 
Fulbourn Forum for Community 
Action and 24 individuals. Haven 
for local wildlife. Important green 
space for village. Field enhances 
setting and appearance of this 
part of village – brings countryside 
into heart of village. Contributes to 
retaining rural character. As 
village has expanded in recent 
years important to preserve 
character and ambience of village.  
 
Objection that site does not meet 
criteria for LGS by Castlefield 
International Ltd.  No public 
access / private land – therefore 
any public activity on land 
represents trespass. Need for 
sixth criteria for assessing sites – 
whether they are deliverable as 
LGS – this site is not. Not put 
forward by Parish Council even 
though they made comprehensive 
represents to S Cambs therefore 
not worthy of designation. If site to 
be secured as long term green 
space would need support of PC. 
Priority in South Cambs is for 
housing land, sustainable site for 
allocation - complies with NPPF. 
Remove designation. 
 
Assessment by Council 
All the sites where representations 
have been submitted were 
previously assessed by the 
Council as meeting the tests for 

Castleford International Ltd 
 
Rep 64958 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Reasons for objection: 
 

1. Not 'positively prepared' 
as seeks to sterilise a site 
which clearly has 
development potential. 

2. Not 'effective' as it would 
be contrary to designate 
this site as a LGS given 
that SCDC do not 
currently have a 5 year 
land supply and 
development should be 
directed to the most 
sustainable settlements.  

3. Not 'justified' as 
consultation process has 
not allowed for effective 
engagement of all 
interested parties. 
Question why site now 
proposed as LGS when 
never been incorporated 
within Green Belt, or had 
any other special 
protection in current Plan. 

4. Not 'consistent with 
national policy' as it does 
not meet LGS criteria of 
para 77 of NPPF or 
accord with para 76 of  
NPPF which denotes 
designations should be 
consistent with 
sustainable development 
objectives. 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 
 

P
age 97



 

18 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that 
affect the assessment or it has 
been shown that circumstances 
have changed the Council 
remains of the opinion that these 
site designations should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-075 - 
Victorian 
Garden,  
 
Fulbourn 

N/A Submitted by Fulbourn Forum 
for community action and 
others.  Existing PVAA. This 
area has within  it the Old 
Pumping Station. A garden was 
designed in 1891 and contains 
pond which was originally used 
to cool condensed steam from 
the engines. The site is not open 
to the public. The boundary with 
Cow Lane has mature trees.  
The presence of the pumping 
station and related garden give 
this area a historic value to the 
local community. Meets the 
tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Support designation from 
Fulbourn Forum for community 
action and 16 individuals. Area 
valued by local community – has 
both historic and recreational 
value. Landscape value – where 
springs emerge in village. 
Countryside penetrating into 
village, contributes to rural village 
character. 

Individual respondents  
 
Rep 64907 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
Leg of site extending east across 
frontage of  private property is not 
part of adjacent Victorian Garden. 
Maps accompanying PVAA and 
LGS documents are inconsistent, 
lacking definition as to extent of 
land to be designated. Potential 
designated area includes paved 
access roads and parking areas. 
Local community may not know 
that land now has no connection 
to the Victorian Garden and 
therefore respondents request 
that it is deleted from designated 
area.  
 
Alternatively, request the 
designation be limited to a 10m 
deep strip north from the 
property's southern site boundary 
with Cow Lane extending 
eastwards from Victorian Garden 
only as far as the western side of 
existing property main access 
road. 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

     Castleford International Ltd 
 
Rep 64959 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Reason for objection: 
 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 

P
age 98



 

19 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

1. Not 'positively prepared' 
as  seeks to sterilise a site 
which clearly has 
development potential and 
is capable of coming 
forward during  SCDC five 
year period under 
assessment (2014-2019) 

2. Not 'effective' as site is 
already designated as 
Conservation Area and 
not afforded any other 
special protection in Local 
Plan.  

3. Not 'justified' as  
consultation process has 
not allowed for effective 
engagement of all 
interested parties. 

4. Not 'consistent with 
national policy' as it does 
not meet LGS criteria of 
para 77 or accord with 
para 76 of NPPF which 
denotes designations 
should be consistent with 
sustainable development 
objectives. 

the plan. 

Dennis Green, 
The Cinques, 
Mill Hill, Little 
Heath, The 
Heath  
 
Gamlingay 

The Parish Council would like to 
protect the particular settlement 
pattern that Gamlingay has with its 
numerous outlying hamlets namely 
Dennis Green, The Cinques, Mill Hill, 
Little Heath, and The Heath. The 
outlying hamlets are outside of the 
village framework of Gamlingay and 
there would need to be extensive 
coverage of LGS if it were to be used 
to protect the special local character 
of Gamlingay and its hamlets. Neither 
designation is appropriate. 
Site does not meet test for either 
PVAA and LGS. 

Support: 2 
Object: 1 
Comment: 0 
 
Resubmitted during 2013 
consultation with specific areas 
identified.  
 
 

See new sites 
assessment 
in Gamlingay 
2013. (LGS62 
– LGS64) 

   

NH/12-076 - 
Lupin Field,  
 

A large rough grassy area with well-
established trees along north-eastern 
edge beside Greenacres.  It would 

Resubmitted by Parish Council. 
Assessed in earlier consultation 
and with the information 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Support for LGS designation from 
Gamlingay PC and 54 individuals 
– preserves openness, beauty, 

Merton College 
 
Rep 64951 
Object 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 

P
age 99



 

20 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

Gamlingay have some wildlife values.  It is on the 
western edge of Gamlingay village 
outside of the village framework. It 
does not appear to have any 
distinguishing features to it to be 
identified as LGS. The Parish Council 
has mentioned this field in their 
submission relating to wanting to 
preserve the special character 
Gamlingay has with its nearby 
hamlets (Representation 33539). 
According to the respondent this area 
is demonstrably special to the village.  
Site does not meet test for either 
PVAA or LGS.   

available at that time it was not 
considered that it met the tests 
for either PVAA or LGS. Further 
information is now available 
from the Parish Council in which 
they stress the value the local 
community place upon the site 
for its beauty, tranquillity and 
richness of wildlife. It is seen as 
a green lung providing a buffer 
between Gamlingay and Dennis 
Green. It has high recreational 
value since it is close to an area 
of housing with few green 
spaces.  Meets the tests for 
LGS. 

tranquillity and richness of wildlife 
for residents on west side of 
village. Valued by local 
community. Should not be 
developed. Focal point of village 
especially when lupins flower in 
summer. Limited opportunity and 
access to open space on this part 
of village. Suggest part of Merton 
Field should be fenced off as play 
area. Field marks boundary 
between edge of settlement and 
Hamlet of Dennis Green – natural 
boundary. 
 
An objection to LGS from Merton 
College as site does not meet 
criteria for designation as LGS. 
Council misguided in designating 
it as LGS. NPPF states blanket 
designation of open countryside 
adjacent to settlements is not 
appropriate + Landowner does not 
believe they have been properly 
consulted – plan fails legal 
compliance. No public right of 
access. Limited historic or wildlife 
value. Reaction from community 
to planning application on site. 
Designation barrier to future 
development.   
 
 Assessment by Council 
All the sites where representations 
have been submitted were 
previously assessed by the 
Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that 
affect the assessment or it has 
been shown that circumstances 

Do not designate 
 
Reasons for objection 
 

1. The land lies outside of 
the Village Framework.  

2. It is not an area of beauty, 
comprising a scrub area 
and open grazing land that 
is indistinguishable from 
other areas around the 
village.  

3. There has been no 
identification of any of the 
College land being of 
ecological value 

4. It is not of known historic 
significance or tranquillity. 

5. Only part of the land 
serves any recreational 
use and this is only on a 
temporary arrangement.  

6. It is not demonstrably 
special to the local 
community. 

 
Proposed allocation is considered 
inappropriate, unnecessary and 
contrary to NPPF, as such it is 
considered not sound. This is 
reflected in fact that when initially 
requested to designate area as a 
Local Green Space officers 
concluded  'Site does not meet 
test for either PVAA or LGS' and 
in absence of any change in 
circumstances this remains the 
case. 

assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 100



 

21 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

have changed the Council 
remains of the opinion that these 
site designations should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-079 - 
The Craft, 
 
Guilden 
Morden 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Existing PVAA. This area is 
pastureland bringing land with a 
rural character into the heart of 
the village. It is managed under 
a Countryside Stewardship 
scheme – part of a Natural 
England project.  The aim of 
such schemes is ‘to improve the 
natural beauty and diversity of 
the countryside, enhance, 
restore and re-create targeted 
landscapes, their wildlife 
habitats and historical features, 
and to improve opportunities for 
public access’. The parish 
council has indicated that this is 
an important area for wildlife 
and for the community to access 
green space. Meets the tests for 
LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Rep 64928 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Site should only be designated if 
it passes tests set out in 
paragraph 77 of NPPF 
 
Site is an extensive tract of open 
rough grassland of no particular 
character. 
 
It is not considered to have been 
demonstrated to be special to 
local community and to hold a 
particular local significance. 
 
Site fails the second and third 
tests set out in NPPF. 
 
Designation will preclude 
consideration of any sensitively 
designed scheme for sustainable 
housing development contrary to 
the aims of enabling sustainable 
development set out within NPPF. 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-080 - 
Church 
Meadow  
 
Guilden 
Morden 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Existing PVAA. This area is 
pastureland bringing land with a 
rural character into the heart of 
the village adjacent to the 
church. It is managed under a 
Countryside Stewardship – part 
of a Natural England project.  
The aims of such schemes are 
‘to improve the natural beauty 
and diversity of the countryside, 
enhance, restore and re-create 
targeted landscapes, their 
wildlife habitats and historical 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Rep 64929 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Site is a largely enclosed 
featureless area of open rough 
grassland of no particular 
character. Significant areas of 
open land exist in vicinity that are 
more readily visible from built up 
area and already bring a rural 
character to village. 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 101



 

22 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

features, and to improve 
opportunities for public access’. 
The parish council has indicated 
that this is an important area for 
wildlife and for the community to 
access green space. Meets the 
tests for LGS. 

 
It is not considered to have been 
demonstrated to be special to the 
local community and to hold a 
particular local significance. 
 
The site fails the second test set 
out in the NPPF. 
 
The designation will preclude 
consideration of any sensitively 
designed scheme within the 
context of the setting of the 
church for sustainable housing 
development contrary to the aims 
of enabling sustainable 
development set out within the 
NPPF 

NH/12 081  
Land between 
Swan Lane and 
Pound Green  
 
Guilden 
Morden 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
This is an area of pasture on the 
western edge of the village with 
a public footpath running along 
the northern boundary. It is 
within the Conservation Area 
and provides a countryside 
setting for adjoining houses – 
some of which are listed 
buildings.  Meets the tests for 
LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations FW Pepper Ltd  
 
Rep 64854 
Object 
Do not designate to LGS 
 
1. Field is agricultural  
2. No amenity value. 
3. No footpath on site. 
4. Not visible from the road. 
5. No historical significance. 
6. No recreational value, no 
tranquillity (Agricultural), no 
richness of wildlife. 
7. Not demonstrably special to 
local community. 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-087 - 
Wellhouse 
Meadow,  
 
Haslingfield 

This is an area of open space within 
the centre of Haslingfield which is 
already within a PVAA.  The Parish 
Council has planted an orchard with 
local varieties of fruit trees. A 
wildflower meadow is being 
established close to the orchard. The 
site is valued by the local community. 
The site is already within a PVAA and 
meets the test for LGS. 

N/A Existing 
PVAA.  As it 
meets the test 
for LGS it can 
be included in 
the local plan 
as LGS. 

No representations Individual respondents  
 
Rep 64923 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
Reasons for objection 
 

1. Site boundary of 
Wellhouse Meadow is 
incorrect in including 
private lands. 

2. The respondent’s  land 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 102



 

23 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

already doubly protected 
by listed building status 
and conservation area 
designation and to include 
their private lands in a 
LGS is contrary to 
Council’s document Draft 
Final Sustainability 
Appraisal (March 2014), 
Annex A - Audit Trail, 
Appendix 5, page A1391. 

3. Respondents did not know 
this designation was being 
made until November 
2014 when their 
neighbours  first received 
their notification. Note it 
was March 2014 that 
SCDC was told to advise 
ALL landowners but it was 
not until November that 
they were advised. Have 
owned this land since 
1974. 

     Individual respondents  
 
Rep 64924 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
Reason for objection 
 

1. Unnecessary to add 
another designation when 
conservation area and 
PVAA already apply to 
land and seem to hold 
enough restrictions to 
development to satisfy 
your aims.  

2. Please note Council’s 
statements in Draft Final 
Sustainability Appraisal 
Annex A, Appendix 5, 
page A1390 shows ".... a 
second opportunity for 
consultation in 2013" and 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 103



 

24 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

still no direct contact with 
them. Unaware of earlier 
designation as PVAA.  

3. Also on page A1391, 
"There are policies that 
give existing protection to 
green space within the 
Local Plan and it is not 
intention of council to 
double protect such sites 
by identifying them as 
LGS." 

     Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Rep 64930 
Object  
Amend boundary 
 
The objection relates to part of 
site only, to south of Broad Lane.  
Reason for objection 
 

1. Objection site is 
residential land sitting 
behind 2m high wall. Not 
open in character and is 
distinct from orchard and 
meadowland. 

 
2. Site is set in area of some 

historic significance, but 
not demonstrably special 
to local community and 
more historically 
significant sites lie 
adjacent that are not 
included.  

 
3. Objection site forms part 

of tract of land of different 
character areas that have 
not been assessed for 
their individual 
contributions to local 
community. 

 
4. Site fails to comply with 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 104



 

25 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

second and third tests set 
out in NPPF. 

 
5. Designation will preclude 

consideration of any 
sensitively designed 
scheme for sustainable 
housing development. 

NH/12-094 - 
Village Orchard 
 
Kingston 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Existing PVAA. Grassy area 
with fruit trees within it with well-
established hedge around it 
providing a tranquil area and is 
likely to have high wildlife value.  
This orchard is valued by the 
local community and used for 
community events. Meets the 
tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Kingston Parish Council 
 
Rep 64888 
Object 
Amend boundary  
 
Boundary amendment of site 
NH/12-094 requested to exclude 
a private house and garden which 
was included in error in the Parish 
Council's original submission. 

Kingston Parish Council submitted 
this site for inclusion as a LGS during 
the Issues and Options 2 consultation 
in 2013. The map provided included 
an error.  The northern boundary of 
the ‘Village Orchard' was defined to 
include a private house and garden 
which lies immediately to north of the 
orchard.  The owner of the house and 
garden has objected to its inclusion in 
the LGS. This property has never 
been part of the ‘Village Orchard' and 
the Parish Council has submitted a 
representation requesting that this 
house and garden be excluded from 
the designation.  An amendment to 
the boundary is appropriate to correct 
this error. 
 
Recommendation:  Amend the 
Village Orchard, Kingston LGS to 
exclude the private house and 
garden adjacent to the “Village 
Orchard”. 
See Map 3 showing the revised 
boundary. 

     Individual respondents  
 
Rep 64895 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
Error made by Parish Council 
when Northern boundary of 
‘Village Orchard' was defined and 
respondents’ property which lies 
immediately to north of the site 
has never been part of ‘Village 
Orchard'. 
Fully support proposal for Local 
Green Space provided boundary 
is redrawn according to actual 
boundary of ‘Village Orchard'. 

NH/12 – Glebe 
Land,  
 
Linton 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
This area is by the river and 
used by the local community for 
informal recreation. It is a 
tranquil area for quiet enjoyment 
of the river. This land forms part 
of a much larger PVAA. Meets 
the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations No representation was made, 
during consultation but Council 
made aware that this site had 
been identified incorrectly on the 
Polices Map. Linton Parish 
Council, who originally submitted 
the site, has provided Council 
with correct boundary for site.   

Although no representation was 
made by the landowner, the Council 
was made aware during the 
consultation that this site in Linton 
had been identified incorrectly on the 
Polices Map. Linton Parish Council 
originally submitted the site for 
consideration during the Issues and 
Options 2 consultation in 2013, 
described as an area by the river and 
used by the local community for 

P
age 105



 

26 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 
informal recreation. However, the 
boundary provided by the Parish 
Council and shown on the submitted 
Policies Map comprises a private 
house and garden, and not the 
adjacent area of special character 
alongside the river, which is shown 
on the Policies Map as forming part 
of a wider PVAA. The Parish Council 
has provided the Council with the 
boundary it intended for the site. This 
involves deleting the current LGS 
boundary in its entirety and instead 
designating the area to the west that 
lies adjacent to the river as LGS.  
The current PVAA designation would 
then be removed from the new LGS. 
 
Recommendation: Delete the 
existing boundary of the Glebe Land, 
Linton LGS. Replace with the correct 
LGS area adjacent to the river and 
remove the PVAA designation from 
the LGS.  
See  Map 4 showing correct area. 

NH/12-102 
Scout camp 
site, Church 
Lane  
 
Little Abington 

This site is to the south of Little 
Abington.  There is a scout hut and 
extensive open land – a mix of 
grassland and trees stretching 
southwards to the River Granta.  The 
site is private but used by local scouts 
so has an amenity value for the 
village. The wooded character of the 
site by the river provides a tranquil 
beauty spot with wildlife value for the 
local community.   
The vast majority of the site is outside 
of the village framework and therefore 
could not be considered as a PVAA.  
The site had been put forward as a 
potential site for housing during the 
‘Issues and Options 1’ consultation. 
Site meets test for only LGS. 

Support: 1 
Object: 0 
Comment: 0 
 
Site meets tests for LGS.  The 
boundary to be revised from that 
in Issues and Options 2 
consultation to remove the part 
of the site with planning 
permission for bungalows.  

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Support from Little Abington PC 
and others. Recognises 
importance of site. 
 

Abington Woods CIC  
 
Rep 64895 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
Site has an existing planning 
permission which is valid from 
August 2012 for 3yrs. Only 2/3rds 
of site lies within a conservation 
area. Given the existence of the 
planning permission it seems 
sensible for Local Green Space 
only to cover that part of  site that 
is already in conservation area. 

Conservation area and LGS 
boundaries do not have to follow 
each other.  
 
The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-104 - 
Meadows, 
Bancroft Farm 
 

The site was submitted during the 
Call for Sites for the SHLAA (Sites 28 
and 29). The site is within the heart of 
the village and comprises of a field 

N/A Existing 
PVAA. As it 
meets the test 
for LGS it can 

Bancroft Farm, Church Lane 
(SHLAA site 28) - Objection from 
both Great and Little Abington 
PCs and Committee for Abington 

Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64925  
Object 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 

P
age 106



 

27 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

 Little Abington and on its western side are the former 
farm buildings which were part of 
Bancroft Farm. To the north, east and 
south the site is enclosed by 
residential. When assessed as a 
housing site it was concluded that the 
site has no development potential. 
Development of this site would have a 
significant adverse effect on the 
townscape and landscape setting of 
Little Abington because the site has a 
distinctly rural character and would 
result in the loss of an open space 
within the village. If the farm buildings 
were removed the setting of Church 
Lane would lose its intimate rural 
backdrop. The identification of this 
area as a PVAA protects this 
undeveloped land and preserves the 
special local character of Little 
Abington.  It continues to meet the 
criteria needed to be retained as a 
PVAA.    
It meets the test for a LGS. 

be included in 
the local plan 
as LGS. 

Housing. Wrong designation of 
brownfield land and LGS should 
only apply to meadow. Old derelict 
farmyard previously not 
designated for protection. 
Reclassification would enable 
sensitive development within 
conservation area. 
 
Council assessment  
The site of Bancroft Farm in Little 
Abington is included within the 
Parish Councils’ proposals for 
future housing to meet the needs 
of the village.  The farm lies within 
a larger LGS, the rest of which is 
supported by the Parish Council.  
The local community has been 
consulted on this issue and the 
majority wish the farm site to be 
developed for housing. See 
proposed changes to Policy H1 in 
Chapter 7:Housing.   The Council 
is therefore proposing a major 
modification to amend the Policies 
Map to delete the site of Bancroft 
Farm from the larger LGS site.    
 
Major modification  
Delete Bancroft Farm Church 
Lane Little Abington from a larger 
Local Green Space (see maps 
attached to the schedule of major 
modifications). 

Do not designate as LGS 
 
Reason for objection 
 

1. Not been demonstrated 
that proposed designation 
meets all criteria set out in 
NPPF for assessing LGS 
designations. 

2. Note that nowhere does 
national policy suggest 
that a failure to meet 
policy requirements 
should be balanced 
against other 
considerations when 
designating LGS. 
Allocation of this area as 
LGS would almost 
certainly prevent part of 
site coming forward as a 
sustainable residential 
development opportunity 
within defined settlement 
boundary for village. 
 

assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

Site E 
Recreational 
Green x 2, 
Russet Way 
 
NH/12-112 
Recreational 
Green, Russet 
Way  
 
Melbourn 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Two areas of grassland within a 
housing area. Mown grass with 
scattered mature trees upon 
them. Important area of informal 
open space providing a green 
space within a built up area. 
Meets the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64875 
Object 
Suggest change of use.  
 
Object to any developments being 
built on site but would support 
designated parking lots for each 
house that owns part of the Local 
Green Space. 
 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12 - 115 - N/A Submitted by Parish Council. Include in No representations Individual respondent  This site was submitted for 

P
age 107



 

28 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

Stockbridge 
Meadows  
 
Melbourn 

This area is one that South 
Cambs DC included in its 
Biodiversity Strategy as being 
an open space of local 
importance. Meets the tests for 
LGS. 

local plan as 
LGS. 

 
Rep 64873 
Object  
Amend boundary 
 
Document outlines boundaries of 
100 High Street, Melbourn and 
demonstrates that  triangular 
parcel of land to rear of property 
is not part of Stockbridge 
Meadows  

consideration as a LGS by Melbourn 
Parish Council in the Issues and 
Options 2 consultation in 2013. An 
objection has been received from the 
owner of a triangle of land included 
on the southern edge of the meadow. 
The purpose of this LGS is to identify 
and protect the Riverside Park. The 
site that received planning 
permission as a public open space in 
2005 to form the Riverside Park is 
slightly different from the LGS shown 
on the Policies Map. It excluded the 
objector’s triangle of land and 
included an additional small parcel of 
land on the north-eastern edge of the 
meadow. The Parish Council has 
confirmed that it supports a revised 
boundary to reflect the planning 
permission boundary.  
 
Recommendation: Amend the 
Stockbridge Meadows, Melbourn 
LGS boundary to exclude a triangle 
of land on the southern boundary and 
include an additional area to the 
north. 
See Map 5 showing revised 
boundary. 
 

NH/12-128 - 
Glebe Field, 
behind St 
Andrews 
Church,  
 
Orwell 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Sloping field that is part of the 
setting of the grade I listed 
church, grade II listed buildings 
on the High Street and the 
Conservation Area. A public 
footpath crosses the site. 
Meets the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Ely Diocesan Board of Finance 
 
Rep 64931 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Reason for objection 

1. Site should only be 
designated if it passes 
tests set out in paragraph 
77 of NPPF.  
Site is an area of open 
rough grassland of no 
particular character, 
crossed by a public 
footpath. It has not been 
demonstrated that the site 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 108



 

29 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

is special and of particular 
local significance to the 
community. Site therefore 
fails the second of three 
tests. 
The site fails the third test 
as it is an extensive tract 
of land. 

 
2. The designation will 

preclude consideration of 
any sensitively designed 
scheme for sustainable 
housing development 
contrary to aims of 
enabling sustainable 
development set out within 
NPPF. 

NH/12 - 130 - 
Station 
Road/Turn 
Lane,  
 
Over 

The site is within the village 
framework and was previously 
identified as a PVAA. The Parish 
Council are requesting that it be 
reinstated as a PVAA. The views 
across the site towards the listed 
church would be protected if the site 
were to be designated as a PVAA or 
LGS.   
Site meets test for PVAA and LGS. 

Support: 0 
Object: 7 
Comment: 0 
 
Objection to land being 
considered as PVAA. No public 
access to site and no views of 
church. Does not meet criteria 
for PVAA or LGS.  Agreed by 
Inspector of Site Specific DPD in 
Sept 2009 (Rep 50810). 
 
Objection from landowners.  
This site does not contribute to 
amenity and character of this 
part of village. As it stands it is 
of no value to village – 
overgrown.  Development of site 
best option for village to provide 
for affordable housing. 
 
Planning Appeal inspector 
(2013) considered that this site 
forms part of the setting of the 
Grade l church and 
Conservation Area therefore re-
affirms that it meets the tests for 
LGS.    

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Objection to LGS from individual. 
Must be demonstrably special. 
Afforded more weight as 
summited by Parish Council. 
Rejected by inspector in 2006 – 
little changed. PC not justified why 
site special. Site fails assessment. 
Long term protection important but 
not at expense of potential future 
growth of village and development 
that could result in better 
management of site. 
 
Council assessment  
All the sites where representations 
have been submitted were 
previously assessed by the 
Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that 
affect the assessment or it has 
been shown that circumstances 
have changed the Council 
remains of the opinion that these 
site designations should remain in 
the plan. 

Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64870 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Reason for objection 
 

1. Site privately owned. Does 
not hold any particular 
significance to local 
community. 

2. No public access to site 
has ever existed. 

3. Previous PVAA 
designation was removed 
in 2009 by an inspector 
who stated land does not 
contribute to amenity and 
character of village. Site 
has not changed since 
that time. 

4. Parish Council's proposal 
to make this 'Local Green 
Space’ flawed - site does 
not meet any of the criteria 
laid out in NPPF. 

5. Not in Conservation Area. 
6. Sensitively planned 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 109



 

30 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

development would 
enhance this part of 
village - no change to 
character. 

     Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64871 
Object 
Do not designate 
 
Reason for objection 
 

1. Site does not meet any of 
criteria laid out in the 
NPPF. Site does not and 
has never served the 
community. No richness of 
wildlife. 

2. Over Parish Council never 
agreed or debated local 
plan submission and has 
since approved planning 
application on site. 

3. More suitable 'Green 
Spaces' exist within 
village, (e.g. Village Green 
and Community Centre 
playing fields and skate 
park 

4. High demand for 
affordable housing in 
village 

 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

     Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64872 
Object 
Do not designate 
 
Reason for objection 
 

1. Area not special to 
community. Question 
method used by Parish 
Council in their 
submission as to why area 
is special as it is in private 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 110



 

31 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

ownership with no access 
and is covered in shrub.  

2. PVAA was lifted from it in 
2009. Inspector stated 
land does not contribute to 
amenity or character of 
village.  

3. Site is not an 'Area of 
Local Significance' as it 
does not meet any of the 
criteria for local green 
space. 

     Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64948 
Object 
Do not designate 
 
Reason for objection 

1. Site is privately owned 
and has never had any 
particular significance to 
village as there has never 
been any public access. 

2. Previous PVAA was 
placed in error in 1992 
and removed in 2009.  

3. Site is within village 
framework, is bounded on 
all sides by high hedges, 
covered in scrub and 
brambles affording no 
amenity to village.  

4. Not in conservation area, 
so tasteful development 
would enhance site and 
improve this area while 
adding to village amenities 
without changing it's 
character. 

5. Parish Council's proposal 
for site to be classed as 
LGS does not meet the 
criteria as laid out by 
NPPF. 
 
 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 111



 

32 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

 
 

NH/12 - 131 
Land to the 
rear of The 
Lanes, 
 
Over 

The site is a green space surrounded 
to north, east and south by 
residential. It provides an amenity for 
this part of Over. The identification of 
this area as a PVAA protects this 
undeveloped land and preserves the 
special local character of this part of 
Over.  It continues to meet the criteria 
needed to be retained as a PVAA.    
It meets the test for a LGS. 

N/A Existing 
PVAA. As it 
meets the test 
for LGS it can 
be included in 
the local plan 
as LGS. 

Objection to LGS by individual as 
does not meet criteria for 
designation. Site bounded by 2m 
high fence. Limited views / 
overgrown private land. No public 
access. No more tranquil than 
other nearby areas in village. No 
uncommon wildlife. 
 
Council assessment  
All the sites where representations 
have been submitted were 
previously assessed by the 
Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that 
affect the assessment or it has 
been shown that circumstances 
have changed the Council 
remains of the opinion that these 
site designations should remain in 
the plan. 

Individual respondents  
 
Rep 64972 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Reason for objection 
 

1. Concern that 
representation submitted 
in earlier consultation in 
2013 - Rep 57527 was not 
included in evidence 
paper submitted to 
government in March 
2014.  

 
2. Site does not 

demonstrably meet criteria 
under NPPF para 77 - 
limited views of land for 
public and no public 
access; no visual impact 
on listed buildings; no 
historic significance; no 
recreational value; no 
more tranquil than other 
sites in village; no 
significant wildlife.  
 

3. Site should have existing 
PVAA designation 
removed too 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12 – 132 
Wood behind 
Pendragon Hill,  
 
Papworth 
Everard 

Well established woodland area 
surrounded by housing which would 
have wildlife value. It is within the 
village framework. Appears to be an 
enclosed site. It brings local character 
to this part of Papworth. 
Site does meet test for either PVAA 
or LGS.   

No representations Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Papworth Everard PC strongly 
supports policy and its application 
to village. Valued by parishioners. 
Village characterised by housing 
separated by relatively large 
green 

The Papworth Trust 
 
Rep 64954 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Land within Framework, which 
has 'run wild' over time. No 
evidence of either local support or 
‘richness’ of wildlife value which 
the NPPF advice requires. As the 
Council's own studies 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 112



 

33 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

established, the tests for LGS 
status are not met. 

NH/12-134 - 
Baron's Way 
Wood, 
 
Papworth 
Everard 

A long strip of woodland following 
behind properties in Baron’s Way.  It 
has wildlife value. It adds to the rural 
character of the village. The entire 
site is within the village framework.   
Site meets test for PVAA and LGS. 

No representations Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Papworth Everard PC strongly 
supports policy and its application 
to village. Valued by parishioners. 
Village characterised by housing 
separated by relatively large 
green 

The Papworth Trust 
 
Rep 64953 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Land within the Framework, which 
has 'run wild' over time. No 
evidence of either local support or 
‘richness’ of wildlife value which 
the NPPF advice requires. 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-135 - 
Rectory Woods 
 
Papworth 
Everard 

An area of woodland part within and 
part outside of the village framework 
on the eastern edge of the village 
west of Chequers Lane and south of 
Old Pinewood Way.  The woodland 
adjoins the Baron’s Way Wood and 
has wildlife value and is part of a 
larger expanse of woodland to the 
south. There is public access and 
provides a tranquil location on the 
edge of residential areas. 
Site meets test for only LGS. 

No representations Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

Papworth Everard PC strongly 
supports policy and its application 
to village. Valued by parishioners. 
Village characterised by housing 
separated by relatively large 
green 

Individual respondents 
 
Rep 64887 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
The respondents’  property is 
adjacent to NH/12-135. They  do 
not own any part of it as 
mentioned in Council’s letter. 
Would love green space to stay 
as it is. 
Supports an abundance of 
wildlife, including deer, fox, 
hedgehogs, squirrels and all sorts 
of birds and butterflies. 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12- 137 - 
Summer's Hill 
Open Space,  
 
Papworth 
Everard 

Open space sloping up from bypass 
on the western side of village 
adjacent to the new housing 
development of Summer’s Hill. This is 
an extensive area of open space 
outside of the village framework. The 
guidance in the NPPF does not 
support the identification of extensive 
areas of open space as LGS. 
Site does not meet test for either 
PVAA or LGS.   

Support: 1 
Object: 0 
Comment: 0 
 
Papworth Everard Parish 
Council Planning Committee 
has stated that this area is an 
integral part of development of 
365 dwellings, makes it more 
sustainable, well related to 
village and new development, 
valuable recreation area for 
village and new development. 
 
It is not appropriate to identify 
the whole area as LGS but 
within the housing development 
there are pockets of green 

Include 
pockets of 
green space 
and 
recreation 
areas:  
Northern 
entrance 
green; 
kickabout 
area, pond 
and play 
spaces and 
other greens 
in local plan 
as LGS. 

Papworth Everard PC strongly 
supports policy and its application 
to village. Valued by parishioners. 
Village characterised by housing 
separated by relatively large 
green 

The Varrier Jones Foundation 
 
Rep 64887 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Whilst this is land subject of a 
Section 106 Obligation (in relation 
to development of residential 
estate to its east), Council's own 
studies confirm that its extent is 
such as not to qualify for LGS 
status drawing on NPPF 
guidance. 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 113



 

34 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

space and recreation areas that 
would be appropriate to include.  
Northern entrance green; 
kickabout area, pond and play 
spaces and other greens. 

NH/12-138 - 
Papworth Hall,  
 
Papworth 
Everard 

This area is already within a PVAA. 
The site is already within a PVAA and 
meets the test for LGS. 

N/A Existing 
PVAA.   As it 
meets the test 
for LGS it can 
be included in 
the local plan 
as LGS. 

Papworth Everard PC strongly 
supports policy and its application 
to village. Valued by parishioners. 
Village characterised by housing 
separated by relatively large 
green 

Individual respondents  
 
Rep 64903 
Object  
Amend boundary 
 
No objection to Local Green 
Space 
Would like site to be separated 
from Papworth Hall as now 
private land – not one large LGS.  
 

Designation of an area as LGS does 
not imply that there will be public 
access allowed to the site.  Although 
this site is in two different ownerships 
the character of the site is not 
determined by its ownership. 
 
The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

     The Varrier Jones Foundation 
 
Rep 64955 
Object  
Amend boundary 
 
This designation takes in (at 
least) two ownerships. So far as 
those parts owned by the objector 
are concerned, none meet the 
criteria for 'particular significance' 
cited in the NPPF and the 
Council's own studies. Thus the 
tests for LGS status are not met. 
 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-139 - 
Village Playing 
Field,  
 
Papworth 
Everard 

This area is already within a PVAA 
and as playing fields has a 
recreational value to the local 
community. The woodland will have 
wildlife value.   
The site is already within a PVAA and 
meets the test for LGS. 

N/A Existing 
PVAA.  As it 
meets the test 
for LGS it can 
be included in 
the local plan 
as LGS. 

Papworth Everard PC strongly 
supports policy and its application 
to village. Valued by parishioners. 
Village characterised by housing 
separated by relatively large 
green 

The Varrier Jones Foundation 
 
Rep 64956 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
Majority of site has local 
recreational function. Same not 
true of woodland strip along its 
northern edge. There is no 
evidence that this is the home for 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

P
age 114



 

35 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

the 'richness of wildlife' which the 
NPPF expects. Delete this strip. 

NH/12-141 - 
The Spike 
Playing Field, 
South Terrace,  
 
Sawston 

This is an area of green space on the 
southern edge of Sawston outside of 
the village framework.  The site is 
surrounded by well-established 
hedges and has housing to the north 
and east; and commercial uses to the 
south.  It provides a pocket of green 
open space between urban uses.  It 
has value for the local community for 
informal recreation. 
Site meets test for only LGS 

Support: 40 
Object: 3 
Comment: 7 
Objection from trustees as 
landowners, who would like to 
rent the site to generate income 
and site has limited access for 
the public. 
 
Objections to designation 
because it is removed from the 
village and is only used by dog 
walkers. 
 
Lots of support, including from 
Sawston Parish Council. This 
area, once used as a playing 
field, forms an important green 
space for residents at the 
southern end of Sawston. 
 
Meets the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

General support for all LGS in 
village. 

Sawston Church Institute  
 
Rep 64906 
Object 
Do not designate as LGS 
 
"Spike Field" is private land 
bequeathed over 100 years ago 
to Sawston Church/Institute. 
Trustees of the Towgood 
Charities are responsible for field, 
hence it is partially fenced off, 
apart from a few residents cars 
near entrance. This is not a 
recreational area for public. 
 
From time to time the respondent 
also have to fund pruning of trees, 
hedges etc, from overgrowth. 
 
It is not their intention to permit 
the public access to this private 
area. 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

     The Towgoods' Charities of St 
Mary the Virgin Sawston 
 
Rep 64915 
Object 
Do not designate 
 
1. Designated land is Charity 
Land in Trust. 
2. Trustees are bound to ensure 
this area of land is used as set 
out in the Indenture dated 1903. 
3. Trustees have insufficient 
income to insure themselves for 
local community access. 
4. As Trustees cannot accept any 
public liability they will have to 
fence it off if necessary. 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12 - 143 
Millennium 
Copse  
 

Strip of green space north of Tannery 
Road. There are a number of young 
trees growing on the site – planted for 

N/A Existing 
PVAA. As it 
meets the test 
for LGS it can 

General support for all LGS in 
village. 

John Huntingdon Charity 
 
Rep 64882 
Object 

A representation was received from 
the owners of the western section of 
this site indicating that a nursery had 
been built on their land in 2000 and 

P
age 115



 

36 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

Sawston millennium.   As the trees grow there 
will be increased biodiversity value for 
the local community. The site appears 
to be enclosed behind hedges. This is 
already within a PVAA. 
The site meets the test for LGS. 

be included in 
the local plan 
as LGS. 

Amend boundary 
 
Part of this site is owned by the 
respondents, but has a nursery 
built on it back in 2000, so cannot 
be allocated as a green space. 

therefore in their opinion could not be 
designated as LGS. The designated 
area incorrectly extends across the 
nursery site, beyond the wooded 
area of the Copse.  It is appropriate 
to amend the western boundary to 
this area. 
 
Recommendation: Amend the 
Millennium Copse, Sawston LGS to 
exclude the nursery site. 
See Map 6 showing revised 
boundary. 

NH/12-144 - 
Butlers Green,  
 
Sawston 

N/A Informal grass area surrounded 
by tall hedgerow/trees, with 
public access from Mill Lane.  
Part of the setting of the 
Conservation Area and provides 
a tranquil area or informal 
recreation use for the village. 
Meets the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

General support for all LGS in 
village. 

Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64946 
Object 
Do not designate 
 
Reason for objection: 

1. No evidences exist that 
John Falkner School 
playing field has been a 
special site of historic 
importance or a 
specifically cherished site.  

2. There are no evidences of 
shortage of green in this 
area. 

3. Council did not find any 
evidence to convince them 
this land should be 
designated a public green. 

4. Site was sold by Council 
for development only three 
years ago. 

5. Any such a designation 
would harm potential for a 
sympathetic and much 
needed investment in and 
development of site. 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-149 - 
Ransom Strip, 
Craft Way,  
 
Steeple 
Morden 

This site is located outside of the 
village framework and therefore 
cannot be considered as a PVAA. It is 
a field with well-established area of 
trees at the western end of the site. 
This section of the site is within the 

Support: 1 
Object: 0 
Comment: 0 
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64921 
Object 
Amend boundary. 
Do not designate as LGS part of 

The sites was previously assessed 
by the Council as meeting the tests 
for LGS and therefore unless new 
issues have been raised that affect 
the assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 

P
age 116



 

37 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

Steeple Morden Conservation Area. 
There appears not to be public 
access to the site. To the south of the 
site are residential houses in Craft 
Way. A grade II listed building 
overlooks the site to the west. 
Site does meet test for LGS. 

site owned by respondent 
 
Reasons for objection 

1. As privately owned land 
designating site as LGS 
will provide no benefit to 
public as they will have no 
legal access to it. 

2. Village needs affordable 
housing and as this site is 
already adjacent to other 
local housing in Craft Way 
an ideal opportunity exists 
to extend services and 
amenities to this site. 

3. If left undeveloped site will 
be at risk of being used by 
fly tippers and other 
unauthorised access. 

4. Designation of this site as 
LGS will not meet 
objectives of NPPF as 
land is privately owned 
thereby barring local 
community from access to 
it. 

Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-157 The 
Spinney  
 
Thriplow 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Existing PVAA. Wooded area 
within the Conservation Area 
and protected by Tree 
Preservation Order. Enhances 
character of village and may 
have biodiversity value. 
Meets the tests for LGS. 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Individual respondent  
 
Rep 64855 
Object  
Do not designate as LGS 
 
Idea for green space site comes 
from one man who wished to 
cease mowing and tidying up his 
border to this track and wants to 
stop land being an entry and exit 
to Pegs Close. 
It is not used by members of the 
public for any reason whatsoever 
and if made LGS will be forced to 
remain so thereby shutting off 
access to Pegs Close. 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 
assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-158 - 
Open Land, 
Church Street  
 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Existing PVAA. Open grass area 
within the Conservation Area 
and forms part of the setting of 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Individual respondents 
 
Rep 64855 
Object 

This site was previously assessed by 
the Council as meeting the tests for 
LGS and therefore unless new issues 
have been raised that affect the 

P
age 117



 

38 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

Thriplow Listed Buildings, including 
Grade II* Manor Farmhouse. 
Meets the tests for LGS. 

Amend boundary 
 
The respondents own 3.5 strip on 
southern edge of site which is 
only access to land they own to 
south east of site. It is a vehicular 
access track which is regularly 
used, so LGS boundary should be 
amended to exclude that strip. 

assessment or it has been shown 
that circumstances have changed the 
Council remains of the opinion that 
the site designation should remain in 
the plan. 

NH/12-161 - 
Toft Recreation 
Ground  
 
Toft 

The site is outside of the village 
framework and therefore cannot be 
considered as a PVAA. It is an area 
of grassland, the recreation ground 
for Toft and therefore has a 
recreational value for the village. 
Site meets test for only LGS. 

Support: 2 
Object: 0 
Comment: 0 
 

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Toft Parish Council 
 
Rep 64908 
Object 
Amend boundary 
 
Support inclusion of Recreation 
Ground as Local Green Space 
however the Community Land is 
not shown on map, and this 
should also be included in Local 
Plan as a LGS.  

Extension of LGS in village not 
previously submitted. New sites 
cannot be considered as part of this 
consultation. 

NH/12- 167 
Barracks 
Frontage  
 
Waterbeach 

N/A Submitted by Parish Council. 
Triangular grassy area with 
trees at the entrance to 
Waterbeach Barracks, which is 
screened from Denny End Road 
by a hedge. It is part of the 
green setting of the entrance to 
the barracks and has in the past 
had an aircraft upon it.  It is part 
of a larger grassed area that 
forms the entrance to 
Waterbeach Barracks. Meets 
the tests for LGS. 
  

Include in 
local plan as 
LGS. 

No representations Defence Infrastructure 
Organisation 
 
Rep 64970 
Object 
Not designate as LGS 
 
Object to proposed designation. 
There are positive opportunities to 
achieve sustainable pedestrian, 
cycling and public transport links 
between proposed Waterbeach 
New Town, Waterbeach and 
Cambridge. May require some 
highway re-alignment at Barracks 
frontage. Master planning process 
has begun and will fully 
incorporate objectives of 
achieving high quality and 
attractive green spaces in this 
location. In this context proposed 
designation could undermine 
sustainable development 
objectives of Submission Draft 
Local Plan, including Policy SS/5, 
and does not meet the criteria of 

Defence Infrastructure Organisation 
objects to designation of the site, as it 
falls within the Area Action Plan area 
for the new town, and could be 
important for creating sustainable 
transport links. DIO says that the 
area should be considered as part of 
the wider masterplan.  The LGS does 
lie within the area proposed to be 
covered by an Area Action Plan for 
the new town. On reflection, it is 
considered that the AAP process is 
the appropriate mechanism for 
deciding the future of land within its 
boundary and the LGS should be 
deleted from the Local Plan Policies 
Map. 
 
Recommendation: Delete the 
Barracks Frontage, Waterbeach LGS 
See Map 7 showing deleted site. 

P
age 118



 

39 
 

Site Location 
and  
Village 

Council Assessment 2012 Council Assessment 2013 
including results of 2013 
consultation if site included in 
consultation   

Council 
Decision 
 2013 

Representations received in 
Proposed Submission 
Consultation 2013 
+ Council assessment 2014 
from Audit Trail  

Representation received during 
landowner consultation on LGS 
2014.  

Council Response 2015 with 
recommended change where 
appropriate.   
 

the NPPF.  
 

P
age 119



P
age 120

T
his page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix E  
 
 
Maps of Local Green Spaces where changes proposed 
 

· Map 1 - NH/12-022 – Camping Close, Bourn 
· Map 2 - NH/12-050 - Land in front of Village College, Cottenham 
· Map 3 - NH/12-094 - Village Orchard, Kingston 
· Map 4 - NH/12 – 098 Glebe Land, Linton 
· Map 5 - NH/12 - 115 -Stockbridge Meadows, Melbourn 
· Map 6 - NH/12 - 143 Millennium Copse , Sawston 
· Map 7 - NH/12- 167 Barracks Frontage, Waterbeach 

Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



 

Page 128



 

Page 129



Page 130



 
 
  
REPORT TO: Planning Portfolio Holder 10 March 2015 
LEAD OFFICER: Director, Planning and New Communities  

 
 

 
Response to building more homes on brownfield land Government consultation 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To agree the response to the Government’s consultation on Building more homes on 

brownfield land. 
 
2. This not a key decision as it is responding to a consultation.  It was first published in 

the March 2015 Forward Plan. 
 

Recommendations 
 
3. It is recommended that Portfolio Holder agrees the response to questions 1 to 12 of 

the Government’s consultation on Building more homes on brownfield land provided 
in paragraphs 7 to 35 in the report.   

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
4. Measures to deliver development on suitable brownfield land are supported, but the 

proposals have significant resource implications, and could undermine the ability of 
the Local Planning Authority to protect important resources such as village 
employment land. Given the nature of brownfield sites in South Cambridgeshire, with 
a small number of very large brownfield sites forming the basis of allocations for new 
settlements, the implications and timing of the proposals could be significant.  
 
Background 

 
5. The Government announced in June 2014 that it expected to see local development 

orders (LDO) in place for homes on more than 90% of brownfield land suitable for 
new housing by 2020. The Government wants to see local planning authorities taking 
a proactive approach to realising the potential of brownfield land to meet housing 
needs.  LDOs would demonstrate local authorities commitment to deliver growth.  

 
6. The Government is now consulting on how this should be applied. This includes the 

criteria which would be used to identify suitable sites, information that would need to 
be collected and made available, and measures which would be applied to encourage 
progress, such as imposing special measures, or policy measures, if targets are not 
met. 
 
Considerations 
 

7. The Government is proposing the following definition for land suitable for housing that 
would be required to be identified by Local Planning Authorities: 
 
• Brownfield Land (as defined by the NPPF Annex 2):  

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 131



Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the 
curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the 
whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface 
infrastructure. This excludes:  
o land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings;  
o land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by 

landfill purposes where provision for restoration has been made through 
development control procedures;  

o land in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation 
grounds and allotments; and  

o land that was previously-developed, but where the remains of the 
permanent structure have blended into the landscape in the process of 
time.  

• Deliverable (must be available for development now or in the near future. Could 
include under utilised land where local authority has evidence that the owner 
would be willing to make the land or buildings available for new housing, provided 
planning permission can be obtained) 

• Free of Constraint (exclude any land which is subject to severe physical, 
environmental or policy constraints, unless the constraints can realistically be 
mitigated while retaining the viability of redevelopment) 

• Capable of Development (in a condition and location that would make it a genuine 
option for developers) 

• Capable of supporting five or more dwellings 
 
 
Question 1: Do you agree with our proposed definition of brownfield land suitable for 
new housing and the criteria that are applied to define land suitable for new housing? 
 
PROPOSED RESPONSE: 
 
8. Collecting data on sites with a threshold as low as five dwelling will be onerous on 

Local Authorities. Guidance in the National Planning Practice Guidance advises that 
‘Where appropriate, plan makers may wish to consider alternative site size 
thresholds’. This flexibility would be removed.  

 
9. In South Cambridgeshire there are few vacant brownfield sites within settlements. 

The district has delivered a steady stream of windfall development from previously 
developed land. Historically the majority of housing on previously developed land has 
come from intensification of existing uses (such as gardens),which was difficult to 
identify in advance of site specific proposals, or loss of land from other uses, 
particularly employment. The Council has strived for many years to protect such sites, 
to ensure settlements retain a mix of uses. The proposals would therefore push Local 
Planning Authorities to designate sites for housing even if it was not the most 
appropriate use, the most appropriate site for development to benefit the wider area. 

 
10. The definition assumes that all sites of the necessary scale are suitable for housing. 

This would appear to further undermine the ability of local authorities to protect land 
in other uses, particularly employment land. The definition should be made clear that 
only sites suitable in policy terms, reflecting policies in a local plan, should be 
required to be identified.  
 

11. It is not clear what these would mean for major developments that incorporate 
previously developed land, such as the new town of Northstowe, or other new 
settlements proposed in the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan.  
 

Page 132



12. Although the consultation describes how parties could challenge the Councils view of 
whether a site meets the definition (para 18 of the consultation document), there is no 
detail about how this would operate if there was disagreement.  The definition 
describes ‘severe’ constraints as a reason to exclude sites. It is not clear who would 
determine this if it was disputed.  

 
Sharing Site Data 
 
13. Local Authorities prepare an objective assessment of housing land availability as part 

of the local plan evidence base. It is proposed that certain data would be required to 
be updated and published at least once a year on Council websites in a standardised 
form. This will allow a broad range of individuals and groups to assess and, if 
necessary, challenge the inclusion or exclusion of particular sites as brownfield land 
suitable for housing. It would also allow data to be shared between authorities. 

 
Question 2: Do you agree that local planning authorities should be transparent and 
publish the small subset of data at source, and update it at least once a year, to a 
common standard and specification?  
 
Question 3: Do you have views on how this common standard and specification 
should be developed? 
 
Question 4: Do you agree that local planning authorities should review their baseline 
and progress regularly, at least annually, to ensure that information about 
permissions on suitable brownfield land is current, reflecting changes in the 
availability of suitable housing sites? 
 
PROPOSED RESPONSE: 
 
14. Publishing data on brownfield land is not a new idea. The National Land Use 

Database has been running since 2004, collecting data on previously developed land. 
Councils also maintain Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments. Annual 
monitoring reports also highlight the availability of planning permissions annually. 

 
15. Having a standard specification may be helpful to developers, and provide an 

opportunity to highlight development opportunities in a consistent manner across the 
country. However, the NLUD classification proved complex to use in practice, so it will 
need to be carefully constructed. There will also be resource implications for local 
authorities.  

 
Measures to encourage progress 
 
Designations 
 
16. Under section 62A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, local planning 

authorities can be designated as under-performing where the speed or quality of their 
decisions has fallen below a prescribed threshold.  

 
17. The Government proposes to extend this measure so that authorities could also be 

designated as under-performing where they do not meet the objective for bringing 
forward sufficient coverage of Local Development Orders on brownfield land suitable 
for new housing, or where authorities have failed to provide sufficient evidence that 
this objective is being met. Where an authority is designated, applicants would then 
have a choice of applying directly to the Secretary of State for planning permission. 
Only applications relating to brownfield land for sites of 5 or more dwellings would be 

Page 133



capable of being submitted to the Secretary of State where an authority is 
designated. 

 
18. Authorities would be assessed on the extent to which brownfield land suitable for 

housing identified the previous year was covered by local development orders. At 
2020 authorities would be liable for designation where they had not put local 
development orders in place on 90% of the brownfield land they had identified as 
suitable for housing in 2019 (and which did not already benefit from planning 
permission at that date).  

 
Question 5: Do you think that the designation of under-performing planning 
authorities in the way suggested would provide an effective incentive to bringing 
forward planning permissions on brownfield land? 
 
Question 6: Do you agree that:  
a) Authorities should be designated from 2020 if they have not met the 90% objective?  
b) Performance against the 90% objective should be calculated on the extent to which 
the brownfield land suitable for housing identified a year earlier is covered by local 
development orders? 
 
PROPOSED RESPONSE: 

 
19. If a site was available, deliverable and consistent with policy, the likelihood is it would 

be allocated in a local plan. This would highlight support of the Local Planning 
Authority, and its availability for development. In addition, local plans provide policy 
guidance regarding the suitability of development. This highlights where windfall 
schemes are likely to be supported. 
 

20. An LDO grants permission for the type of development specified by the Order. It 
removes the need for a planning application to be made by the developer. In doing so 
it is a way of attracting investors and assisting the delivery of development.  

 
21. In order to grant consent for development there are many issues that need to be 

understood and addressed, including transport, flood risk, heritage, ecology, design, 
viability, affordable housing, and the outcome of initial local consultations.  LDOs for 
large sites are complex documents, and could take a number of months to prepare. 
Much of the work that would be undertaken by and paid for by developers seeking 
planning permission would need to be undertaken by the Local Authority.  The 
developers will be able to count this expenditure as a development expense and 
recoup if from the profits of the development.  This would not be possible for the LPA 
unless it were to be in relation to a site in its ownership which will be a very small 
percentage of all brownfield sites requiring LDOs.   

 
22. In the case of South Cambridgeshire, the Council is proposing 3 new settlements 

focused on large areas of previously developed land. Two of these are proposals in a 
submitted Local Plan currently at Examination (Waterbeach New Town and Bourn 
Airfield New Village). The third new settlement is Northstowe where planning 
permission has been granted for phase 1, and an application is being considered for 
phase 2.  These are very considerable developments totalling around 23,000 
dwellings in total and planning applications for  this type of planning application have 
to be accompanied by an extensive level of supporting documentation.  The 
Governments proposal would place a very significant burden on the Local Authority to 
place LDO’s on the brownfield elements of these sites by 2020.  
The Local Plan envisages preparing Area Action Plans for these developments, 
which include significant greenfield as well as brownfield elements. The Council is 

Page 134



working constructively with the promoters of the new settlements, which are 
anticipated to come forward after 2020, in a timely way to ensure proper planning of 
these developments, and putting in place the key infrastructure to serve them, 
supported by the Greater Cambridge City Deal.  
 

23. To impose a requirement for the Local Planning Authority to put in place LDOs for the 
brownfield elements of large sites is not a reasonable, necessary or effective 
measure to deliver the sites. A blanket requirement for LDO’s regardless of local 
circumstances is not necessary or appropriate.  

 
24. More generally, as well as simply granting consent, an LDO can be specific regarding 

the uses, and the criteria and conditions that the development must meet. There is 
still a development management process to be undertaken, so developers can 
demonstrate conformity with the LDO. If it is not in conformity, a planning application 
would be required.  In which case all the work and expenditure on the LDO by the 
LPA would have been wasted.   
 

25. Clearly planning applications come with a fee commensurate with the scale and type 
of development. The costs of preparing LDOs would fall on the Local Authority. The 
Government has made available a £5 million fund to support up to 100 local 
development orders across the country. However, given the large number of f sites of 
5 dwellings or more, and with their scale ranging up to sites of up to 10,000 new 
homes this fund will be inadequate.   It also does not reflect the circumstances where 
several new settlements involving brownfield land are planned. One option that could 
be considered is to allow an LPA to recoup all of the costs involved in LDO 
preparation and adoption once development is permitted or takes place in 
accordance with that LDO.   

 
26. LDOs have generally been applied where encouragement has been needed to bring 

a site forward, or assist in overcoming constraints.  It is acknowledged that they can 
have an important role in this process although take up across the Country has been 
very limited.  The practical benefits and reasons for this low take up must be 
understood before their preparation is rolled out as a mandatory requirement for all 
LPAs. In areas of string demand there is little to be gained but significant added work 
for Local Authorities. Even with an LDO there is no guarantee a site will be 
developed. 

 
27. However, the change to impose them on every suitable site would mean they are 

applied to sites where this assistance is not needed. It could actually delay 
development if a developer chose to wait for the Local Authority to prepare an LDO 
rather than applying for planning permission.  It will often be the case that the LDO 
may differ in important respects such as quantum of development from that which a 
private developer would actually want to implement.  Planning applications are often 
subject to amendment or resubmission to reflect changing market conditions.  It 
would be very onerous to expect LDOs to be continually updated by LPAs in a similar 
way.   
 

28. There is no Impact Report published with this consultation, therefore it is unclear 
whether the Government have considered the cost implications for Local Authorities 
that could result from these requirements at a time of tightening Council budgets. 

 
Earlier targets 
 
29. The consultation proposes that Local Planning Authorities should work towards an 

objective of putting local development orders in place on 50% of their brownfield land 

Page 135



suitable for housing by 2017 (where the land does not already benefit from planning 
permission). Where local planning authorities have not made sufficient progress 
against the intermediate objective at 2017, they would be designated, meaning that 
they would be invited to prepare an action plan and offered support to improve, and 
would be considered for de-designation after 12 months provided their performance 
then exceeds the 50% objective under which they had been designated.  

 
30. Alternatives include publishing a list of Local Authorities not meeting the objective, but 

a robust approach is needed to encourage real progress where more needs to be 
done. After 2020 designations would be reviewed annually each Spring, using 
consistent criteria. Applications to the Secretary of State would normally involve a 
public hearing.  

 
Question 7: Do you agree that: 
a) Authorities should be assessed against an intermediate objective in 2017? 
b) Having local development orders in place on 50% of brownfield land identified as 
suitable for housing (and which does not already benefit from planning permission) in  
the preceding year is an appropriate intermediate objective? 
 
Question 8: Do you agree that authorities should be designated from 2017 if they have 
failed to make sufficient progress against the intermediate objective? 
 
Question 9: Do you agree:  
a) With our proposed approach to identifying and confirming designations, including 
the consideration of whether exceptional circumstances apply?  
b) With our suggested approach to de-designating authorities from 2020?  
c) That the provisions for handling applications made to the Secretary of State should 
be the same as where an authority is designated under the existing performance 
measures? 
 
PROPOSED RESPONSE: 
31. Implementation of this approach could require numerous LDO to be in place within 

two years, which could place a significant burden on Local Authorities.   In the case of 
a District like South Cambridgeshire with the majority of brownfield land focused on a 
few large sites, some large LDOs would be needed in order to cover 50% of 
brownfield land. Given the local plan process it would be extremely onerous to have 
LDOs in place by 2017, not withstanding the comments regarding the suitability of 
this approach made to previous questions.   

 
Policy-based incentive 
 
32. A second option would be to amend to NPPF. Local planning authorities that had 

failed to make sufficient progress against the brownfield objective would be unable to 
claim the existence of an up-to-date five year housing land supply when considering 
applications for brownfield development, and therefore the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. This measure would take effect fully from 2020, and would 
apply to any local planning authority that had not met the 90% objective by that date. 
Intermediate objectives are proposed, starting with 50% in 2017, rising each year to 
90% in 2020. The government also proposes automatic designation if data was not 
published annually as required. 

 
Question 10: Do you: 
a) Think the policy-based approach would provide an effective incentive for 
authorities to put local development orders in place on suitable brownfield land? 

Page 136



b) Agree with the proposed thresholds and dates at which this measure would take 
effect? 
 
Question 11: Do you agree that the measures proposed for failing to publish 
information on progress are proportionate and effective? If not, what alternative would 
you propose and why? 
 
PROPOSED RESPONSE: 
33. Implications of this policy approach would also indicate a reduction in the controls a 

Local Planning Authority would have to control land use.  In effect this would mean a 
Local Planning Authority with a five year land supply would be treated as if it does not 
have one. Therefore, whilst the Local Authority would not be designated, if it could not 
show it had met the target for that year, the 5 year land supply criteria would apply, 
including housing policies being out of date. It appears it would apply specifically to 
brownfield sites and not greenfield. This should be made more explicit. There is a risk 
that it would lead to planning by appeal. 

 
 
Question 12: Do you have any other suggestions for measures that could help to 
deliver local development orders on brownfield land suitable for new housing? 
 
34. To address the resource implications, an alternative would be to allow developers to 

prepare LDO in conjunction with or for agreement by the LPA – and to allow Councils 
to recoup their costs from developers.  This will target this measure to the most 
developable sites, and ensure LDO that are in a form that will be deliverable without 
amendment.  

 
35. More appropriate tests and measures need to be considered which reflect the 

circumstances of individual districts, and the variety of sites which involve brownfield 
land.  The impact of the proposals, including on districts like South Cambridgeshire 
and its specific circumstances described earlier, need to be considered   
 
Options 

 
36. Alternative approaches would be not to respond, or to respond differently.    
 

Implications 
 

37. There are no significant implications as a result of responding to the consultation. 
However, the proposals outlined in the consultation could have financial implications 
if they were implemented. 

 
Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 

 
38. None. 
 

Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
Aim 3 - We will make sure that South Cambridgeshire continues to offer an 
outstanding quality of life for our residents. 
 

39. The changes proposed in the consultation could help bring forward brownfield sites 
which could improve the environment and help meet housing needs. However, they 
could place a significant burden on the Council with little added benefit to housing 
delivery.  

Page 137



Background Papers 
 
Documents related to the Government consultation can be found here: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/building-more-homes-on-brownfield-
land  
 

Report Author:  Jonathan Dixon – Principal Planning Policy Officer 
Telephone: (01954) 713194 

Page 138



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Portfolio Holder 10 March 2015 
Lead Officer: Jo Mills (Director of Planning and New Communities)  

 
 

 
Local Development Framework 

Annual Monitoring Report 2013-2014 (Part 2) 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To approve the Local Development Framework Annual Monitoring Report 2013-2014 

(Part 2) for publication on the Council’s website.  
 

2. This is not a key decision but raises matters relating to communities living or working 
in the district and is a document the Council is required to prepare. 

 
Recommendations 

 
3. It is recommended that the Planning Portfolio Holder: 

(a) approves the contents of the Annual Monitoring Report 2013-2014 (Part 2) 
(included as Appendix 1) for publication; and 

(b) delegates any further minor editing changes to the Annual Monitoring Report 
to the Director of Planning and New Communities where they are technical 
matters.  

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
4. Local planning authorities are required to publish information monitoring progress of 

the implementation of their Local Development Scheme and planning policies 
included in their development plan documents at least on an annual basis. The 
Annual Monitoring Report is also required to give details of what action the Council 
has taken relating to the duty to co-operate, details of any neighbourhood 
development orders or neighbourhood development plans made, and once the 
Council has an adopted Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule, 
information relating to the collection and spending of CIL monies. Due to the Local 
Plan examination pressures, this AMR has been prepared in two parts. Part 1 of the 
AMR, covering key issues such as the Local Development Scheme and housing 
trajectory, was agreed on 18 November 2014. This Part 2 covers the remaining 
indicators. 

 
Background 

 

5. Monitoring is essential to establish what has been happening in the district, what is 
happening now, what may happen in the future, and what needs to be done to 
achieve policies and targets.  
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 139



 

 

6. This is the tenth Annual Monitoring Report produced by the Council and covers the 
period from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014. The Annual Monitoring Report includes 
indicators to measure the performance of the Council’s adopted planning policies, 
and also to measure change in the district against the objectives set out in the 
Council’s Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Reports and to look at the wider effects of 
its planning policies on the district. The Annual Monitoring Report also includes 
details on the action the Council has taken relating to the Duty to Co-operate and of 
any neighbourhood development orders or neighbourhood development plans made. 
 

7. Part 1 of the Annual Monitoring Report was agreed for publication at the Planning 
Portfolio Holder meeting on 18 November 2014. Part 1 outlines the Council’s 
progress against its adopted Local Development Scheme, details on the action the 
Council has taken relating to the Duty to Co-operate and of any neighbourhood 
development orders or neighbourhood development plans made, and reports on the 
majority of the housing indicators. It also includes the Council’s housing trajectory 
setting out predicted housing supply to 2031 and its five year housing land supply.  
 
Considerations 
 

8. Part 2 of the Annual Monitoring Report has now been prepared. Part 2 reports on the 
employment and retail indicators, environmental indicators and remaining housing 
indicators. It also reports on the indicators included in the Council’s Sustainability 
Appraisal Scoping Reports which measure the wider effects of its planning policies on 
the district. For ease of use, Part 2 of the Annual Monitoring Report has been 
incorporated into a complete version of the Annual Monitoring Report (see Appendix 
1 of this report), and therefore the Annual Monitoring Report includes all the data and 
commentary included in Part 1 together with the additional data and commentary for 
the outstanding sections. The date of publication of each section is included in the 
footer of each page. The version attached to this report also shades in grey the Part 1 
text already considered and agreed by the Portfolio Holder in November 2014 for 
convenience. 

 
9. Chapter 2 of the Annual Monitoring Report sets out the key results from the data 

collected, and provides a commentary as an overview to the detailed monitoring of 
indicators in the Annual Monitoring Report. New commentary on the indicators 
included in Part 2 of the Annual Monitoring Report has been added. The monitoring of 
the performance of the Council’s planning policies has shown that development 
granted planning permission in the district is generally in accordance with the adopted 
planning policies. 
 
Options 

 
10. It is a legal requirement that the Council publishes an Annual Monitoring Report. 
 

Implications 
 

11. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered: 
 

Page 140



 

 

Legal and Risk Management 
12. Local planning authorities are required to publish information monitoring progress on 

the implementation of their Local Development Scheme and planning policies 
included in their development plan documents at least on an annual basis.  

 
Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 

 
13. Council officers and external organisations have provided information and data for the 

indicators included in the Annual Monitoring Report. 
 

14. The Youth Council has not been consulted as the Annual Monitoring Report is a 
technical assessment of the Council’s progress on preparing its planning policy 
documents and the performance of the Council’s adopted planning policies. 

 
Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
Aim 1: We will engage with residents, parishes and businesses to ensure we 
deliver first class services and value for money.  

15. The Annual Monitoring Report provides information on the Council’s performance 
against its planning policies; these policies aim to provide successful, vibrant, healthy 
and sustainable communities.  
 
Aim 2: We will work with partners to create opportunities for employment, 
enterprise, education and world-leading innovation.  

16. The Annual Monitoring Report provides detailed analysis on how the Council’s 
adopted planning policies have performed, and includes a number of indicators 
related to the Council’s planning policies on employment and the wider effects of the 
LDF on the district including its economy. 
 
Aim 3: We will ensure that South Cambridgeshire continues to offer an 
outstanding quality of life for our residents.  

17. The LDF aims to satisfy the development needs of the area while preserving and 
enhancing its rich built and natural heritage and distinctive character and providing 
quality places where people are happy to live, work and play. The Annual Monitoring 
Report provides detailed analysis on how the Council’s adopted planning policies 
have performed. 

 
 
Background Papers 
 
South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework: 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/content/local-development-framework   
 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (submitted in March 2014): 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/localplan  
 
National Planning Policy Framework: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.
pdf   
 

Page 141



 

 

National Planning Practice Guidance: 
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/  

 
Report Authors:  Jenny Nuttycombe – Senior Planning Policy Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713184 
 

Page 142



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

South Cambridgeshire Annual Monitoring Report 
 
 

Covering the period 1st April 2013 – 31st March 2014 
 
 

Part 1 – November 2014 
Part 2 – March 2015 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Published by South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

© March 2015 
 

Jo Mills – Corporate Manager (Planning & New Communities) 
 

Page 143



Page 144



             
March 2015       Annual Monitoring Report 

i 

Contents 
 
The Annual Monitoring Report was produced in two parts, but is published as a 
complete document: 
 
Part 1 – this was published in November 2014 as a stand-alone document, and highlights 
where additional data or commentary would be provided in Part 2. 
 
Part 2 - this was published in March 2015 and includes all the additional data and 
commentary for the outstanding sections.  
 
The date of publication of each section of this document is included in the footer of each 
page. 
 

1. Introduction, Context and Indicators 1 
  

2. Commentary 4 
a. Progress against the Local Development Scheme 4 

b. Action taken on Duty to Co-operate 5 
c. Details of Neighbourhood Development Orders or Neighbourhood 

Development Plans Made 
8 

d. Information relating to the Collection and Spending of Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Monies 

8 

e. Monitoring the Local Development Framework policies and Sustainability 
Appraisal objectives 

9 

  
3. List of Indicators 18 

  
4. Core and Local Output Indicators 33 

Housing Completions 33 
The Housing Trajectory 36 

The Five Year Housing Land Supply 46 
Housing Completed on Previously Developed Land (PDL) 52 

Housing Density 54 
Affordable Housing 57 

Gypsy & Traveller Sites 61 
Housing Development by Settlement Category 63 

Housing Mix 67 
Housing Quality 70 

Employment Development and Supply 73 
Employment Land Lost 82 

Retail, Office and Leisure Development 83 
Mixed Use Developments 86 

Community Facilities and Local Services 89 
Developer Contributions 90 

Open Space and Outdoor Recreation 92 
Renewable Energy 94 

Development in Locations of Particular Environmental Importance 96 
Biodiversity 99 

Page 145



             
Annual Monitoring Report      March 2015 

ii 

Listed Buildings 101 
Flood Risk 102 

Reviewing & Monitoring the Statement of Community Involvement 104 
  

5. Significant Effects Indicators 106 
Land and Water Resources 106 

Biodiversity 109 
Landscape, Townscape and Archaeology 112 

Climate Change and Pollution 115 
Healthy Communities 121 

Inclusive Communities 123 
Economic Activity 127 

  
Appendix 1: Assessment of Housing Land Supply Sites 133 

  
Appendix 2: Data for Indicators 148 

 
 

Page 146



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

1 

1. Introduction, Context and Indicators 
 

The Annual Monitoring Report 
 
1.1. Monitoring is essential to establish what has been happening in the district, what is 

happening now, what may happen in the future and what needs to be done to 
achieve policies and targets. 
 

1.2. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and subsequent regulations 
introduced the requirement for local planning authorities to produce an Annual 
Monitoring Report (AMR) which set out the Council’s progress in producing new 
planning policy documents against the timetable included in the approved Local 
Development Scheme and in implementing planning policies included in their Local 
Development Framework (or Local Plan). The AMR was required to be submitted to 
the Secretary of State by 31 December each year.  
 

1.3. The Localism Act 2011 and Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 set out revised requirements for monitoring. Local planning 
authorities are still required to publish information monitoring progress on the 
implementation of their Local Development Scheme and planning policies included in 
their development plan documents at least on an annual basis, however the 
requirement to submit the AMR to the Secretary of State by 31 December has been 
removed.  
 

1.4. The Localism Act 2011 also created the duty to co-operate which places a legal duty 
on local planning authorities and other specified organisations to co-operate with 
each other to address strategic issues relevant to their areas. The Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 require the AMR to give 
details of what action the Council has taken relating to the duty to co-operate. 
 

1.5. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 have 
also introduced the requirements that the AMR includes: (i) details of any 
neighbourhood development orders or neighbourhood development plans made; and 
(ii) once the Council has an adopted Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 
Schedule, information relating to the collection and spending of CIL monies.  

 
1.6. This Annual Monitoring Report covers the period from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014. 

The adopted planning policies for the period covered by this AMR are those 
contained in the: 
 Local Plan 2004 – adopted in February 2004, however there is now only one 

remaining saved policy; 
 Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD) – adopted in January 2007; 
 Development Control Policies DPD – adopted in July 2007; 
 Northstowe Area Action Plan (AAP) – adopted in July 2007; 
 Cambridge East AAP – adopted in February 2008;  
 Cambridge Southern Fringe AAP – adopted in February 2008; 
 North West Cambridge AAP – adopted October 2009; and 
 Site Specific Policies DPD – adopted January 2010. 

 

Page 147



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

2 

Monitoring in South Cambridgeshire 
 
1.7. Monitoring in Cambridgeshire is carried out through a partnership between the 

Research & Monitoring Team at Cambridgeshire County Council and the Planning 
departments at the five district councils. The Research & Monitoring Team maintains 
a database of planning permissions involving the creation or removal of residential, 
business, retail and leisure uses plus any planning permissions for renewable energy 
generators. An annual survey of all extant planning permissions included in the 
database takes place each year, involving officers from the County Council and 
district councils, to collect information on their status: built, under construction or not 
yet started. 

 
1.8. The Research & Monitoring team then provides the district councils with the 

necessary results for their AMR output indicators and a site-by-site list of planning 
permissions and their status. The Research & Monitoring team also publish summary 
tables and topic reports on housing, business, retail and renewable energy 
completions and commitments on their website: 
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/info/20099/planning_and_development/234/planni
ng/8. For some indicators the data for previous years has been revised from 
the data previously published; this is a result of the on-going assessment of 
data by the Research & Monitoring team to remove any inaccuracies. 

 
1.9. Data required for the contextual indicators, significant effect indicators and some 

local output indicators is obtained from various teams at Cambridgeshire County 
Council and South Cambridgeshire District Council, and other external organisations 
such as Natural England and the Environment Agency. 

 
Monitoring Progress against the Local Development Scheme and the 
Performance of Local development Framework Policies 

 
1.10. The AMR outlines the progress that the Council has made in producing the 

documents that will make up its LDF. Chapter 2 reviews progress on the preparation 
of the LDF and indicates whether the timetable and milestones set out in the Local 
Development Scheme (LDS) are being achieved.  
 

1.11. The AMR measures various indicators to assess performance of the individual 
planning policies but also to provide a general portrait of the social, economic and 
environmental conditions in the district and the wider effects of the LDF on the 
district. The different indicators used in this AMR can be grouped into three 
categories: contextual indicators, output indicators and significant effect indicators. 
Chapter 3 includes a list of all the Council’s output indicators and significant effect 
indicators. 
 

1.12. Contextual indicators are those that together provide a general portrait of the 
social, economic and environmental conditions in the district against which planning 
policies operate. The data for these indicators is also used for the significant effect 
indicators. 
 

Page 148



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

3 

1.13. Output indicators include both core output indicators and local output indicators, 
and provide detailed analysis on how the Council’s adopted planning policies have 
performed. Performance against the Council’s core and local output indicators is 
analysed in Chapter 4. 
 

1.14. Core output indicators were set by central government. The latest list of core output 
indicators is included in ‘Regional Spatial Strategy and Local Development 
Framework Core Output Indicators – Update 02/2008’ (published in July 2008), 
however this publication was withdrawn on the 30 March 2011 by the coalition 
Government. Whilst this monitoring information no longer has to be provided to 
central Government, these indicators are useful in monitoring adopted planning 
policies and therefore the Council has continued to monitor them through the AMR.   

 
1.15. In addition to the core output indicators, the Council set local output indicators in 

each of its adopted Development Plan Documents (DPDs) or Area Action Plans 
(AAPs) that are relevant to the proposals in the document or plan. 

 
1.16. In this AMR it has not been possible to provide data on all the local output indicators 

included in the adopted AAPs. This is because many of the local output indicators 
included in these plans rely on the major developments at Northstowe, Cambridge 
East, Cambridge Southern Fringe (Trumpington Meadows) and North West 
Cambridge having detailed planning permission and the development being under 
construction. 

 
1.17. On 28 March 2014, the Council submitted its new Local Plan to the Secretary of 

State for examination. Once adopted the new Local Plan will supersede the Local 
Plan 2004 saved policy, the Core Strategy DPD, the Development Control Policies 
DPD, and the Site Specific Policies DPD. The new Local Plan includes a set of 
output indicators that are relevant to the proposals in the plan. Once the Local Plan is 
adopted, this set of output indicators will replace the majority of the existing core and 
local output indicators, except for those included in the AAPs and Statement of 
Community Involvement. 
 

1.18. In this AMR, data has been provided for the new Local Plan indicators where the new 
planning policy they are monitoring the implementation of is not significantly different 
from the Council’s adopted planning policy. Data for monitoring indicators related to 
new planning policies has not been collected, as these planning policies will only be 
implemented following the adoption of the new Local Plan.  

 
1.19. Significant effect indicators are those indicators based on the objectives set out in 

the Council’s Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report, and they look at the wider 
effects of the LDF on the district. The Council has a Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report (January 2006) that supports the adopted LDF and has produced a revised 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (July 2012) to support its new Local Plan. 
The significant effect indicators from both Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Reports 
are assessed in Chapter 5.  

 

Page 149



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

4 

2. Commentary 
 
a. Progress against the Local Development Scheme 
 
2.1. The adopted Local Development Scheme (LDS) at the start of the monitoring 

period (1 April 2013) was the LDS adopted in January 2012. This LDS (and a 
subsequent revision in December 2012) set the timetable that the Council was 
progressing during the monitoring year. 
 

2.2. The January 2012 LDS sets out the stages in the preparation of the Local Plan, 
which incorporates a review of the Core Strategy, Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document (DPD) and Site Specific Policies DPD. It also 
includes the policies and proposals for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation as this 
is no longer be progressed in a separate DPD.   
 

2.3. In 2012-2013 the Council undertook two separate issues and options 
consultations, rather than the single consultation planned for in the January 2012 
LDS. As a result of this additional round of public consultation, the LDS was revised 
in December 2012 to change the anticipated proposed submission public 
consultation from June – July 2013 to July – September 2013. The date of 
submission was also pushed back a month to January 2014. The revised timetable 
was published on the Council’s website. 
 

2.4. During the last monitoring year the Council undertook a single issue consultation 
(between March and May 2013) on a proposal for a football stadium at Sawston. The 
site was put forward to the Council by the promoters Cambridge City Football Club 
relatively late in the Local Plan process, but due to local interest in the issue, the 
Council decided to carry out a focussed consultation on this single issue. This public 
consultation was not included in the January 2012 LDS or the revised December 
2012 LDS.  
 

2.5. The consultation on the Proposed Submission Local Plan started in July 2013 as 
anticipated in the December 2012 LDS. However the consultation period was 
extended by two weeks until mid-October 2013 as a background assessment issued 
at the start of the consultation did not include all of the most up-to-date information. 
This consultation therefore ran for 13 weeks.   
 

2.6. The December 2012 LDS anticipated that the submission of the Local Plan to the 
Secretary of State would have been in December 2013. The LDS was updated in 
June 2013 to show submission as being anticipated in early/Spring 2014, this change 
was to allow sufficient time to consider all the representations received and to 
consider any revisions to the draft plan. 
 

2.7. A new LDS setting out the timetable for submission of the Local Plan and the 
subsequent stages up to its adoption was approved by the Planning Policy & 
Localism Portfolio Holder in February 2014. The February 2014 LDS anticipated that 
the Local Plan would be submitted in Spring 2014. 
 

Page 150



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

5 

2.8. The Council submitted its Local Plan, alongside the Cambridge Local Plan, to the 
Secretary of State on 28 March 2014. Miss Laura Graham has been appointed as the 
Inspector to consider both the Cambridge Local Plan and South Cambridgeshire 
Local Plan. The plans will be assessed separately, however given that there are 
issues in common between the plans, a joint Pre-Hearing Meeting was held on 
11 September 2014 and some of the hearing sessions will be held jointly. The first 
block of hearing sessions started on 4 November 2014 and will consider joint 
matters and issues relating to legal requirements, overall spatial vision, housing 
need, employment, retail and infrastructure. 
 

2.9. The February 2014 LDS also sets out the timetable for the preparation of the 
Cambridge Northern Fringe East Area Action Plan (AAP), Bourn Airfield New 
Village AAP and Waterbeach New Town AAP. Evidence gathering for the 
Cambridge Northern Fringe East AAP is in progress. This AAP is being prepared 
jointly with Cambridge City Council and it is anticipated that public consultation on 
issues and options for the Cambridge Northern Fringe East area will run from 8 
December 2014 to 2 February 2015, which is consistent with the February 2014 LDS 
that anticipates consultation in Winter 2014/15.    
 

 
b. Action taken on Duty to Co-operate 

 
Working with Duty to Co-operate Bodies 
 

2.10. South Cambridgeshire District and Cambridge City Councils have engaged 
constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis during the preparation of the two 
Local Plans, both with each other and each with the other Duty to Co-operate bodies 
to maximise the effectiveness of Local Plan preparation in the context of strategic 
cross boundary matters. The Councils have worked closely throughout the 
preparation of joint evidence base documents and their respective Local Plans to 
prepare complementary plans on similar timescales that together set out a clear 
development strategy for the Greater Cambridge area. 
 

2.11. The Council produced a Statement of Compliance with the Duty to Co-operate in 
June 2013 setting out how the Council has co-operated with other bodies in 
preparing the Local Plan. This was updated when the Local Plan was submitted to 
the Secretary of State in March 20141. This document sets out how the Council has 
engaged extensively with the prescribed Duty to Co-operate bodies, as appropriate 
to the Local Plans, throughout the stages of evidence base production and plan-
making. 
 

2.12. Statements of Common Ground have been agreed with Uttlesford District Council, 
Hertfordshire District Council and Hertfordshire County Council as part of confirming 
the Council’s compliance with the duty to cooperate for the Local Plan examination 
process. The Statements of Common Ground agree that the duty to co-operate has 

                                                
1 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Statement%20of%20Complian
ce%20with%20Duty%20to%20Cooperate%20March%202014.pdf 

Page 151



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

6 

been met and that all the districts involved are planning to deliver their full objectively 
assessed needs within their own administrative boundaries. 
 

2.13. A Statement of Co-operation between the Greater Cambridgeshire Local Nature 
Partnership and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough local planning 
authorities2 (April 2013) sets out how the organisations will continue to cooperate. 
South Cambridgeshire District Council, Anglian Water and the Environment Agency 
have also produced a Joint Position Statement on Foul Water and 
Environmental Capacity3 (January 2014) which sets out the current understanding 
of the waste water treatment issues within South Cambridgeshire and its associated 
environmental implications. 
 
Memorandum of Co-operation signed by Cambridgeshire authorities, together 
with Peterborough City Council 
 

2.14. The Council has co-operated with other local authorities in the preparation of the 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)4 and other evidence base studies. 
The Memorandum of Co-operation5 (May 2013) was agreed by all Cambridgeshire 
local authorities, together with Peterborough City Council, and includes an 
agreement on the objectively assessed housing needs for each of the districts in the 
Cambridge Sub-Region Housing Market Area as part of fulfilling the Duty to Co-
operate. Building on a strong legacy of joint working between the local authorities, 
the Memorandum of Co-operation demonstrates that the full objectively assessed 
needs of the Cambridge Sub Region housing market area identified in the SHMA will 
be met. 
 

2.15. The Memorandum of Co-operation has already been subject to scrutiny through the 
examinations of the Fenland Local Plan – Core Strategy (adopted May 2014) and the 
East Cambridgeshire Local Plan. The Fenland Inspector’s Report  and East 
Cambridgeshire Inspector’s Interim Conclusions both conclude that the 
Memorandum of Co-operation provides clear evidence that co-operation has taken 
place constructively, actively and on an on-going basis. 

 
2.16. The Cambridgeshire authorities, together with Peterborough City Council, have also 

agreed the Strategic Spatial Priorities: Addressing the Duty to Co-operate 
across Cambridgeshire & Peterborough6 document that was published in January 
2014. This document supplements the Memorandum of Co-operation and provides 

                                                
2 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Greater%20Cambridgeshire%
20Local%20Nature%20Partnership%20Statement%20of%20Cooperation.pdf 
3 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Anglian%20Water%20and%20
Environment%20Agency%20Cooperation%20Statement%202014.pdf 
4  
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/ldf/coredocs/RD-STRAT-090.pdf 
5  
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Memorandum%20of%20Co-
operation%20May%202013.pdf 
6 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Strategic%20Spatial%20Priorit
ies%20January%202014.pdf  

Page 152



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

7 

an overview of strategic spatial issues as they apply to Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough as a whole. 
 
Memorandum of Understanding 
 

2.17. In September 2014, the Councils also agreed a further Memorandum of 
Understanding on the Greater Cambridge Joint Housing Trajectory7. This has 
been agreed by Cambridge City Council and South Cambridgeshire District Council 
and confirms the agreement between the two Councils under the duty to co-operate 
that the housing trajectories for the two areas should be considered together for the 
purposes of phasing housing delivery, including for calculating 5-year housing land 
supply for plan-making and decision-taking. The merits of the Memorandum of 
Understanding will be an issue for consideration at appropriate hearing sessions of 
the Local Plan examination. 
 
Transport Issues 
 

2.18. Cambridge City Council, South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridgeshire 
County Council have worked together closely on transport issues as they have 
prepared their Local Plans and a transport strategy for the Greater Cambridge area.  
South Cambridgeshire District Council responded to a consultation on this strategy in 
September 2013. The Cambridge City and South Cambridgeshire Transport 
Strategy8 was adopted in March 2014. It is recognised that there is a close link 
between planning for growth and development and for transport and accessibility to 
ensure that growth can be accommodated in the most sustainable way and that 
people can access the services and facilities they need in an efficient and affordable 
way.  
 

2.19. The Council responded to consultations on the Cambridgeshire Long Term 
Transport Strategy9 and the revisions to the Local Transport Plan10 in July 2014 
recognising the importance of planning for future transport within the county. The 
Council has also worked closely with the Highway Agency as the A14 Cambridge to 
Huntingdon Scheme has progressed by formally responding to consultations in 
February and May 2014. 
 
Working with other Adjacent Local Planning Authorities 
 

2.20. The Council has submitted representations to a number of consultations by 
neighbouring planning authorities to ensure that joint issues that impact on South 

                                                
7 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Memorandum%20of%20Under
standing%20-%20Joint%20Housing%20Trajectory_0.pdf 
8 
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/info/20006/travel_roads_and_parking/66/transport_plans_and_poli
cies/2 
9 
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/info/20006/travel_roads_and_parking/66/transport_plans_and_poli
cies/5 
10 
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/info/20006/travel_roads_and_parking/66/transport_plans_and_poli
cies 

Page 153



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

8 

Cambridgeshire continue to be considered. These include responding to Central 
Bedfordshire Council in June 2013 and March 2014, Cambridge City Council in 
September 2013, East Cambridgeshire District Council in November 2013, Uttlesford 
District Council in May 2014, and Braintree District Council in May 2014. 
 

 
c. Details of Neighbourhood Development Orders or 

Neighbourhood Development Plans Made 
 

2.21. Since the introduction of neighbourhood planning there has until recently been limited 
interest shown by Parish Councils in South Cambridgeshire in preparing a 
Neighbourhood Plan. The Council offered Parish Councils the opportunity to put 
forward proposals within their area through the Local Plan process as an alternative 
to the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans. Some Parish Council proposals have as 
a result been included in the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014), or 
recommended as Major Modifications to it, but only where there has been clear local 
support. 
 

2.22. Some Parish Councils are now starting to show an interest in neighbourhood 
planning in South Cambridgeshire. Before a Neighbourhood Plan can be prepared a 
neighbourhood area must be designated. There are currently two designated 
neighbourhood areas in South Cambridgeshire: 
 Linton and Hildersham – these two parishes have joined together to form a 

single neighbourhood area that was approved in May 2014; and 
 Histon & Impington – this covers the area of the two parishes to the north of the 

A14 and was approved in September 2014. 
 

2.23. The Council has also had an application from Gamlingay Parish Council wishing to 
apply to designate their parish as a neighbourhood area. Consultation on the 
Gamlingay neighbourhood area is running from 3 October to 14 November 2014. 
Initial general discussions have been undertaken with a small number of other Parish 
Councils about neighbourhood planning and whether a Neighbourhood Plan would 
be the right tool for them to achieve the aspirations they have for the future in their 
villages. 
 

2.24. Further details on Neighbourhood Planning consultations, events, and support are 
available on the Council’s website: https://www.scambs.gov.uk/neighbourhood-
planning. 
 
 

d. Information relating to the Collection and Spending of 
Community Infrastructure Levy Monies 
 

2.25. The Council submitted its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) draft Charging 
Schedule for independent examination on 6 October 2014. Given the close 
relationship between the proposed rates in the CIL Charging Schedule and the Local 
Plan, the CIL examination cannot take place until the Local Plan has been examined. 
This means it is unlikely that the CIL examination will take place until Spring 2015. It 

Page 154



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

9 

is anticipated that the CIL Charging Schedule will be adopted in Summer 2015. Until 
the Council has an adopted CIL Charging Schedule it cannot collect any CIL monies. 
 

2.26. Further details relating to the examination of the Council’s CIL draft Charging 
Schedule are available on the Council’s website: 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/content/examination-draft-charging-schedule.   
 
 

e. Monitoring the Local Development Framework policies and 
Sustainability Appraisal objectives 

 
2.27. A complete list of indicators is included in Chapter 3, the data for all indicators is 

included in Chapters 4 and 5, and the commentary is set out in this chapter. The 
commentary highlights the key messages from the data collected and identifies any 
areas where policies are not being implemented.  

 
Housing 

 
2.28. Housing completions: The development strategy for South Cambridgeshire is one 

of supporting the economic success of the Cambridge area through continued jobs 
growth, with housing provision at a level, and of a quality, to meet objectively 
assessed needs. 
 

2.29. In the last monitoring year, 636 net additional dwellings were completed in South 
Cambridgeshire; this is 71 dwellings more than the number predicted in the housing 
trajectory included in the Annual Monitoring Report 2012-2013. In the last six 
monitoring years net housing completions have consistently been around 600 
dwellings reflecting the slowdown in the housing market and that the fringe sites that 
are now coming forward are still building out on the Cambridge site of the 
administrative boundary. Completions at Cambourne and Orchard Park have been 
less in the last three years compared with earlier years, reflecting the stage each site 
is at in its build out. This has been balanced by an uplift of housing completions on 
historic rural allocations at Longstanton and Papworth Everard, on rural exceptions 
sites and on large windfall sites such as the SCA Packaging site, Histon. 

 
2.30. Delivering housing targets: The housing trajectory identifies predicted annual 

housing completions from existing and proposed allocations, planning permissions 
granted or with resolution to grant, and predicted windfalls. Against the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) which requires 19,000 dwellings to be provided between 
2011 and 2031, the housing trajectory shows that 22,287 dwellings are expected to 
be delivered, this is 15% (3,287 dwellings) more than the target and allows flexibility 
to respond to changing conditions as required in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). Excluding the windfall allowance of 2,600 dwellings, the 
housing trajectory shows that 19,687 dwellings are expected to be delivered. Against 
the Core Strategy (January 2007) which requires 20,000 dwellings to be provided 
between 1999 and 2016, the housing trajectory shows that 12,658 dwellings are 
expected to be delivered; this is 37% (7,342 dwellings) below the target. However, 
the Council has determined that this target is no longer the most up to date 
assessment of housing need (see paragraph 2.31). The Local Plan (submitted in 

Page 155



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

10 

March 2014) identifies a more up to date housing target for 2011-2031 that will 
provide for the identified objectively assessed needs of the district as included in the 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for the Cambridge Sub Region 
Housing Market Area.  

 
2.31. Five year housing land supply: The Council decided in June 2013 that the housing 

target included in the Proposed Submission Local Plan (July 2013) should provide 
the basis for calculating 5-year housing land supply pending the adoption of the new 
Local Plan. The housing target is 19,000 dwellings for 2011-2031 and this comprises 
the current ‘objectively assessed needs’ required by the NPPF and the National 
Planning Practice Guidance. It is identified in the SHMA. Relying on the SHMA to 
calculate South Cambridgeshire’s five-year housing land supply has been supported 
in planning appeal decisions relating to developments in Toft and Waterbeach issued 
in October 2013 and June 2014 respectively. The Inspectors agreed with the Council 
that the SHMA contains a more up to date and thus more reliable assessment of 
housing need in the district than the housing target contained within the adopted 
LDF. 

 
2.32. There are two methodologies for calculating five year housing land supply. The 

Liverpool methodology assumes that any shortfall will be made up during the 
remaining years of the plan period. The Sedgefield methodology requires the whole 
of any previous shortfall to be made up within the five-year assessment period. The 
NPPF requires that a 5% buffer be provided in the five year supply calculation to 
provide greater confidence that the housing requirement will be delivered. In areas of 
persistent historic undersupply the buffer should be 20%. The Local Plan (submitted 
in March 2014) assumes a 5% buffer and the Liverpool methodology.  

 
2.33. In June 2014, a planning inspector considering two planning appeals in Waterbeach 

concluded that the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of land. 
He considered that a 20% buffer should be applied and the Sedgefield methodology 
of calculation be used. The appropriate buffer and methodology will be issues for 
consideration at the Local Plan examination. 
 

2.34. In response to a number of changes in circumstance11 since the Local Plan was 
submitted in March 2014, the Council agreed in September 2014 to a Memorandum 
of Understanding on the Greater Cambridge Joint Housing Trajectory with 
Cambridge City Council. This memorandum confirms the agreement between the two 
Councils under the duty to co-operate that the housing trajectories for the two areas 
should be considered together for the purposes of phasing housing delivery, 
including for calculating 5-year housing land supply for plan-making and decision-
taking. The Council has set out proposed modifications to the Local Plan (submitted 
in March 2014) to give effect to the Memorandum in the Council’s statement 
submitted to the Local Plan examination hearing for Matter 1: Legal Requirements. 
The merits of the Memorandum of Understanding will be an issue for consideration 
at appropriate hearing sessions of the Local Plan examination.  

                                                
11 A detailed list of reasons is given in the Council’s statement to the Local Plan examination in 
relation to Matter 1: Legal Requirements (paragraph 34): 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Matter%201%20Statement%2
0CCC%20-%20SCDC.pdf  

Page 156



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

11 

 
2.35. In view of the various ways that five year supply could be calculated, and pending the 

outcome of consideration at the Local Plan examination, the five year land supply for 
2014-2019 for both South Cambridgeshire and the Greater Cambridge area has 
been summarised in the tables below. These calculations use the housing targets 
based on the objectively assessed needs identified in the SHMA. The calculations 
reflect that Cambridge City Council is demonstrably delivering housing within the 
urban areas and urban fringe sites in the early and middle parts of the plan period. 
South Cambridgeshire District Council is committed to delivery of housing in the 
urban fringe sites and at new settlements, with an emphasis on the middle and latter 
parts of the plan period, but with an element of village housing allocations to provide 
some early delivery.   
 

2.36. The phasing of development outlined in the submitted plans follows the development 
sequence and carries forward the strategy from the adopted plans. As expected, 
development is coming forward within the urban area of Cambridge and on the edge 
of Cambridge early in the plan period with new settlements following later in the plan 
period as they have a longer lead-in time before the start of delivery.  In particular, 
the fringe sites that were released from the Green Belt in the last round of plan 
making are now well underway and delivering new homes, jobs and associated 
infrastructure on the ground. These cross-boundary sites are logically building out 
from the edge of the existing built-up area with more homes being built in Cambridge 
in the early part of the plan period and then moving into South Cambridgeshire later 
on. When the two areas are taken together, whichever methodology or buffer is used, 
they provide a 5-year supply overall. This is a logical and appropriate way of 
delivering sites to meet the combined objectively assessed housing need across the 
Greater Cambridge area, consistent with the development strategy contained in both 
submitted Local Plans.  

 

‘Liverpool’ Methodology South Cambs 
Greater Cambridge 

(City & South Cambs) 

Five year supply (with 5%) 5.3 6.6 

Five year supply (with 20%) 4.6 5.8 

 

‘Sedgefield’ Methodology South Cambs 
Greater Cambridge 

(City & South Cambs) 

Five year supply (with 5%) 4.7 6.1 

Five year supply (with 20%) 4.1 5.4 

 
2.37. Whilst it is considered that the SHMA contains a more up to date and thus more 

reliable assessment of housing need in the district than the housing target contained 
within the LDF, against the housing target in the adopted Core Strategy of 20,000 
homes between 1999 and 2016, the Council’s 5-year housing land supply for 2014-
2019 is:  

 

Page 157



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

12 

 
‘Liverpool’ 

Methodology 

‘Sedgefield’ 

Methodology 

Five year supply (with 5%) 2.2 2.2 

Five year supply (with 20%) 1.9 1.9 

 
2.38. Gypsy & Traveller pitches: 59 permanent Gypsy & Traveller pitches were 

completed in the last monitoring year. At 31 March 2014, 2 pitches had temporary 
planning permission (time limited consent). 

 
2.39. Housing completions on previously developed land (PDL): In the last monitoring 

year, 46% of dwellings completed were on PDL. However, the cumulative percentage 
is still below the target of at least 37% as included in Core Strategy Policy ST/3. It 
had been anticipated that the percentage would increase when the major 
developments at Northstowe and Cambridge East, which would involve the reuse of 
PDL, started delivering towards the end of the plan period (which runs up to 2016), 
however, delays in the major developments as a result of the recession mean this is 
now unlikely to be achieved. 
 

2.40. In the last monitoring year, redevelopment sites have contributed to the significant 
proportion of completions on previously developed land. Schemes include: the former 
SCA Packaging site in Histon (70 dwellings); phase 2B of the redevelopment of the 
Windmill Estate in Fulbourn (58 dwellings); the former Blue Lion public house site in 
Fen Ditton (13 dwellings); the former police station site in Melbourn (13 affordable 
dwellings); and sites in Fulbourn and Balsham where existing affordable housing is 
being replaced (29 affordable dwellings). 

 
2.41. Housing density: Over the last 15 years, the average net density of dwellings 

completed on sites of 9 or more dwellings has fluctuated. It is expected that the 
average net density of new housing developments will increase in future monitoring 
years as the major developments on the edge of Cambridge and Northstowe are 
implemented with higher housing densities reflecting their urban character. Orchard 
Park has achieved net densities of over 50 dph on a significant number of completed 
parcels. Over the last 15 years, the completed parcels at Cambourne have achieved 
an average net density of 30.3 dph. In general, lower densities have been achieved 
at Lower Cambourne (an early phase in the construction of the settlement), and 
higher densities have been achieved at Upper Cambourne (a more recent phase that 
is still being completed). Great Cambourne includes a mixture of densities, with 
higher densities achieved on parcels located in and around the village centre, where 
there is good access to services and facilities.   

 
2.42. Affordable housing: The availability of housing that is affordable to local people is a 

major issue in the district, especially as median house prices in the district have risen 
from 4.9 times median earnings to 8.0 times median earnings in the last 14 years. In 
the last monitoring year, 207 new affordable dwellings were completed; this amounts 
to 28% of all new dwellings completed. This an increase in the number of affordable 
housing completions compared to the previous three monitoring years. In the last 
monitoring year, affordable housing has been delivered at Cambourne, the Windmill 

Page 158



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

13 

Estate (Fulbourn), and on the former SCA Packaging site (Histon), as well as on six 
affordable housing exception sites providing 72 new affordable dwellings to meet 
identified local need in Babraham, Bourn, Fowlmere, Fulbourn, Meldreth and 
Shepreth. 

 
2.43. In the last three monitoring years there has been a fall in the proportion of social 

rented affordable housing completed. Some of this shortfall has been made up by the 
provision of ‘affordable rent’ housing. It is likely that ‘affordable rent’ will make up the 
majority tenure of future affordable homes due to the new funding regime which 
provides less subsidy for affordable homes. 

 
2.44. In the last four monitoring years, nearly 40% of dwellings permitted on sites of two or 

more dwellings, where Development Control Policy HG/3 was applicable, were 
affordable. This meets the target of 40% set by the policy. The affordable dwellings 
secured were a mixture of onsite provision and financial contributions that have been 
converted into notional units that will be provided offsite.  

 
2.45. Housing development by settlement category: The development strategy for the 

district was changed by the adoption of the Core Strategy, which focuses the 
development proposed in a few major developments on the edge of Cambridge and 
the new town of Northstowe, and provided for more development within the village 
frameworks of the largest villages. Between 2006 and 2011, this change in 
development strategy could be seen to be gradually taking effect with an increase in 
the proportion of completions on the edge of Cambridge and at the Rural Centres, 
which includes the new settlement of Cambourne, and a decrease in the proportion 
of completions in the smaller and less sustainable villages. 
 

2.46. This trend has not continued in the last three monitoring years, due to the completion 
of 176 dwellings at Summersfield, Papworth Everard, and the completion of 246 
dwellings on a large development to the west of Longstanton. Both of these 
developments are rural allocations carried forward from previous Local Plans. 
Completions at Orchard Park and Cambourne have also fallen compared to previous 
years. At Orchard Park, completions have fallen as there is only a limited number of 
housing parcels remaining to be developed at Orchard Park. At Cambourne, the fall 
in completions can be explained by a reduction in the number of different developers 
building out Upper Cambourne through the Cambourne 950 planning permission 
compared to the number of developers building out the original planning permission, 
and also a delay in determining the Cambourne 950 planning permission which 
meant that for a time there was only a limited number of parcels remaining on the 
original planning permission being built out. 
 

Page 159



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

14 

 
2.47. Housing quality: All new development will have an impact on its surroundings and 

the predominantly rural character of the district makes it particularly important that 
new development is sensitively located and designed to a high quality. The Council 
has assessed 64 developments completed in the last five monitoring years against 
the Building for Life (BfL) standard, which is a Government endorsed industry 
standard for well-designed homes and neighbourhoods. The BfL standard was 
redesigned in 2012, and is now based on a traffic light system rather than an 
absolute scoring system. The developments completed in 2013-2014 have been 
assessed against the new BfL 12 standard. 
 

2.48. Of the 14 developments that were completed in the last monitoring year, 3 
developments at Balsham, Shepreth and Longstanton are eligible to be put forward 
for ‘Built for Life’ accreditation as they have scored 9 or more ‘greens’ out of a 
possible total of 12 ‘greens’. The majority of the 14 developments assessed received 
‘greens’ for successfully addressing the following categories: 
 Facilities and services – the developments are located close to community 

facilities;  
 Working with the site and its context – the developments respond to the local 

topography, landscape features, existing building and site orientation; 
 Creating well defined streets and spaces – the buildings define and enhance the 

streets and spaces and turn corners well; and 
 Easy to find your way around – the streets are legible, and easy to move through.  

 
2.49. The results also show that developments receiving ‘ambers’ tend not to satisfy the 

categories relating to: 
 Connections – developments may not connect well with their surroundings by not 

reinforcing existing connections or forming new ones; 
 Streets for all – street designs tend to not allow them to function as social spaces; 
 Public and private spaces – the definition between the public and private spaces 

may be unclear, poorly designed or unmanaged; and 
 Car parking – resident or visitor parking may be insufficient or not well integrated 

so that it dominates the streets. 
 
2.50. Eight of the developments have scored one or more ‘reds’. The majority of ‘reds’ are 

from two Gypsy and Traveller sites providing 48 pitches as these sites do not tend to 
conform to typical housing typologies and layouts, and therefore struggle to achieve 
the BfL assessment criteria. Otherwise there is a very low and generally evenly 
distributed number of ‘reds’ across the categories. 

 
2.51. Accessibility to services and facilities by public transport: Over the last nine 

monitoring years, less than 20% of new dwellings completed in each year were within 
30 minutes public transport time of all six key services (GP surgery, hospital, primary 
school, secondary school, employment and major retail centre). This is a reflection of 
the rural nature of the district and also the changes in the provision and / or 
frequency of rural bus services. Almost all new development is located close to the 
key local services of a GP surgery and primary school. Access to services and 
facilities is a key objective of the development strategy, and as the already adopted 
allocations for sustainable major developments on the edge of Cambridge and at the 

Page 160



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

15 

new town of Northstowe are implemented, together with the proposed major sites 
included in the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014), it is expected that accessibility 
to services and facilities will increase. 
 
Employment and the Economy 
 

2.52. Delivering jobs targets: The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) requires 22,000 
additional jobs to be provided between 2011 and 2031 to support the Cambridge 
Cluster and provide a diverse range of local jobs. Provisional data suggests that 
between 2011 and 2012 there was a net loss of 6,000 jobs in South Cambridgeshire, 
of which a large proportion can be attributed to a loss of armed forces jobs. Other 
sources of jobs data suggest that there has not been such a significant loss of jobs in 
the district. Indications are that economic conditions have improved since 2012, and 
the Council will continue to monitor the situation to ensure that it can take action if 
necessary to deliver the additional jobs required to support the local economy.  
 

2.53. Business floorspace completions: Although business floorspace completions in 
the last five monitoring years are significantly lower than they were in the early 
2000s, the continued success of policies supporting research and development, hi 
tech and biotech industries in the district can be seen in the net increase of over 
191,919 sqm of B1b (research & development) use completed, largely at research 
parks such as Granta Park (Great Abington), Cambridge Research Park (Landbeach) 
and the Wellcome Institute (Hinxton). 
 

2.54. Between 1999 and 2013, there was a significant increase in the proportion of 
business floorspace completed on PDL; however in the last monitoring year only 
31% of new business floorspace was completed on PDL. This fall is due to the 
completion of a new storage and distribution warehouse at Papworth Business Park, 
which is a ‘greenfield’ allocation on the edge of the village of Papworth Everard.  
 

2.55. Supply of business land: South Cambridgeshire has a large supply of business 
land with planning permission; at 31 March 2014 this amounted to 109 ha of net 
additional land, and of this 56% had detailed planning permission. Significant scale 
sites with planning permission include: 
 phases 2 and 3 at Wellcome Trust (Hinxton Hall) for research and development 

uses (14.8 ha);  
 construction of a carbon fibre precursor plant off Hinxton Road, south of Duxford 

(10.5 ha); 
 phase 2 and other parcels at Granta Park for research and development  uses 

(13.4 ha); and 
 land at Cambridge Research Park, Landbeach for a mixture of business uses 

(Use Classes B1, B2 and B8) (11.7 ha). 
 

2.56. Economy: Whilst the Cambridge area has withstood the effects of the recession 
better than some areas, the recession has had an impact on the vitality of the local 
economy. The district has consistently shown over 80% of the working age 
population as economically active, even though there are more employed residents 
in the district than the number of jobs (workplace population). The number of people 
claiming job seekers allowance doubled in 2009 (from 636 claimants in 2008 to 1,508 

Page 161



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

16 

claimants in 2009), but there has then been a gradual reduction over the last five 
years to 883 claimants in February 2014. The number of businesses closing 
outweighed the number of new businesses opening in 2009 and 2010, however this 
has now reversed. 
 
Climate Change, Resources and the Environment 
 

2.57. Carbon dioxide emissions and air quality: A key factor affecting climate change is 
carbon dioxide emissions and the aim nationally, and indeed internationally, is to 
reduce levels of emissions of this greenhouse gas. The rate of carbon dioxide 
emissions per person from domestic sources, e.g. through the use of gas and 
electricity, has shown a small reduction over the last eight years.  
 

2.58. Air quality is an issue alongside the A14 and the Council has designated an Air 
Quality Management Area with the objective of improving conditions in terms of 
levels of nitrogen dioxide and the particulate PM10. There have been gradual 
improvements in air quality recorded at the Council’s automatic monitoring stations 
alongside the A14 at Bar Hill and Orchard Park, although the reason for this 
improvement is unclear. It is possible that it is due to a combination of improvements 
in cleaner vehicle engine technologies and changing meteorological conditions. A 
new automatic monitoring station at Girton Road was introduced in 2012. 
 

2.59. Household waste and recycling: Over the last twelve years there has been a 
significant increase in the proportion of waste that is recycled and composted in the 
district. This is the result of the Council’s pro-active approach to recycling through the 
introduction of blue and green bins, which allow the recycling and composting of a 
significant amount of household waste. In the last monitoring year, 58% of household 
waste was recycled or composted. 
 

2.60. Renewable and non-renewable resources: The Council is committed to 
encouraging and enabling a reduction in the use of fossil fuels and increasing the 
proportion of energy used that is generated from renewable sources. In recent years, 
household consumption of gas and electricity in the district has fallen, while the 
generating potential of renewable energy sources in the district has increased. At 31 
March 2014, four wind turbines, four biomass boilers and twelve schemes for 
photovoltaic panels, including a 20MW solar farm at Chittering Drove, had planning 
permission but had not yet been installed. 
 

2.61. In the last four monitoring years, over 80% of planning permissions granted for 
developments greater than 1,000 sqm or 10 dwellings, included renewable energy 
technologies to provide 10% renewable energy. Although the remaining planning 
permissions met the thresholds set out in Development Control Policy NE/3, 
individual circumstances meant that they were not required to meet the policy. 
 

2.62. Average water consumption by Cambridge Water Company and Anglian Water 
customers is gradually falling. There is a general expectation that water consumption 
will reduce as more efficient devices are installed, more properties are metered and 
as customer awareness increases. Anglian Water has run a “Drop 20” campaign that 
encourages customers to save 20 litres per day and it has carried out many 

Page 162



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

17 

household audits and provided water saving devices. Cambridge Water Company 
attributes some of the variations to weather conditions. Wetter weather conditions 
during the summer months tends to result in lower water consumption levels, 
whereas drier weather conditions in the summer months tends to result in higher 
water consumption levels. 
 

2.63. Development in locations of environmental importance: Between 2004 and 2013 
no new development was completed within, or is considered to adversely affect, 
nationally or internationally important nature conservation sites. In the last monitoring 
year, seven proposals for development in the Green Belt have been completed or 
partially completed that fall within the definition of ‘inappropriate’ in terms of the uses 
normally acceptable in the Green Belt. Very special circumstances for each of these 
proposals were considered to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt: 

 
 Permanent planning permission was granted for continued use of 48 Gypsy & 

Traveller pitches at Chesterton Fen Road, Milton (S/0664/11 and S/2589/11) as 
the contribution that these pitches would make to meeting the needs of the 
district was considered to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt; 
 

 The Council’s planning committee granted planning permission for 89 dwellings 
at the former EDF Depot & Training Centre, Milton (S/1388/12) on the basis that 
very special circumstances including improvements to the landscape and 
restoration of the lake and its woodland setting, provision of extensive 
recreational opportunities, restoration of North Lodge and rehabilitation of its 
setting, improvements to setting of Milton Hall, and delivery of housing (including 
affordable housing) were considered to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt; and 

 
 Planning permission for a new research and development building at the 

Babraham Institute (S/0600/12) was granted on the basis that the original outline 
planning permission and masterplan (that this building accords with) was granted 
as a departure from Green Belt policy. The importance of the development to the 
regional economy was deemed to constitute a very special circumstance for 
allowing the development. 

 
2.64. Biodiversity: In the last monitoring year, two new County Wildlife sites were 

designated at Cottenham Moat and at Mere Way (south of Hardwick Wood). There 
are also small areas of our Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) that are 
assessed as ‘unfavourable declining’ or ‘unfavourable no change’, suggesting that 
their unique biodiversity characteristics are under threat. Natural England is working 
with landowners to improve the management and therefore condition of these areas 
of the district’s SSSIs. 
 

2.65. The Council has successfully undertaken a number of biodiversity conservation 
projects in the last monitoring year. Examples include the opening of the Mill Bridge 
Brook Park in Gamlingay which includes a community orchard, meadow, copses and 
enhanced river habitats; the re-seeding of grass amenity areas within housing 
estates and the delivery of nest boxes as improvements have been made to homes 
to bring biodiversity close to residents; and the restoration of 360m of the Hoffer 
Brook (in partnership with the Wildlife Trust). 

Page 163



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

18 

3. List of Indicators 
 
Contextual Indicators 
 

 Indicator Description Page 

E
co

no
m

y 

Number of people in employment [see Significant Effect Indicator 45] 131 

Total unemployed [see Significant Effect Indicator 36] 127 

Economic Activity Rate [see Significant Effect Indicator 44] 131 

Industrial composition of employee jobs [see Significant Effect Indicator 
46] 132 

Business start-ups and closures (VAT registrations) [see Significant Effect 
Indicator 43] 130 

Gross disposable household income [see Significant Effect Indicator 32] 125 

House prices: earnings ratio [see Significant Effect Indicator 31] 125 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
t 

KWh of gas and electricity consumed per household per year [see 
Significant Effect Indicator 3] 106-107 

Carbon dioxide emissions per domestic property per year [see Significant 
Effect Indicator 15] 115 

Generating potential of renewable energy sources [see Significant Effect 
Indicator 4] 107 

Water consumption per head per day [see Significant Effect Indicator 5] 108 

Hectares of land designated as Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) in 
the district [see Significant Effect Indicator 7] 109 

% of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) assessed as in favourable 
or unfavourable recovering condition [see Significant Effect Indicator 6] 109 

Area of Local Nature Reserves per 1,000 population [see Significant Effect 
Indicator 8] 109 

E
du

ca
tio

n Key stage 2 achievements [see Significant Effect Indicator 39] 129 

GCSE and A-Level passes [see Significant Effect Indicator 38] 128 

% of resident population with NVQ (equivalent) qualifications [see 
Significant Effect Indicator 41] 130 

H
ea

lth
 

Life expectancy at birth [see Significant Effect Indicator 22] 121 

% of residents with limiting long term illness [see Significant Effect 
Indicator 23] 121 

C
rim

e 
an

d 
 

Q
ua

lit
y 

of
 L

ife
 

Number of recorded crimes per 1000 people [see Significant Effect 
Indicator 24] 121 

% of residents feeing safe or fairly safe after dark [see Significant Effect 
Indicator 25] 122 

% of residents who feel their local area is harmonious [see Significant 
Effect Indicator 29] 124 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation [see Significant Effect Indicator 30] 124 

 
 

Page 164



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

19 

Core Output Indicators 
 

 New Ref Old Ref Indicator Description Page 

B
us

in
es

s 
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  
&

 T
ow

n 
C

en
tr

es
 CO-BD1 CO1a Amount and type of completed employment 

floorspace 74-75 

CO-BD2 CO1c Amount and type of completed employment 
floorspace on previously developed land 77 

CO-BD3 CO1d Amount and type of employment land available 79-79 

CO-BD4 CO4a & 
CO4b 

Amount of completed floorspace for retail, office and 
leisure uses and financial & professional services 83-84 

H
ou

si
ng

 

CO-H1 CO2a Plan periods and housing targets 36 

CO-H2(a) CO2a Net additional dwellings completed in previous 
years 34 

CO-H2(b) CO2a Net additional dwellings completed in the reporting 
year  34 

CO-H2(c) CO2a Net additional dwellings in future years 39-42 & 
49-51 

CO-H2(d) CO2a Managed delivery target 39-42 

CO-H3 CO2b Percentage of new and converted dwellings 
completed on previously developed land 53 

CO-H4 - Gypsy & Traveller pitches completed 61 

CO-H5 CO2d Gross affordable housing completions 58 

CO-H6 - Quality of new housing developments 70-71 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l Q
ua

lit
y 

CO-E1 CO7 
Number of planning permissions where the 
Environment Agency initially objected on flooding 
and water quality grounds 

102-103 

CO-E2 CO8(ii) Change in areas of biodiversity importance 99 

CO-E3 CO9 

(i) Renewable energy capacity installed by type; 
and 

(ii) Renewable energy capacity with planning 
permission by type 

94-95 

 
NOTE: In July 2008, the government published a new set of core output indicators that excluded the 
requirement to monitor: 
 the amount of completed retail, business and leisure development that complies with car 

parking standards set out in the LDF (previously indicator 3a); and 
 the amount of eligible open spaces managed to Green Flag Award standard (previously 

indicator 4c). 
The Council do not feel that it is necessary to continue monitoring this information and therefore these 
indicators are not reported on in this AMR. 

Page 165



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

20 

Local Output Indicators 
 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 
H

ou
si

ng
 

LOA1 Housing completions by number of bedrooms 68 

LOA2 Affordable housing completions by tenure 59 

LOA3 Affordable housing completions on rural exception sites  59 

LOA4 Number of caravans on unauthorised Gypsy & Traveller sites 62 

LOA5 Market housing completions on developments of up to 10 
dwellings by number of bedrooms 69 

LOA6 Cumulative percentage of dwellings completed on previously 
developed land 52 

LOA7 Affordable housing completions as a percentage of all housing 
completions on sites of 2 or more dwellings * 

LOA8 
Affordable dwellings permitted as a percentage of all dwellings 
permitted on sites of 2 or more dwellings where Policy HG/3 
applies 

60 

LOA14 Travelling Showpeople plots completed 61 

CO2c à 
LOB2 

Net density of completed new housing developments on sites of 
9 or more dwellings 55 

LOB3 Average net density of completed new housing developments on 
sites of 9 or more dwellings 56 

LOE1 

(i) Average size of housing developments split by settlement 
category; 

(ii) Largest housing development in each settlement category; 
and 

(iii) Total dwellings built by settlement category. 

64-66 

E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
C

om
m

un
ity

 F
ac

ili
tie

s 
&

  
Lo

ca
l S

er
vi

ce
s 

LOA9 Amount of committed floorspace for retail, office and leisure 
uses and financial & professional services 85 

LOA10 Amount and type of completed employment land 75-76 

LOF1 Investment secured for infrastructure and community facilities 
through developer contributions 90-91 

CO1b à 
LOA11 Amount of completed employment floorspace on allocated land 77 

CO1e à 
LOA12 

Amount of employment land lost on allocated land and in South 
Cambridgeshire 82 

CO1f à 
LOA13 

Amount of employment land lost to residential development 
within village development frameworks and in South 
Cambridgeshire 

82 

CO3b à 
LOB4 

Amount of new residential development within 30 minutes public 
transport journey time of key services 89 

 
* The Council does not feel that it is necessary to continue monitoring indicator LOA7 as indicator 
LOA8 more effectively monitors the implementation of the Council’s policy for the provision of 
affordable housing.   
 
 

Page 166



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

21 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 
B

ui
lt 

&
 N

at
ur

al
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t 

LOB1 
Gains or losses of open space and outdoor recreation land 
resulting from new developments and percentage of planning 
permissions meeting open space standards 

93 

LOE2 Amount of land adjacent to an Important Countryside Frontage 
that has been lost to development 97 

LOG1 
Amount of new development completed on previously 
undeveloped functional floodplain land, and in flood risk areas, 
without agreed flood defence measures 

103 

LOG2 
Proportion of development proposals greater than 1,000 sqm or 
10 dwellings including renewable energy technologies providing 
at least 10% of their predicted energy requirements 

95 

LOI1 
Amount of new development completed within, or likely to 
adversely affect, internationally or nationally important nature 
conservation areas 

96 

CO8i à 
LOI2 Habitats and species affected by new developments 100 

LOJ1 Number of listed buildings and number that are at risk 101 

LOK1 Amount of inappropriate development completed in the Green 
Belt 97-98 

 

Page 167



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

22 

Site Specific Indicators 
 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 
S

ite
 S

pe
ci

fic
 P

ol
ic

ie
s 

D
P

D
 

SSLO1 Residential densities at Cambourne 56 

SSLO2 Dwelling completions at North of Impington Lane, Impington 35 

SSLO3 Dwelling completions at Powell’s Garage, Woollards Lane, Great 
Shelford 35 

SSLO4 Dwelling completions at Fulbourn & Ida Darwin Hospitals 86-88 

SSLO5 Development at sites allocated for B1 employment use 78 

SSLO6 Development at sites allocated for B1 / B2 / B8 employment use 78 

SSLO7 Development at Cambridge Northern Fringe West (Orchard Park) 35, 86-
88 

SSLO8 Development at North West Cambridge Huntingdon Road to 
Histon Road 86-88 

SSLO9 Development at Bayer CropScience, Hauxton 86-88 

SSLO10 Papworth Everard Village Development 86-88 

SSLO11 Progress of open space allocations 92-93 

SSLO12 Green separation at Northstowe ^ 

 
^ Monitoring of this indicator can only be done when detailed planning permission(s) have been 
granted. 
 
Statement of Community Involvement Indicators 
 

Ref Indicator Description Page 

SCI1 Customer Satisfaction with the Council’s Planning Application Service 104 

SCI2 Equality & Diversity Characteristics of the Council’s Plan Making Respondents 104-
105 

SCI3 Customer Satisfaction with the Council’s Plan Making Consultations 105 

 
 

Page 168



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

23 

Area Action Plan Output Indicators 
 
Until detailed planning permissions are approved for these areas, it is not possible to include 
data on these indicators in the Annual Monitoring Report. 
 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 

N
or

th
st

ow
e 

NS01 Total housing completions 86-88 

NS02 Housing density n/a 

NS03 Housing mix: completions by number of bedrooms n/a 

NS04 Employment land supply by type 86-88 

NS05 Distance to public transport n/a 

NS06 Distance to public open space n/a 

C
am

br
id

ge
 E

as
t 

CE01 Total housing completions 86-88 

CE02 Housing density n/a 

CE03 Housing mix: completions by number of bedrooms n/a 

CE04 Employment land supply by type 86-88 

CE05 Distance to public transport n/a 

CE06 Distance to public open space n/a 

CE07 Renewable energy installed by type n/a 

CE08 Investment secured for infrastructure and community facilities 
through developer contributions n/a 

C
am

br
id

ge
 S

ou
th

er
n 

F
rin

ge
 

CSF01 Total housing completions 86-88 

CSF02 Housing density n/a 

CSF03 Housing mix: completions by number of bedrooms n/a 

CSF04 Employment land supply by type 86-88 

CSF05 Distance to public transport n/a 

CSF06 Distance to public open space n/a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 169



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

24 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 
N

or
th

 W
es

t C
am

br
id

ge
 

NWC01 
Total number of: 
(i) units of student accommodation completed 
(ii) housing completions / annual rate  

86-88 

NWC02 Housing density n/a 

NWC03 Percentage of housing which is affordable n/a 

NWC04 Employment land supply by type 86-88 

NWC05 Employment uses in the local centre 86-88 

NWC06 Distance to public transport n/a 

NWC07 Amount (and percentage) of completed non-residential 
development complying with car parking standards n/a 

NWC08 Public open space and recreation facilities n/a 

NWC09 

Sustainable development: 
(i) amount of residential development designed in line with the 

Code for Sustainable Homes 
(ii) amount of non-residential development designed in line 

with BREEAM 

n/a 

NWC10 Renewable energy installed by type n/a 

NWC11 Water conservation n/a 

NWC12 Investment secured for infrastructure and community facilities 
through developer contributions n/a 

 

Page 170



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

25 

Proposed Submission Local Plan Indicators  
 

 Indicator 
Number Indicator Description Page 

S
pa

tia
l S

tr
at

eg
y 

M1 

Housing Trajectory showing: 
 net additional dwellings completed in previous years and the current 

year; 
 predicted completions in future years; and 
 progress against the housing target. 

34, 39-42 
& 49-51 

M2 Total dwellings built by settlement category 66 

M3 Amount and type of completed employment floorspace on previously 
developed land 77 

M4 Percentage of new and converted dwellings completed on previously 
developed land 53 

M5 Amount of new residential development within 30 minutes public 
transport journey time of key services 89 

M6 Number of new jobs created 73 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 

S
ite

s 

M7 Progress and development on strategic site allocations 86-88 

C
lim

at
e 

C
ha

ng
e 

M8 Renewable energy capacity installed by type 94-95 

M9 Renewable energy capacity with planning permission by type 95 

M10 
Proportion of development proposals for new dwellings and new non-
residential buildings of 1,000 m2 or more reducing carbon emissions by 
a minimum of 10% using on site renewable energy technologies 

π 

M11 
Amount of new development completed on previously undeveloped 
functional floodplain land, and in flood risk areas, without agreed flood 
defence measures 

103 

M12 Number of planning permissions where the Environment Agency initially 
objected on flooding and water quality grounds 102-103 

M13 
Proportion of new homes achieving water consumption levels 
equivalent to Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 (105 litres per 
person per day or less) 

π 

M14 
Proportion of non-residential developments demonstrating a minimum 
water efficiency standard equivalent to the BREEAM non-residential 
standard for 2 credits for water use levels 

π 

D
el

iv
er

in
g 

H
ig

h 
Q

ua
lit

y 
P

la
ce

s 

M15 Number of housing developments of 10 or more dwellings achieving 
each Building for Life standard   70-71 

 
 
 

Page 171



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

26 

 Indicator 
Number Indicator Description Page 

P
ro

te
ct

in
g 

an
d 

E
nh

an
ci

ng
 th

e 
N

at
ur

al
 a

nd
 H

is
to

ric
 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
t 

M16 Amount of new development completed within, or likely to adversely 
affect, internationally or nationally important nature conservation areas 96 

M17 Amount of inappropriate development completed in the Green Belt 97-98 

M18 Amount of land within a Local Green Space or PVAA designation that 
has been lost to development π 

M19 Amount of land adjacent to an Important Countryside Frontage that has 
been lost to development 97 

M20 Change in areas of biodiversity importance (international, national and 
local designations) 99 

D
el

iv
er

in
g 

H
ig

h 
Q

ua
lit

y 
H

om
es

 

M21 Average net density of all completed new housing developments on 
sites of 9 or more dwellings 56 

M22 Proportion of new housing developments of 9 or more dwellings 
achieving less than 30 dph, 30-50 dph and 50 or more dph 55 

M23 Housing completions by number of bedrooms 68 

M24 Market housing completions on developments of over 10 dwellings by 
number of bedrooms π 

M25 Gross affordable housing completions 58 

M26 Affordable housing completions on rural exception sites 59 

M27 Gypsy & Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople plots completed 61 

M28 Number of caravans on unauthorised Gypsy & Traveller sites 62 

M29 
Progress and development on residential allocations at villages, 
Papworth West Central, Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate, and Bayer 
CropScience Site 

86-88 

M30 Development of Residential Moorings at Chesterton Fen Road, Milton π 

M31 Number of Lifetime Homes completed π 

M32 
Affordable dwellings permitted as a percentage of all dwellings 
permitted on sites where the policy requiring affordable dwellings 
applies 

π 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
a 

S
tr

on
g 

an
d 

C
om

pe
tit

iv
e 

E
co

no
m

y M33 Amount and type of completed employment floorspace and land 74-76 

M34 Amount and type of employment land available 78-79 

M35 Amount of employment land lost 82 

M36 Amount of employment land lost to residential development (i) within 
village development frameworks and (ii) in South Cambridgeshire 82 

Page 172



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

27 

 
 Indicator 

Number Indicator Description Page 

 

M37 Amount of completed and committed floorspace for retail 83-85 

M38 

Progress and development on allocations for employment uses, 
Fulbourn Road East, Papworth Hospital, Fulbourn & Ida Darwin 
Hospitals, Histon & Impington Station area, and Cambridge Science 
Park 

86-88 

P
ro

m
ot

in
g 

S
uc

ce
ss

fu
l 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 M39 Progress of open space allocations 92-93 

M40 Losses of village services, allotments and orchards resulting from new 
developments π 

M41 Gains or losses of open space and outdoor recreation resulting from 
new developments π 

P
ro

m
ot

in
g 

an
d 

D
el

iv
er

in
g 

S
us

ta
in

ab
le

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 a

nd
 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

M42 Investment secured for infrastructure and community facilities through 
developer contributions 90-91 

 
π Monitoring of these indicators can only be done when the Local Plan has been adopted, as they are 
new policies or are significantly different from the existing policy. 
 
 

Page 173



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

28 

Significant Effect Indicators – Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (January 2006) 
 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 

La
nd

 a
nd

 W
at

er
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

SE1 Percentage of new and converted dwellings completed on 
previously developed land [see Core Indicator CO-H3] 53 

SE2 Average net density of new dwellings completed [see Local 
Indicator LOB3] 56 

SE3 KWh of gas and electricity consumed per consumer per year 106-107 

SE4 Generating potential of renewable energy sources 107 

SE5 Water consumption per head per day 108 

B
io

di
ve

rs
ity

 

SE6 Percentage of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) in 
‘favourable’ or ‘unfavourable recovering’ condition 109 

SE7 Total area designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSIs) 109 

SE8 Area of Local Nature Reserves per 1,000 people 109 

SE9 Progress in achieving priority BAP targets 110-111 

SE10 Percentage of Rights of Way that are easy to use 110 

La
nd

sc
ap

e,
 T

ow
ns

ca
pe

 a
nd

 
A

rc
ha

eo
lo

gy
 

SE11 Percentage of Listed Buildings classified as being at risk [see 
Local Indicator LOJ1] 101 

SE12 Percentage of the total built-up area falling within Conservation 
Areas 112 

SE13 

(i) Residents’ satisfaction with the quality of the built 
environment 

(ii) Percentage of residents 'very satisfied' or 'fairly satisfied' 
with their local area as a place to live 

112 

SE14 

(i) Percentage of new homes developed to Ecohomes ‘good’ 
or ‘excellent’ standard 

(ii) Cumulative number of Code for Sustainable Homes 
certificates issued in South Cambridgeshire 

112-113 

C
lim

at
e 

C
ha

ng
e 

an
d 

P
ol

lu
tio

n 

SE15 Carbon dioxide emissions 115 

SE16 
(i) Annual average concentration of nitrogen dioxide 
(ii) Annual mean number of days when PM10 levels exceeded 

a daily mean of 50 g/m3 
115-116 

SE17 Vehicle flows across the South Cambridgeshire – Cambridge 
City boundary over a 12 hour period 116 

SE18 (i) Percentage of main rivers of ‘good’ or ‘fair’ quality 
(ii) Ecological status of main rivers 118 

SE19 Household waste collected 118-119 

SE20 Percentage of household waste collected which is recycled or 
composted 119 

SE21 Number of properties at risk to flooding 120 

 
 
 
 

Page 174



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

29 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 
H

ea
lth

y 
C

om
m

un
iti

es
 SE22 Life expectancy at birth 121 

SE23 Percentage of residents with a limiting long-term illness 121 

SE24 Number of recorded crimes per 1,000 people 121 

SE25 Percentage of residents feeling safe after dark 122 

SE26 Hectares of strategic open space per 1,000 people 122 

SE27 Number of sports pitches available for public use per 1,000 people 122 

In
cl

us
iv

e 
C

om
m

un
iti

es
 

SE28 Percentage of the district’s population with each settlement 
category 

123-
124 

SE29 

(i) Percentage of residents who feel their local area is 
harmonious 

(ii) Percentage of residents that 'definitely agree' and 'tend to 
agree' that their local area is a place where people from 
different backgrounds get on well together 

124 

SE30 Indices of multiple deprivation 124 

SE31 House price: earnings ratio 125 

SE32 Median gross household income 125 

SE33 % of all dwellings completed that are affordable [see Core 
Indicator CO-H5] 58 

SE34 

(i) % of adults who feel they can influence decisions affecting 
their local area 

(ii) % of residents that 'definitely agree' and 'tend to agree' that 
they can influence decisions affecting their local area 

125 

SE35 
(i) % of adults who have provided support to others 
(ii) % of people who have participated in regular formal 

volunteering in last twelve months 
126 

E
co

no
m

ic
 A

ct
iv

ity
 

SE36 Number of people unemployed claiming Job Seekers Allowance 127 

SE37 % of residents aged 16-74 in employment and working within 5km 
of home or at home 127 

SE38 % of all 15/16 year olds achieving 5 or more GCSE / GNVQ 
passes at A*-C grade 128 

SE39 % of primary school pupils achieving Level 4 or higher in English, 
Maths and Science 129 

SE40 Average point score per student entered into GCE / VCE / Applied 
A/AS and equivalent examinations 130 

SE41 % of resident population with NVQ level 1 (or equivalent) and 
above 130 

SE42 Infrastructure investment [see Local Indicator LOF1] 90-91 

SE43 Annual net change in VAT and / or PAYE registered firms 130 

SE44 Economic Activity Rate 131 

SE45 Number of people in employment 131 

SE46 Industrial composition of employee jobs 132 

Page 175



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

30 

Significant Effect Indicators – Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (July 2012) 
 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 
La

nd
 

SA1 % of new and converted dwellings on previously developed land 
[see Core Indicator CO-H3] 53 

SA2 Amount and type of completed employment on previously 
developed land [see Core Indicator CO-BD2] 77 

SA3 Average density of new residential development completed [see 
Local Indicator LOB3] 56 

SA4 % of household waste which is recycled or composted [see 
Significant Effects Indicator 20] 119 

SA5 Household waste collected per person per year [see Significant 
Effects Indicator 19] 118-119 

P
ol

lu
tio

n 

SA6 Annual average concentration of Nitrogen Dioxide (μg/m³) (at 
monitoring points) [see Significant Effects Indicator 16] 115-116 

SA7 Annual mean number of days when PM10 levels exceeded a 
daily mean of 50ug/m³ [see Significant Effects Indicator 16] 115-116 

SA8 
% of surface waters meeting the Water Framework Directive 
‘good’ status or better for water quality [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 18] 

118 

B
io

di
ve

rs
ity

 

SA9 Change in area of sites of biodiversity importance (SPA, SAC, 
RAMSAR, SSSI, NNR, LNR, CWS) [see Core Indicator CO-E2] 99 

SA10 
Amount of new development within, or likely to adversely affect, 
internationally or nationally important nature conservation areas 
[see Local Indicator LOI1] 

96 

SA11 % of SSSIs in favourable or unfavourable recovering condition 
[see Significant Effects Indicator 6] 109 

SA12 Progress in achieving priority BAP targets [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 9] 110-111 

SA13 Proportion of ‘local sites’ where positive conservation 
management has been or is being implemented 110 

SA14 Area of strategic open space per 1000 people [see Significant 
Effects Indicator 26] 122 

SA15 % of rights of way that are easy to use [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 10] 110 

La
nd

sc
ap

e,
 T

ow
ns

ca
pe

 a
nd

 
C

ul
tu

ra
l H

er
ita

ge
 

SA16 % of total built-up areas falling within conservation areas [see 
Significant Effects Indicator 12] 112 

SA17 Countryside Quality Counts – areas inconsistent with (local) 
landscape character 113 

SA18 Number of listed buildings and number that are at risk [see Local 
Indicator LOJ1] 101 

SA19 Other Heritage Assets at risk 114 

SA20 Satisfaction rating for quality of the built environment [see 
Significant Effects Indicator 13] 112 

SA21 Buildings for Life Assessments – number of developments 
achieving each standard [see Core Indicator CO-H6] 70-71 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 176



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

31 

 
 
 

 Ref Indicator Description Page 

C
lim

at
e 

C
ha

ng
e 

SA22 Residential development assessed for Code for Sustainable 
Homes [see Significant Effects Indicator 14] 112-113 

SA23 Carbon Dioxide emissions by sector and per capita [see 
Significant Effects Indicator 15] 115 

SA24 Renewable energy capacity installed by type [see Core Indicator 
CO-E3i] 94-95 

SA25 Kilowatt hours of gas and electricity consumed per household 
per year [see Significant Effects Indicator 3] 106-107 

SA26 Water consumption per head per day [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 5] 108 

SA27 

Amount of new development completed on previously 
undeveloped functional floodplain land, and in flood risk areas, 
without agreed flood defence measures [see Local Indicator 
LOG1] 

103 

H
ea

lth
 

SA28 Life expectancy at birth [see Significant Effects Indicator 22] 121 

SA29 % of residents with a long-term illness [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 23] 121 

SA30 Number of recorded crimes per 1000 people [see Significant 
Effects Indicator 24] 121 

SA31 % of people feeling safe after dark [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 25] 122 

SA32 Hectares of outdoor sport and play space per 1000 people [see 
Significant Effects Indicator 27] 122 

H
ou

si
ng

 

SA33 Total and % of dwellings completed that are affordable [see 
Core Indicator CO-H5] 58 

SA34 House price to earnings ratio [see Significant Effects Indicator 
31] 125 

SA35 Delivery of Extracare Housing 126 

SA36 
Number of new Gypsies and Travellers pitches and Travelling 
Showpeople plots [see Core and Local Indicators CO-H4 and 
LOA14] 

61 

SA37 

i) % of residents who feel their local area is harmonious 
ii) % of residents that definitely agree or tend to agree that their 

local area is a place where people from different 
backgrounds get on well together 

[see Significant Effects Indicator 29] 

124 

SA38 Index of multiple deprivation [see Significant Effects Indicator 30] 124 

SA39 Amount of new residential development within 30 minutes public 
transport journey time of key services [see Local Indicator LOB4] 89 

SA40 

i) % of adults who feel they can influence decisions affecting 
their local area 

ii) % of residents that ‘definitely agree’ and ‘tend to agree’ that 
they can influence decisions affecting their local area 

[see Significant Effects Indicator 34] 

125 

SA41 % of people who have participated in regular formal volunteering 
in last twelve months [see Significant Effects Indicator 35] 126 

 
 
 
 

Page 177



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

32 

 
 
 

 

Ref Indicator Description Page 

E
co

no
m

ic
 A

ct
iv

ity
 

SA42 Number of people in employment [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 45] 131 

SA43 Annual net change in VAT registered firms [see Significant 
Effects Indicator 43] 130 

SA44 Industrial composition of employee jobs [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 46] 132 

SA45 % of people claiming Job Seekers Allowance [see Significant 
Effects Indicator 36] 127 

SA46 % of residents aged 16-64 in employment and working within 
5km of home or at home [see Significant Effects Indicator 37] 127 

SA47 Economic Activity Rate [see Significant Effects Indicator 44] 131 

SA48 Median gross household income [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 32] 125 

SA49 Investment secured for infrastructure and community facilities 
through developer contributions [see Local Indicator LOF1] 90-91 

SA50 % of 15/16 year olds achieving 5 or more GCSE/GNVQ passes at 
A* to C grade [see Significant Effects Indicator 38] 128 

T
ra

ns
po

rt
 

SA51 
Vehicle flows across the South Cambridgeshire – Cambridge 
City boundary over 12 hour period [see Significant Effects 
Indicator 17] 

116 

SA52 Cycling trips index 116 

SA53 Congestion – average journey time per mile during the am peak 
environment 117 

SA54 Investment secured for transport infrastructure through 
developer contributions [see Local Indicator LOF1] 90-91 

SA55 People killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents 117 

 
  

Page 178



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

33 

4. Core and Local Output Indicators 
 
Housing Completions 

 
4.1 The Council’s Core Strategy (January 2007) proposes in Policy ST/2 that the 

Council will make provision for 20,000 new homes in the district during the period 
1999 to 2016. The development strategy focusses a large proportion of these new 
homes in sustainable locations on the edge of Cambridge and at the new town of 
Northstowe, with relatively few homes in rural areas, particularly the smaller villages. 
The Council has determined that this target is no longer the most up to date 
assessment of housing need and that the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) 
identifies a more up to date housing target for 2011-2031 that will provide for the 
identified objectively assessed needs of the district as included in the Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for the Cambridge Sub Region Housing 
Market Area (see paragraph 2.31). However, the Core Strategy remains part of the 
adopted development plan. 

 
4.2 The new Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) includes in Policy S/5 that provision 

is made for 19,000 dwellings in the district during the period 2011 to 2031 to meet the 
current objectively assessed need. Local Plans are required by the National 
Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance to meet 
the objectively assessed housing, business and other development needs of their 
area, unless there are any adverse impacts of doing so that would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits. The objectively assessed need for the district is 
identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for the 
Cambridge Sub Region Housing Market Area. 
 

Page 179



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)      November 2014 

34 

Figure 4.1: Net additional dwellings completed (Indicators CO-H2a, CO-H2b and M1) 
 

 
 

* For the period 1999-2001, data is only available for a two-year period; this figure has been split evenly 
across the two years on the graph. 

 

19
99

-2
00

1 

20
01

-2
00

2 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

1,602 525 653 979 571 877 924 1,274 610 611 656 678 559 636 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.2: Annual housing completions at Cambourne 
 

B
ef

o
re

 m
id

 
19

99
  

19
99

-2
00

1 
 

20
01

-2
00

2 
 

20
02

-2
00

3 
 

20
03

-2
00

4 
 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

42 361 213 337 620 151 377 267 219 190 162 206 154 151 129 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring - Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 180



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

35 

Figure 4.3: Annual housing completions at North of Impington Lane, Impington (Indicator 
SSLO2)  
 

2012-2013 

31 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.4: Annual housing completions at Powells Garage, Great Shelford (Indicator 
SSLO3)  
 

2011-2012 

24 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring - Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.5: Annual housing completions at Orchard Park (Indicator SSLO7)  
 

2006-2007 2007-2008 2008-2009 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 

100 290 148 103 95 56 34 16 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring - Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
 

Page 181



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)      November 2014 

36 

The Housing Trajectory 
 

4.3 The Council’s adopted housing target is set out in Policy ST/2 of the Core Strategy 
(adopted in January 2007). This has been determined to now be out of date (see 
paragraphs 2.31 and 4.1), but it remains part of the adopted development plan. 
Policy S/5 of the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) provides the most up to date 
assessment of housing needs and it is now appropriate to monitor against this target. 
The housing targets are summarised in figure 4.6.   

 
Figure 4.6: Plan periods and housing targets (Indicator CO-H1) 
 

 Adopted / Submitted Period of Plan Housing Provision 
Required 

Annualised 
Requirement 

Core Strategy Adopted January 2007 1 July 1999 –  
31 March 2016 20,000 dwellings 1,176 dwellings 

Local Plan Submitted in March 2014 1 April 2011 – 31 
March 2031 19.000 dwellings 950 dwellings 

 
4.4 The Council prepares a housing trajectory as part of its Annual Monitoring Report to 

set out the latest predictions of housing delivery over the following 15-year period or 
to the end of the plan period, whichever is longer. The housing trajectory for South 
Cambridgeshire is included as figure 4.8.   
 

4.5 The Council aims to ensure that its housing trajectories are as robust as possible. 
The housing trajectory has been produced in consultation with the various agents, 
developers and landowners responsible for: the major developments included in the 
adopted Area Action Plans; the housing allocations included in the Site Specific 
Policies DPD; the new strategic and village allocations included in the Local Plan; 
and sites of 9 or more dwellings with planning permission or a decision to grant 
planning permission subject to the resolution of outstanding issues. An assessment 
of each site in the housing trajectory is included in Appendix 1.   
 

4.6 Data for the housing trajectory is gathered from various sources. A questionnaire is 
sent to the agent, developer or landowner of each of the sites asking them to provide 
details on whether the site is deliverable, available and achievable (these are the 
tests set out in the National Planning Policy Framework), and their expected 
delivery timetable, based on the latest understanding of any constraints, including 
market conditions. A joint questionnaire is sent with Cambridge City Council to 
developers of joint sites on the edge of Cambridge. For the small number of sites 
where the Council does not receive a completed questionnaire, annual completions 
are estimated based on survey data collected by Cambridgeshire County Council, 
information included with the planning application, or information known by the case 
officer. The information on sites being developed by Registered Providers (previously 
known as Housing Associations) is provided by the Housing Strategy Team and 
reflects their discussions on expected start and completion dates.       

 
4.7 The housing trajectories have proved to be reliable predictions of actual completions, 

even if there has been some variation across individual sites. Predicted and actual 
completions over the last 6 years are summarised in figure 4.7.  

Page 182



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

37 

Figure 4.7: Predicted and Actual Housing Completions 
 

Annual Monitoring 
Report publication date 

Predicted 
Completions 

Predicted 
Completions 

Actual 
Completions Difference 

December 2008 2008-2009 625 dwellings 610 dwellings Prediction was 15 dwellings above 
actual delivery. 

December 2009 2009-2010 631 dwellings 611 dwellings Prediction was 20 dwellings above 
actual delivery. 

December 2010 2010-2011 759 dwellings 656 dwellings 

Prediction was 103 dwellings above 
actual delivery primarily due to 
slower delivery than anticipated on 
5 specific sites. 

January 2012 2011-2012 692 dwellings 678 dwellings Prediction was 14 dwellings above 
actual delivery. 

December 2012 2012-2013 539 dwellings 559 dwellings Prediction was 20 dwellings less 
than actual delivery. 

February 2014 2013-2014 565 dwellings 636 dwellings Prediction was 71 dwellings less 
than actual delivery. 

 
4.8 The published housing trajectory (figure 4.8) shows the current anticipated delivery in 

the district based on information collected between July and October 2014. An 
assessment of each site reviewed is included in Appendix 1. The housing trajectory 
can only ever show a ‘snapshot’ view of anticipated future delivery. 
 

4.9 Against the various targets and plan periods, the housing trajectory shows:  
 Core Strategy Policy ST/2 (adopted in January 2007) – 12,658 dwellings are 

expected to be delivered during the plan period 1999 and 2016; this is 37% 
(7,342 dwellings) below the target. The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) 
has addressed this housing shortfall through the identification of an up to date 
housing target for 2011-2031 that will provide for the identified objectively 
assessed needs of the district as included in the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) for the Cambridge Sub Region Housing Market Area. 

 Local Plan Policy S/5 (submitted in March 2014) – 22,287 dwellings are 
expected to be delivered during the plan period 2011 to 2031, this is 15% (3,287 
dwellings) more than the target and allows flexibility to respond to changing 
conditions as required in the NPPF. Excluding the windfall allowance of 2,600 
dwellings, the housing trajectory shows that 19,687 dwellings are expected to be 
delivered. 

 
Greater Cambridge Housing Trajectory 

 
4.10 As outlined in Chapter 2 (section b), both South Cambridgeshire District Council and 

Cambridge City Council are party to a Memorandum of Co-operation agreed in 
May 2013, which sets out the continued support of all the Councils in the wider 
Cambridge Sub Region housing market area to the development strategy for the area 
and also the Councils’ commitment to meet in full the objectively assessed needs of 
the housing market area. Both South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridge 
City Council have committed to meeting their respective objectively assessed needs 
in full in their Local Plans. 

Page 183



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)      November 2014 

38 

 
4.11 In September 2014, Cambridge City Council and South Cambridgeshire District 

Council agreed a further Memorandum of Understanding on the Greater 
Cambridge Joint Housing Trajectory. This additional memorandum confirms the 
agreement between the two Councils under the duty to co-operate that the housing 
trajectories for the two areas should be considered together for the purposes of 
phasing housing delivery, including for calculating 5-year housing land supply for 
plan-making and decision-taking. The merits of the Memorandum of Understanding 
will be an issue for consideration at appropriate hearing sessions of the Local Plan 
examination. 
 

4.12 Each Council has produced its own housing trajectory to demonstrate how it is 
meetings its own housing target within its own Local Plan in full. 
 

4.13 The Greater Cambridge housing trajectory (see figure 4.10) has been produced by 
combining the housing trajectories for both districts and was considered by the Joint 
Strategic Transport and Spatial Planning Group on 28 October 201412. Detailed 
information on the sites in South Cambridgeshire is included in figure 4.8 and 
Appendix 1. Detailed information on the sites in Cambridge was published in the 
report to the Joint Strategic Transport and Spatial Planning Group and will be 
included in the Cambridge Annual Monitoring Report 2013-2014. 
 

4.14 The joint housing trajectory for the Greater Cambridge area shows that Cambridge is 
delivering housing within the urban areas and urban fringe sites in the early and 
middle parts of the plan period, whilst South Cambridgeshire is delivering housing in 
the urban fringe sites and at new settlements, with an emphasis on the middle and 
latter parts of the plan period, but with an element of village housing allocations to 
provide some early delivery. In particular, the cross-boundary sites are building out 
from the edge of the existing built-up area with more homes being built in Cambridge 
in the early part of the plan period and then moving into South Cambridgeshire later 
on. This is a logical and appropriate way of delivering sites to meet the combined 
objectively assessed housing need across the Greater Cambridge area, consistent 
with the development strategy contained in both submitted Local Plans.  
 

 
 
 

                                                
12 http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=415&MId=2735&Ver=4  

Page 184



19
99

-
20

00
20

00
-

20
01

20
01

-
20

02
20

02
-

20
03

20
03

-
20

04
20

04
-

20
05

20
05

-
20

06
20

06
-

20
07

20
07

-
20

08
20

08
-

20
09

20
09

-
20

10
20

10
-

20
11

20
11

-
20

12
20

12
-

20
13

20
13

-
20

14
20

14
-

20
15

20
15

-
20

16
20

16
-

20
17

20
17

-
20

18
20

18
-

20
19

20
19

-
20

20
20

20
-

20
21

20
21

-
20

22
20

22
-

20
23

20
23

-
20

24
20

24
-

20
25

20
25

-
20

26
20

26
-

20
27

20
27

-
20

28
20

28
-

20
29

20
29

-
20

30
20

30
-

20
31

P
o

st
20

31
19

99
-2

01
6

20
11

-2
03

1
20

14
-2

01
9

* 
2

* 
2

80
1

80
1

52
5

65
3

97
9

57
1

87
7

92
4

1,
27

4
61

0
61

1
65

6
67

8
55

9
63

6
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
11

,1
55

1,
87

3
0

C
am

br
id

ge
 E

as
t -

 n
or

th
 o

f N
ew

m
ar

ke
t R

oa
d

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

0
85

14
0

14
0

14
0

14
0

14
0

14
0

14
0

14
0

95
0

0
0

0
0

1,
30

0
85

C
am

br
id

ge
 E

as
t -

 n
or

th
 o

f C
he

rr
y 

H
in

to
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

20
30

20
20

20
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

11
0

50
La

nd
be

tw
ee

n
H

un
tin

gd
on

R
oa

d,
H

is
to

n
R

oa
d

&
A

14
(N

IA
B

2
or

D
ar

w
in

 G
re

en
 2

) 
- 

in
cl

ud
es

 p
ro

po
se

d 
ex

te
ns

io
n 

(N
IA

B
 3

 o
r 

D
ar

w
in

 
G

re
en

3)

* 
3

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

0
75

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

15
0

25
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1,
00

0
75

O
rc

ha
rd

 P
ar

k 
- 

pa
rc

el
 K

1
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
40

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

40
40

40

O
rc

ha
rd

 P
ar

k 
- 

ad
di

tio
na

l l
an

d 
pa

rc
el

s 
(L

2 
&

 C
om

4)
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

50
30

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
80

80

N
ew

 S
et

tl
em

en
ts

N
or

th
st

ow
e 

- 
ph

as
e 

2 
an

d 
la

te
r 

ph
as

es
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

50
92

23
2

23
2

28
9

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

4,
40

5
0

4,
09

5
50

F
ul

bo
ur

n 
&

 Id
a 

D
ar

w
in

 H
os

pi
ta

ls
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

30
10

0
50

50
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

23
0

18
0

P
ap

w
or

th
 E

ve
ra

rd
 W

es
t C

en
tr

al
* 

4
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
8

29
30

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

8
67

67

T
ru

m
pi

ng
to

n 
M

ea
do

w
s 

(C
am

br
id

ge
 S

ou
th

er
n 

F
rin

ge
)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
29

0
16

0
10

0
15

0
15

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
29

58
9

43
9

N
or

th
-W

es
t C

am
br

id
ge

 (
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 s
ite

)
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
20

70
19

5
10

5
90

18
5

15
0

25
0

90
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
20

1,
15

5
39

0

O
rc

ha
rd

 P
ar

k 
- 

ad
di

tio
na

l l
an

d 
pa

rc
el

s 
(Q

, f
or

m
er

 H
R

C
C

 s
ite

 &
 C

om
2)

 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

lo
ca

l c
en

tr
e

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
65

35
35

5
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

0
14

0
14

0

N
or

th
st

ow
e 

- 
ph

as
e 

1
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
10

21
6

26
4

25
5

30
8

16
8

16
8

11
1

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

1,
50

0
74

5

C
am

bo
ur

ne
 (

ad
di

tio
na

l 9
50

 d
w

el
lin

gs
)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
17

5
17

5
17

5
12

0
94

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
35

0
73

9
73

9

F
or

m
er

 B
ay

er
 C

ro
ps

ci
en

ce
 s

ite
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
30

60
60

60
60

15
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30
28

5
21

0

H
is

to
ric

 R
ur

al
 A

llo
ca

tio
ns

 w
ith

 p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 
* 

5
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

80
51

40
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

13
1

17
1

17
1

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s:
 E

st
at

e 
si

ze
d 

(9
 o

r 
m

or
e 

dw
el

lin
gs

)
* 

6
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

22
3

15
4

77
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

37
7

46
4

46
4

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s:
 S

m
al

l S
ite

s 
(8

 o
r 

le
ss

 d
w

el
lin

gs
) 

al
re

ad
y 

U
nd

er
 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
* 

7
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

91
30

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

12
1

12
1

12
1

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s:
 S

m
al

l S
ite

s 
(8

 o
r 

le
ss

 d
w

el
lin

gs
) 

N
ot

 U
nd

er
 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
* 

8
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

20
50

71
40

20
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

70
20

1
20

1

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

10
10

La
nd

 b
et

w
ee

n 
H

un
tin

gd
on

 R
oa

d,
 H

is
to

n 
R

oa
d 

&
 A

14
 (

N
IA

B
 3

 o
r 

D
ar

w
in

 G
re

en
 3

)
* 

3
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

N
or

th
st

ow
e 

R
es

er
ve

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

W
at

er
be

ac
h 

N
ew

 T
ow

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
0

20
0

30
0

40
0

40
0

6,
60

0
0

1,
40

0
0

B
ou

rn
 A

irf
ie

ld
 N

ew
 V

ill
ag

e
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

60
10

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
1,

80
0

0
1,

70
0

0

C
am

bo
ur

ne
 W

es
t

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
30

70
10

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1,
20

0
20

0

D
al

es
 M

an
or

 B
us

in
es

s 
P

ar
k,

 S
aw

st
on

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
10

50
50

20
0

10
50

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

20
0

11
0

La
nd

 n
or

th
 o

f B
ab

ra
ha

m
 R

oa
d,

 S
aw

st
on

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

20
40

20
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

80
60

La
nd

 s
ou

th
 o

f B
ab

ra
ha

m
 R

oa
d,

 S
aw

st
on

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

0
55

55
50

50
50

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

26
0

55

La
nd

 n
or

th
 o

f I
m

pi
ng

to
n 

La
ne

, I
m

pi
ng

to
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
10

15
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

25
25

La
nd

 w
es

t o
f N

ew
 R

oa
d,

 M
el

bo
ur

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
10

30
25

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
65

65

G
re

en
 E

nd
 In

du
st

ria
l E

st
at

e,
 G

am
lin

ga
y

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
30

30
30

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

90
90

La
nd

 a
t B

en
ne

ll 
F

ar
m

, W
es

t S
tr

ee
t, 

C
om

be
rt

on
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
15

30
30

15
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

15
90

90

E
as

t o
f R

oc
km

ill
 E

nd
, W

ill
in

gh
am

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

10
25

15
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

50
50

La
nd

 a
t L

in
to

n 
R

oa
d,

 G
re

at
 A

bi
ng

to
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

10
15

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

35
35

La
nd

 a
t j

un
ct

io
n 

of
 H

ig
h 

S
tr

ee
t &

 P
am

pi
sf

or
d 

R
oa

d,
 G

re
at

 A
bi

ng
to

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
6

6
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

6
12

12

La
nd

 a
t B

an
cr

of
t F

ar
m

, C
hu

rc
h 

La
ne

, L
itt

le
 A

bi
ng

to
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

6
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
6

6
6

La
nd

 a
t T

os
el

an
d 

R
oa

d,
 G

ra
ve

le
y

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

6
6

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

10
0

15
0

15
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

0
0

2,
60

0
25

0

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s:
 E

st
at

e 
si

ze
d 

(9
 o

r 
m

or
e 

dw
el

lin
gs

)
* 

6
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

21
75

85
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

96
18

7
18

7

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s:
 S

m
al

l S
ite

s 
(8

 o
r 

le
ss

 d
w

el
lin

gs
)

* 
8

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

5
15

20
14

5
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
5

59
54

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

49
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
49

52
52

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
70

4
79

9
1,

30
8

1,
36

5
1,

42
8

1,
46

0
1,

31
0

1,
27

0
1,

45
0

1,
24

0
1,

26
0

1,
08

5
1,

06
0

1,
11

5
1,

12
0

1,
22

0
1,

22
0

12
,8

05
1,

50
3

20
,4

14
5,

60
4

80
1

80
1

52
5

65
3

97
9

57
1

87
7

92
4

1,
27

4
61

0
61

1
65

6
67

8
55

9
63

6
70

4
79

9
1,

30
8

1,
36

5
1,

42
8

1,
46

0
1,

31
0

1,
27

0
1,

45
0

1,
24

0
1,

26
0

1,
08

5
1,

06
0

1,
11

5
1,

12
0

1,
22

0
1,

22
0

12
,8

05
12

,6
58

22
,2

87
5,

60
4

20
,0

00
19

,0
00

1,
17

6
1,

17
6

1,
17

6
1,

17
6

1,
17

6
1,

17
6

1,
17

6
1,

17
6

1,
17

6
1,

17
6

1,
17

6
1,

17
6

1,
17

6
1,

17
6

1,
17

6
1,

17
6

1,
17

6

1,
17

6
1,

20
0

1,
22

7
1,

27
7

1,
32

5
1,

35
3

1,
42

5
1,

47
9

1,
54

1
1,

57
4

1,
82

7
1,

89
6

2,
14

4
2,

51
0

3,
16

0
4,

42
3

8,
14

1

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

95
0

96
4

98
7

1,
00

7
1,

02
6

1,
04

2
1,

02
3

99
6

96
0

91
5

87
5

83
1

75
4

68
5

58
9

49
0

34
7

91
-4

24
-2

,0
67

N
O

T
E

: A
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 G

re
at

er
 C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 D
ea

l, 
th

e 
pa

rt
ne

rs
 h

av
e 

co
m

m
itt

ed
 to

 d
el

iv
er

in
g 

1,
00

0 
ad

di
tio

na
l n

ew
 h

om
es

 o
n 

ru
ra

l e
xc

ep
tio

n 
si

te
s 

by
 2

03
1.

 T
he

se
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 d
w

el
lin

gs
 h

av
e 

no
t b

ee
n 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
ho

us
in

g 
tr

aj
ec

to
ry

.

* 
2  F

or
 th

e 
pe

rio
d 

19
99

-2
00

1,
 d

at
a 

is
 o

nl
y 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
fo

r 
a 

tw
o 

ye
ar

 p
er

io
d;

 th
is

 fi
gu

re
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

sp
lit

 e
ve

nl
y 

ac
ro

ss
 th

e 
tw

o 
ye

ar
s 

in
 th

e 
ta

bl
e.

* 
8  T

he
se

 a
re

 w
in

df
al

l s
ite

s 
of

 8
 o

r 
le

ss
 d

w
el

lin
gs

 o
n 

w
hi

ch
 n

o 
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
ha

s 
st

ar
te

d;
 th

es
e 

si
te

s 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

di
sc

ou
nt

ed
 b

y 
10

%
 to

 a
llo

w
 fo

r 
an

y 
th

at
 m

ay
 n

ot
 c

om
e 

fo
rw

ar
d.

* 
1  T

he
 n

um
be

r 
of

 d
w

el
lin

gs
 c

om
pl

et
ed

 in
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

ye
ar

s 
ha

s 
be

en
 s

lig
ht

ly
 r

ev
is

ed
 fr

om
 th

e 
da

ta
 p

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
pu

bl
is

he
d;

 th
is

 is
 a

 r
es

ul
t o

f t
he

 o
ng

oi
ng

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f d
at

a 
by

 th
e 

R
es

ea
rc

h 
&

 M
on

ito
rin

g 
te

am
 to

 r
em

ov
e 

an
y 

in
ac

cu
ra

ci
es

.

W
in

d
fa

ll 
S

it
es

P
la

n
n

in
g

 P
er

m
is

si
o

n
s 

G
ra

n
te

d
 b

et
w

ee
n

 1
 A

p
ri

l a
n

d
 

31
 A

u
g

u
st

 2
01

4

P
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 fo

r 
9 

or
 m

or
e 

dw
el

lin
gs

 w
he

re
 d

ec
is

io
n 

to
 g

ra
nt

 p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 e
ith

er
 

aw
ai

tin
g 

th
e 

si
gn

in
g 

of
 a

 s
10

6 
ag

re
em

en
t o

r 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

of
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 is

su
es

 (
be

tw
ee

n 
1 

A
pr

il 
an

d 
31

 
A

ug
us

t 2
01

4)

* 
3  T

he
 p

re
di

ct
ed

 a
nn

ua
l h

ou
si

ng
 c

om
pl

et
io

ns
 fo

r 
bo

th
 N

IA
B

 2
 (

D
ar

w
in

 G
re

en
 2

) 
an

d 
N

IA
B

 3
 (

D
ar

w
in

 G
re

en
 3

) 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

co
m

bi
ne

d 
an

d 
ar

e 
sh

ow
n 

in
 th

e 
‘a

do
pt

ed
 a

llo
ca

tio
ns

 w
ith

ou
t p

la
nn

in
g 

pe
rm

is
si

on
’ s

ec
tio

n.

* 
5  T

he
se

 a
re

 s
ite

s 
th

at
 w

er
e 

al
lo

ca
te

d 
in

 th
e 

Lo
ca

l P
la

n 
20

04
 th

at
 h

av
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 a
nd

 a
re

 s
til

l b
ei

ng
 b

ui
lt 

ou
t. 

T
he

re
 is

 o
nl

y 
on

e 
si

te
 r

em
ai

ni
ng

: W
es

t o
f E

rm
in

e 
S

tr
ee

t S
ou

th
, P

ap
w

or
th

 E
ve

ra
rd

 (
S

um
m

er
sf

ie
ld

).
* 

6  T
he

se
 a

re
 w

in
df

al
l s

ite
s 

of
 9

 o
r 

m
or

e 
dw

el
lin

gs
.

* 
7  T

he
se

 a
re

 w
in

df
al

l s
ite

s 
of

 8
 o

r 
le

ss
 d

w
el

lin
gs

 w
hi

ch
 a

re
 a

lre
ad

y 
un

de
r 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n.

* 
4  T

he
 C

ou
nc

il’
s 

pl
an

ni
ng

 c
om

m
itt

ee
 in

 N
ov

em
be

r 
20

13
 g

av
e 

of
fic

er
s 

de
le

ga
te

d 
po

w
er

s 
to

 a
pp

ro
ve

 a
 h

yb
rid

 p
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
fo

r 
la

nd
 s

ou
th

 o
f C

hu
rc

h 
La

ne
 p

ro
po

si
ng

 th
e 

er
ec

tio
n 

of
 u

p 
to

 5
8 

dw
el

lin
gs

, 8
 u

ni
ts

 fo
r 

ei
th

er
 h

ou
si

ng
 o

r 
bu

si
ne

ss
 u

se
, a

 b
re

w
ho

us
e,

 a
 b

ak
er

y,
 c

om
m

un
ity

 r
oo

m
s,

 c
ar

 p
ar

ki
ng

, o
pe

n 
sp

ac
e 

an
d 

la
nd

sc
ap

in
g.

F
i g

ur
e 

4.
8:

 H
ou

si
ng

 tr
aj

ec
to

ry
 fo

r 
S

ou
th

 C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
(I

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

C
O

-H
2c

;
In

d
ic

at
o

r 
C

O
-H

2d
;

In
d

ic
at

o
r 

M
1

)

A
nn

ua
l r

eq
ui

re
m

en
t t

ak
in

g 
ac

co
un

t o
f p

as
t /

 fo
re

ca
st

 c
om

pl
et

io
ns

T
O

T
A

L
S

H
is

to
ri

c 
C

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
s

E
d

g
e 

o
f 

C
am

b
ri

d
g

e

H
IS

T
O

R
IC

 C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
S

* 
1

V
ill

ag
e 

S
it

es

P
R

O
JE

C
T

E
D

 C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
S

P
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 fo

r 
9 

or
 m

or
e 

dw
el

lin
gs

 w
he

re
 d

ec
is

io
n 

to
 g

ra
nt

 p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 e
ith

er
 

aw
ai

tin
g 

th
e 

si
gn

in
g 

of
 a

 s
10

6 
ag

re
em

en
t o

r 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

of
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 is

su
es

 (
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4)

P
ro

je
ct

ed
 C

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
s 

T
o

ta
l

T
O

T
A

L
: 

H
IS

T
O

R
IC

 A
N

D
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
E

D
 C

O
M

P
L

E
T

IO
N

S

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 S

it
es

E
xi

st
in

g
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

P
er

m
is

si
o

n
s

(a
t 

31
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

4)

C
o

re
 S

tr
at

eg
y

A
nn

ua
lis

ed
 r

eq
ui

re
m

en
t o

ve
r 

17
 y

ea
rs

N
ew

 L
o

ca
l 

P
la

n
A

llo
ca

ti
o

n
s

V
ill

ag
e 

S
it

es

A
d

o
p

te
d

al
lo

ca
ti

o
n

s
w

it
h

o
u

t
p

la
n

n
in

g
p

er
m

is
si

o
n

P
ar

is
h

 C
o

u
n

ci
l 

P
ro

p
o

sa
ls

* 
8

A
nn

ua
lis

ed
 r

eq
ui

re
m

en
t o

ve
r 

20
 y

ea
rs

A
nn

ua
l r

eq
ui

re
m

en
t t

ak
in

g 
ac

co
un

t o
f p

as
t /

 fo
re

ca
st

 c
om

pl
et

io
ns

H
o

u
si

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
as

 s
et

 o
u

t 
in

: 
C

o
re

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
P

o
lic

y 
S

T
/2

 (
Ja

n
u

ar
y 

20
07

) 
an

d
 S

u
b

m
is

si
o

n
 L

o
ca

l 
P

la
n

 P
o

ilc
y 

S
/5

 (
M

ar
ch

 2
01

4)

S
u

b
m

is
si

o
n

 L
o

ca
l P

la
n

A
nn

ua
l M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
t

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14

Page 185



C
at

eg
o

ry
 

S
it

e
19

99
-

20
00

20
00

-
20

01
20

01
-

20
02

20
02

-
20

03
20

03
-

20
04

20
04

-
20

05
20

05
-

20
06

20
06

-
20

07
20

07
-

20
08

20
08

-
20

09
20

09
-

20
10

20
10

-
20

11
20

11
-

20
12

20
12

-
20

13
20

13
-

20
14

20
14

-
20

15
20

15
-

20
16

20
16

-
20

17
20

17
-

20
18

20
18

-
20

19
20

19
-

20
20

20
20

-
20

21
20

21
-

20
22

20
22

-
20

23
20

23
-

20
24

20
24

-
20

25
20

25
-

20
26

20
26

-
20

27
20

27
-

20
28

20
28

-
20

29
20

29
-

20
30

20
30

-
20

31
P

o
st

20
31

19
99

-
20

16
20

11
-

20
31

20
14

-
20

19

80
1

80
1

52
5

65
3

97
9

57
1

87
7

92
4

1,
27

4
61

0
61

1
65

6
67

8
55

9
63

6
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
11

,1
55

1,
87

3
0

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

E
dg

e 
of

 C
am

br
id

ge
C

am
br

id
ge

 E
as

t -
 n

or
th

 o
f N

ew
m

ar
ke

t R
oa

d
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

85
14

0
14

0
14

0
14

0
14

0
14

0
14

0
14

0
95

0
0

0
0

0
1,

30
0

85

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

E
dg

e 
of

 C
am

br
id

ge
C

am
br

id
ge

 E
as

t -
 n

or
th

 o
f C

he
rr

y 
H

in
to

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
20

30
20

20
20

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
11

0
50

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

E
dg

e 
of

 C
am

br
id

ge
La

nd
 b

et
w

ee
n 

H
un

tin
gd

on
 R

oa
d,

 H
is

to
n 

R
oa

d 
&

 A
14

 
[N

IA
B

 2
] -

 in
cl

ud
es

 p
ro

po
se

d 
ex

te
ns

io
n 

[N
IA

B
 3

]
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

75
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
25

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1,

00
0

75

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

E
dg

e 
of

 C
am

br
id

ge
O

rc
ha

rd
 P

ar
k 

- 
pa

rc
el

 K
1

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

40
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
40

40
40

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

E
dg

e 
of

 C
am

br
id

ge
O

rc
ha

rd
 P

ar
k 

- 
ad

di
tio

na
l l

an
d 

pa
rc

el
s 

L2
 &

 C
om

 4
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

50
30

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
80

80

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

N
or

th
st

ow
e

N
or

th
st

ow
e 

- 
ph

as
e 

2 
an

d 
la

te
r 

ph
as

es
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

50
92

23
2

23
2

28
9

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

40
0

4,
40

5
0

4,
09

5
50

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
F

ul
bo

ur
n 

&
 Id

a 
D

ar
w

in
 H

os
pi

ta
ls

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
30

10
0

50
50

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
23

0
18

0

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
P

ap
w

or
th

 W
es

t-
C

en
tr

al
 -

 s
ou

th
 o

f C
hu

rc
h 

La
ne

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

8
28

30
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
8

66
66

A
do

pt
ed

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 w

ith
ou

t p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 -
 

V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
P

ap
w

or
th

 W
es

t-
C

en
tr

al
 -

 C
at

ho
lic

 C
hu

ch
 s

ite
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

1

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s

T
ru

m
pi

ng
to

n 
M

ea
do

w
s 

(C
am

br
id

ge
 S

ou
th

er
n 

F
rin

ge
)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
29

0
16

0
10

0
15

0
15

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
29

58
9

43
9

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s

N
or

th
-W

es
t C

am
br

id
ge

 (
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 S
ite

)
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
20

70
19

5
10

5
90

18
5

15
0

25
0

90
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
20

1,
15

5
39

0

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s

O
rc

ha
rd

 P
ar

k 
- 

ad
di

tio
na

l l
an

d 
pa

rc
el

s 
[P

ar
ce

l Q
, 

fo
rm

er
 H

R
C

C
 s

ite
 &

 C
om

2]
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

lo
ca

l c
en

tr
e

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
65

35
35

5
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

0
14

0
14

0

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s

N
or

th
st

ow
e 

- 
ph

as
e 

1
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
10

21
6

26
4

25
5

30
8

16
8

16
8

11
1

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

1,
50

0
74

5

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s

C
am

bo
ur

ne
 -

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 9

50
 d

w
el

lin
gs

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
17

5
17

5
17

5
12

0
94

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
35

0
73

9
73

9

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s

F
or

m
er

 B
ay

er
 C

ro
pS

ci
en

ce
 s

ite
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
30

60
60

60
60

15
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30
28

5
21

0

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
hi

st
or

ic
 r

ur
al

 
al

lo
ca

tio
ns

 w
ith

 p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

W
es

t o
f E

rm
in

e 
S

tr
ee

t S
ou

th
, P

ap
w

or
th

 E
ve

ra
rd

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
80

51
40

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
13

1
17

1
17

1

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/1
02

9/
10

: L
an

d 
at

 M
oo

re
s 

F
ar

m
, F

ox
to

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/2
01

3/
11

: W
in

dm
ill

 E
st

at
e,

 F
ul

bo
ur

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

21
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

21
21

21

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/0
26

1/
09

 &
 S

/1
88

6/
14

: W
es

t R
oa

d,
 G

am
lin

ga
y

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

4
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
4

10
10

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/2
28

5/
10

: G
re

en
 S

tr
ee

t, 
W

ill
in

gh
am

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

2
2

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/1
77

8/
10

: G
re

tto
n 

C
ou

rt
, G

irt
on

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/0
13

3/
11

: T
he

 R
ai

lw
ay

 T
av

er
n,

 G
re

at
 S

he
lfo

rd
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
11

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

11
11

11

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/1
46

3/
10

: N
el

so
n 

C
re

sc
en

t &
 H

ig
h 

S
tr

ee
t, 

Lo
ng

st
an

to
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

10
10

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/0
73

3/
11

: B
ric

kh
ill

s,
 W

ill
in

gh
am

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

19
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
19

19
19

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/1
77

1/
08

 &
 S

/1
94

8/
12

: S
ta

tio
n 

R
oa

d,
 G

am
lin

ga
y

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
24

24
24

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
48

82
82

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/2
50

9/
12

: L
on

g 
D

ro
ve

 &
 B

ee
ch

 R
oa

d,
 C

ot
te

nh
am

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
26

21
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
47

47
47

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/0
80

9/
12

: S
C

A
 P

ac
ka

gi
ng

, H
is

to
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

2
2

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/2
60

9/
11

 &
 S

/1
79

8/
10

: T
he

 M
oo

r,
 M

el
bo

ur
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
10

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/0
98

3/
11

 &
 S

/1
38

8/
12

: F
or

m
er

 E
D

F
 E

ne
rg

y 
D

ep
ot

 
&

 T
ra

in
in

g 
C

en
tr

e,
 M

ilt
on

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
51

30
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
81

81
81

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/0
82

0/
12

, S
/0

87
9/

14
 &

 S
/0

04
7/

14
: M

ac
F

ar
la

ne
 

G
rie

ve
 H

ou
se

, P
ap

w
or

th
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

30
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30
30

30

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/2
06

4/
12

: R
ob

so
n 

C
ou

rt
, W

at
er

be
ac

h
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

30
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30
30

30

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/1
78

3/
12

 &
 S

/1
78

6/
12

: F
or

m
er

 J
oh

n 
F

al
kn

er
 In

fa
nt

s 
S

ch
oo

l, 
S

aw
st

on
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
10

10

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/1
04

4/
11

: C
hu

rc
h 

S
tr

ee
t, 

G
re

at
 E

ve
rs

de
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

10
10

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es

S
/1

72
5/

12
, S

/1
72

7/
12

, S
/1

72
8/

12
, S

/1
02

3/
14

 &
 

S
/0

99
0/

14
: L

on
do

n 
R

oa
d,

 G
re

at
 S

he
lfo

rd
 &

 G
ra

nt
a 

T
er

ra
ce

, S
ta

pl
ef

or
d

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

25
37

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
25

62
62

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/2
42

0/
12

: C
am

br
id

ge
 R

oa
d,

 L
in

to
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
18

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
18

18
18

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s 

- 
E

st
at

es
S

/2
23

0/
12

 &
 S

/2
66

4/
13

: C
in

qu
es

 R
oa

d,
 G

am
lin

ga
y

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
9

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
9

9
9

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s

S
m

al
l S

ite
s 

al
re

ad
y 

U
nd

er
 C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
91

30
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
12

1
12

1
12

1

E
xi

st
in

g 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

er
m

is
si

on
s 

- 
W

in
df

al
l S

ite
s

S
m

al
l S

ite
s 

N
ot

 U
nd

er
 C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
20

50
71

40
20

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
70

20
1

20
1

T
O

T
A

L
S

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

s

H
is

to
ric

 c
om

pl
et

io
ns

H
is

to
ri

c 
C

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
s

A
nn

ua
l M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
t

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14

Page 186



C
at

eg
o

ry
 

S
it

e
19

99
-

20
00

20
00

-
20

01
20

01
-

20
02

20
02

-
20

03
20

03
-

20
04

20
04

-
20

05
20

05
-

20
06

20
06

-
20

07
20

07
-

20
08

20
08

-
20

09
20

09
-

20
10

20
10

-
20

11
20

11
-

20
12

20
12

-
20

13
20

13
-

20
14

20
14

-
20

15
20

15
-

20
16

20
16

-
20

17
20

17
-

20
18

20
18

-
20

19
20

19
-

20
20

20
20

-
20

21
20

21
-

20
22

20
22

-
20

23
20

23
-

20
24

20
24

-
20

25
20

25
-

20
26

20
26

-
20

27
20

27
-

20
28

20
28

-
20

29
20

29
-

20
30

20
30

-
20

31
P

o
st

20
31

19
99

-
20

16
20

11
-

20
31

20
14

-
20

19

T
O

T
A

L
S

P
ro

je
ct

io
n

s
H

is
to

ri
c 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

s

P
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 w

he
re

 d
ec

is
io

n 
to

 g
ra

nt
 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 fo
r 

9 
or

 m
or

e 
dw

el
lin

gs
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

of
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 is

su
es

 (
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4)

S
/1

97
0/

07
: L

an
d 

w
es

t o
f L

on
gs

ta
nt

on
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

P
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 w

he
re

 d
ec

is
io

n 
to

 g
ra

nt
 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 fo
r 

9 
or

 m
or

e 
dw

el
lin

gs
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

of
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 is

su
es

 (
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4)

S
/2

29
0/

10
: W

oo
ds

id
e,

 L
on

gs
ta

nt
on

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

10
10

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 S

ite
s

N
or

th
st

ow
e 

R
es

er
ve

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 S

ite
s

W
at

er
be

ac
h 

N
ew

 T
ow

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
0

20
0

30
0

40
0

40
0

6,
60

0
0

1,
40

0
0

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 S

ite
s

B
ou

rn
 A

irf
ie

ld
 N

ew
 V

ill
ag

e
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

60
10

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
22

0
1,

80
0

0
1,

70
0

0

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 S

ite
s

C
am

bo
ur

ne
 W

es
t

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
30

70
10

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
15

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1,
20

0
20

0

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
D

al
es

 M
an

or
 B

us
in

es
s 

P
ar

k,
 S

aw
st

on
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

10
50

50
20

0
10

50
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
20

0
11

0

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
La

nd
 n

or
th

 o
f B

ab
ra

ha
m

 R
oa

d,
 S

aw
st

on
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
20

40
20

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
80

60

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
La

nd
 s

ou
th

 o
f B

ab
ra

ha
m

 R
oa

d,
 S

aw
st

on
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

0
0

55
55

50
50

50
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
26

0
55

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
La

nd
 n

or
th

 o
f I

m
pi

ng
to

n 
La

ne
, I

m
pi

ng
to

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

10
15

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
25

25

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
La

nd
 w

es
t o

f N
ew

 R
oa

d,
 M

el
bo

ur
n 

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

10
30

25
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

65
65

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
G

re
en

 E
nd

 In
du

st
ria

l E
st

at
e,

 G
am

lin
ga

y
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

30
30

30
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
90

90

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
La

nd
 a

t B
en

ne
ll 

F
ar

m
, W

es
t S

tr
ee

t, 
C

om
be

rt
on

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

15
30

30
15

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
15

90
90

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 V
ill

ag
e 

S
ite

s
E

as
t o

f R
oc

km
ill

 E
nd

, W
ill

in
gh

am
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
10

25
15

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
50

50

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 P
ar

is
h 

C
ou

nc
il 

P
ro

po
sa

ls
La

nd
 a

t L
in

to
n 

R
oa

d,
 G

re
at

 A
bi

ng
to

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
10

15
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
35

35

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 P
ar

is
h 

C
ou

nc
il 

P
ro

po
sa

ls
La

nd
 a

t j
un

ct
io

n 
of

 H
ig

h 
S

tr
ee

t &
 P

am
pi

sf
or

d 
R

oa
d,

 
G

re
at

 A
bi

ng
to

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
6

6
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

6
12

12

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 P
ar

is
h 

C
ou

nc
il 

P
ro

po
sa

ls
La

nd
 a

t B
an

cr
of

t F
ar

m
, C

hu
rc

h 
La

ne
, L

itt
le

 A
bi

ng
to

n
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

6
6

6

N
ew

 L
oc

al
 P

la
n 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
 -

 P
ar

is
h 

C
ou

nc
il 

P
ro

po
sa

ls
La

nd
 a

t T
os

el
an

d 
R

oa
d,

 G
ra

ve
le

y
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

6
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
6

6

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

0
0

10
0

15
0

15
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
0

0
0

2,
60

0
25

0

P
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

s 
gr

an
te

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
1 

A
pr

il 
an

d 
31

 
A

ug
us

t 2
01

4 
- 

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s 
- 

E
st

at
es

S
/0

64
5/

13
: C

od
y 

R
oa

d,
 W

at
er

be
ac

h
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
30

30
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30
60

60

P
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

s 
gr

an
te

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
1 

A
pr

il 
an

d 
31

 
A

ug
us

t 2
01

4 
- 

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s 
- 

E
st

at
es

S
/1

35
9/

13
: B

an
no

ld
 R

oa
d,

 W
at

er
be

ac
h

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

45
45

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
45

90
90

P
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

s 
gr

an
te

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
1 

A
pr

il 
an

d 
31

 
A

ug
us

t 2
01

4 
- 

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s 
- 

E
st

at
es

S
/2

60
7/

12
: S

ho
w

m
an

's
 S

ite
, M

el
dr

et
h

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
6

6
6

P
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

s 
gr

an
te

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
1 

A
pr

il 
an

d 
31

 
A

ug
us

t 2
01

4 
- 

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s 
- 

E
st

at
es

S
/2

37
9/

13
: H

ur
dl

ed
itc

h 
R

oa
d,

 O
rw

el
l

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
15

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
15

15
15

P
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

s 
gr

an
te

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
1 

A
pr

il 
an

d 
31

 
A

ug
us

t 2
01

4 
- 

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s 
- 

E
st

at
es

S
/0

64
1/

13
: G

ra
nt

a 
P

ro
ce

ss
or

s,
 W

hi
ttl

es
fo

rd
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
0

10
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
16

16

P
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

s 
gr

an
te

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
1 

A
pr

il 
an

d 
31

 
A

ug
us

t 2
01

4 
- 

W
in

df
al

l S
ite

s
S

m
al

l s
ite

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
5

15
20

14
5

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

5
59

54

P
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 w

he
re

 d
ec

is
io

n 
to

 g
ra

nt
 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 fo
r 

9 
or

 m
or

e 
dw

el
lin

gs
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

of
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 is

su
es

 (
si

nc
e 

A
pr

il 
20

14
)

S
/2

31
2/

13
: F

en
 D

ra
yt

on
 R

oa
d,

 S
w

av
es

ey
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
20

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

20
20

20

P
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 w

he
re

 d
ec

is
io

n 
to

 g
ra

nt
 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 fo
r 

9 
or

 m
or

e 
dw

el
lin

gs
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

of
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 is

su
es

 (
si

nc
e 

A
pr

il 
20

14
)

S
/1

32
9/

13
: R

ea
r 

of
 C

yg
nu

s 
B

us
in

es
s 

P
ar

k,
 

S
w

av
es

ey
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
9

3
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

9
12

12

P
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 w

he
re

 d
ec

is
io

n 
to

 g
ra

nt
 

pl
an

ni
ng

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 fo
r 

9 
or

 m
or

e 
dw

el
lin

gs
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 
re

so
lu

tio
n 

of
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 is

su
es

 (
si

nc
e 

A
pr

il 
20

14
)

S
/1

19
9/

13
: T

he
 C

au
se

w
ay

, B
as

si
ng

bo
ur

n-
cu

m
-

K
ne

es
w

or
th

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

20
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
20

20
20

T
O

T
A

L
S

80
1

80
1

52
5

65
3

97
9

57
1

87
7

92
4

1,
27

4
61

0
61

1
65

6
67

8
55

9
63

6
70

4
79

9
1,

30
8

1,
36

5
1,

42
8

1,
46

0
1,

31
0

1,
27

0
1,

45
0

1,
24

0
1,

26
0

1,
08

5
1,

06
0

1,
11

5
1,

12
0

1,
22

0
1,

22
0

12
,8

05
12

,6
58

22
,2

87
5,

60
4

W
in

df
al

l s
ite

s 
(a

llo
w

an
ce

)

A
nn

ua
l M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
t

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14

Page 187



A
nn

ua
l M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
t

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14

-3
,0

00

-2
,0

00

-1
,0

000

1,
00

0

2,
00

0

3,
00

0

4,
00

0

5,
00

0

6,
00

0

7,
00

0

8,
00

0

9,
00

0

1999-2000

2000-2001

2001-2002

2002-2003

2003-2004

2004-2005

2005-2006

2006-2007

2007-2008

2008-2009

2009-2010

2010-2011

2011-2012

2012-2013

2013-2014

2014-2015

2015-2016

2016-2017

2017-2018

2018-2019

2019-2020

2020-2021

2021-2022

2022-2023

2023-2024

2024-2025

2025-2026

2026-2027

2027-2028

2028-2029

2029-2030

2030-2031

Dwellings

Y
ea

r

F
ig

u
re

 4
.9

: 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 t

ra
je

ct
o

ry
 f

o
r 

S
o

u
th

 C
am

b
ri

d
g

es
h

ir
e 

(I
n

d
ic

at
o

r 
C

O
-H

2c
; 

In
d

ic
at

o
r 

C
O

-H
2d

)

P
ro

je
ct

ed
 C

om
pl

et
io

ns

H
is

to
ric

 C
om

pl
et

io
ns

C
or

e 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

an
nu

al
 r

eq
ui

re
m

en
t t

ak
in

g 
ac

co
un

t o
f p

as
t /

 fo
re

ca
st

 c
om

pl
et

io
ns

P
ro

po
se

d 
S

ub
m

is
si

on
 L

oc
al

 P
la

n 
an

nu
al

 r
eq

ui
re

m
en

t t
ak

in
g 

ac
co

un
t o

f p
as

t /
fo

re
ca

st
 c

om
pl

et
io

ns

Page 188



11
/1

2
12

/1
3

13
/1

4
14

/1
5 

15
/1

6 
16

/1
7

17
/1

8 
18

/1
9

19
/2

0 
20

/2
1

 2
1/

22
 2

2/
23

23
/2

4
24

/2
5

25
/2

6
26

/2
7

27
/2

8
28

/2
9

29
/3

0
30

/3
1

T
o

ta
l A

ct
u

al
 a

n
d

 
E

st
im

at
ed

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

s

C
am

br
id

ge
  -

 e
xi

st
in

g 
al

lo
ca

tio
ns

12
1

11
2

16
9

17
8

14
2

19
4

10
9

40
91

69
62

40
55

0
0

0
0

1,
38

2

C
am

br
id

ge
  -

 n
ew

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
0

10
15

25
45

0
55

86
10

7
15

0
19

0
17

3
13

2
11

0
11

5
13

2
12

3
1,

46
8

S
ou

th
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 -
 e

xi
st

in
g 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
65

75
85

35
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

26
0

S
ou

th
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 -
 n

ew
 a

llo
ca

tio
ns

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

C
am

br
id

ge
  -

 e
xi

st
in

g 
al

lo
ca

tio
ns

40
2

81
9

1,
33

0
1,

00
9

86
0

77
3

52
1

49
0

20
3

40
0

34
0

0
0

0
0

6,
48

1

C
am

br
id

ge
  -

 n
ew

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
0

0
0

13
7

16
7

14
6

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
46

0

S
ou

th
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 -
 e

xi
st

in
g 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
29

20
23

0
31

5
44

5
55

0
49

5
46

0
54

0
38

0
29

0
16

5
14

0
95

0
0

0
4,

15
4

S
ou

th
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 -
 n

ew
 a

llo
ca

tio
ns

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

S
o

u
th

 C
am

b
ri

d
g

es
h

ir
e 

- 
N

ew
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts

N
ew

 S
et

tle
m

en
ts

 -
 e

xi
st

in
g 

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
0

10
21

6
26

4
30

5
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
40

0
5,

59
5

N
ew

 S
et

tle
m

en
ts

 -
 n

ew
 a

llo
ca

tio
ns

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

60
10

0
22

0
22

0
32

0
42

0
52

0
62

0
62

0
3,

10
0

S
o

u
th

 C
am

b
ri

d
g

es
h

ir
e

E
xi

st
in

g 
al

lo
ca

tio
ns

 in
 R

ur
al

 A
re

a
25

5
26

4
33

4
31

0
20

4
11

0
15

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1,
49

2

N
ew

 a
llo

ca
tio

ns
 in

 R
ur

al
 A

re
a

0
57

19
2

26
5

29
0

24
5

20
0

21
0

25
0

16
0

15
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
2,

11
9

U
n

al
lo

ca
te

d
 S

it
es

 w
it

h
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 P

er
m

is
si

o
n

C
am

br
id

ge
89

71
14

4
0

11
0

14
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
32

9

S
ou

th
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

35
5

37
3

25
1

76
34

5
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1,
09

4

W
in

d
fa

ll 
A

llo
w

an
ce

C
am

br
id

ge
 -

 W
in

df
al

l A
llo

w
an

ce
0

0
12

3
12

3
12

3
12

3
12

3
12

3
12

3
12

3
12

3
12

3
12

4
12

4
12

4
12

4
12

4
1,

85
0

S
ou

th
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 -
 W

in
df

al
l A

llo
w

an
ce

0
0

0
10

0
15

0
15

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
20

0
2,

60
0

C
am

br
id

ge
35

2
48

1
1,

29
9

2,
13

2

S
ou

th
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

67
8

55
9

63
6

1,
87

3

1,
03

0
1,

04
0

1,
93

5
1,

31
6

1,
81

1
3,

08
9

2,
83

7
2,

77
6

2,
69

6
2,

14
2

2,
00

9
1,

97
4

1,
62

2
1,

63
5

1,
45

5
1,

37
1

1,
34

9
1,

35
9

1,
47

6
1,

46
7

36
,3

89

10
7%

S
u

p
p

ly
 in

 Y
ea

rs
%

 o
f 

S
u

p
p

ly
 A

va
ila

b
le

L
iv

er
p

o
o

l M
et

h
o

d
 2

0%
5.

8
11

6%

F
ig

u
re

 4
.1

0:
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 T

ra
je

ct
o

ry
 f

o
r 

G
re

at
er

 C
am

b
ri

d
g

e

N
O

T
E

: A
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 G

re
at

er
 C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 D
ea

l, 
th

e 
pa

rt
ne

rs
 h

av
e 

co
m

m
itt

ed
 to

 d
el

iv
er

in
g 

1,
00

0 
ad

di
tio

na
l n

ew
 h

om
es

 o
n 

ru
ra

l e
xc

ep
tio

n 
si

te
s 

by
 2

03
1.

 T
he

se
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 d
w

el
lin

gs
 h

av
e 

no
t b

ee
n 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
ho

us
in

g 
tr

aj
ec

to
ry

.

S
ed

g
ef

ie
ld

 M
et

h
o

d
 5

%
6.

1
12

3%

S
ed

g
ef

ie
ld

 M
et

h
o

d
 2

0%
5.

4

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

s

A
ct

u
al

 C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

s

T
o

ta
l

H
o

u
si

n
g

 T
ra

je
ct

o
ry

 J
o

in
t 

F
iv

e 
Y

ea
r 

S
u

p
p

ly
 T

o
ta

l
11

,8
29

L
iv

er
p

o
o

l M
et

h
o

d
 5

%
6.

6
13

2%

H
o

u
si

n
g

 T
ra

je
ct

o
ry

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

20
11

/1
2 

to
 2

03
0/

31

A
llo

ca
ti

o
n

s

C
am

b
ri

d
g

e 
U

rb
an

 A
re

a

F
ri

n
g

e 
S

it
es

W
in

d
fa

lls

A
nn

ua
l M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
t

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14

Page 189



0

20
0

40
0

60
0

80
0

1,
00

0

1,
20

0

1,
40

0

1,
60

0

1,
80

0

2,
00

0

20
11
!

20
12

20
12
!

20
13

20
13
!

20
14

20
14
!

20
15

20
15
!

20
16

20
16
!

20
17

20
17
!

20
18

20
18
!

20
19

20
19
!

20
20

20
20
!

20
21

20
21
!

20
22

20
22
!

20
23

20
23
!

20
24

20
24
!

20
25

20
25
!

20
26

20
26
!

20
27

20
27
!

20
28

20
28
!

20
29

20
29
!

20
30

20
30
!

20
31

G
re
at
er
!C
am

br
id
ge
!H
ou

si
ng
!T
ra
je
ct
or
y

(C
am

br
id
ge
!a
nd

!S
ou

th
!C
am

br
id
ge
sh
ir
e)

Ca
m
br
id
ge
"A
ct
ua
l"a
nd

"P
re
di
ct
ed

"C
om

pl
et
io
ns

So
ut
h"
Ca
m
br
id
ge
sh
ire

"A
ct
ua
l"a
nd

"P
re
di
ct
ed

"C
om

pl
et
io
ns

Tr
en

dl
in
e"
(C
am

br
id
ge
)

Tr
en

dl
in
e"
(S
ou

th
"C
am

br
id
ge
sh
ire

)

A
nn

ua
l M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
t

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14

F
ig

ur
e 

4.
11

Page 190



0

50
0

1,
00
0

1,
50
0

2,
00
0

2,
50
0

3,
00
0

3,
50
0

20
11
!

20
12

20
12
!

20
13

20
13
!

20
14

20
14
!

20
15

20
15
!

20
16

20
16
!

20
17

20
17
!

20
18

20
18
!

20
19

20
19
!

20
20

20
20
!

20
21

20
21
!

20
22

20
22
!

20
23

20
23
!

20
24

20
24
!

20
25

20
25
!

20
26

20
26
!

20
27

20
27
!

20
28

20
28
!

20
29

20
29
!

20
30

20
30
!

20
31

G
re
at
er
!C
am

br
id
ge
!H
ou

si
ng
!T
ra
je
ct
or
y!

(C
am

br
id
ge
!a
nd

!S
ou

th
!C
am

br
id
ge
sh
ir
e)

Ca
m
br
id
ge
"A
ct
ua
l"a
nd

"P
re
di
ct
ed

"C
om

pl
et
io
ns

So
ut
h"
Ca
m
br
id
ge
sh
ire

"A
ct
ua
l"a
nd

"P
re
di
ct
ed

"C
om

pl
et
io
ns

Co
m
bi
ne

d"
A
nn

ua
l"R
eq

ui
re
m
en

t

A
nn

ua
l M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
t

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14

Page 191



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

46 

The Five Year Housing Land Supply 
 

4.15 One of the Government's key housing objectives is to ensure that the planning 
system delivers a flexible, responsive supply of land. The government through the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that all local planning 
authorities identify sufficient specific deliverable sites to deliver five years worth of 
housing against their requirement set out in their development plan. The NPPF in 
paragraph 47 also introduced a requirement to provide an additional buffer of either 
5% or, where there has been a record of persistent under delivery of housing, a 
buffer of 20% to provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to 
ensure choice and competition in the market for land.   
 

4.16 For sites to be included in the Council’s five year land supply they must be 
considered deliverable; the NPPF states that deliverable sites are those that are: 
available – the site is available now; suitable – the site offers a suitable location for 
development now and would contribute towards the creation of mixed, sustainable 
communities; and achievable – there is a reasonable prospect that housing will be 
delivered on site within five years. An assessment of each site in the housing 
trajectory is included in Appendix 1. 
 

4.17 The Council decided in June 2013 that the housing target included in the Proposed 
Submission Local Plan (July 2013) should provide the basis for calculating 5-year 
housing land supply pending the adoption of the new Local Plan. The housing target 
is 19,000 dwellings for 2011-2031 and this comprises the current ‘objectively 
assessed needs’ required by the NPPF and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG). It is identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) for the Cambridge Sub Region Housing Market Area (Chapter 12, May 
2013). Relying on the SHMA to calculate South Cambridgeshire’s five-year housing 
land supply has been supported in planning appeal decisions issued in October 2013 
and June 201413. The Inspectors agreed with the Council that the SHMA for the 
Cambridge Sub Region contains a more up to date and thus more reliable 
assessment of housing need in the district than the housing target contained within 
the adopted LDF. 
 

4.18 There are two methodologies for calculating five year housing land supply. The 
Liverpool methodology assumes that any shortfall will be made up during the 
remaining years of the plan period. The Sedgefield methodology requires the whole 
of any previous shortfall to be made up within the five-year assessment period. The 
NPPF requires that a 5% buffer be provided in the five year supply calculation to 
provide greater confidence that the housing requirement will be delivered. In areas of 
persistent historic undersupply the buffer should be 20%. The Local Plan (submitted 
in March 2014) assumes a 5% buffer and the Liverpool methodology. 
 
 

                                                
13 Comberton Road, Toft: http://plan.scambs.gov.uk/swiftlg/MediaTemp/1124716-465483.pdf 
Cody Road, Waterbeach: http://plan.scambs.gov.uk/swiftlg/MediaTemp/1127865-492475.pdf  
Bannold Road, Waterbeach: http://plan.scambs.gov.uk/swiftlg/MediaTemp/1128572-492473.pdf      

Page 192



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

47 

4.19 In June 2014, a planning inspector considering two planning appeals14 in Waterbeach 
concluded that the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of land. 
He considered that a 20% buffer should be applied and the Sedgefield methodology 
of calculation be used. He concluded that the Council could only demonstrate either 
3.5 years or 3.9 years. The appropriate buffer and methodology will be issues for 
consideration at the Local Plan examination. 
 

4.20 In response to a number of changes in circumstance15 since the Local Plan was 
submitted in March 2014, the Council agreed in September 2014 to a Memorandum 
of Understanding on the Greater Cambridge Joint Housing Trajectory with 
Cambridge City Council. This additional memorandum confirms the agreement 
between the two Councils under the duty to co-operate that the housing trajectories 
for the two areas should be considered together, for the purposes of phasing housing 
delivery, including for calculating 5-year housing land supply for plan-making and 
decision-taking. The Council has set out proposed modifications to the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) to give effect to the Memorandum in the Council’s 
statement submitted to the Local Plan examination hearing for Matter 1: Legal 
Requirements. The merits of the Memorandum of Understanding will be an issue for 
consideration at appropriate hearing sessions of the Local Plan examination. 
 

4.21 In view of the various ways that five year supply could be calculated, and pending the 
outcome of consideration at the Local Plan examination, the five year land supply for 
2014-2019 for both South Cambridgeshire and the Greater Cambridge area has been 
summarised in the tables below. These calculations use the housing targets based 
on the objectively assessed needs identified in the SHMA. The calculations reflect 
that Cambridge City Council is demonstrably delivering housing within the urban 
areas and urban fringe sites in the early and middle parts of the plan period. South 
Cambridgeshire District Council is committed to delivery of housing in the urban 
fringe sites and at new settlements, with an emphasis on the middle and latter parts 
of the plan period, but with an element of village housing allocations to provide some 
early delivery.   
 

4.22 The phasing of development outlined in the submitted plans follows the development 
sequence and carries forward the strategy from the adopted plans. As expected, 
development is coming forward within the urban area of Cambridge and on the edge 
of Cambridge early in the plan period with new settlements following later in the plan 
period as they have a longer lead-in time before the start of delivery. In particular, the 
fringe sites that were released from the Green Belt in the last round of plan making 
are now well underway and delivering new homes, jobs and associated infrastructure 
on the ground. These cross-boundary sites are logically building out from the edge of 
the existing built-up area with more homes being built in Cambridge in the early part 
of the plan period and then moving into South Cambridgeshire later on. When the two 
areas are taken together, whichever methodology or buffer is used, they provide a 
5-year supply overall. This is a logical and appropriate way of delivering sites to meet 

                                                
14 Cody Road, Waterbeach: http://plan.scambs.gov.uk/swiftlg/MediaTemp/1127865-492475.pdf  
Bannold Road, Waterbeach: http://plan.scambs.gov.uk/swiftlg/MediaTemp/1128572-492473.pdf      
15 A detailed list of reasons is given in the Council’s statement to the Local Plan examination in 
relation to Matter 1: Legal Requirements (paragraph 34): 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/sites/www.scambs.gov.uk/files/documents/Matter%201%20Statement%2
0CCC%20-%20SCDC.pdf  

Page 193



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

48 

the combined objectively assessed housing need across the Greater Cambridge 
area, consistent with the development strategy contained in both submitted Local 
Plans.  

 

‘Liverpool’ Methodology South Cambs 
Greater Cambridge 

(City & South Cambs) 

Five year supply (with 5%) 5.3 6.6 

Five year supply (with 20%) 4.6 5.8 

 

‘Sedgefield’ Methodology South Cambs 
Greater Cambridge 

(City & South Cambs) 

Five year supply (with 5%) 4.7 6.1 

Five year supply (with 20%) 4.1 5.4 

 
4.23 Whilst it is considered that the SHMA contains a more up to date and thus more 

reliable assessment of housing need in the district than the housing target contained 
within the LDF, against the housing target in the adopted Core Strategy of 20,000 
homes between 1999 and 2016, the Council’s 5-year housing land supply for 2014-
2019 is: 

 

 
‘Liverpool’ 

Methodology 

‘Sedgefield’ 

Methodology 

Five year supply (with 5%) 2.2 2.2 

Five year supply (with 20%) 1.9 1.9 

 
4.24 The full five year land supply calculations for 2014-2019 for both South 

Cambridgeshire and the Greater Cambridge area are included in figure 4.12. 
 

Page 194



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

49 

Figure 4.12: Calculation of the five-year land supply for 2014-2019 (Indicators CO-H2c and 
M1) 
 

‘Liverpool’ Methodology South Cambs 
Greater Cambridge 

(City & South Cambs) 

(a)  Housing provision required 

in the Local Plan 2011 - 2031 
19,000 33,000 

(b)  Homes completed up to 31 

March 2014 
1,873 4,005 

(c )  Number of dwellings left to 

provide (= a - b) 
17,127 28,995 

(d)  Number of years of plan left 17 17 

(e)  Annualised average 

requirement 
1,007 1,706 

(f)  Five year supply requirement 

(= e x 5) 
5,037 8,528 

(g)  With 5% buffer 5,289 8,954 

(h)  With 20% buffer 6,045 10,234 

(i)  Number of dwellings 

predicted to be completed 
5,604 11,829 

Five year supply 

(= i÷f x 5) 
5.6 6.9 

Five year supply (with 5%) 

(= i÷g x 5) 
5.3 6.6 

Five year supply (with 20%) 

(= i÷h x 5) 
4.6 5.8 

 
 
 

Page 195



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

50 

 

‘Sedgefield’ Methodology South Cambs 
Greater Cambridge 

(City & South Cambs) 

(a)  Housing provision required 

in the Local Plan 2011 - 2031 
19,000 33,000 

(b)  Requirement up to 31 March 

2014 (based on annualised 

average requirement) 

2,850 4,950 

(c) Dwellings completed up to 31 

March 2014 
1,873 4,005 

(d) Shortfall against annualised 

average requirement 
977 945 

(e)  Five year supply 

requirement 
5,727 9,195 

(f)  With 5% buffer 6,013 9,655 

(g)  With 20% buffer 6,872 11,034 

(h)  Number of dwellings 

predicted to be completed 
5,604 11,829 

Five year supply 

(= h÷e x 5) 
4.9 6.4 

Five year supply (with 5%) 

(= h÷f x 5) 
4.7 6.1 

Five year supply (with 20%) 

(= h÷g x 5) 
4.1 5.4 

 

Page 196



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

51 

 
‘Liverpool’ 

Methodology 
South Cambs  

‘Sedgefield’ 

Methodology 
South Cambs 

(a)  Housing provision 

required in the Core 

Strategy 1999-2016 

20,000  

a)  Housing provision 

required in the Core 

Strategy 1999-2016 

20,000 

(b)  Homes completed 

up to 31 March 2014 
11,155  

(b)  Requirement up to 

31 March 2014 (based 

on annualised average 

requirement) 

17,647 

(c )  Number of 

dwellings left to provide 

(= a - b) 

8,845  
(c) Dwellings completed 

up to 31 March 2014 
11,155 

(d)  Number of years of 

plan left 
2  

(d) Shortfall against 

annualised average 

requirement 

6,492 

(e)  Annualised average 

requirement 
4,423  

(e)  Five year supply 

requirement 
12,374 

(f)  Five year supply 

requirement (^ ) 
12,373  (f)  With 5% buffer 12,993 

(g)  With 5% buffer 12,992  (g)  With 20% buffer 14,849 

(h)  With 20% buffer 14,848  

(h)  Number of dwellings 

predicted to be 

completed 

5,604 

(i)  Number of dwellings 

predicted to be 

completed 

5,604  
Five year supply 

(= h÷e x 5) 
2.3 

Five year supply 

(= i÷f x 5) 
2.3  

Five year supply (with 

5%) 

(= h÷f x 5) 

2.2 

Five year supply (with 

5%) 

(= i÷g x 5) 

2.2  

Five year supply (with 

20%) 

(= h÷g x 5) 

1.9 

Five year supply (with 

20%) 

(= i÷h x 5) 

1.9  

  

 
^ As the end of the Core Strategy plan period is 2016 and the five year supply period of 2014-2019 
goes beyond this, the five year requirement (f) has been calculated using the residual annualised 
average requirement (e) for the remaining 2 years of the plan period (2014-2016) plus three extra 
years (2016-2019) at the annual average requirement for the plan period as a whole of 1,176 
dwellings. 
 
 

Page 197



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

52 

Housing Completed on Previously Developed Land (PDL) 
 

4.25 Making efficient use of land, including through the reuse of previously developed land 
(PDL), is central to the approach to delivering sustainable development. Core 
Strategy Policy ST/3 includes a target that between 1999 and 2016 at least 37% of 
new dwellings should either be located on PDL or utilise existing buildings. 
 

4.26 In June 2010, the Government amended Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing to 
remove private residential gardens from the definition of PDL. The Government has 
made this change to remove the priority given to development of garden land to give 
local authorities the opportunity to consider in a more balanced way the impact of 
‘garden grabbing’ on local character when determining such residential proposals. 
The monitoring data below takes account of this change: any planning permissions 
granted since June 2010 on garden land have been classified as ‘greenfield’, 
whereas those granted before June 2010 have been classified as PDL. 
 

4.27 The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 53) states that local planning 
authorities should consider the case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate 
development of residential gardens, for example where development would cause 
harm to the local area. The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) therefore includes 
Policy H/15 that sets out the criteria to be considered when new dwellings are 
proposed on land used or last used as a garden.    

 
Figure 4.13: Cumulative percentage of dwellings completed on PDL (Indicator LOA6) 
 

 

[For data, see figure A.1, Appendix 2] 

Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 

Page 198



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

53 

Figure 4.14: Percentage of new and converted dwellings completed on PDL (Indicators CO-
H3 and M4) 
 

 
 
[For data, see figure A.2, Appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 199



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

54 

Housing Density 
 

4.28 Higher residential densities help to achieve more sustainable forms of development. 
The density of a development needs to be compatible with local character to ensure 
high quality development, whilst higher densities can help to reduce the use of 
‘greenfield’ land and to make the best use of the limited amount of land available for 
development. Development Control Policy HG/1 requires that residential 
developments should achieve average net densities of at least 30 dwellings per 
hectare (dph), and that in more sustainable locations higher average net densities of 
at least 40 dph should be achieved. 
 

4.29 In June 2010, the Government amended Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing to 
remove the national minimum housing density of 30 dph. This change to national 
policy does not change the local policy target of 30 dph set out in Policy HG/1; 
however, it does indicate that a more balanced approach with local circumstances 
should be considered in all cases, rather than this being only in exceptional 
circumstances as in the adopted policy. 
 

4.30 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) requires developments to achieve an 
average net density of 30 dph in Rural Centres, Minor Rural Centres, and Group 
Villages and 40 dph in urban extensions to Cambridge and in new settlements (see 
Policy H/7). Density guidelines are not needed for Infill Villages as a design led 
approach taking account of local circumstances should be used for developments 
within or adjoining these villages.  

 

Page 200



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

55 

Figure 4.15: Net density of completed new housing developments on sites of 9 or more 
dwellings (Indicators LOB2 and M22) 
 

 
[For data, see figure A.3, Appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 201



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

56 

Figure 4.16: Average net density of completed new housing developments on sites of 9 or 
more dwellings (in dwellings per hectare, dph) (Indicators LOB3 and M21) 
 

 
 
[For data, see figure A.4, Appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.17: Residential densities of Cambourne (average net density of completed new 
housing developments at Cambourne, in dwellings per hectare, dph) (Indicator SSLO1) 
 

 1999-2014 

Great Cambourne 28.7 

Lower Cambourne 29.8 

Upper Cambourne 35.3 

Cambourne (total) 30.3 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council – Research & Monitoring Team 
 
 
 

Page 202



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

57 

Affordable Housing 
 

4.31 The availability of housing that is affordable and accessible to those in need in South 
Cambridgeshire is a major and growing issue. The delivery of affordable housing is 
also a key national government priority. Development Control Policy HG/3 seeks 
the provision of 40% or more affordable housing on all planning permissions for two 
or more dwellings. The Council may also grant planning permission for 100% 
affordable schemes within or adjoining villages, as an exception to the normal 
operation of the policies in the plan, if there is identified local housing need (see 
Development Control Policy HG/5). In addition to affordable housing provided 
through the planning system, some new market properties can be purchased for use 
as affordable dwellings through Government equity loan initiatives such as Homebuy 
Direct or Firstbuy; these affordable dwellings are termed ‘acquisitions’. 
 

4.32 Policy HG/3 does not include a target for the mix of housing tenures of affordable 
housing within a development; instead it requires the mix to be determined by local 
circumstances at the time of the planning permission having regard to the nature of 
known housing needs. The Council’s Affordable Housing SPD (adopted in March 
2010) states that the district wide targets of 70% social rented and 30% intermediate 
housing, as identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment, should be 
considered as the starting point for negotiations on individual sites. However, for the 
urban extensions to Cambridge, the SPD suggests that the starting point for 
negotiations on these sites should be 75% social rented and 25% intermediate 
housing.  
 

4.33 A new ‘affordable rent’ model, introduced in April 2011, provides affordable rented 
homes to tenants at a rate up to a maximum of 80% of local market rent. Affordable 
rented homes are allocated in the same way as social housing. 
 

4.34 The affordable housing policies in the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) require 
the provision of 40% affordable housing on all planning permissions which result in a 
net increase of 3 or more dwellings (see Policy H/9) and allow the provision of 
affordable housing on small sites adjoining villages as exception sites  (see Policy 
H/10). The threshold for the provision of affordable housing has been raised to 
encourage more small scale developments to come forward. Policy H/10 allows 
consideration to be given to exception sites providing a minimum amount of market 
housing if it can be demonstrated that a 100% affordable housing scheme is 
unviable.   

 

Page 203



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

58 

Figure 4.18: Gross affordable housing completions (Indicators CO-H5 and M25) 
 

 
 

Number of completions that are affordable 

 

New affordable 
dwellings from 
… 

19
99

-2
00

1 

20
01

-2
00

2 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

planning 
permissions 142 38 127 271 115 285 238 463 275 281 205 192 105 207 

acquisitions n/k n/k n/k n/k n/k n/k n/k n/k 19 17 1 10 0 11 

  

[For data, see figure A.5, Appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council; Affordable Homes – South 
Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Page 204



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

59 

Figure 4.19: Affordable housing completions by tenure (Indicator LOA2) 
 

 
 
[For data, see figure A.6, Appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council; Affordable Homes – South 
Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure 4.20: Affordable housing completions on rural exception sites (Indicators LOA3 and 
M26) 
 

  

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4

Number of 
affordable 
dwellings built on 
rural exception 
sites 

36 
(1 site) 

6 
(1 site) 

85 
(5 sites) 

66 
(4 sites) 

60 
(3 sites) 

33 
(3 sites) 

27 
(3 sites) 

88 
(5 sites) 

19 
(2 sites) 

72 
(6 sites) 

% of district 
affordable housing 
total 

31% 2% 36% 14% 22% 12% 13% 46% 18% 35% 

 
Source: Affordable Homes – South Cambridgeshire District Council; Research & Monitoring – 
Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 205



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

60 

Figure 4.21: Affordable dwellings permitted as a percentage of all dwellings permitted on 
sites of 2 or more dwellings where Policy HG/3 applies (Indicator LOA8) 
 

  

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Affordable dwellings permitted as a % of all dwellings 
permitted on sites where Policy HG/3 is applicable 34% 33% 40% 40% 39% 37% 

 
NOTES: 
 The data includes planning permissions where Policy HG/3 applies and where the target is to 

achieve a 40% affordable housing contribution either onsite or offsite through a commuted sum 
contribution. 

 It excludes planning permissions where the original planning permission was registered or 
granted before the adoption of Policy HG/3, planning permissions granted at individual parcels at 
large sites where a single parcel will be either entirely affordable or market housing where the 
affordable housing contribution is captured in the year that the whole site is permitted (e.g. 
Cambourne and Orchard Park), rural exception sites (sites of 100% affordable housing permitted 
as an exception to policy, usually outside of village development frameworks), and planning 
permissions for 100% affordable dwellings within village development frameworks (that are not 
exception sites). 

 The data includes outline, reserved matters and full planning permissions, and therefore the 
same site may be included in multiple years as a site receives outline planning permission and 
later reserved matters permission or if a revised planning permission is approved. 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council; South Cambridgeshire District 
Council – Planning & New Communities  

 

Page 206



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

61 

Gypsy & Traveller Sites 
 

4.35 Local authorities are required to make provision for Gypsy & Traveller pitches and 
Travelling Showpeople plots within their local authority, as nationally there is a 
shortage of sites available for Gypsy & Traveller families to use. In June 2012, the 
Council approved a new Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment, 
prepared by Cambridgeshire County Council, which calculates need between 2011 
and 2031 in the nine districts in the study area. This is part of the evidence base for 
establishing South Cambridgeshire’s requirement for Gypsy & Traveller pitches in the 
new Local Plan. 
 

4.36 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) sets out a requirement for at least 85 
permanent Gypsy & Traveller pitches to be provided between 2011 and 2031 to meet 
the objectively assessed need in the district (see Policies S/5 and H/19) and for at 
least 4 Travelling Showpeople plots to be provided between 2011 and 2016 (see 
Policy H/19). The Local Plan also includes policies which seek opportunities to 
deliver Gypsy & Traveller pitches within large scale new communities (see Policy 
H/20) and set out the criteria to be used when assessing planning permissions (see 
Policies H/21 and H/22).      

 
Figure 4.22: Gypsy & Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople plots completed 
(Indicators CO-H4, LOA14 and M27) 
 

 
 

Page 207



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

62 

At 31 March 2014: 
 a further 2 Gypsy & Traveller pitches had temporary planning permission (time limited) 

 

[For data, see figure A.7, Appendix 2] 

 
Source: Planning & New Communities – South Cambridgeshire District Council; Research & 
Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.23: Number of caravans on unauthorised Gypsy & Traveller sites (Indicators LOA4 
and M28) 
 

Number of caravans on … 

Unauthorised 
private sites with 

no planning 
permission 

Unauthorised 
tolerated sites 

Unauthorised 
encampments 

July 2007 79 2 2 

January 2008 75 8 2 

July 2008 34 3 3 

January 2009 29 1 0 

July 2009 24 1 11 

January 2010 20 0 0 

July 2010 14 0 0 

January 2011 11 0 0 

July 2011 4 0 0 

January 2012 16 0 0 

July 2012 12 0 0 

January 2013 16 0 0 

July 2013 4 0 4 

January 2014 n/k n/k n/k 

July 2014 6 0 0 

 
Source: CLG Caravan Count 
 

Page 208



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

63 

Housing Development by Settlement Category 
 

4.37 As a major part of the Cambridge Sub-Region, with its successful economy based 
largely on the high tech and biotech industries, the pressures for housing 
development in South Cambridgeshire to support this economic success are strong 
and must be carefully managed to ensure that the qualities and characteristics of the 
area are not damaged. The adopted development strategy focuses growth in a 
limited number of sustainable major developments on the edge of Cambridge and at 
the new town of Northstowe. Alongside this, Core Strategy Objective ST/e sets out 
the Council’s aim to protect the varied character of its settlements by ensuring that 
the scale and location of development in each settlement is in keeping with its size, 
character and function. 
 

4.38 Core Strategy Policy ST/2 sets out a sequential approach to housing development 
in the district based on the categorisation of the settlement; development will be 
concentrated firstly on the edge of Cambridge, followed by the new town of 
Northstowe, and then finally within the rural areas. Each of South Cambridgeshire’s 
rural settlements are categorised by their sustainability into a hierarchy of Rural 
Centres, Minor Rural Centres, Group Villages and Infill Villages. Within the rural 
areas, development will be concentrated firstly on Rural Centres and then the other 
settlements in order of sustainability. Based on their categorisation, indicative 
maximum residential development scheme sizes for the less sustainable settlements 
are set out in Core Strategy Policies ST/4, ST/5, ST/6 and ST/7. 

 
4.39 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) carries forward the sustainable 

development strategy from the adopted Local Development Framework. Policy S/6 
sets out a sequential approach to housing development in the district based on the 
categorisation of the settlement; development will be concentrated firstly on the edge 
of Cambridge, followed by the new settlements, and then finally within the rural areas 
at Rural Centres and Minor Rural Centres. The Local Plan still categorises each 
settlement in the district by its sustainability and sets out indicative maximum 
residential development scheme sizes for each category of settlements (see Policies 
S/8, S/9, S/10 and S/11). A small number of settlements have changed category. 
 

4.40 The indicative maximum residential scheme sizes are the same in both the adopted 
Local Development Framework and new Local Plan. They are as follows: 

 
 Individual indicative scheme size limit 

Rural Centres No limit. 

Minor Rural Centres Up to 30 dwellings. 

Group Villages Up to 8 dwellings, however development may exceptionally consist of up to about 
15 dwellings where this would make best use of a brownfield site. 

Infill Villages 
Up to 2 dwellings, except in very exceptional circumstances when up to 8 
dwellings may be permitted if this would lead to the sustainable recycling of a 
brownfield site that will bring a positive overall benefit to the village. 

 
 
 

Page 209



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

64 

Figure 4.24: Average size of housing developments (in dwellings) split by settlement 
category (Indicator LOE1i) 
 

  
  

Edge of 
Cambridge 

Rural 
Centres 

Minor 
Rural 

Centres 

Group 
Villages 

Infill 
Villages 

Outside 
Village 

Frameworks 

Built: 
2006-2007 

A 34.8 35.2 51.3 68.2 30.0 - 

W - 3.2 2.1 1.6 1.3 5.2 

Built: 
2007-2008 

A 34.1 52.1 26.2 41.3 33.0 - 

W 7.5 4.6 3.2 1.4 1.2 5.2 

Built: 
2008-2009 

A 44.9 62.1 52.5 53.8 - - 

W 0.3 6.6 4.5 1.3 1.7 4.3 

Built: 
2009-2010 

A 72.0 63.3 89.0 - - - 

W -1.0 8.2 3.7 2.2 1.0 1.5 

Built: 
2010-2011 

A 74.7 64.9 101.3 12.5 - - 

W 0.5 9.2 2.3 2.4 1.1 1.8 

Built: 
2011-2012 

A 93.0 35.8 84.0 67.2 - 26.0 

W 1.0 7.3 1.4 1.9 1.0 4.1 

Built: 
2012-2013 

A 34.0 35.4 118.5 40.6 - 26.0 

W 0.0 3.2 2.0 0.8 0.9 1.8 

Built: 
2013-2014 

A 16.0 58.5 134.0 159.0 - - 

W -1.0 5.3 4.4 1.2 0.7 6.0 

Under 
construction: 
at 31 March 

2014 

A 45.3 87.5 94.5 - - - 

W - 12.3 7.5 1.3 1.0 5.6 

 
A = dwellings on allocated land; W = windfalls (dwellings on land not allocated) 
 
Settlement category as in the adopted Local Development Framework, see Core Strategy Policies 
ST/4, ST/5, ST/6 and ST/7. 
 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 210



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

65 

Figure 4.25: Largest housing development in each settlement category (Indicator LOE1ii) 
 

  
  

Edge of 
Cambridge 

Rural 
Centres 

Minor 
Rural 

Centres 

Group 
Villages 

Infill 
Villages 

Outside 
Village 

Frameworks 

Built: 
2006-2007 

A 72 65 78 144 59 - 

W - 16 10 10 6 40 

Built: 
2007-2008 

A 88 110 78 144 59 - 

W 14 46 54 11 11 40 

Built: 
2008-2009 

A 88 110 100 105 - - 

W 1 77 22 14 11 37 

Built: 
2009-2010 

A 98 110 100 - - - 

W 0 77 22 17 2 12 

Built: 
2010-2011 

A 98 110 164 14 - - 

W 1 77 11 28 3 20 

Built: 
2011-2012 

A 98 110 160 159 - 26 

W 1 50 6 14 4 39 

Built: 
2012-2013 

A 34 114 160 159 - 26 

W 0 50 9 3 1 11 

Built: 
2013-2014 

A 16 114 160 159 - - 

W -1 72 85 13 1 89 

Under 
construction: 
at 31 March 

2014 

A 79 114 108 - - - 

W - 72 85 10 2 89 

 
A = dwellings on allocated land; W = windfalls (dwellings on land not allocated) 
 
Settlement category as in the adopted Local Development Framework, see Core Strategy Policies 
ST/4, ST/5, ST/6 and ST/7. 
 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 211



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

66 

Figure 4.26: Total dwellings built by settlement category (Indicators LOE1iii and M2) 
 

 
 
[For data, see figure A.8, Appendix 2] 

 
Settlement category as in the adopted Local Development Framework, see Core Strategy Policies 
ST/4, ST/5, ST/6 and ST/7. 
 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 

 
 

 

Page 212



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

67 

Housing Mix 
 

4.41 A key element in ensuring that new homes meet local needs is providing homes of 
the appropriate type, size and affordability. The South Cambridgeshire Housing 
Needs Survey 2002 identified a need for 89% of new market housing to be 1 or 2 
bedroom properties, to compensate for the high proportion of 4 or more bedroom 
properties built between 1991 and 2001. Development Control Policy HG/2 goes 
some way to achieving this aim by requiring that in developments of up to 10 
dwellings, market properties should provide: at least 40% of homes with 1 or 2 
bedrooms; approximately 25% of homes with 3 bedrooms; and approximately 25% of 
homes with 4 or more bedrooms. The supporting text to this policy advises that the 
same targets be the starting point for negotiations on larger sites. 
 

4.42 Policy H/8 of the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) sets out a housing mix for 
market properties within developments of 10 or more dwellings of: at least 30% of 
homes with 1 or 2 bedrooms; at least 30% of homes with 3 bedrooms; and at least 
30% of homes with 4 or more bedrooms. The remaining 10% is a flexibility allowance 
that can be added to any size taking account of local circumstances. The size of 
developments that the housing mix policy applies to has been changed as there is 
more opportunity for larger sites to deliver a mix of different sized properties.     
 

4.43 To help ensure that our housing stock will better meet the needs of all our residents, 
the Local Plan introduces in Policy H/8 a requirement for all affordable homes and 1 
in 20 market homes in a development to be built to meet the Lifetime Homes 
Standard. The Lifetime Homes Standard is a national standard for ensuring that 
spaces and features in homes can readily meet, or be simply adapted to meet, the 
needs of most people, including those with reduced mobility.     
 

4.44 For a limited number of new dwellings, data on the number of bedrooms is not 
known, although this is generally only for non-permanent dwellings such mobile 
homes or static caravans. 

  

Page 213



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

68 

Figure 4.27: Housing completions by number of bedrooms (Indicators LOA1 and M23) 
 

 
 
[For data, see figure A.9, Appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
 

Page 214



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

69 

Figure 4.28: Market housing completions on developments of up to 10 dwellings by number 
of bedrooms (Indicator LOA5) 
 

 
 
[For data, see figure A.10, Appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
 

Page 215



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

70 

Housing Quality 
 

4.45 All new development will have an impact on its surroundings and the predominantly 
rural character of the district makes it particularly important that new development is 
sensitively located and designed to a high quality. The Council’s Development 
Control Policy DP/2 seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high quality 
design that will enhance or preserve the character of the local area and important 
environmental assets, as well as providing a sense of place and respecting local 
distinctiveness. Policy HQ/1 of the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) sets out 
the design principles that all development should adhere to in order to secure high 
quality places and make a positive contribution to the local and wider context. 
 

4.46 Building for Life (BfL) is a Government endorsed industry standard for well designed 
homes and neighbourhoods. It is also a tool designed to help local authorities assess 
the quality of completed developments; hence it is a methodology used for monitoring 
housing quality in the district. The Council has completed BfL assessments for all 
developments of 10 or more dwellings where the whole development (or parcel of a 
major development) was completed in the monitoring year.  
 

4.47 BfL was redesigned in 2012 to reflect the National Planning Policy Framework’s 
commitment to build more and better homes through community participation in 
place-making. BfL 12 is based on a traffic light system and it recommends that new 
developments secure as many ‘greens’ as possible out of a maximum total of 12, 
minimise the number of ‘ambers’, and avoid ‘reds’. The previous methodology (BfL 
20) has been discontinued and hence the absolute scoring system for developments 
i.e. Poor, Average, Silver and Gold are no longer applied. A further revision to BfL 12 
(in 2015) suggests that developments that achieve 9 ‘greens’ are eligible for ‘Built for 
Life’ accreditation and those that achieve 12 ‘greens’ are recognised as ‘Built for Life’ 
Outstanding 

 
Figure 4.29: Quality of new housing developments – Building for Life 20 Scores for Housing 
Developments Completed 2009-2013 (Indicators CO-H6 and M15) 
 

Building for Life standard 
Number of developments 

2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 

Gold 0 0 3 0 

Silver 1 2 5 0 

Average 11 4 9 6 

Poor 0 6 1 2 

Total 12 12 18 8 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council – Planning & New Communities 
 
 

Page 216



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

71 

Figure 4.30: Quality of new housing developments – Building for Life 12 Scores for Housing 
Developments Completed in 2013-2014 (Indicators CO-H6 and M15) 
 
(i) By development 
 

Location No. of dwellings 
Scores 

Green Amber Red 

Land between 26-58, Meldreth Road, Shepreth 12 10 2 0 

Phase 3b, Land west of Longstanton 159 9 3 0 
22-24, Mays Avenue, Balsham 11 9 2 1 

312-322, Cambridge Road, Fulbourn 18 8 4 0 

Blue Lion, Horningsea Road, Fen Ditton 13 8 4 0 

Land adjacent to 4, Cambridge Road, Fowlmere 10 8 4 0 
Land to rear of Blacksmith’s Close, High Street, Babraham 11 8 2 2 

15-17, Whitecroft Road, Meldreth 22 6 6 0 

Parcel G, Orchard Park, Cambridge 16 7 4 1 

Brooksbank, High Street, Melbourn 13 4 5 3 
Land parcel UC01 – Upper Cambourne  116 3 8 1 

Land parcel UC06 – Upper Cambourne 25 1 10 1 

Sandy Park, Chesterton Fen Road, Milton 30 pitches 0 6 6 

West View Park, Chesterton Fen Road, Milton 18 pitches 0 1 11 
TOTAL 81 61 26 

 
(ii) By assessment criteria 
 

Q
u

es
ti

o
n

s 

Integrating into the 
Neighbourhood Creating a place Street and Home 

Total 

C
on

ne
ct

io
ns

 

F
ac

ili
tie

s 
an

d 
se

rv
ic

es
 

P
ub

lic
 tr

an
sp

or
t 

M
ee

tin
g 

lo
ca

l h
ou

si
ng

 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 

C
ha

ra
ct

er
 

W
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 th
e 

si
te

 a
nd

 
its

 c
on

te
xt

 

C
re

at
in

g 
w

el
l d

ef
in

ed
 

st
re

et
s 

an
d 

sp
ac

es
 

E
as

y 
to

 fi
nd

 y
ou

r 
w

ay
 

ar
ou

nd
 

S
tr

ee
ts

 fo
r 

al
l 

C
ar

 p
ar

ki
ng

 

P
ub

lic
 a

nd
 p

riv
at

e 
sp

ac
es

 

E
xt

er
na

l s
to

ra
ge

 a
nd

 
am

en
ity

 s
pa

ce
 

Green 5 9 6 8 4 10 9 10 5 4 4 7 81 

Amber 9 2 4 3 6 2 2 3 8 8 9 5 61 

Red 0 3 4 3 4 2 3 1 2 1 1 2 26 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council – Consultancy Unit, Planning & New Communities 
 
4.48 The Council used BfL 12 to assess 14 developments completed in 2013-2014 and 

figure 4.30 analyses the trends that emerge:  
 3 developments at Balsham, Shepreth and Longstanton have scored nine or 

more ‘greens’ and are therefore eligible to be put forward for ‘Built for Life’ 
accreditation.  

 Taking all 14 developments together, the assessments show that 48% of the 
criteria were scored as ‘green’ as they have been successfully met, 36% were 
scored as ‘amber’ as some improvement is required, and 16% were scored as 
‘red’ as they had not been complied with.  

Page 217



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

72 

 8 out of 14 developments score one or more ‘reds’. The majority of the ‘reds’ 
come from two Gypsy and Traveller sites which generally do not conform to 
typical housing typologies and layouts, and therefore struggle to conform to the 
BfL 12 assessment criteria (e.g. connections, facilities, tenure and character). 

The results show an improvement from the previous monitoring year when the BfL 20 
standard assessed the 8 developments completed in that year as being either 
average or poor. 

  
4.49 The majority of developments assessed in 2013-2014 received ‘greens’ for 

successfully addressing the following criteria: 
 Facilities and services – the developments are located close to community 

facilities;  
 Working with the site and its context – the development responds to the local 

topography, landscape features, existing building and site orientation; 
 Creating well defined streets and spaces – the buildings define and enhance the 

streets and spaces and turn corners well; and 
 Easy to find your way around – the streets are legible, and easy to move through. 

 
4.50 The results also show that developments receiving ‘ambers’ tend not to satisfy the 

categories relating to: 
 Connections – developments may not connect well with their surroundings by not 

reinforcing existing connections or forming new ones; 
 Streets for all – street designs tend to not allow them to function as social spaces; 
 Public and private spaces – the definition between the public and private spaces 

may be unclear, poorly designed or unmanaged; and 
 Car parking – resident or visitor parking may be insufficient or not well integrated 

so that it dominates the streets. 
 
4.51 Of the 14 developments, 8 have scored more than one ‘red’. The majority of ‘reds’ 

(65%) are from the two Gypsy and Traveller sites providing 48 pitches; otherwise 
there is a very low and generally evenly distributed number of ‘reds’ across the 
categories.  

 
 

Page 218



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

73 

Employment Development and Supply 
 

4.52 Core Strategy Objective ST/a requires the Council to provide an adequate and 
continuous supply of land for housing and employment in sustainable locations, to 
meet its strategic requirements. Additional employment land will be brought forward 
at Northstowe and the strategic employment locations within the Cambridge urban 
fringe sites (see Core Strategy Policy ST/8) and through the continued 
implementation of many of the Local Plan 2004 employment allocations, that have 
been carried forward into Site Specific Policies SP/12 and SP/13. 
 

4.53 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) includes in Policy S/5 that provision is 
made for 22,000 additional jobs in the district during the period 2011 to 2031 to 
support the Cambridge Cluster and to meet the current objectively assessed need. 
New employment development at existing and new research, business and industrial 
parks will deliver this requirement. The Local Plan carries forward four outstanding 
employment allocations (see Policies E/3 and E/4), but also identifies new 
employment land through the redevelopment and/or intensification of the Cambridge 
Science Park (see Policy E/1), the allocation of land adjacent to Peterhouse 
Technology Park on the edge of Cambridge (see Policy E/2), the regeneration of the 
Cambridge Northern Fringe East area (see Policy SS/4), and the inclusion of 
employment uses within the new settlements at Waterbeach and Bourn Airfield (see 
Policies SS/5 and SS/6).      
 

4.54 Policy S/1 of the Local Plan sets out the Council’s vision, which will be secured 
through the achievement of six key objectives, including objective a (see Policy S/2) 
which seeks to support growth in the district by supporting the rural economy and the 
district’s position as a world leader in research, technology based industries and 
education. 
 

4.55 For the purposes of the Annual Monitoring Report, the Council monitors employment 
development and supply by monitoring developments involving the gain or loss of 
business uses, defined as Use Classes B1-B8.   

 
Jobs 
 

Figure 4.31: Number of new jobs created (Indicator M6) 
 

 
South Cambridgeshire  Cambridge 

2011 2012  2011 2012 

Total jobs 80,000 74,000 P  98,000 100,000 P 

Jobs created  - -6,000  - +2,000 

Cumulative net additional jobs - -6,000  - +2,000 

 
P Provisional figure (that may be revised) 
 
Source: NOMIS (ONS Jobs Density) 

Page 219



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

74 

Business Completions 
 
Figure 4.32: Gross amount and type of completed employment floorspace (sqm) 
(Indicators CO-BD1i and M33) 
  

 
 

* For the period 1999-2002, data is only available for a three-year period; this figure has been split evenly across the 
three years on the graph. 

 

[For data, see figure A.11, appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 220



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

75 

Figure 4.33: Gross amount and type of completed employment land (ha) (Indicators 
LOA10i and M33) 
 

 
 
 [For data, see figure A.12, appendix 2] 
 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.34: Net amount and type of completed employment floorspace (sqm) (Indicator 
CO-BD1ii and M33) 
 

 B1 B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 TOTAL 

1999-2002 28 64,666 63,182 630 20,483 -6,157 142,832 

2002-2003 320 13,111 37,890 -11,629 -3,947 4,539 40,284 

2003-2004 1,328 10,935 16,451 -330 2,216 4,166 34,766 

2004-2005 0 5,285 3,428 1,119 1,807 -168 11,471 

2005-2006 448 6,761 4,315 10,182 2,473 8,891 33,070 

2006-2007 0 9,384 -814 3,660 10,366 -112 22,484 

2007-2008 -188 3,833 3,877 3,934 6,642 12,729 30,827 

2008-2009 64 5,011 51,626 3,030 1,149 6,389 67,269 

2009-2010 -112 783 8,371 266 -47,881 792 -37,781

2010-2011 8,141 627 -1,713 -2,114 2,356 1,183 8,480 

Page 221



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

76 

 

 B1 B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 TOTAL 

2011-2012 0 -5,057 5,461 -104 -6,178 2,520 -3,358 

2012-2013 4,467 -1,622 463 -3,717 -668 2,623 1,546 

2013-2014 128 -497 -618 -900 -22,668 11,464 -13,091 

Total 14,624 113,220 191,919 4,027 -33,850 48,859 338,799 

  
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.35: Net amount and type of completed employment land (ha) (Indicators LOA10ii 
and M33) 
 

 B1 B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 TOTAL 

1999-2002 0.44 18.37 15.53 -1.33 4.80 -1.60 36.21 

2002-2003 0.03 4.54 10.43 -4.83 -3.58 0.31 6.90 

2003-2004 0.33 5.41 2.35 -0.21 -0.16 0.53 8.25 

2004-2005 0.00 1.80 -0.48 1.44 -0.28 0.28 2.76 

2005-2006 0.05 1.37 2.16 3.04 -0.53 2.85 8.93 

2006-2007 0.00 1.19 -1.32 0.64 1.22 1.21 2.93 

2007-2008 0.15 1.51 1.03 0.92 1.25 6.91 11.77 

2008-2009 0.00 3.48 11.46 0.76 -0.50 0.84 16.04 

2009-2010 -0.04 0.60 1.44 0.09 -18.53 0.61 -15.84 

2010-2011 3.77 -0.06 -4.30 -0.92 0.48 -0.26 -1.30 

2011-2012 0.00 -3.62 2.83 -0.12 0.05 24.26 23.40 

2012-2013 1.60 -1.17 0.50 -0.01 -1.41 0.05 -0.43 

2013-2014 0.03 0.34 -1.88 -0.71 -11.95 2.17 -12.01 

Total 6.36 33.78 39.74 -1.27 -29.16 38.16 87.62 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 222



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

77 

Figure 4.36: Amount and type of completed employment floorspace (sqm) on PDL 
(Indicators CO-BD2 and M3) 
 

  
 
[For data, see figure A.13, appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.37: Amount of completed employment floorspace (sqm) on allocated land 
(Indicator LOA11) 
 

  

19
99

-2
00

2 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Total on 
allocated 
land 

35,276 2,600 5,476 9,290 13,716 8,009 0 5,972 0 30 2,888 0 10,591 

% of total 
floorspace 21.0% 4.1% 13.5% 31.2% 30.8% 20.9% 0.0% 7.0% 0.0% 0.1% 17.6% 0.0% 52.6% 

 

Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 223



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

78 

Figure 4.38: Development at Employment Allocations identified in Policies SP/12 and SP/13 
of the Site Specific Policies DPD as at 31 March 2013 (Indicators SSLO5 and SSLO6) 
 

  Summary of Development Progress 

Development at sites allocated for 
B1 employment use (SP/12) 

North of Hatton’s Road, Longstanton – the site had reserved matters planning 
permission, however this planning permission and the outline planning 
permission for the whole mixed-use development west of Longstanton have 
both now lapsed. 
 
West of Eastern Counties Leather, Pampisford – the southern part of the site 
has outline planning permission (S/1061/07 & S/1363/10). 

Development at sites allocated for 
B1 / B2 / B8 employment use 
(SP/13) 

Norman Way, Over – the site has no current planning permissions. 
 
Papworth Business Park – the last remaining parcel has planning permission 
for a warehouse with ancillary office use (S/1079/13). Phase 1 of this 
development has been completed and phase 2 is outstanding. Temporary 
planning permission (S/0588/14) was granted in October 2014 allowing the 
land identified for phase 2 to be used as a temporary car park for Papworth 
Hospital.  

 
Business Commitments 

 
Figure 4.39: Gross amount and type of employment land (ha) available with planning 
permission at 31 March 2014 (Indicators CO-BD3i and M34) 
 

 

[For data, see figure A.14, appendix 2] 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council
 

Page 224



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

79 

Figure 4.40: Net amount and type of employment land (ha) available with planning 
permission at 31 March 2014 (Indicators CO-BD3ii and M34) 
 

  
Outline planning 

permissions 

Full & RM planning 
permissions - not 

started 

Full & RM planning 
permissions - under 

construction 

Total (with planning 
permission) 

B1 2.24 0.96 0.00 3.20 

B1a 10.88 5.00 0.96 16.83 

B1b 19.68 9.01 14.17 42.86 

B1c 2.55 3.48 8.16 14.19 

B2 10.83 12.39 1.31 24.53 

B8 2.00 -0.64 6.07 7.43 

Total  48.18 30.20 30.66 109.05 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.41: Gross and net amount and type of employment land (ha) available on allocated 
land without planning permission at 31 March 2014 (Indicator CO-BD3iii and M34) 
 
 Gross Net 

B1  11.70 11.70 

B1a 0.42 0.42 

B1b 6.30 6.30 

B1c 0.00 0.00 

B2 4.21 4.21 

B8 4.06 4.06 

Total  26.68 26.68 

 
The figures are assumptions based on the proposed land uses for each site; the exact figures will be 
determined through masterplanning and the planning application process. 
 
The data provided by Cambridgeshire County Council has been amended to include 0.5 ha of 
business land at Cambridge East – North of Newmarket Road (the wing development) (rather than 
4.5 ha) to take account of the information included in the planning application submitted to the Council 
in December 2013. The use of this figure is without prejudice to the determination of the planning 
application. 
 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 

 
4.56 Figure 4.41 shows the land allocated in the adopted Local Development Framework. 

This includes land at Northstowe, which is anticipated to deliver around 20 hectares 
of business land. The first 5 hectares of employment land includes business uses, a 
household recycling centre and a foul water pumping station, and is planned to be 

Page 225



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

80 

developed as part of the first phase. The town centre which will include further 
business development is planned as part of the second phase, and is anticipated to 
be completed by 2031. 
 

4.57 A number of new employment developments are included in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014). Figure 4.41 does not include these sites. The sites are: 

 
 Cambridge Northern Fringe East: the Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire 

Local Plans identify Cambridge Northern Fringe East as an area with potential 
for mixed use employment led development. A joint Area Action Plan is being 
prepared. Four redevelopment options for the area have been identified 
ranging from a low level of development to more comprehensive 
redevelopment options, and these were included in the Issues & Options 
Report that has been subject to public consultation. The area includes the 
proposed new railway station. The Chesterton Sidings area provides an 
opportunity for additional employment development.  

 
 Cambridge Science Park: this site has played an important role in supporting 

the research and development and high tech sectors since the 1970’s. Its 
accessibility has been significantly enhanced by the Guided Bus and the planned 
Science Park Station. Early parts of the site were built at low densities and were 
built forty years ago. The Local Plan identifies the opportunity for their 
redevelopment and densification, to make better use of the site. The Cambridge 
Northern Fringe East – Employment Guidance for the Area Action Plan – Sector 
Profile (October 2014) estimates potential for an additional 60,000 sqm to be 
provided over the next 15-20 years. 

 
 Waterbeach New Town: the policy for the new town requires appropriate 

employment provision to meet the needs of the town, provide access to local jobs 
and support the continued development of the economy of the Cambridge area. It 
is not specific regarding the quantity of employment land, as that would be 
determined in more detail through preparation of an Area Action Plan.   

 
 Bourn Airfield New Village: in addition to employment opportunities from the 

redevelopment of the 9 hectare former Thyssen Krupp site which adjoins the new 
village site, the new village will incorporate employment opportunities, to be 
identified through the preparation of an Area Action Plan.  

 
 Cambourne West: the policy for a fourth linked village at Cambourne seeks to 

relocate the amount of employment land currently remaining undeveloped on the 
southern side of the business park within the new Cambourne West site. The net 
impact on the land that currently has planning permission is assumed as neutral 
at this stage.  

 
 Fulbourn Road (Fulbourn / Edge of Cambridge): a site adjoining the 

Peterhouse Technology Park is identified for 6.9 hectares of additional 
employment development.  

 

Page 226



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

81 

4.58 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) identifies two industrial estates for partial 
redevelopment. Both sites will still provide some employment land. The sites are: 
 
 Dales Manor Business Park, Sawston: an area of 1.5 hectares bound by East 

Way, Middle Way and Grove Road will be developed for B1 uses. The remainder 
of site, 9 hectares of B2/B8 uses and vacant land, will be lost to residential. 
  

 Green End Industrial Estate, Gamlingay: the site is 4.09 hectares of mixed 
B1/B2/B8, which is proposed for residential led development. The Local Plan 
requires redevelopment to provide 25% employment land, therefore resulting in a 
loss of around 3 hectares. 

 
 
 
 

Page 227



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

82 

Employment Land Lost 
 

4.59 Employment sites within villages are a scarce resource that should be retained to 
provide local employment. The Council will therefore resist the re-use of employment 
sites for non-employment uses, unless there is proven limited or no market demand 
for the site within its existing use; the community benefit of the new proposal 
outweighs the adverse effects of the loss of employment; or the existing use is 
generating environmental problems that will remain similar with any other alternative 
employment use (see Development Control Policy ET/6). This policy is carried 
forward into the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) as Policy E/14.   

 
Figure 4.42: Amount of employment land (ha) lost on allocated land and in South 
Cambridgeshire (Indicators LOA12 and M35) 
 

  

19
99

-2
00

2 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

On allocated 
land -3.96 -6.21 -2.64 -3.61 -2.87 -4.17 -0.60 -3.36 -18.12 -0.89 -7.65 -4.94 -5.10 

Whole district none none none -1.08 none none none none -13.93 none -0.67 none -0.76 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.43: Amount of employment land (ha) lost to residential development within village 
development frameworks and in South Cambridgeshire (Indicators LOA13 and M36) 
 

  

19
99

-2
00

2 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 
Within village 
development 
frameworks 

-3.82 -6.17 -1.17 -1.29 -0.97 -3.74 -0.26 -1.25 -0.42 -0.18 -0.84 -0.10 -1.21 

Whole district -3.82 -6.17 -2.18 -1.71 -0.97 -3.75 -0.26 -2.14 -0.42 -0.35 -1.62 -3.25 -1.75 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 

  
 

Page 228



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

83 

Retail, Office and Leisure Development 
 

4.60 The Council through Development Control Objectives SF/a, SF/b, SF/c, SF/f and 
SF/i seeks to encourage the provision and retention of village services and facilities 
within villages. Core Strategy Policy ST/9 requires proposals for retail development 
to be considered against a hierarchy of preferred locations, and that the proposals 
should be in scale with the settlement’s position in the hierarchy. 
 

4.61 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) continues to seek to protect the loss of 
village services and facilities (see Policy SC/3) and through Policies E/21 and E/22 
continues to require proposals for retail development to be considered against a 
hierarchy of preferred locations and be in scale with the proposed location’s position 
in the hierarchy. 
 

4.62 Due to the rural nature of South Cambridgeshire and its relationship with the City of 
Cambridge, the district does not currently have any town centres, and the new town 
of Northstowe will be the district’s first town centre. Locally provided services and 
facilities are focussed into local centres at the district’s more sustainable locations, 
particularly sites on the edge of Cambridge and larger villages. The district’s local 
centres include a variety of retail and commercial uses, restaurants, cafes and pubs, 
and other key local services (e.g. doctor’s surgeries, libraries).   

 
Figure 4.44: Gross and net amount of completed floorspace (sqm) for retail, office and 
leisure uses and financial & professional services (Indicators CO-BD4 and M37) 
 
(i) in South Cambridgeshire 
 

  
  

A1 (retail) A2 (financial & 
professional services) B1a (office) D2 (leisure) 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

1999-2002 22,168 11,820 n/k n/k 64,666 64,666 n/k n/k 

2002-2003 1,173 1,173 n/k n/k 13,561 13,111 n/k n/k 

2003-2004 2,178 2,038 0 0 12,196 10,935 0 -547 

2004-2005 991 574 132 132 5,543 5,285 195 195 

2005-2006 4,107 2,076 138 138 9,314 6,761 470 470 

2006-2007 564 419 103 61 10,440 9,384 1,532 1,532 

2007-2008 1,469 680 85 -79 4,767 3,833 1,360 1,360 

2008-2009 336 -1,166 538 403 6,780 5,011 816 816 

2009-2010 333 -254 0 -213 1,502 783 1,063 936 

2010-2011 107 79 192 158 1,183 627 2,353 2,300 

2011-2012 378 -867 73 -78 564 -5,057 2,468 2,468 

 
 

Page 229



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

84 

  
  

A1 (retail) A2 (financial & 
professional services) B1a (office) D2 (leisure) 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

2012-2013 977 447 48 3 1,112 -1,622 827 737 

2013-2014 1,134 686 31 31 829 -497 2,691 2,018 

TOTAL 35,915 17,705 1,340 556 132,457 113,220 13,775 12,285 

 
From the 1 January 2004 the Research & Monitoring team widened the scope of their monitoring to include A2 and D2 
uses. 
 
A1 (retail) figures are for net tradeable floorspace (sales space); figures for the rest of the use classes are gross 
floorspace. 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
(ii) within development frameworks 
 

  
  

A1 (retail) A2 (financial & 
professional services) B1a (office) D2 (leisure) 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

1999-2002 22,168 11,820 n/k n/k 7,066 7,066 n/k n/k 

2002-2003 800 800 n/k n/k 9,454 13,111 n/k n/k 

2003-2004 659 519 0 0 3,319 10,935 0 -547 

2004-2005 455 38 132 132 4,325 5,285 0 195 

2005-2006 1,597 1,568 138 138 7,786 6,761 364 470 

2006-2007 482 337 103 61 3,859 9,384 315 1,532 

2007-2008 1,308 519 85 -79 1,095 3,833 315 1,360 

2008-2009 152 -1,312 433 403 2,106 5,011 0 816 

2009-2010 183 -188 0 -213 106 783 413 936 

2010-2011 49 21 192 158 112 627 1,139 2,300 

2011-2012 342 -846 73 -78 386 -5,057 1,769 2,468 

2012-2013 681 151 48 3 175 -1,622 453 737 

2013-2014 978 530 31 31 520 -497 687 2,018 

TOTAL 29,854 13,957 1,235 556 40,309 55,620 5,455 12,285 

 
This includes land within the urban area of Cambridge, the urban extensions to Cambridge, the new town of Northstowe 
and village development frameworks. 
 
From the 1 January 2004 the Research & Monitoring team widened the scope of their monitoring to include A2 and D2 
uses. 
 
A1 (retail) figures are for net tradeable floorspace (sales space); figures for the rest of the use classes are gross 
floorspace. 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 

Page 230



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

85 

Figure 4.45: Gross and net amount of committed floorspace (sqm) for retail, office and 
leisure uses and financial & professional services at 31 March 2014 (Indicators LOA9 and 
M37) 
 
(i) within South Cambridgeshire 
 

  
A1 (retail) 

A2 (financial & 
professional 

services) 
B1a (office) D2 (leisure) 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

Outline planning permissions 500 500 0 0 51,796 49,295 640 580 

Full & RM planning permissions 
- under construction 1,492 1,442 258 258 1,694 1,603 210 210 

Full & RM planning permissions 
- not started 7,332 6,425 0 0 20,760 17,449 2,397 -1,416 

Allocated without planning 
permission 37,280 37,280 1,297 1,297 1,600 1,600 11,467 11,467 

 
A1 (retail) figures are for net tradeable floorspace (sales space); figures for the rest of the use classes are gross 
floorspace. 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
(ii) within development frameworks 
 

  
A1 (retail) 

A2 (financial & 
professional 

services) 
B1a (office) D2 (leisure) 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

Outline planning permissions 250 250 0 0 37,002 49,295 480 580 

Full & RM planning permissions 
- under construction 1,492 1,442 258 258 121 1,603 0 210 

Full & RM planning permissions 
- not started 6,735 5,828 0 0 5,889 17,449 1,121 -1,416 

Allocated without planning 
permission 37,280 37,280 1,297 1,297 1,600 1,600 11,467 11,467 

 
This includes land within the urban area of Cambridge, the urban extensions to Cambridge, the new town of 
Northstowe and village development frameworks. 
 
A1 (retail) figures are for net tradeable floorspace (sales space); figures for the rest of the use classes are gross 
floorspace. 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 

 
 

Page 231



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

86 

Mixed Use Developments 
 

4.63 The adopted Core Strategy proposes in Policy ST/2 that the Council will make 
provision for 20,000 new homes in the district during the period 1999 to 2016. To 
achieve this, the Council has allocated major mixed-use developments on the edge 
of Cambridge and at the new town of Northstowe, and smaller housing-led mixed-use 
developments reusing previously developed land close to Cambridge or within the 
more sustainable settlements. 

 
4.64 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) includes in Policy S/5 that provision is 

made for 19,000 dwellings in the district during the period 2011 to 2031 to meet the 
current objectively assessed need. To achieve this, the Council is proposing the 
allocation of additional land between Huntingdon Road, Histon Road and the A14 
(known as Darwin Green 2 or NIAB 2) (Policy SS/2), two new settlements at 
Waterbeach and Bourn Airfield (Policies SS/5 and SS/6), a forth linked village at 
Cambourne (Policy SS/8), and eight housing sites in the most sustainable villages 
(Policy H/1).  

 
Figure 4.46: Development at Mixed Use Allocations identified in the Area Action Plans, Site 
Specific Policies DPD and Local Plan (Indicators NS01, NS04, CE01, CE04, CSF01, 
CSF04, NWC01, NWC04, NWC05, SSLO4, SSLO7, SSLO8, SSLO9, SSLO10, M7, M29 
and M38) 
 

  Summary of Development Progress 

Cambridge East  
 
(Area Action Plan and 
Local Plan Policy SS/3) 

Marshall has confirmed that the relocation of Cambridge Airport will not happen 
before 2031 at least, as there are currently no suitable relocation options.  
 
In December 2013 Marshall submitted an outline planning application for their wing 
development (land north of Newmarket Road), which consists of up to 1,300 homes, 
a primary school, a food store, community facilities, open spaces, landscaping and 
associated infrastructure. 
 
There is also potential for 460 homes north of Cherry Hinton (110 homes in South 
Cambridgeshire) and this site is allocated in the Local Plan (submitted in March 
2014). 

North West Cambridge  
 
(Area Action Plan) 

The site has outline planning permission for key worker housing for University staff, 
student housing, new faculty buildings and research facilities, a local centre and 
market housing. Detailed planning permissions for the first parcels have been 
approved and construction has started on the access to the site. 

Cambridge Southern Fringe 
(Trumpington Meadows)  
 
(Area Action Plan) 

The site has outline planning permission for approximately 600 dwellings with a 
primary school, and recreation, leisure and community facilities. Construction of 
phase 1 is underway. Pre-application discussions are underway for the next phases 
of the development.   

Page 232



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

87 

  Summary of Development Progress 

Cambridge Northern Fringe 
East  
 
(Local Plan Policy SS/4) 

Planning permission was granted by Cambridgeshire County Council in July 2014 
for a new station building, two main line platforms and a bay platform, a pedestrian 
cycle bridge, car park and cycle park, new pedestrian and cycle links to surrounding 
areas, and the extension of the bus lane and cycle route from the Cambridge 
Guided Busway. 
 
An Area Action Plan for the Cambridge Northern Fringe East area is being prepared 
jointly with Cambridge City Council. Public consultation on issues and options for the 
area was undertaken between 8 December 2014 and 2 February 2015. 

Northstowe  
 
(Area Action Plan and 
Local Plan Policy SS/7) 

In July 2012, the Northstowe Joint Development Control Committee endorsed (with 
some revisions) the site wide masterplan as a material consideration for all 
subsequent planning applications. 
 
Outline planning permission for phase 1 (up to 1,500 dwellings, a primary school, a 
mixed-use local centre, leisure, community, health and employment uses, a 
household recycling centre, recreational space, infrastructure works and the 
demolition of existing buildings and structures) was granted in April 2014. Detailed 
planning permissions have been granted for earthworks, pumping stations, primary 
roads, busway and access. Work has commenced on archaeological investigations 
and work is expected to start on the infrastructure and earthworks imminently. 
 
An outline planning application for phase 2 (up to 3,500 dwellings, a secondary 
school, two primary schools, a town centre and sports hub) was submitted in August 
2014 and it is anticipated that it will be considered by the Northstowe Joint 
Development Control Committee in March 2015. 

Orchard Park  
 
(Site Specific Policy SP/1 
and Local Plan Policy SS/1) 

The majority of the original outline planning permission for 900 dwellings with 
employment, retail, leisure, community and education uses has been completed. 
Parcel K1 is the only remaining undeveloped parcel and an application was 
submitted in November 2014 for 38 passivhaus dwellings and ancillary facilities 
including common house and communal gardens.   
 
Three additional parcels were identified for approximately 220 dwellings. Planning 
permission has been granted for a local centre and 140 dwellings and construction 
is underway. Discussions are underway with the landowner of the remaining parcels 
and three planning applications are being considered that propose residential uses 
and an Apart/Hotel. 

North West Cambridge, 
between Huntingdon Road, 
Histon Road & A14 (NIAB2)  
 
(Site Specific Policy SP/2 
and Local Plan Policy SS/2) 

Pre-application discussions are in progress.  

Bayer CropScience, 
Hauxton  
 
(Site Specific Policy SP/8 
and Local Plan Policy H/2) 

The site has outline planning permission for housing and employment uses. 
Remediation works have been undertaken and signed off. Detailed planning 
permission for phase 1 (201 dwellings) was granted in December 2012. 
Masterplanning of the site has resulted in the site being anticipated to provide only 
285 dwellings, rather than 380 dwellings as anticipated in the outline planning 
permission. 

Page 233



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

88 

  Summary of Development Progress 

Fulbourn & Ida Darwin 
Hospitals  
 
(Site Specific Policy SP/9 
and Local Plan Policy E/7) 

An outline planning application for up to 180 dwellings, a 70 unit extra care facility 
and open space was submitted in May 2013 along with a development brief for the 
site. The Council's planning committee in June 2014 endorsed the development 
brief as a material consideration for all subsequent planning applications, but 
refused the outline planning application due to the absence of any appropriate 
community facilities. 
 
The Cambridge and Peterborough NHS Foundation has now appointed a new 
planning agent to take forward the development and therefore the scheme and 
timetable for delivery is being reconsidered. 

Papworth Hospital Site  
 
(Site Specific Policy SP/10, 
site 1 and Local Plan Policy 
E/5) 

Redevelopment of the site is dependent on the relocation of Papworth Hospital to the 
Addenbrooke’s Biomedical Campus. In May 2014, the Government approved the 
business case for the relocation of the hospital. 

Papworth Everard West 
Central  
 
(Site Specific Policy SP/10, 
site 2 and Local Plan Policy 
H/3) 

Land south of Church Lane: the site has planning permission for the erection of up 
to 58 dwellings, 8 units for either housing or business use, a brewhouse, a bakery, 
community rooms, car parking, open space and landscaping. 
 
Catholic Church site: a planning application for the erection of a dwelling and the 
renovation of the church building was refused in August 2014 as the applicant failed 
to provide contributions towards community facilities and public open space 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

 
 

Page 234



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

89 

Community Facilities and Local Services 
 

4.65 Good access from housing to a range of services can help to reduce car dependence 
and may also help to support the vitality of rural communities. Core Strategy 
Objective ST/b therefore requires all new development to be located where access 
to day-to-day needs such as employment, shopping, education, recreation and health 
facilities are available by public transport, walking and cycling. The Council will also 
refuse planning permission for proposals that will cause an unacceptable reduction in 
the level of community or service provision in the locality (see Development Control 
Policy SF/1). 
 

4.66 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) seeks to ensure that all new development 
provides or has access to a range of services and facilities and to maximise the 
potential for journeys to be undertaken by sustainable modes of transport including 
walking, cycling and public transport (see Policy S/2). The Council will also refuse 
planning permission for proposals that would result in the loss of a village service and 
therefore cause an unacceptable reduction in the level of community or service 
provision in the locality (Policy SC/3). 

 
Figure 4.47: Amount of new residential development within 30 minutes public transport 
journey time of key services (Indicators LOB4 and M5) 
 

  

20
05

-2
00

6 
† 

20
06

-2
00

7 
† 

20
07

-2
00

8 
† 

20
08

-2
00

9 
* 

20
09

-2
01

0 
* 

20
10

-2
01

1 
* 

20
11

-2
01

2 
* 

20
12

-2
01

3 
* 

20
13

-2
01

4 
* 

General 
Practitioner 87% 97% 99% 96% 97% 98% 97% 98% 97% 

Hospital  68% 53% 38% 18% 36% 13% 22% 10% 17% 

Primary School 96% 97% 99% 97% 95% 96% 98% 97% 96% 

Secondary School 40% 73% 79% 78% 73% 59% 59% 92% 79% 

Employment 97% 97% 99% 96% 96% 99% 98% 98% 95% 

Major Retail Centre 41% 44% 44% 53% 39% 50% 67% 65% 49% 

All of the Above 19% 18% 8% 16% 18% 8% 5% 7% 5% 

 
† The data has been calculated using a list of all NHS hospitals and therefore includes Papworth 
Hospital which is a specialist hospital. 
 
* The data has been calculated using a list of general NHS hospitals: Addenbrooke’s Hospital and 
Hinchingbrooke Hospital. (Excludes any specialist hospitals such as Papworth Hospital). 
 
The journey time is the sum of the time taken to walk to the bus stop, the duration of the bus journey 
and the time taken to walk from the bus stop to the service. 
 
Source: New Communities – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 235



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

90 

Developer Contributions 
 

4.67 New developments can create additional demands for physical infrastructure and 
social facilities, and can have an adverse impact on the environment. The Council, in 
accordance with government guidance, therefore requires developers to make the 
scheme acceptable in planning terms by making a contribution towards any 
necessary improvements or new facilities, and also by providing mitigation for any 
loss or damage created by the proposed development (see Development Control 
Policy DP/4).  
 

4.68 Where infrastructure and community facilities cannot reasonably be provided on the 
development itself, it may be appropriate to secure a financial contribution for off-site 
provision. Developer contributions are secured through section 106 agreements, a 
legal agreement between the developer, the appropriate local authority and other 
relevant parties, as a result of negotiations on a planning application. 
 

4.69 The Government has now introduced a new development charge known as the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). CIL is the Government’s preferred mechanism 
for securing developer contributions towards local and strategic infrastructure 
improvements and where possible the Council intends to use CIL to fund offsite 
provision of facilities and services. The Council is committed to introducing a CIL 
charge and submitted its draft Charging Schedule for independent examination in 
October 2014. The CIL Regulations mean that section 106 agreements will revert 
back to their original intention and mitigate site specific impacts only. 
 

4.70 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) states in Policy TI/8 that planning 
permission will only be granted for proposals that have made suitable arrangements 
for the improvement or provision of infrastructure necessary to make the scheme 
acceptable in planning terms.  

 
Figure 4.48: Investment secured for infrastructure and community facilities through 
developer contributions (Indicators LOF1 and M42) 
 

Page 236



S
ou

rc
e:

 N
ew

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

 –
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il;

 P
la

nn
in

g 
&

 N
ew

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

 –
 S

ou
th

 C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 D

is
tr

ic
t C

ou
nc

il 
 

L
O

F
1

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

se
cu

re
d

 f
o

r 
in

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
th

ro
u

g
h

 d
ev

el
o

p
er

 c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s 

 
M

o
n

ey
 R

ec
ei

ve
d

S
ec

u
re

d
 b

y:
F

o
r:

20
04

-
20

05
20

05
-

20
06

20
06

-
20

07
20

07
-

20
08

20
08

-
20

09
20

09
–

20
10

20
10

-
20

11
20

11
–

20
12

20
12

-
20

13
20

13
-

20
14

 
 

20
11

-
20

12
20

12
-

20
13

20
13

-
20

14

S
o

u
th

 
C

am
b

ri
d

g
es

h
ir

e 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o

u
n

ci
l

A
ff

o
rd

ab
le

 H
o

u
si

n
g

£0
 

£4
,0

53
,0

33
 

£2
89

,0
72

 
£1

84
,0

00
 

£0
 

£1
,7

82
,0

00
 

£3
95

,0
00

 
£2

34
,0

00
 

£6
16

,7
00

 
£9

26
,8

40
 

 
£5

4,
00

0 
£8

97
,0

56
 

£1
,2

17
,6

09
 

O
p

en
 S

p
ac

e
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
£1

91
,1

94
 

£9
60

,3
32

 
£3

00
,9

82
 

£3
77

,1
13

 
£1

,4
41

,8
47

 
£8

48
,8

44
 

 
£3

86
,1

47
 

£3
70

,3
82

 
£6

21
,5

67
 

P
u

b
lic

 A
rt

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

£9
7,

50
0 

£6
,5

00
 

£8
8,

75
0 

£5
3,

54
0 

£1
10

,5
00

 
£6

3,
50

0 
 

£2
2,

00
3 

£3
,0

89
 

£1
6,

65
2 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

F
ac

ili
ti

es
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
£4

0,
00

0 
£3

00
,0

00
 

£2
1,

67
0 

£1
,5

20
,1

38
 

£2
10

,2
59

 
£1

46
,2

43
 

 
£2

6,
80

9 
£6

2,
81

9 
£2

26
,8

88
 

D
ra

in
ag

e
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
£0

 
£8

,1
24

 
£4

,1
15

 
£2

05
,4

67
 

£7
,8

97
 

£0
 

 
£0

 
£2

14
,3

97
 

£7
,7

61
 

L
ib

ra
ry

 (
o

n
 b

eh
al

f 
o

f 
P

ar
is

h
)

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

£5
,0

00
 

£0
 

£0
 

£0
 

£0
 

£0
 

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 (
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 A

ir
 Q

u
al

it
y 

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

)
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
£8

0,
10

0 
£1

02
,0

00
 

£3
8,

15
0 

 
£2

,1
50

 
£6

,7
56

 
£3

5,
26

2 

R
en

ew
ab

le
 E

n
er

g
y

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

£9
50

,0
00

 
£2

0,
00

0 
un

kn
ow

n 
 

£0
 

£5
50

,0
00

 
£1

,0
02

,9
76

 

E
co

lo
g

y 
&

 B
io

d
iv

er
si

ty
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
£5

00
 

£2
4,

50
0 

un
kn

ow
n 

 
£0

 
£0

 
£1

2,
82

8 

W
as

te
 &

 R
ec

yc
lin

g
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 
un

kn
ow

n 

£3
1,

17
8 

C
am

bo
ur

ne
 

95
0:

 £
65

.2
6 

pe
r 

ho
us

e 
&

 
£1

50
 p

er
 fl

at
 

£4
8,

34
7 

£3
5,

49
2 

 

£5
,9

75
 

£2
3,

72
9 

£3
7,

53
9 

S
it

e 
S

p
ec

if
ic

 C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s 

(i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 b

u
s 

st
o

p
, h

ea
lt

h
ca

re
)

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

un
kn

ow
n 

£0
 

£1
13

,8
09

 
£5

,0
00

 
 

£8
,3

77
 

£5
00

,0
00

 
£0

 

C
am

b
ri

d
g

es
h

ir
e 

C
o

u
n

ty
 C

o
u

n
ci

l
(f

ro
m

 p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

s 
in

 
S

ou
th

 
C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

) 

E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
£2

90
,0

24
 

£3
,5

62
,8

50
 

£3
19

,5
98

 
£4

13
,7

50
 

£4
13

,3
00

 
£8

97
,0

46
 

£4
7,

50
0 

£1
0,

68
1,

92
4 

£1
,5

25
,5

30
 

£1
86

,4
00

 
 

£2
14

,2
96

 
£3

72
,9

93
 

£2
,6

98
,5

97
 

L
ib

ra
ri

es
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 
£1

51
,2

00
 

£0
 

£0
 

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

£5
,0

00
 

£6
,9

10
,0

00
 

£2
75

,6
63

 
£7

5,
00

0 
£0

 
£2

96
,5

78
 

£2
97

,6
27

 
£4

82
,2

68
 

£1
68

,8
10

 
£8

83
,9

79
 

 
£1

,3
66

,7
52

 
£4

7,
26

7 
£3

7,
85

0 

M
is

ce
lla

n
eo

u
s

£0
 

£1
02

,0
00

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 
£0

 
£9

68
,2

99
 

£2
6,

74
6 

£2
0,

50
0 

 
£0

 
£1

66
,2

49
 

£0
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 

C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il 

fo
r

T
ru

m
p

in
g

to
n

 
M

ea
d

o
w

s

E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
£1

3,
94

3,
08

6 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
  

£7
56

,0
82

 
£4

,6
45

,3
37

 
£2

10
,9

45
 

L
ib

ra
ri

es
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
£3

66
,8

79
 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

  
£1

2,
03

1 
£1

41
,5

27
 

£4
9,

62
8 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

£4
,7

15
,9

95
 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

  
£1

,5
83

,1
53

 
£1

,0
30

,7
53

 
£1

,0
89

,7
46

 

M
is

ce
lla

n
eo

u
s

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

£5
24

,8
75

 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
  

£2
3,

23
7 

£0
 

£1
11

,0
43

 

S
ou

th
 

C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 

D
is

tr
ic

t C
ou

nc
il 

&
 

C
am

br
id

ge
 C

ity
 

C
ou

nc
il 

fo
r

T
ru

m
p

in
g

to
n

 
M

ea
d

o
w

s

A
ff

o
rd

ab
le

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
£1

7,
65

1 
pe

r 
af

fo
rd

ab
le

 
ho

us
in

g 
un

it 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
  

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

S
p

o
rt

s,
 H

ea
lt

h
 &

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

F
ac

ili
ti

es
, O

p
en

 S
p

ac
e 

an
d

 
A

llo
tm

en
ts

 (
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 o

ff
ic

er
s 

an
d

 
m

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

)

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

£1
,5

48
,5

57
 

pl
us

 £
50

4 
pe

r 
st

re
et

 
tr

ee
 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

  

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

E
co

lo
g

ic
al

 M
it

ig
at

io
n

 M
ea

su
re

s 
&

 
M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

£3
60

,1
73

 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
  

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

W
as

te
 R

ec
ep

ta
cl

es
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
£6

5 
pe

r 
ho

us
e 

or
 

£1
50

 p
er

 fl
at

 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 
  

n/
a 

£3
,5

85
 

n/
a 

M
is

ce
lla

n
eo

u
s

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

£5
9,

00
0 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

n/
a 

  
n/

a 
n/

a 
n/

a 

Page 237



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

92 

Open Space and Outdoor Recreation 
 

4.71 Recreational facilities, including outdoor play space, informal open space and 
supporting built recreation facilities, eg. club houses and changing rooms, are 
important to local communities for their recreational amenity but also for their impact 
on the quality of the environment. In high density new housing developments where 
gardens are smaller, open space and recreation facilities are particularly important. 
The Council therefore requires developers to contribute towards providing new open 
space within their development but may also require contributions towards enhancing 
existing facilities for the benefit of the new occupants (see Development Control 
Policies SF/10 and SF/11). The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) carries 
forward this requirement and sets out the standards for onsite provision of open 
space (see Policies SC/7 and SC/8). 
 

4.72 The Recreation Study 2005 identified specific villages where recreation provision was 
below the Council’s minimum standard for open space and where a need existed for 
additional facilities. Site Specific Policy SP/14 identifies nine sites for extensions to 
recreation grounds, extensions to school playing fields and new recreation grounds, 
to meet this identified shortfall in specific villages. 
 

4.73 A new Recreation Study was published in July 2013 that investigates current quantity 
and quality of recreation and open space provision in the district, how this is meeting 
local need, and reviews the standards for open space necessary to ensure that new 
spaces are provided to meet the needs generated by new development. The Local 
Plan (submitted in March 2014) carries forward the majority of the open space 
allocations from the Site Specific Policies DPD and identifies two new sites at Histon 
and Great Shelford (Policy SC/1).  
 

Figure 4.49: Progress of Open Space Allocations (Indicators SSLO11 and M39)  
 

  Policy SP/14 Summary of Progress 

E
xt

en
si

o
n

 t
o

 r
ec

re
at

io
n

 g
ro

u
n

d
s 

1a. East of recreation ground, 
Over 

Carried forward into Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) – landowner 
has indicated through representations that the whole site is unlikely to 
come forward. 

1b. East of Bar Lane & north-
west of Green Hedge Farm, 
Stapleford 

The Parish Council has advised that whilst there are currently no 
proposals to bring forward the extension to the recreation ground, it 
would like the allocation to remain (January 2012). Carried forward into 
Local Plan (submitted in March 2014). 

1c. North of Hatton’s Road, 
Longstanton 

The Parish Council continues to work with the Council to bring forward 
this site as an extension to the recreation ground (January 2012). 
Carried forward into Local Plan (submitted in March 2014). 

1d. North of recreation 
ground, Swavesey 

The Parish Council has advised that whilst there are currently no 
proposals to bring forward the extension to the recreation ground, it 
would like the allocation to remain (January 2012). Carried forward into 
Local Plan (submitted in March 2014). 

1e. East of recreation ground, 
Impington 

Not carried forward into Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) – an 
alternative site added at Bypass Farm, Histon. 

Page 238



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

93 

E
xt

en
si

o
n

 
to

 s
ch

o
o

l 
p

la
yi

n
g

 
fi

el
d

 
2f. Land at Primary School, 
Long Furlong, Over 

Planning permission was allowed on appeal for the erection of 28 
dwellings and the provision of a playing field for Over Primary School 
in June 2007 (S/1114/06). The development has been completed. 

N
ew

 r
ec

re
at

io
n

 
g

ro
u

n
d

s 

3g. East of Mill Lane, 
Impington 

Not carried forward into Local Plan (submitted in March 2014)  – an 
alternative site added at Bypass Farm, Histon. 

3h. South of Manor Park, 
Histon 

Not carried forward into Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) – an 
alternative site added at Bypass Farm, Histon. 

3i. Land at Barrowcroft, Gunns 
Lane, Histon 

Not carried forward into Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) – an 
alternative site added at Bypass Farm, Histon. 

 
4.74 The Council, through indicator LOB1, has stated an intention to monitor the gains 

and losses of open space and outdoor recreation land resulting from new 
developments and also the percentage of planning permissions meeting open space 
standards. The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) carries forward the intention to 
monitor the gains and losses of open space and outdoor recreation land resulting 
from new developments. It has not been possible to capture this data as yet, however 
the Council is developing a methodology and therefore it should be possible to 
include data in future Annual Monitoring Reports. 
 

 

Page 239



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

94 

Renewable Energy 
 

4.75 Both the government and the Council are committed to reducing the use of fossil 
fuels and increasing the proportion of energy used that is generated from renewable 
sources. Development Control Policy NE/2 states that the Council will grant 
planning permission for proposals to generate energy from renewable sources, 
provided that they comply with the development principles set out in Development 
Control Policies DP/1, DP/2 and DP/3 and where applicable can be connected 
efficiently to the national grid. The Council also requires through Development 
Control Policy NE/3 that all development proposals for greater than 10 dwellings or 
1,000 sqm of floorspace will include technology for renewable energy sources to 
provide at least 10% of their predicted energy requirements. 
 

4.76 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) requires all developments to embed the 
principles of climate change adaptation and mitigation measures within their design 
(Policy CC/1). The Local Plan also includes Policy CC/2 that sets out guidance for 
proposals to generate energy from renewable sources and Policy CC/3 that requires 
all development proposals for new dwellings or 1,000 sqm of floorspace to include 
renewable energy technologies that will reduce carbon emissions by a minimum of 
10% compared to Building Regulations.   

 
Figure 4.50: Renewable energy capacity installed by type (in MegaWatts) (Indicators CO-
E3i and M8) 
 

 

W
in

d
 

B
io

m
as

s 

L
an

d
fi

ll 
G

as
 

S
ew

ag
e 

G
as

 

P
h

o
to

vo
lt

ai
c 

H
yd

ro
 P

o
w

er
 

T
o

ta
l 

Before 1999 0 0 2.1360 0 0 0 2.1360 

1999-2000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2000-2001 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2001-2002 0.0025 0 0 0 0 0 0.0025 

2002-2003 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2003-2004 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2004-2005 0 0 2.1280 0 0 0 2.1280 

2005-2006 0.0050 0 0 0 0.0063 0 0.0113 

2006-2007 0.0060 0 0 0 0.0158 0 0.0218 

2007-2008 0.0010 0 0 0 0.0051 0 0.0061 

2008-2009 0.0120 0 0.7270 0 0.0034 0.0001 0.7425 

2009-2010 0.0110 0 0 0 0.0508 0 0.0618 

2010-2011 0 0 0 0 0.5761 0 0.5761 

 

Page 240



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

95 

 

W
in

d
 

B
io

m
as

s 

L
an

d
fi

ll 
G

as
 

S
ew

ag
e 

G
as

 

P
h

o
to

vo
lt

ai
c 

H
yd

ro
 P

o
w

er
 

T
o

ta
l 

2011-2012 0.0702 0 0 0 2.7480 0 2.8181 

2012-2013 30.2300 0 0 0 22.8869 0 53.1169 

2013-2014 0.0250 0 0 0 0.4406 0 0.4656 

Total  30.3627 0 4.9910 0 26.7330 0.0001 62.0867 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.51: Renewable energy capacity with planning permission at 31 March 2013 by type 
(in MegaWatts) (Indicator CO-E3ii and M9) 
 

Wind Biomass Landfill Gas Sewage Gas Photovoltaic Hydro Power Total 

0.0150 0.8170 0 0 21.0795 0 21.9115 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 4.52: Development proposals greater than 1,000 sqm or 10 dwellings including 
renewable energy technology providing at least 10% of their predicted energy requirements 
(Indicator LOG2) 
 

Number of planning 
permissions … 

2009-
2010 

2010-
2011 

2011-
2012 

2012-
2013 

2013-
2014 

Including renewable 
energy technologies 33 18 33 31 24 

Meeting the thresholds 39 21 41 32 27 

% 85% 86% 80% 97% 89% 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 241



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

96 

Development in Locations of Particular Environmental Importance 
 

4.77 The Council is committed to the protection and enhancement of sites of 
internationally and nationally important nature conservation areas; however this must 
be balanced with the need for development and in some instances the Council may 
allow sensitively located and carefully designed developments (see Development 
Control Policy NE/7). European Directives and national planning policy also provide 
tiered protection for sites of biodiversity or geological importance. This policy is 
carried forward into the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) as Policy NH/5.  
 

4.78 The main purpose of the Cambridge Green Belt is to preserve the unique character 
of Cambridge as a compact dynamic city, and to prevent surrounding communities 
from merging with each another and with Cambridge. There is therefore a 
presumption against inappropriate development (as defined in the National Planning 
Policy Framework) in the Cambridge Green Belt (see Development Control Policy 
GB/1). The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) states that a Green Belt will be 
maintained around Cambridge and provides guidance on mitigating the impact of 
development in and adjoining the Green Belt, the redevelopment of previously 
developed sites in the Green Belt and providing recreation uses within the Green Belt 
(see Policies S/4, NH/8, NH/9 and NH/10).    
 

4.79 Alongside this the Council is also committed to protecting Important Countryside 
Frontages. Development Control Policy CH/7 states that planning permission for 
development will be refused if it would compromise their purpose, which is to 
enhance the setting, character and appearance of the village by retaining a sense of 
connection between the village and its rural surroundings. This policy is carried 
forward into the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) as Policy NH/13.  

 
Figure 4.53: Amount of new development completed within, or likely to adversely affect, 
internationally or nationally important nature conservation areas (Indicators LOI1 and M16) 
 

  

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

SSSI (Site of Special 
Scientific Interest) none none none none none none none none none n/k 

SAC (Special Areas of 
Conservation) none none none none none none none none none n/k 

RAMSAR (Wetland 
Areas) There are no RAMSAR sites in the district. 

SPA (Special Protection 
Areas) There are no SPAs in the district. 

NNR (National Nature 
Reserves) There are no NNRs in the district. 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Biological Records Centre 
 

Page 242



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

97 

Figure 4.54: Amount of land adjacent to an Important Countryside Frontage that has been 
lost to development (Indicators LOE2 and M19) 
 

2004- 
2005 

2005- 
2006 

2006- 
2007 

2007- 
2008 

2008- 
2009 

2009- 
2010 

2010- 
2011 

2011- 
2012 

2012- 
2013 

2013- 
2014 

none none none none none none none none none none 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council; Planning & New Communities – 
South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure 4.55: Amount of inappropriate development completed in the Green Belt (Indicators 
LOK1 and M17) 
 

Housing 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

none none 

6 Gypsy & 
Traveller 
pitches 

(S/1895/07) 

none none 
2 Gypsy &  

Traveller pitches 
(S/1653/07) 

24 Gypsy & Traveller 
pitches  

(S/1653/07) 
 

1 Gypsy &  
Traveller pitch 
(S/0218/11) 

 
1 Dwelling  

(S/0651/03) 

18 Gypsy & Traveller 
pitches  

(S/0664/11) 
 

30 Gypsy & Traveller 
pitches  

(S/2589/11) 
 

89 dwellings 
(S/1388/12) 

 
Replacement  

dwelling (S/1045/12) 
 

Page 243



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

98 

 

Business 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

none none 
B1b use:  
8015 sqm 

(S/1464/01) 

Retail:  
415 sqm 

(S/0692/07) 
 

D1 use:  
613 sqm  

(S/0956/07); 
29 sqm  

(S/0358/08) 
 

D2 use:  
381 sqm  

(S/1025/08) 

A3 use:  
475 sqm  

(S/1300/09); 
252 sqm  

(S/1503/09) 
 

B1b use:  
8931 sqm  

(S/0349/07)  
 

B1c use:  
35 sqm  

(S/2209/10) 
 

C1 use:  
283 sqm  

(S/0297/08) 
 

D1 use:  
222 sqm  

(S/0198/08); 
113 sqm  

(S/1938/09) 
 

D2 use:  
880 sqm  

(S/1945/08) 

B1b use: 
3,723 sqm 
(S/0853/09) 

 
B8 use:  
78 sqm  

(S/1672/10) 
 

D1 use: 
103 sqm 

(S/1862/09) 

Retail: 
 17sqm 

(S/0356/12); 
 

B1a use: 
 99sqm  

(S/0227/12); 
 

C2 use: 
54 sqm 

(S/1785/12); 
1,324sqm 

(S/1492/11) ^ 
 

Sui Generis: 
225sqm 

(S/0227/12) 

Retail: 
26 sqm 

(S/0318/13) 
 

B1b use: 
 2,256 sqm 
(S/0600/12) 

 
D1 use: 
680 sqm 

(S/2215/11) 

 
^ This replaces 1,584sqm of C2 use that was demolished in 2011 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council; Planning & New Communities – 
South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Page 244



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

99 

Biodiversity 
 

4.80 The Council is committed to the protection and enhancement of biodiversity in the 
district and any new development should aim to maintain, enhance, restore or add to 
biodiversity. Development Control Policy NE/6 states that the Council will refuse 
planning permission for development that would have a significant adverse impact on 
the population or conservation status of protected species, priority species or habitat, 
unless the impact can be adequately mitigated or compensated for. This policy is 
carried forward into the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) as Policy NH/4. 

 
Figure 4.56: Change in areas of biodiversity importance (Indicators CO-E2 and M20) 
 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

no  
change 

no  
change + 1.89 ha + 0.75 ha + 2.24 ha + 1.43 ha - 3.00 ha - 30.78 ha + 1.10 ha 

 

Areas of biodiversity importance are those recognised for their intrinsic environmental value and include sites of 

international, national, regional and local significance. In South Cambridgeshire these have been defined as: 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), National Nature Reserves (NNR), Special Protection Areas (SPAs), 

Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), RAMSAR sites, and County Wildlife Sites. 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Biological Records Centre 
 

Page 245



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

100 

Figure 4.57: Habitats and species affected by new developments (Indicator LOI2) 
 

Housing Completions 

South Cambridgeshire 
BAP Species * UK NERC s41 Species † 

2006-
2007 

2007-
2008 

2008-
2009 

2009-
2010 

2010-
2011 

2006-
2007 

2007-
2008 

2008-
2009 

2009-
2010 

2010-
2011 

% of planning permissions for 
housing that are completed and 
"affect" species records 

62.9% 74.0% 81.7% 81.3% 76.5% 72.2% 77.1% 85.7% 82.7% 77.2% 

% of species records "affected" by 
planning permissions for housing 
that are completed 

42.3% 58.6% 54.6% 46.9% 33.6% 22.8% 11.0% 10.2% 15.2% 15.8% 

 

Non-housing Completions $ 

South Cambridgeshire 
BAP Species * UK NERC s41 Species † 

2006-
2007 

2007-
2008 

2008-
2009 

2009-
2010 

2010-
2011 

2006-
2007 

2007-
2008 

2008-
2009 

2009-
2010 

2010-
2011 

% of planning permissions for 
non-housing that are completed 
and "affect" species records 

52.9% 79.7% 73.1% 88.4% 86.9% 52.9% 79.7% 73.1% 88.4% 86.9% 

% of species records "affected" by 
planning permissions for 
non-housing that are completed 

4.0% 4.8% 5.4% 2.0% 2.7% 2.7% 4.2% 6.1% 3.3% 6.0% 

 
* Species listed in section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 
† Species listed in the South Cambridgeshire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP). 
$ Non-housing completions include business uses (B1-B8), retail use (A1), financial & professional 
services (A2) and leisure uses (D2). 
 
Source: Cambridge & Peterborough Biological Records Centre 

 

Page 246



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

101 

Listed Buildings 
 

4.81 Listed buildings contribute significantly to the character and history of South 
Cambridgeshire. When assessing listed building applications, in addition to the 
legislative provisions to protect the historic and architectural significance of the 
building, the Council will adopt a presumption in favour of the retention and 
preservation of local materials and details on listed buildings in the district (see 
Development Control Policy CH/3). All listed buildings applications must be 
determined in accordance with national policy, currently the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

4.82 The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) supports development proposals when 
they sustain and enhance the significance of heritage assets (see Policy NH/14). 
Heritage assets are buildings, monuments, sites, places, area or landscapes which 
are significant because of their historic interest.  

 
Figure 4.58: Number of listed buildings and number that are at risk (Indicator LOJ1) 
 

  

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Number of listed 
buildings 2,630 2,633 2,665 2,666 2,666 2,660 2,660 2,672 2,672 2,660 

Number at risk 51 50 41 34 29 37 53 46 69 52 

% of listed buildings 
at risk 1.9% 1.9% 1.5% 1.3% 1.1% 1.4% 2.0% 1.7% 2.6% 2.0% 

 
Source: Planning & New Communities – South Cambridgeshire District Council 

 
 
 

Page 247



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

102 

Flood Risk 
 

4.83 There is a presumption that development should not be permitted in areas at risk of 
flooding; therefore any proposals for redevelopment or new development in flood risk 
areas are required to demonstrate that the development is not at risk of flooding and 
does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. Development Control Policy 
NE/11 requires that development proposals are considered against national planning 
policy, which requires the use of a sequential test to determine the suitability of the 
proposal and its location. 
 

4.84 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPFF) requires a risk based sequential 
approach to flood risk that avoids development being permitted in high risk areas and 
steers development to areas with a lower risk from flooding. Policy CC/9 of the Local 
Plan (submitted in March 2014) states that development will only be permitted where: 
the sequential and exception tests established by the NPPF demonstrate that the 
development is acceptable; suitable flood protection, mitigation and discharge 
measures are included into the proposal; and there would be no increase in flood risk 
elsewhere.    

 
Figure 4.59: Number of planning permissions granted where Environment Agency initially 
objected on flooding and water quality grounds (Indicators CO-E1 and M12) 
 

  

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Flooding none 2 * 5 † 9 $ 8 # 5 « 8 Ω 8 □ 4 ∞ 

Water Quality none none none none 1 ^ none 2 ◊ 1 ╨ none 

  
NOTES: 
 
* S/0873/06 was allowed on appeal and S/1086/06 was granted with the proviso that the flooding concerns were addressed 
through the reserved matters planning applications. 
 
† S/0282/07, S/0349/07, S/1183/07, S/1289/07 & S/1447/07 - all these permissions were subject to appropriate conditions 
and / or the submission of a satisfactory flood risk assessment, and as a result the Environment Agency withdrew their 
objections. 
 
$ S/0376/08, S/0696/08, S/0834/08, S/1211/08, S/1575/08, S/1598/08, S/1624/08, S/1816/08 & S/1834/07 – all these 
permissions were subject to appropriate conditions and / or the submission of a satisfactory flood risk assessment and as a 
result the Environment Agency withdrew their objections, or they were allowed on appeal. 
 
# S/0339/09, S/0696/08, S/0834/08, S/1575/08, S/1598/08, S/1624/08, S/1702/08 & S/1816/08 – all these permissions 
were subject to appropriate conditions and / or the submission of a satisfactory flood risk assessment, and as a result the 
Environment Agency withdrew their objections. 
 
^ S/0300/10 – the planning permission is for a variation of planning condition, and therefore the Environment Agency 
withdrew their initial objection following discussions with the case officer and the submission of the required information by 
the applicant.  
 
« S/0303/10, S/0758/10, S/1778/10, S/1847/10, S/2079/10 – all these permissions were subject to appropriate conditions 
and as a result the Environment Agency withdrew their objections. 
 
Ω S/0779/11, S/0849/11, S/1911/11, S/2411/11, S/2587/11, S/0005/12, S/0041/12 & S/2150/11 – all these permissions 
were subject to appropriate conditions and / or amended plans and as a result the Environment Agency withdrew their 

Page 248



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

103 

objections, or they were allowed on appeal. 
 
◊ S/1656/11 & S/2411/11 – all these permissions were subject to appropriate conditions and / or amended plans and as a 
result the Environment Agency withdrew their objections. 
 
□ S/0921/12, S/1349/12, S/1725/12, S/1726/12, S/2378/12, S/2491/12, S/2557/12 & S/2122/12 – all these permissions 
were subject to appropriate conditions and / or the submission of a satisfactory flood risk assessment and as a result the 
Environment Agency withdrew their objections, or they were allowed on appeal. 
 
╨ S/2411/11 – this permission was subject to appropriate conditions. 
 
∞ S/0395/13, S/1038/13, S/2150/11 & S/2312/13 – all these permissions were subject to appropriate conditions and / or 
the submission of a satisfactory flood risk assessment and as a result the Environment Agency withdrew their objections. 

 
Source: Environment Agency 
 
Figure 4.60: Amount of new development completed on previously undeveloped functional 
floodplain land, and in flood risk areas, without agreed flood defence measures (Indicators 
LOG1 and M11) 
 

  

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Previously undeveloped 
functional floodplain land * none none none none none none none none none 

Flood risk areas none none none none none none none none 1 dwelling 
(S/0101/11) 

 
* The Council has functional floodplain modelling for large areas of the district as a result of the 
completion of its revised Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, however there are still areas in the north 
of the district where modelling of functional floodplain is not yet available. Functional floodplain 
(identified as Flood Zone 3b) is the land where there is the highest level of flood risk and is a subset 
of the areas of flood risk identified by the Environment Agency. 
 
Source: Planning & New Communities – South Cambridgeshire District Council 

 
 

Page 249



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

104 

Reviewing & Monitoring the Statement of Community Involvement 
 

4.85 The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) was adopted in January 
2010, and provides information on how the Council will involve the community and 
other local and national stakeholders in the planning process. The SCI explains the 
process and methods for public involvement in the preparation and revision of the 
development plan and in the determination of planning applications. Minimum 
requirements for public involvement in the planning process are already set out in 
various Planning Acts, Regulations and Orders, however the SCI sets out any 
additional methods and processes that the Council will use. 
 

4.86 In order to monitor the Council’s implementation of the SCI, three monitoring 
indicators are included that cover public satisfaction with the planning application 
service and plan making consultations, and success in reaching all relevant sections 
of the community and stakeholders.  

 
Figure 4.61: Public Satisfaction with the Council's Planning Applications Service (Indicator 
SCI1) 
 
 2012-2013 2013-2014 

 63% and Above 60% 71% 

 Below 63% 40% 29% 

 Surveys Received  395 347 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure 4.62: Equality & Diversity Characteristics of the Council’s Plan Making Respondents 
(Indicator SCI2)  
 
Consultation on Draft Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD and Draft Health Impact 
Assessment SPD (October – December 2010) 
 
AGE 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ Not Stated 

Draft SPDs 0% 0% 11% 56% 33% 0% 

 

ETHNICITY Asian Black White Mixed Gypsy & 
Traveller Not Stated 

Draft SPDs 0% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 

 
GENDER Male Female Transgender Not Stated 

Draft SPDs 56% 44% 0% 0% 

 
DISABILITY Yes No 

Draft SPDs 11% 89% 

 
 

Page 250



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

105 

RELIGION Christian Hindu None Other Not Stated 

Draft SPDs 56% 0% 33% 0% 11% 

 
SEXUAL ORIENTATION Bisexual Heterosexual Homosexual Not Stated 

Draft SPDs 0% 88% 0% 12% 

 
RELATIONSHIP / 
MARITAL STATUS Divorced Married Single Other Not Stated 

Draft SPDs 0% 75% 0% 13% 12% 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure 4.63: Customer Satisfaction with the Council’s Plan Making Consultations (Indicator 
SCI3) 
 

Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate 
SPD  

Strongly 
Agree Agree 

Neither 
Agree or 
Disagree 

Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

Overall I am satisfied with the service 
provided by the Planning Policy Team. 50% 50% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
 
 

Page 251



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

106 

5. Significant Effects Indicators 
 
Land and Water Resources 
 
5.1. South Cambridgeshire is a rural district with significant areas of high quality 

agricultural land, mineral resources and sand and gravel aggregates that require 
protection, and a limited supply of previously developed land available for 
development. The district is also in one of the driest areas in the country leading to 
water supply issues and is identified as an area of Serious Water Stress. It is 
therefore important that any proposed development makes the most efficient use of 
land while protecting the district’s land and water resources. Both the government 
and the Council are committed to reducing the use of fossil fuels and increasing the 
proportion of energy used that is generated from renewable sources. 

  

Sustainability Appraisal Objectives: Land and Water Resources 
 Minimise the irreversible loss of undeveloped land and productive agricultural holdings. 
 Reduce the use of non-renewable resources, including energy sources. 
 Limit water consumption to levels supportable by natural processes and storage 

systems. 

 
Renewable & Non-Renewable Energy Sources 

 
Figure 5.1: KWh (kilowatt hours) of gas consumed per consumer per year (Indicator SE3i) 
 

 
 

[For full data, see figure A.15, appendix 2] 

Source: Department for Energy & Climate Change 
 

Page 252



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

107 

Figure 5.2: KWh (kilowatt hours) of electricity consumed per consumer per year (Indicator 
SE3ii) 
 

 
 

[For full data, see figure A.16, appendix 2] 
 
NOTE: Electricity consumption statistics for 2003 and 2004 are an experimental series.  
 
Source: Department for Energy & Climate Change 
 
Figure 5.3: Generating potential of renewable energy sources (GWh, gigawatt hours) 
(Indicator SE4) 
 

As at… 

19
99

 

20
00

 

20
01

 

20
02

 

20
03

 

20
04

 

20
05

 

20
06

 

20
07

 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

20
13

 

16.84 16.84 16.84 16.85 16.85 16.85 33.64 33.65 33.66 33.67 39.45 42.85 42.85 43.79 132.83 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 253



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

108 

Water 
 
Figure 5.4: Water consumption per head per day (in litres) (Indicator SE5) 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2001-
2002

2002-
2003

2003-
2004

2004-
2005

2005-
2006

2006-
2007

2007-
2008

2008-
2009

2009-
2010

2010-
2011

W
at

er
 c

o
n

su
m

p
ti

o
n

 p
er

 h
ea

d
 p

er
 d

ay
 (

li
tr

es
)

Cambridge Water Company

Industry Average

 
 

[For full data, see figure A.17, appendix 2] 
 
Source: Ofwat 
 

 
2007-

2008 

2008-

2009 

2009-

2010 

2010-

2011 

2011-

2012 

2012-

2013 

2013-

2014 

Cambridge 

Water 

Company 

Unmeasured 143 146 150 154 150 141 146 

Measured 130 128 129 131 129 123 125 

Average * 136 136 138 141 138 130 133 

Anglian 

Water 

Unmeasured 158 158 163 165 163 155 148 

Measured 142 139 133 135 134 127 129 

Average * 150 147 145 146 141 133 135 

 
* Average water consumption is calculated based on the number of properties in each of the 
unmeasured and measured categories, rather than simply dividing by two. 
 
Source: Anglian Water & Cambridge Water Company 
 
 

Page 254



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

109 

Biodiversity 
 
5.2. South Cambridgeshire includes five different National Character Areas each with a 

unique combination of physical attributes, such as geology, plant and animal 
species, land use and culture, which combine to create a distinctive biodiversity for 
each area. The district also has a variety of sites of international, national and local 
importance for nature conservation such as Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and County Wildlife Sites. It is therefore 
important that any proposed development maintains or enhances the biodiversity of 
the area, or any adverse impact can be adequately mitigated or compensated for. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal Objectives: Biodiversity 
 Avoid damage to designated sites and protected species. 
 Maintain and enhance the range and viability of characteristic habitats and species. 
 Improve opportunities for people to access and appreciate wildlife and wild places. 

 
Figure 5.5: Percentage of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) in ‘favourable’ or 
‘unfavourable recovering’ condition (Indicator SE6) 
 

 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

South Cambridgeshire 77 80 91 91 79 83 88 88 89 

Cambridgeshire 71 74 69 68 65 72 79 78 76 

 
Source: Natural England   
 
Figure 5.6: Total area designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) (Indicator 
SE7) 
 

 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

South Cambridgeshire 952 ha 952 ha 952 ha 952 ha 952 ha 952 ha 952 ha 952 ha 952 ha 

 
Source: Natural England 
 
Figure 5.7: Area of Local Nature Reserves per 1,000 people (Indicator SE8) 
 

 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

South Cambridgeshire 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 0.2 ha 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council and Natural England 
 

Page 255



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

110 

Figure 5.8: Percentage of Rights of Way that are easy to use (Indicator SE10) 
 

 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

% of Rights of Way that are easy to 
use (based on the number) 70.3 61.2 75.0 70.3 72.6 87.2 84.3 84.0 73.0 

% of Rights of Way that are easy to 
use (based on their length) 65.9 56.7 63.1 72.8 80.0 86.5 83.4 89.6 76.0 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 5.9: Proportion of 'local sites' where positive conservation management has been or 
is being implemented (Indicator SA13) 
 

  2012-2013 2013-2014 

South Cambridgeshire 66.1% 68.4% 

Cambridgeshire 57.9% 59.5% 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Environmental Records Centre 
 
5.3. The Council is committed to biodiversity conservation through its duty under the 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and it has input to 
the Cambridgeshire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP)16. The following are some 
examples of biodiversity conservation projects achieved by the Council in the last 
monitoring year (Indicator SE9):  
 Opening of the Mill Bridge Brook Park in Gamlingay which includes a community 

orchard, meadow, copses and 300m of enhanced river habitats. 
 Ten grass amenity areas were re-seeded within South Cambridgeshire District 

Council controlled housing estates to bring biodiversity close to residents. The 
flower displays provided colour and nectar which attracted more invertebrates. 

 The Wildlife Enhancement Scheme project supported 12 projects that resulted in 
action on the ground. 

 In partnership with the Wildlife Trust, undertook the restoration of 360m of the 
Hoffer Brook including the creation of 3 cattle drinking areas and fencing to 
prevent further damage to the brook by cattle. 

 Through close working with the Affordable Homes Service, delivered 67 nest 
boxes as improvements to homes have been undertaken. This pioneering work 
will be monitored in 2015. 

 Regular input has continued to be provided to the evolution of the River Cam 
Strategy with talks provided at public forums. A bid for over £1m is to be 
prepared in partnership with Cambridgeshire ACRE to take forward river-based 
conservation projects. 

                                                
16 http://www.cpbiodiversity.org.uk/biodiversity-action-plans  

Page 256



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

111 

 In partnership with Bar Hill Parish Council enhancements were delivered to 
improve flood risk management and water vole habitat at the Bar Hill Nature 
Reserve. 

 Support has continued to be offered to communities who have planted orchards, 
with further orchards planted in Girton and Willingham. 

 Grant aid was provided to environmental enhancement projects undertaken by 
Whittlesford Primary School and Barrington Parish Council, and to Action for 
Swifts for the Cambridge International Swift Conference. 

 
 
 
 

Page 257



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

112 

Landscape, Townscape and Archaeology 
 
5.4. The villages of South Cambridgeshire vary in size and character, with complex 

combinations of materials and styles set in different landscapes. The district also 
contains a great variety of buildings of architectural and historical interest. It is 
therefore important that any proposed new development: does not harm local 
amenity, responds to local surroundings; is of high quality design; and brings benefits 
to the landscapes and townscapes of the area. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal Objectives: Landscape, Townscape and Archaeology 
 Avoid damage to areas and sites designated for their historic interest, and protect their 

settings. 
 Maintain and enhance the diversity and distinctiveness of landscape and townscape 

character. 
 Create places, spaces and buildings that work well, wear well and look good. 

 
Figure 5.10: Percentage of the total built-up area falling within Conservation Areas 
(Indicator SE12) 
 

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2013 

21.2 % 21.6 % 21.9 % 21.8 % 22.4 % 22.4 % 20.2 % 20.2 % 20.7 % 20.7 % 20.7 % 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure 5.11: (i) Residents’ satisfaction with the quality of the built environment and (ii) 
Percentage of residents 'very satisfied' or 'fairly satisfied' with their local area as a place to 
live (Indicator SE13) 
 

 
Quality of Life Survey (i) Place Survey (ii) 

2003 2006 2008 

South Cambridgeshire 57% 47% 91% 

Cambridgeshire 50% 43% 86% 

 
Figure 5.12: (i) Percentage of new homes developed to Eco-Homes 'good' or 'excellent' 
standard and (ii) Cumulative number of Code for Sustainable Homes certificates issued in 
South Cambridgeshire (Indicator SE14) 
 

SE14(i) 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007 

% of new homes 1.6% 13.2% 12.9% 

 
Source: BREEAM 
 

Page 258



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

113 

 
 
[For full data, see figure A.18, appendix 2] 
 
Source: Department of Communities & Local Government (CLG) 
 
Figure 5.13: Countryside Quality Counts - areas inconsistent with (local) landscape 
character (Indicator SA17) 
 

1990-1998 1998-2003 

  

 
Source: Natural England 

Page 259



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

114 

Figure 5.14: Other heritage assets at risk (Indicator SA19) 
 

  2011 2012 2013 2014 

Buildings and Structure 2 2 2 3 

Place of Worship 1 1 1 4 

Archaeology / Scheduled Monuments 24 25 24 24 

Registered Parks and Garden 0 0 0 0 

Registered Battlefield 0 0 0 0 

Wreck Site 0 0 0 0 

Conservation Area 11 10 11 5 

 
Source: English Heritage 

 

Page 260



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

115 

Climate Change and Pollution 
 
5.5. South Cambridgeshire is a rural district with large areas of high quality agricultural 

land and large areas of land within the floodplain; therefore the key issues for the 
district relating to climate change are fluvial flooding and changes in the soil 
characteristics. The rural nature of the district also increases dependency on car 
travel, and road transport is a significant source of pollution in the district. Waste is a 
big environmental issue and it is thought that up to 90% of household waste could be 
recycled. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal Objectives: Climate Change and Pollution 
 Reduce emissions of greenhouse gasses and other pollutants (including air, water, 

soil, noise vibration and light). 
 Minimise waste production and support the recycling of waste products. 
 Limit or reduce vulnerability to the effects of climate change (including flooding). 

 
 Pollution 
 
Figure 5.15: Carbon Dioxide emissions (Indicator SE15) 
 

Carbon dioxide emissions from domestic sources (kilo tonnes) 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

357 371 364 361 333 361 318 352 

 
 

Carbon dioxide emissions per domestic capita (tonnes) 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

2.6 2.7 2.6 2.5 2.3 2.4 2.1 2.3 

 
Source: Department for Energy & Climate Change 
 
Figure 5.16: Annual average concentration of Nitrogen Dioxide (ug/m³) (Indicator SE16i)  
 

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Bar Hill 49.7 42.0 43.0 34.0 42.0 39.0 30.0 43.0 39.0 n/a 

Impington 52.2 31.0 30.0 41.0 35.0 33.0 30.0 31.0 31.0 27.0 

Orchard Park 
School n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 20.0 28.0 25.0 21.0 22.0 

Girton Road n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 27.0 26.0 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
 

Page 261



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

116 

Figure 5.17: Annual mean number of days when PM10 levels exceeded a daily mean of 
50ug/m³ (Indicator SE16ii) 
 

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

 Bar Hill 40 days 25 days 51 days 49 days 52 days 48 days 37 days 26 days 0 days n/a 

 Impington 72 days 37 days 42 days 34 days 43 days 55 days 36 days 119 days 180 days 21 days 

Orchard Park 
School n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 0 days 0 days 10 days 4 days 7 days 

Girton Road n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 16 days 23 days 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure 5.18: Vehicle flows across the South Cambridgeshire – Cambridge City boundary 
over a 12-hour period (Indicator SE17) 
 

2001 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

172,926 170,036 183,596 185,908 183,850 188,684 187,153 184,962 183,123 185,549 188,744 190,578 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 5.19: Cambridgeshire Cycling trips index (Indicator SA52) 
 

Year Cyclist Count 

2012 58,525 

2013 57,199 

  
Year Increase from 2004-05 

average baseline 

2009 16.9% 

2010 19.6% 

2011 33.2% 

2012 35.8% 

2013 33.2% 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 262



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

117 

Figure 5.20: Cambridgeshire Congestion - average journey time per mile during the am peak 
environment (Indicator SA53) 
 

Sept 2011 - August 2012 Sept 2012 - August 2013 

3.84 minutes 3.78 minutes 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 5.21: People killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents in Cambridgeshire 
(Indicator SA55) 
 

Year Fatal Serious Slight Total 

2000 13 111 818 942 

2001 11 149 898 1058 

2002 23 119 773 915 

2003 13 119 777 909 

2004 15 135 842 992 

2005 25 141 782 948 

2006 22 92 660 774 

2007 17 98 664 779 

2008 17 87 576 680 

2009 6 105 523 634 

2010 18 95 514 627 

2011 7 81 486 574 

2012 9 61 463 533 

2013 5 70 428 503 

Total 201 1,463 9,204 10,868 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 263



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

118 

Figure 5.22: (i) Percentage of main rivers of ‘good’ or ‘fair’ quality and (ii) Ecological Status 
of Main Rivers (Indicator SE18)  
 

SE18(i) 1990 1995 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Biological 100% 100% 100% n/a 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Chemical 99% 100% 94% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

 

SE18(ii) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

High 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Good 7% 7% 10% 3% 6% 

Moderate 72% 55% 50% 54% 50% 

Poor 20% 36% 37% 41% 43% 

Bad 0% 2% 3% 2% 2% 

 
Source: Environment Agency 
  

Waste 
 
Figure 5.23: Household waste collected (Indicator SE19) 
 

 
[For full data, see figure A.19, appendix 2] 
 
 
 

Page 264



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

119 

 

 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 

Residual waste per 
household (kg) * 

450.71 412.50 419.90 435.00 435.00 

 
* Residual waste per household: this is measured by household and only includes the ‘black bag’ 
waste, therefore excluding any waste recycled, reused or composted. 
 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure 5.24: Percentage of household waste collected which is recycled or composted 
(Indicator SE20) 
 

 
 
[For full data, see figure A.20, appendix 2] 
 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Page 265



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

120 

Climate Change (including flooding) 
 
Figure 5.25: Number of properties at risk to flooding (Indicator SE21) 
 

 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Flood Zone 3  
(1 in 100 flood event) 1,736 1,831 1,902 1,873 1,985 1,898* 1,940* 1,940* n/k 

Flood Zone 2  
(1 in 1000 flood event) 2,901 3,072 3,312 3,154 3,323 3,239* 3,208* 3,202* n/k 

 
* 2010-11, 2011-12 & 2012-13 use address points from July 2013 
 
Source: Environment Agency  
 
5.6. The Environment Agency is continually updating its flood maps when new modelling 

becomes available to provide as accurate data as possible and therefore the figures 
are assessed against a changing framework.  

 
 

Page 266



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

121 

Healthy Communities 
 
5.7. Good health both for individuals and communities is related to good quality housing 

and developments, well designed street scenes, well laid out neighbourhoods, 
quality and efficiency in transport systems, access to appropriate employment, and 
opportunities to experience leisure and cultural services activities and green and 
open space.  

 

Sustainability Appraisal Objectives: Healthy Communities 
 Maintain and enhance human health. 
 Reduce and prevent crime, and reduce the fear of crime. 
 Improve the quantity and quality of publicly accessible open space. 

 
Figure 5.26: Life expectancy at birth (in years) (Indicator SE22) 
 

 

19
99

-2
00

1 

20
00

-2
00

2 

20
01

-2
00

3 

20
02

-2
00

4 

20
03

-2
00

5 

20
04

-2
00

6 

20
05

-2
00

7 

20
06

-2
00

8 

20
07

-2
00

9 

20
08

-2
01

0 

20
09

-2
01

1 

20
10

-2
01

2 

20
11

-2
01

3 

M
al

es
 South 

Cambridgeshire 79.0 79.0 79.4 79.1 79.3 79.4 80.6 81.3 81.6 81.3 82.1 82.8 83.0 

England 75.7 76.0 76.2 76.5 76.9 77.3 77.6 77.9 78.2 78.5 78.9 79.2 79.4 

F
em

al
es

 South 
Cambridgeshire 82.6 83.0 83.1 83.4 84.0 84.3 84.5 84.6 84.5 85.1 85.6 85.9 85.9 

England 80.4 80.7 80.7 80.9 81.1 81.5 81.8 82.0 82.3 82.5 82.9 83.0 83.1 

 
Source: Office for National Statistics 
 
Figure 5.27: Percentage of Residents with a Limiting Long-Term Illness (Indicator SE23) 
 
Census 2001 Census 2011 

13% 14% 

 
Source: Census 
 
Figure 5.28: Number of recorded crimes per 1,000 people (Indicator SE24) 
 

 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

South Cambridgeshire 59.2 57.0 48.5 43.6 49.9 49.2 47.5 41.4 35.3 33.5 31.4 30.9 

Cambridgeshire 90.9 93.6 79.2 73.5 74.9 72.8 71.5 65.0 62.3 56.4 49.0 46.3 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
 

Page 267



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

122 

Figure 5.29: Percentage of residents feeling safe after dark (Indicator SE25) 
 

 
Quality of Life Survey Place Survey 

2003 2006 2008 

Cambridge 45% 45% 53% 

East Cambridgeshire 57% 56% 64% 

Fenland 47% 43% 46% 

Huntingdonshire 59% 58% 60% 

South Cambridgeshire 69% 64% 71% 

 
Figure 5.30: Hectares of strategic open space per 1,000 people (Indicator SE26) 
 

 2004 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

South Cambridgeshire 4.30 4.67 7.34 7.30 7.20 7.15 7.03 6.74 n/k n/k 

Cambridgeshire 5.50 5.14 5.86 5.80 5.73 5.68 5.60 5.42 n/k n/k 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
5.8. In South Cambridgeshire there are 1.5 ha of sports pitches available for public use 

per 1,000 people; this information is from the South Cambridgeshire Recreation 
Study 2013 (Indicator SE27).  

 
 

 

Page 268



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

123 

Inclusive Communities 
 
5.9. It is crucial that new sustainable communities are vibrant and thriving places for 

everyone irrespective of their age, race, faith, gender, disability or income. The role 
of planning in developing inclusive communities goes beyond the design of the built 
environment. It requires thought about the location of accessible and affordable 
housing and its proximity to community, employment, shopping and leisure facilities 
as well as providing opportunities for people to play an active role in the place where 
they live.  

 

Sustainability Appraisal Objectives: Inclusive Communities 
 Improve the quality, range and accessibility of services and facilities (e.g. health, 

transport, education, training, leisure opportunities). 
 Redress inequalities related to age, gender, disability, race, faith, location and income. 
 Ensure all groups have access to decent, appropriate and affordable housing. 
 Encourage and enable the active involvement of local people in community activities. 

 
Figure 5.31: Percentage of the district’s population within each settlement category (Revised 
Indicator SE28) 
 

  Edge of 
Cambridge Rural Centre Minor Rural 

Centre Group Village Infill Village 

2001 0.0 19.9 24.6 42.6 12.9 

2002 0.0 19.7 24.6 42.6 13.1 

2003 0.0 21.0 24.7 41.5 12.8 

2004 0.0 21.4 24.6 41.4 12.7 

2005 0.0 21.7 24.5 41.2 12.6 

2006 0.0 22.0 24.3 41.2 12.5 

2007 0.0 22.5 24.2 41.0 12.3 

2008 0.6 22.4 24.1 40.7 12.2 

2009 0.8 22.5 23.9 40.6 12.2 

2010 1.0 22.7 23.8 40.3 12.1 

2011 1.1 22.8 23.7 40.3 12.0 

2012 1.4 23.9 23.1 39.7 11.9 

2013 1.5 24.6 22.6 39.5 11.7 

 
Note: The parish of Orchard Park was created under section 4 of the South Cambridgeshire District 
Council (Reorganisation of Community Governance Order) 2009. It formally came into existence on 
1st April 2009. 
 

Page 269



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

124 

5.10. Indicator SE28 as originally set out in the Council’s Sustainability Appraisal 
assumed the use of data collected by the County Council and published in their 
Structure Plan Annual Monitoring Report. The indicator recorded the percentage of 
the district’s population in each village category; where each village was allocated a 
category based on the availability of services such as a primary school, food shop, 
post office and public transport service, with category 1 being the most sustainable 
settlements. Based on the population in mid 2001, 83% of the population of South 
Cambridgeshire lived in village categories 1-3 with access to a primary school, food 
shop, post office and public transport. 

 
5.11. The County Council have not updated the data since 2001, and the village 

categories assigned to the settlements in South Cambridgeshire do not reflect the 
settlement categories as agreed through the adoption of the Core Strategy. A 
Revised Indicator SE28 has been created based on the Core Strategy settlement 
categories of: edge of Cambridge, Rural Centre, Minor Rural Centre, Group Village 
and Infill Village. 

 
Figure 5.32: (i) Percentage of residents who feel their local area is harmonious and (ii) 
Percentage of residents that 'definitely agree' and 'tend to agree' that their local area is a 
place where people from different backgrounds get on well together (Indicator SE29)  
 

 
Quality of Life Survey (i) Place Survey (ii) 

2003 2006 2008 

Cambridge 63% 59% 86% 

East Cambridgeshire 60% 50% 79% 

Fenland 46% 37% 62% 

Huntingdonshire 58% 50% 80% 

South Cambridgeshire 67% 57% 82% 

 
Figure 5.33: Indices of Multiple Deprivation (Indicator SE30)  
 

 2000 2004 2007 2010 

Income Deprivation Rank 298th 294th 275th 254th 

Employment Deprivation Rank 275th 286th 276th 260th 

Overall Deprivation Rank 342nd 345th 350th 322nd 

Average Deprivation Score 7.33 6.39 6.55 7.11 

 
Defined by super output area and provides the position of the district out of 354 local authorities 
where 1 is the most deprived and 354 is the least deprived. 
 
Source: Department for Communities & Local Government 
 

Page 270



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

125 

Figure 5.34: House price: earnings ratio (Indicator SE31) 
 

 

19
99

 

20
00

 

20
01

 

20
02

 

20
03

 

20
04

 

20
05

 

20
06

 

20
07

 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 R
 

20
12

 P
 

20
13

 P
 

South 
Cambridgeshire 4.9 5.7 5.9 6.5 6.9 6.8 7.4 7.1 8.3 7.9 6.4 7.3 8.0 7.6 8.0 

Cambridgeshire 4.2 4.7 4.9 5.7 6.3 6.6 7.2 7.2 7.6 7.6 6.5 7.4 7.1 7.1 7.3 

 
Notes: 
R Figures for 2011 have been revised due to revisions in ASHE data. 

P Figures are provisional and may change when the table is updated next year to reflect revisions in ASHE data. 

 
Source: Department for Communities & Local Government 
 
Figure 5.35: Median gross household income (Indicator SE32) 
 

Data from CACI 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 

South Cambridgeshire £33,500 £33,300 n/a £35,400 £36,000 n/a £37,200 

Cambridgeshire £29,400 £30,000 n/a £31,900 £32,500 n/a £32,900 

 

Data from Hometrack 2012 2013 2014 

South Cambridgeshire £36,100 n/a £37,900 

Cambridgeshire £32,200 n/a £32,500 

 
Source: Research Group – Cambridgeshire County Council  
 
Figure 5.36: (i) Percentage of adults who feel they can influence decisions affecting their 
local area and (ii) Percentage of residents that 'definitely agree' and 'tend to agree' that they 
can influence decisions affecting their local area (Indicator SE34) 
 

 
Quality of Life Survey (i) Place Survey (ii) 

2003 2006 2008 

Cambridge 22% 23% 39% 

East Cambridgeshire 16% 14% 28% 

Fenland 12% 10% 24% 

Huntingdonshire 17% 15% 28% 

South Cambridgeshire 19% 17% 34% 

 
 

Page 271



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

126 

Figure 5.37: (i) Percentage of adults who have provided support* to others and (ii) 
Percentage of people who have participated in regular formal volunteering in last twelve 
months (Indicator SE35) 
 

 
Quality of Life Survey (i) Place Survey (ii) 

2003 2006 2008 

South Cambridgeshire 81% 82% 33% 

 
* Support is defined as unpaid activities such as: looking after property or pets whilst someone is 
away, babysitting, household jobs for someone else, or providing transport. 
 
Figure 5.38: Delivery of Extra Care Housing (Indicator SA35) 
 

  Moorlands, Melbourn Flaxfield, Linton Bircham House, 
Sawston 

Completed March 2008 March 2010 2003 

HCA Funding 
Provided Yes Yes Yes 

Tenure Social Rent Social Rent Social Rent 

Number of units 35 40 30 

Breakdown:       

1 bed flat 32 32 28 

2 bed flat 3 8 2 

Notes 
19 private sale 
properties to provide 
cross subsidy 

    

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 

 
 

Page 272



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

127 

Economic Activity 
 
5.12. The economy of the district is driven by the Cambridge Phenomenon, which is the 

clustering of hi tech, biotech and research and development industries within the 
district due to its proximity to Cambridge University and Addenbrooke’s Hospital. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal Objectives: Economic Activity 
 Help people gain access to satisfying work appropriate to their skills, potential and 

place of residence. 
 Support appropriate investment in people, places, communications and other 

infrastructure. 
 Improve the efficiency, competitiveness, vitality and adaptability of the local economy. 

 
Figure 5.39: Number of people unemployed claiming Job Seekers Allowance (Indicator 
SE36)  
 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

771 720 745 761 737 636 1,508 1,573 1,333 1,369 1,346 883 

 
Source: NOMIS 
 
Figure 5.40: Percentage of Residents aged 16-74 in Employment and Working within 5km of 
Home or At Home (Indicator SE37)  
 
Census 2001 Census 2011 

37% 35% 

 
Source: Census 

Page 273



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

128 

Figure 5.41: % of all 15/16 year olds achieving 5 or more GCSE / GNVQ passes at A*-C 
grade (Indicator SE38) 
 

 
 

 2013-2014 * 

South Cambridgeshire 75% 

Cambridgeshire LEA 64% 

East of England 65% 

 

* Results for 2013-2014 are based upon 'First Entry' and are therefore not comparable with previous years. 

 

[For full data, see figure A.21, appendix 2] 

 
Source: Department for Education & Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 274



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

129 

Figure 5.42: % of primary school pupils achieving Level 4 or higher in English, Maths and 
Science (Indicator SE39) 
 

  2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 * 2014 * 

E
n

g
lis

h
 South Cambridgeshire 88% 85% 87% 89% 87% 84% 86% 89% n/a ^ n/a ^ 

Cambridgeshire LEA 82% 81% 83% 84% 81% 80% 82% 85% 86% 89% 

East of England 80% 80% 80% 81% 80% 79% 80% 85% 87% 88% 

 
* As English is no longer a Key Stage 2 benchmark, the results from 2013 onwards are based upon 
Teacher Assessments. 
 
^ From 2013 onwards, the Key Stage 2 results for English are not available at a sub-national level as 
English was replaced by separate Reading and Writing benchmarks. 
 

  2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

M
at

h
s 

South Cambridgeshire 84% 84% 86% 85% 84% 83% 82% 87% 84% 86% 

Cambridgeshire LEA 78% 79% 80% 80% 79% 79% 80% 84% 82% 84% 

East of England 75% 76% 77% 78% 78% 79% 79% 83% 83% 85% 

 
  2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

S
ci

en
ce

 South Cambridgeshire 93% 92% 93% 95% 92% n/a + n/a + n/a + n/a + n/a + 

Cambridgeshire LEA 90% 88% 89% 89% 88% 85% 86% 87% 88% 88% 

East of England 87% 87% 88% 87% 88% 87% 85% 86% 88% 88% 

 
+ From 2010 onwards, the Key Stage 2 results for Science are not available at a sub-national level as 
Science was no longer assessed through whole cohort testing. 
 

  2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

R
ea

d
in

g
 South Cambridgeshire n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ 90% 91% 

Cambridgeshire LEA 87% 85% 86% 89% 87% 84% 85% 86% 85% 89% 

East of England 85% 84% 84% 87% x 83% 83% 86% 85% 88% 

 
  2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

W
ri

ti
n

g
 South Cambridgeshire n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ n/a µ 85% 87% 

Cambridgeshire LEA 66% 70% 69% 71% 67% 71% 76% 81% 81% 84% 

East of England 63% 67% 66% 66% x 69% 73% 81% 83% 85% 

 
µ The Key Stage 2 results for Reading and Writing are only available for 2013 onwards at a sub-
national level. In 2013, Reading and Writing replaced English as Key Stage 2 benchmarks. 
 
x Not calculated due to Key Stage 2 boycott. 
 
Source: Department for Education & Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 275



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

130 

Figure 5.43: Average point score per student entered into GCE / VCE / Applied A / AS and 
equivalent examinations (Indicator SE40) 
 
(i) by pupil residence 
 

 2006-2007 2007-2008 2008-2009 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 

South Cambridgeshire 812.1 841.2 842.9 807.6 814.7 797.7 783.9 

Cambridgeshire LEA 755.7 780.5 756.7 749.7 746.2 731.9 720.6 

East of England 723.0 739.8 733.3 739.8 739.9 724.9 712.3 

 
Source: Office for National Statistics, Department for Education & Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
(ii) by location of educational institution 
 

 
2006- 
2007 

2007- 
2008 

2008- 
2009 

2009- 
2010 

2010- 
2011 

2011- 
2012 

2012- 
2013 

2013- 
2014 

South Cambridgeshire 558.5 692.6 602.7 669.2 579.8 596.1 611.7 629.3 

Cambridgeshire LEA 766.0 797.6 763.2 764.0 755.0 746.2 733.0 698.5 

East of England 722.6 736.1 731.5 737.2 735.3 722.7 711.4 689.8 

 
Source: Office for National Statistics, Department for Education & Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure 5.44: % of resident population with NVQ level 1 (or equivalent) and above (Indicator 
SE41)  
 

  2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

South Cambridgeshire 85.2% 85.4% 84.7% 85.0% 78.6% 88.7% 90.4% 92.3% 93.1% 

Cambridgeshire 81.0% 80.0% 80.8% 80.8% 80.8% 82.9% 84.6% 86.0% 88.9% 

East of England 78.8% 77.5% 77.9% 77.4% 79.9% 81.4% 83.8% 85.5% 85.8% 

Great Britain 77.2% 77.6% 77.9% 77.7% 78.9% 80.2% 82.7% 84.0% 84.4% 

 
Source: NOMIS 
 
Figure 5.45: Annual net change in VAT and/or PAYE registered firms (Indicator SE43)  
 

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Enterprise births 780 725 685 835 710 675 640 675 755 945 

Enterprise deaths 590 560 535 590 545 760 645 655 680 640 

Active enterprises 6,560 6,670 6,800 7,085 7,235 7,345 7,335 7,310 7,390 7,635 

 
Source: Office for National Statistics 
 

Page 276



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

131 

Figure 5.46: Economic Activity Rate (Indicator SE44)  
 

 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

South 
Cambridgeshire 83.7% 85.1% 83.8% 81.5% 84.9% 82.5% 83.2% 85.1% 84.2% 80.9% 

Cambridgeshire 82.0% 79.4% 79.2% 81.1% 81.1% 79.8% 79.2% 79.7% 81.4% 82.1% 

 
Source: NOMIS 
 
Figure 5.47: Number of people in employment (Indicator SE45)  
 

  

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Employed 
Residents 74,500 74,300 74,000 76,500 73,400 75,000 77,000 76,800 77,200 

Workplace 
Population 66,200 61,900 51,400 48,900 53,900 59,000 49,600 45,400 48,700 

 
Source: Research Group – Cambridgeshire County Council  
 

Page 277



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

132 

Figure 5.48: Industrial composition of employee jobs (Indicator SE46) 
 

Industry Sector 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Manufacturing 23.5% 23.6% 23.3% 22.6% 20.6% 20.0% 19.9% 17.2% 17.7% 17.1% 

Construction 5.3% 3.8% 3.9% 4.2% 3.7% 3.7% 4.7% 5.2% 5.5% 5.2% 

Services 68.1% 70.0% 70.1% 70.3% 73.1% 73.5% 72.8% 75.2% 74.1% 75.1% 

- Distribution, Hotels 
& Restaurants 19.5% 18.0% 16.1% 18.8% 20.2% 21.6% 18.5% 17.3% 16.9% 22.5% 

- Transport & 
Communications 3.5% 4.0% 4.5% 3.5% 3.4% 4.0% 3.4% 2.5% 2.0% 1.9% 

- Banking, Finance & 
Insurance 22.5% 24.2% 26.3% 25.3% 27.0% 26.9% 25.4% 27.9% 27.9% 27.1% 

- Public Admin, 
Education & Health 19.1% 19.9% 19.6% 18.1% 18.5% 17.3% 21.3% 23.1% 23.0% 20.1% 

Other 3.6% 3.9% 3.6% 4.6% 4.0% 3.7% 4.2% 4.4% 4.3% 3.5% 

 
Source: NOMIS 
 

Industry Sector 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Mining, Quarrying & Utilities 0.6% 0.7% 0.7% 1.0% 0.8% 0.9% 

Manufacturing 16.4% 14.1% 13.7% 15.3% 14.3% 15.1% 

Construction 5.6% 5.6% 4.8% 5.4% 5.4% 5.2% 

Services 77.1% 79.5% 80.8% 78.0% 79.4% 78.5% 

- Distribution, Hotels & Restaurants 22.6% 22.7% 18.3% 18.5% 17.5% 17.7% 

- Transport, IT & Communications 7.4% 7.7% 13.3% 11.1% 12.3% 9.8% 

- Finance & Other Business Activities 24.1% 25.8% 26.7% 24.3% 25.1% 27.1% 

- Public Admin, Education & Health 19.8% 20.1% 18.7% 20.4% 21.3% 20.3% 

Other Services 3.2% 3.2% 3.8% 3.7% 3.2% 3.6% 

 

Tourism-Related (extract) 5.9% 4.6% 5.4% 5.5% 6.1% 6.0% 

 
Source: Business Register and Employment Survey 
 
 

Page 278



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

133 

Appendix 1: Assessment of Housing Land Supply Sites 
 
a. Allocations without Planning Permission 
 

Cambridge East 
 
A.1. Cambridge East is allocated for a major mixed-use development on the edge of 

Cambridge including land within South Cambridgeshire and Cambridge City. The two 
Councils jointly adopted the Cambridge East Area Action Plan in February 2008 
which planned for a new urban quarter to Cambridge and provided for an early 
phase of development North of Newmarket Road. The whole site has a capacity of 
10,000 to 12,000 dwellings. 

 
A.2. The main landowner, Marshall of Cambridge, announced in April 2010 that the 

relocation of Cambridge Airport will not happen before 2031 at least, as there are 
currently no suitable relocation options. The Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) 
proposes that land at Cambridge Airport is safeguarded as a strategic reserve of 
land to be developed at a later date. As no housing is expected to be delivered on 
the Airport site before 2031, no allowance is made for housing in the housing 
trajectory. 
 

A.3. In December 2013, Marshall submitted an outline planning permission for their wing 
development (land north of Newmarket Road, S/2682/13), which consists of up to 
1,300 homes, a primary school, a food store, community facilities, open spaces, 
landscaping and associated infrastructure. The landowner has indicated that, subject 
to securing outline planning permission in early 2015, construction is anticipated to 
start on site in 2017, with the first 85 homes completed in 2018-2019. It is anticipated 
that the development would be completed in 2027-2028. 
 

A.4. While the airport remains on site, there is also potential for residential development 
North of Cherry Hinton on land within both Cambridge City and South 
Cambridgeshire, as provided for in the Area Action Plan. This site is allocated in both 
Councils Local Plans (submitted in March 2014) and is expected to deliver a total of 
approximately 460 dwellings of which approximately 110 homes would be delivered 
in South Cambridgeshire. The dwelling totals and associated housing densities in the 
Local Plans are preferred to those proposed in the recent housing trajectory 
questionnaire returns for this site, which are considered to be too high for the 
northern part of the site and too low for the southern part of the site. Pre-application 
discussions are in progress with both landowners. The two landowners have 
indicated that development could start on site in 2017 and be completed in 2021. 
Marshall anticipates that an outline planning application for land in their ownership 
will be submitted in early 2015.      

 
Land between Huntingdon Road, Histon Road & the A14 (Darwin Green 2 or 
NIAB 2) 

 
A.5. The site was allocated as a sustainable housing-led urban extension to Cambridge in 

the Site Specific Policies DPD, adopted in January 2010. The site is adjacent to the 
Cambridge City Council NIAB allocation (NIAB 1) and will provide a secondary 

Page 279



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

134 

school to serve development in the whole of the north-west part of Cambridge. The 
notional capacity of the site has been reduced from approximately 1,100 dwellings to 
900 dwellings in the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014). A small extension 
(approximately 100 dwellings, known as NIAB 3 or Darwin Green 3) is being 
proposed for allocation through the Local Plan, making the total for the whole site 
1,000 dwellings. This change takes account of concerns that the higher figure could 
result in densities that are too high and not compatible with achieving a high quality 
development on this edge of Cambridge.  
 

A.6. Pre-application discussions are in progress and it is anticipated that construction will 
start in 2018. The agent anticipates that the site (with the proposed small extension 
included in the Local Plan) will deliver 1,200 dwellings. The Council has taken a 
more cautious approach in the housing trajectory to reflect its concerns regarding the 
density and quality of development. The predicted annual housing completions for 
both NIAB 2 (Darwin Green 2) and NIAB 3 (Darwin Green 3) have been combined in 
the housing trajectory and are shown in the ‘adopted allocations without planning 
permission’ section.  

 
Orchard Park – Parcel K1 

 
A.7. Orchard Park is a mixed-use development on the northern edge of Cambridge 

between Kings Hedges Road, Histon Road and the A14. The site was originally 
allocated in the Local Plan 2004, and received outline planning permission in June 
2005. The Site Specific Policies DPD (adopted in January 2010) carries forward 
the allocation.  
 

A.8. The outline planning permission for the site has now lapsed and Parcel K1 is the only 
remaining parcel without detailed planning permission. Discussions are on-going to 
bring forward this site for self-build through the Cambridge Co-Housing Project. It is 
anticipated that a planning application will be submitted in Autumn 2014. Subject to 
planning permission, the agent anticipates that construction will start in early 2015 
and that the development will be completed in March 2016.   

 
Orchard Park – additional land parcels (L2 & Com4) 

 
A.9. The Site Specific Policies DPD (adopted in January 2010) allows the potential for 

additional housing development at Orchard Park in place of other uses, and 
identified three known additional land parcels for housing. The Site Specific 
Policies DPD (January 2010) anticipated that these two sites could provide 80 
dwellings and design criteria for these two sites are included in the Orchard Park 
Design Guidance SPD (March 2011). The proximity of these two sites to the A14 
means that noise and air quality constraints will influence the design and layout of 
the sites, and mitigation measures will need to be agreed through the planning 
application process. 
 

A.10. The landowner has submitted outline planning applications for 15 townhouses on 
parcel L2 (S/1760/14) and 132 apartments on parcel Com4 (S/2248/14). Together 
the landowner’s proposals for these two parcels would provide 67 additional 
dwellings compared to the number anticipated in the Site Specific Policies DPD, 

Page 280



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

135 

however until planning permission is granted, the Council is only relying on these two 
sites providing 80 dwellings. The landowner anticipates that development could start 
on site in 2016-2017.       

   
Northstowe – Phase 2 and later phases 

 
A.11. Northstowe is a planned new settlement of up to 10,000 dwellings to the north west 

of Cambridge, adjacent to the villages of Longstanton and Oakington. The 
Northstowe Area Action Plan was adopted in July 2007. Development of the whole 
of the new town is dependent on upgrades to the A14 to increase capacity.  
 

A.12. In July 2012, the Northstowe Joint Development Control Committee endorsed (with 
some revisions) the site wide masterplan as a material consideration for all 
subsequent planning applications. An outline planning application (S/2011/14) for 
phase 2 (up to 3,500 dwellings, a secondary school, two primary schools, a town 
centre and sports hub) was submitted in August 2014. 
 

A.13. The landowner anticipates that the enabling works for the construction of phase 2 
and the later phases (which will provide approximately 8,500 dwellings) will start in 
early 2016, with the first 50 dwellings completed in 2018-2019. The landowner has 
indicated that the majority of phase 2 will be constrained until improvements have 
been made to the A14. It is anticipated that the Highways Agency will submit the 
Development Consent Order for the A14 improvements to the Planning Inspectorate 
in Autumn 201417.  
 
Fulbourn & Ida Darwin Hospitals 

 
A.14. Within the Fulbourn and Ida Darwin Hospitals Major Developed Site in the Green 

Belt, the Ida Darwin Hospital part of the site was allocated in the Site Specific 
Policies DPD (adopted in January 2010) for redevelopment for housing with the 
relocation of the medical and related uses to the Fulbourn Hospital part of the site. 
The site could provide up to 275 dwellings. The site will be developed in phases, 
starting with the relocation of the medical uses to the Fulbourn Hospital site.  
 

A.15. An outline planning application for up to 180 dwellings, a 70 unit extra care facility 
and open space was submitted to the Council in May 2013 along with a development 
brief for the site. The Council's planning committee in June 2014 endorsed the 
development brief as a material consideration for all subsequent planning 
applications, but refused the outline planning application due to the absence of any 
appropriate community facilities.  
 

A.16. The agent advises that following the refusal of planning permission the landowner is 
reviewing the way forward, however due to the discussions undertaken during the 
consideration of the planning application it is unlikely that the site will be able to 
accommodate any more than 230 dwellings. The agent also advises that subject to 
securing planning permission, the earliest development could start on site is 2016. 

 

                                                
17 http://www.highways.gov.uk/roads/road-projects/a14-cambridge-to-huntingdon-improvement-
scheme/  

Page 281



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

136 

Papworth Everard West Central 
 
A.17. The Site Specific Policies DPD (adopted in January 2010) identifies an area in the 

centre of Papworth Everard for mixed-use redevelopment to enhance the village 
centre. This is anticipated to take the form of a number of separate developments of 
individual land parcels within the policy area. Discussions have taken place with 
landowners and stakeholders regarding the implementation of the policy. 
 

A.18. Land south of Church Lane (S/0623/13 & S/0624/13): the Council’s planning 
committee in November 2013 gave officers delegated powers to approve a hybrid 
planning application for the erection of up to 58 dwellings, 8 units for either housing 
or business use, a brewhouse, a bakery, community rooms, car parking, open space 
and landscaping, subject to the prior completion of a s106 agreement. The s106 
agreement is being progressed and the agent anticipates that construction could 
start in 2015 and be completed by 2018. 
 

A.19. Catholic Church site: this site could provide 2 dwellings. A planning application 
(S/2196/13) for the erection of a dwelling and the renovation of the church building 
was refused in August 2014 as the applicant has failed to provide contributions 
towards community facilities and public open space necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. The agent anticipates that a new 
planning application for a dwelling will be submitted in Spring 2015. It is unclear 
exactly when construction will start, however it is reasonable to assume the site will 
be completed within five years.  

 
 

b. Existing Planning Permissions 
 

Trumpington Meadows (Cambridge Southern Fringe, S/0054/08 & S/0160/11) 
 
A.20. Trumpington Meadows is a housing-led mixed-use development on the southern 

edge of Cambridge including land in both South Cambridgeshire and Cambridge 
City. The Cambridge Southern Fringe Area Action Plan covers the part of the site 
within South Cambridgeshire and was adopted in February 2008. The s106 
agreement was signed and outline planning permission was granted on 9 October 
2009. The site is expected to deliver 1,200 dwellings on land straddling the 
Cambridge City – South Cambridgeshire boundary, with approximately half in South 
Cambridgeshire.  
 

A.21. In Summer 2011, the two Councils granted detailed planning permissions for phase 
1, which includes 29 dwellings in South Cambridgeshire. Construction of phase 1 is 
underway. Pre-application discussions are underway for the next phases of the 
development. The developer anticipates that the phases in South Cambridgeshire 
will be completed in 2020.    

 
 
 
 

Page 282



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

137 

North West Cambridge – University Site (S/1886/11 and related Reserved 
Matters permissions) 

 
A.22. South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridge City Council jointly adopted 

the North West Cambridge Area Action Plan in October 2009. The development, 
between Madingley Road and Huntingdon Road, will be predominantly for the long-
term needs of Cambridge University. This will include 50% key worker housing for 
University staff, student housing, new faculty buildings and research facilities, a local 
centre and market housing. The site as a whole is expected to deliver 3,000 
dwellings plus 2,000 student units, and the Area Action Plan anticipated that 1,450 
dwellings would be provided in South Cambridgeshire. 

 
A.23. Outline planning permission for the site was granted in February 2013 and the first 

detailed planning applications have been approved. Earthworks commenced in 2013 
and construction of the access to the site is underway. The landowner anticipates 
that 1,155 dwellings will be provided in South Cambridgeshire and the first dwellings 
in our district will be completed in 2015-2016. 

 
Orchard Park – additional land parcels (Q, former HRCC site & Com2) including 
local centre (S/2559/11, S/1179/13, S/2064/13 & S/0573/14) 

 
A.24. The Site Specific Policies DPD (adopted in January 2010) allows the potential for 

additional housing development at Orchard Park in place of other uses, and 
identified three known additional land parcels for housing. A hybrid planning 
application incorporating an outline planning application for 112 dwellings and a full 
planning application for a local centre and 28 flats was granted in February 2013, 
and three detailed planning permissions for 112 dwellings have since been granted. 
Multiple developers are working on site, and the agents anticipate that these 
schemes will be completed in 2017.   
 
Northstowe – Phase 1 (S/0388/12 & S/0390/12) 

 
A.25. Northstowe is a planned new settlement of up to 10,000 dwellings to the north west 

of Cambridge, adjacent to the villages of Longstanton and Oakington. The 
Northstowe Area Action Plan was adopted in July 2007. Development of the whole 
of the new town is dependent on upgrades to the A14 to increase capacity.  
 

A.26. A site wide masterplan and an outline application for phase 1 were submitted in 
February 2012. In July 2012, the Northstowe Joint Development Control Committee 
endorsed (with some revisions) the site wide masterplan as a material consideration 
for all subsequent planning applications.  

 
A.27. Outline planning permission for phase 1 (up to 1,500 dwellings, a primary school, a 

mixed-use local centre, leisure, community, health and employment uses, a 
household recycling centre, recreational space, infrastructure works and the 
demolition of existing buildings and structures) was granted in April 2014. Planning 
applications to discharge conditions and for reserved matters have been submitted. 
Work has commenced on archaeological investigations and work is expected to start 

Page 283



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

138 

on the infrastructure and earthworks in Autumn 2014. The landowner anticipates that 
the construction of phase 1 will be completed in 2022-2023.  
 
Cambourne – additional 950 dwellings (S/6438/07, S/1504/11, S/2111/11, 
S/2398/11, S/0350/12, S/1610/12, S/2596/11, S/0396/13, S/0496/14 & S/0806/13) 

 
A.28. Cambourne is a new settlement to the west of Cambridge and was originally 

anticipated to provide approximately 3,000 dwellings with a 10% reserve. Changes to 
government policy required higher minimum densities from new development to 
make more efficient use of land, and therefore the Site Specific Policies DPD 
states that it is appropriate that the remaining areas at Cambourne should be 
developed at higher densities so that the average net density of the settlement as a 
whole is raised to 30 dwellings per hectare. Outline planning permission to increase 
the capacity by 950 dwellings was granted in October 2011. Detailed planning 
permissions for 627 dwellings have been granted and construction has started. It is 
anticipated that the development will be completed in 2019. 

 
Former Bayer CropScience Site (S/2308/06 & S/1152/12) 

 
A.29. The former Bayer CropScience site is a brownfield redevelopment site located on the 

A10 near Hauxton. The site is allocated for a sustainable mixed-use development in 
the Site Specific Policies DPD (adopted in January 2010). Outline planning 
permission was granted for a scheme including up to 380 dwellings in February 
2010. The site was contaminated and remediation works have been undertaken and 
signed off. Detailed planning permission for phase 1 (201 dwellings) was granted in 
December 2012. Detailed masterplanning of the site has resulted in the site being 
anticipated to provide only 285 dwellings, rather than 380 dwellings as anticipated in 
the outline planning permission. The agent anticipates that construction will start in 
Autumn 2014 and that the development will be completed in mid 2020.  

 
Historic Rural Allocations with planning permission 

 
A.30. West of Ermine Street South, Papworth Everard (S/1101/10, S/0507/12, 

S1509/12, S/1424/08, S/1624/08, S/1688/08 & S/1523/13): this is a village extension 
originally allocated in the Local Plan 1993. The site has detailed planning permission 
for 351 dwellings following the demolition of 6 existing dwellings. The six existing 
dwellings have been demolished and construction of the development is underway. 
Two housebuilders are working on the site, and it is anticipated that the development 
will be completed in 2017. 
 
Windfall Sites: ‘Estate sized’ (9 or more dwellings) 

 
A.31. Land at Moores Farm, Fowlmere Road, Foxton (S/1029/10): the site has outline 

planning permission for 14 dwellings, which will lapse in November 2014. A detailed 
planning application for 15 dwellings was submitted in August 2014. It is unclear 
exactly when construction will start, and therefore no allowance has been made for 
housing on this site in the housing trajectory. 

 

Page 284



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

139 

A.32. Windmill Estate, Fulbourn (S/2013/11): this is a redevelopment of a 1960s Council 
estate as a partnership between South Cambridgeshire District Council and Accent 
Nene Housing Society for the provision of new homes for rent, shared ownership and 
outright sale and a new community centre. The final phase (2b, 79 dwellings) is 
under construction and the developer anticipates that the scheme will be completed 
in Autumn 2014. 

 
A.33. Land to the west of 22a West Road, Gamlingay (S/0261/09 & S/1886/14): the site 

has planning permission for 10 dwellings. The access drive has been constructed 
and all conditions have been discharged, therefore the planning permission will not 
lapse. A planning application seeking to revise the appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale was granted in September 2014. The agent anticipates that the 
development will start on site in 2015 and be completed in 2017. 
 

A.34. Land at 12 Green Street, Willingham (S/2285/10): the site has planning permission 
for 9 dwellings following the demolition of an existing dwelling. At March 2014, the 
existing dwelling had been demolished, 7 dwellings had been completed and 2 
dwellings were under construction. The development is now complete. 
 

A.35. Gretton Court, High Street, Girton (S/1778/10): planning permission for 12 extra 
care apartments lapsed in June 2014 and the landowner has indicated that the 
proposal has been abandoned. No allowance is therefore made for housing on this 
site in the housing trajectory. 

 
A.36. The Railway Tavern, Station Road, Great Shelford (S/0133/11): the site has 

planning permission for 13 flats following the demolition of the existing public house 
and flat above. Pre-application discussions have been undertaken for a revised 
proposal for the erection of 12 dwellings following the demolition of the existing 
public house and flat above. Subject to planning permission, the agent anticipates 
that the development will start on site in early 2015 and be completed in late 2015 / 
early 2016. 
 

A.37. Land at junction of Nelson Crescent & High Street, Longstanton (S/1463/10): 
the site has planning permission for the erection of a convenience store and four 
commercial units with 6 flats above and the erection of 4 new dwellings. Construction 
started in November 2013 and the agent anticipates that the development will be 
completed in Autumn 2014. 
 

A.38. 57 Brickhills, Willingham (S/0733/11): the site has planning permission for 19 
dwellings. The agent anticipates that construction will start on site in Autumn 2014 
and that the development will take 12 months to complete. 

 
A.39. Land at Station Road, Gamlingay (S/1771/08 & S/1948/12): the site has detailed 

planning permission for 85 dwellings and outline planning permission for employment 
and open space uses. The scheme is under construction and the developer 
anticipates that it will be completed in 2017. 

 
A.40. Land at the junction of Long Drove and Beech Road, Cottenham (S/2509/12): 

the site has planning permission for 47 dwellings. The developer anticipates that 

Page 285



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

140 

construction will start in Summer 2014 and that the scheme will be completed in 
Summer 2016.  
 

A.41. SCA Packaging Ltd, Villa Road, Histon (S/0809/12): the site has planning 
permission for 72 dwellings. At March 2014, 70 dwellings had been completed and 2 
dwellings were under construction. The development is now complete.  
 

A.42. 31 The Moor, Melbourn (S/2609/11, S/1798/10 & S/1422/14): the site has planning 
permission for 11 dwellings following the demolition of the existing dwelling. The 
Council’s planning committee in August 2014 gave officers delegated power to 
approve the application subject to the prior completion of a s106 agreement. The 
agent anticipates that construction will start in 2015 and that the scheme will be 
completed in 2016. 

 
A.43. Land at Former EDF Energy Depot & Training Centre, Ely Road, Milton 

(S/0983/11 & S/1388/12): the site has detailed planning permission for 89 dwellings, 
a sports pavilion and open space, and the restoration the Humphrey Repton 
landscape, and outline planning permission for the restoration of North Lodge. The 
scheme is under construction and the developer anticipates that it will be completed 
by December 2015.  

 
A.44. Macfarlane Grieve House, Church Lane, Papworth Everard (S/0820/12, 

S/0879/14 & S/0047/14): the site has planning permission for the refurbishment of 
the existing buildings to create 24 self-contained flats and the erection of 11 self-
contained flats for assisted living. The Council’s planning committee in August 2014 
approved a planning application for 2 bungalows for assisted living to be provided 
instead of the 11 new self-contained flats. A revised scheme is also being considered 
to increase the number of self-contained flats provided in the refurbished buildings 
from 24 to 28. Construction is already underway and the agent anticipates that the 
development will be completed in Spring 2015. 
 

A.45. Robson Court, Waterbeach (S/2064/12): the site has planning permission for the 
demolition of 35 shared amenity apartments for the homeless and the erection of 30 
self-contained apartments for the homeless. The development is under construction 
and is expected to be completed in early 2015. 
 

A.46. Old School Site, Former John Faulkner Infants School, The Baulks, Sawston 
(S/1783/12 & S/1786/12): the site has planning permission for 10 dwellings. 
Construction has started and the agent anticipates that the development will be 
completed in Summer 2015. 

 
A.47. Land at Church Street, Great Eversden (S/1044/11): the site has planning 

permission for the erection of 10 affordable dwellings. A planning application for a 
revised scheme was submitted in June 2014 (S/1344/14). It is anticipated that 
construction will start on site in April 2015.  
 

A.48. Land at London Road, Great Shelford and Granta Terrace, Stapleford 
(S/1725/12, S/1727/12, S/1728/12, S/1023/14 & S/0990/14): three sites have outline 
planning permission for the erection of up to 66 dwellings and open space following 
the demolition of existing Welch’s Group buildings. Two detailed planning 

Page 286



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

141 

permissions for 18 dwellings have been approved, and a detailed planning 
application for 44 dwellings has been submitted (S/1800/14). The developer 
anticipates that construction will start in Autumn 2014 and be completed in Autumn 
2016.  
 

A.49. 9-15 Cambridge Road, Linton (S/2420/12): the site has planning permission for the 
erection of 18 affordable dwellings following the demolition of 4 existing dwellings 
and the former police station. The existing dwellings and police station have been 
demolished and construction of the new dwellings has started. It is anticipated that 
the scheme will be completed in Spring 2015.   

 
A.50. 93 Cinques Road, Gamlingay (S/2230/12 & S/2664/13): the site has planning 

permission for 9 dwellings following the demolition of the existing dwelling. The 
existing dwelling has been demolished and the new dwellings are under 
construction. The agent anticipates that the development will be completed in early 
2015.  
 
Windfall Sites: Small Sites (8 or less dwellings) 

 
A.51. At 31 March 2014, there were 121 dwellings with planning permission on small sites 

already under construction. It has not been practical to explore the delivery of each 
of these sites with the landowner, developer or agent, however as the majority of 
dwellings are under construction it is considered reasonable to count all of these 
dwellings. All these dwellings are anticipated to be completed within two years. 

 
A.52. At 31 March 2014, there were 223 dwellings with planning permission on small sites 

not under construction. It has not been practical to explore the delivery of each of 
these sites with the landowner, developer or agent, and as development has yet to 
start it is considered necessary to make an allowance for a proportion of sites that 
may not come forward for development. A 10% allowance for non-delivery has been 
used, which is an approach supported by the Inspectors examining the Council’s 
Local Development Framework documents when assessing housing supply. On this 
basis, 201 dwellings are anticipated to be completed within five years. 

 
 
c. Planning Applications for 9 or more Dwellings where Decision 

to Grant Planning Permission either Awaiting the Signing of a 
s106 Agreement or Resolution of Outstanding Issues (at 31 
March 2014) 
 

A.53. Land west of Longstanton (S/1970/07): the Council's planning committee has 
approved an application to increase the site from 510 to 546 dwellings subject to the 
prior completion of a s106 agreement. This would provide an additional 36 dwellings. 
There are still issues to be resolved relating to the s106 agreement and therefore no 
allowance is made for housing on this site in the housing trajectory.  
 

A.54. 53 Woodside, Longstanton (S/2290/10): the Council’s planning committee in May 
2012 gave officers delegated powers to approve the planning application for the 
erection of 10 dwellings, subject to receipt of comments from Anglian Water updating 

Page 287



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

142 

their previous comments and the prior completion of a s106 agreement. The 
developer anticipates that construction could start on site in Autumn / Winter 2014 
and be completed in Autumn / Winter 2015. 

 
 
d. New Allocations 
 

Strategic Sites 
 
A.55. Land between Huntingdon Road, Histon Road & A14 (NIAB 3 or Darwin Green 

3): the site is allocated in the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) as an extension 
to the NIAB 2 allocation. The site is located on the edge of Cambridge and its 
allocation will remove a small additional area of land from the Green Belt. This 
additional land has capacity for approximately 100 dwellings. The predicted annual 
housing completions for both NIAB 2 (Darwin Green 2) and NIAB 3 (Darwin Green 3) 
have been combined in the housing trajectory and are shown in the ‘adopted 
allocations without planning permission’ section.  
 

A.56. Northstowe Reserve: the new town of Northstowe was originally planned in the 
Northstowe Area Action Plan with an area of reserve land to the west of the town. 
The reserve land is allocated in the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014) to provide 
flexibility for the phasing and delivery of the new town. The additional land will not 
increase the total number of new homes delivered by 2031.   
 

A.57. Waterbeach New Town: land north of Waterbeach is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for the creation of a sustainable new town. The new town 
will provide 8,000 to 9,000 dwellings and employment, retail, sports and leisure, 
community, and education uses. Policy SS/5 of the Local Plan assumes that no 
more than 1,400 dwellings will be completed by 2031 and Policy SS/12 requires the 
development to be phased so that the first housing completions will be in 2026.  
 

A.58. The landowners / developers have indicated that development could start on site 
considerably earlier than anticipated by the Council in the Local Plan (submitted in 
March 2014). This would not be consistent with Policy SS/5 and therefore until the 
landowner’s / developer’s proposal has been considered through the examination of 
the Local Plan, the Council is only relying on this site to provide 1,400 dwellings by 
2031 to the timetable published in the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014).      
 

A.59. Bourn Airfield New Village: land at Bourn Airfield is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for the development of a new village of approximately 
3,500 dwellings. The development will include a new secondary school and at least 
two primary schools. Policy SS/6 of the Local Plan requires the development to be 
phased so that the first housing completions will be in 2022 and that no more than 
1,700 dwellings will be completed by 2031. 
 

A.60. The developer has indicated that the site is available immediately and that 
development could start on site in mid 2019 and be completed in 2031. The 
developer’s timetable for delivery is not consistent with Policy SS/6 and therefore 
until the developer’s proposal has been considered through the examination of the 

Page 288



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

143 

Local Plan, the Council is only relying on this site to provide 1,700 dwellings by 2031 
to the timetable published in the Local Plan (submitted in March 2014).  
 

A.61. Cambourne West: land north west of Lower Cambourne, including an area of land 
within the current Business Park, is allocated in the Local Plan (submitted in March 
2014) for the development of a sustainable, fourth linked village to Cambourne. The 
site has capacity for approximately 1,200 dwellings with high levels of green 
infrastructure.  
 

A.62. The developer is seeking, through representations submitted on the Proposed 
Submission Local Plan (July 2013), the allocation of a larger residential development 
with a capacity of 2,350 dwellings. The developer has indicated that development 
could start on site for the larger scheme in 2016 and be completed in 2028, 
assuming an average of 220 dwellings per year. Until the developer’s proposal has 
been considered through the examination of the Local Plan, the Council is only 
relying on this site to provide 1,200 dwellings to the timetable published in the Local 
Plan (submitted in March 2014).   

 
Village Sites 
 

A.63. The majority of new housing will be delivered through extensions to Cambridge, the 
delivery of new settlements, and the expansion of Cambourne. However eight new 
sites in six of the more sustainable villages have also been allocated in the Local 
Plan (submitted in March 2014). 
 

A.64. Dales Manor Business Park, Sawston: the site is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for 200 dwellings and light industrial and office uses. The 
site is not available immediately, but part will become available for development in 
early 2017. The agent anticipates that development will start on site in early 2017 
and be completed in Spring 2024. The phasing of delivery takes account of the 
leaseholds on the site.  
 

A.65. Land north of Babraham Road, Sawston: the site is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for 80 dwellings. The agent anticipates that development 
will start on site in Summer / Autumn 2016 and be completed in Spring 2019. 
 

A.66. Land south of Babraham Road, Sawston: the site is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for 260 dwellings. The agent responding on behalf of all 
landowners anticipates that development will start on site in 2017-2018 and be 
completed in 2023-2024.  
 

A.67. Land north of Impington Lane, Impington: the site is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for 25 dwellings. The landowners are seeking, through 
representations submitted on the Proposed Submission Local Plan (July 2013), the 
allocation of a larger residential development with a capacity of approximately 74 
dwellings. Until the landowners proposals have been considered through the 
examination of the Local Plan, the Council is only relying on this site to provide 25 
dwellings. The agent anticipates that development will start on site in early 2016 and 
be completed within two years. 
 

Page 289



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

144 

A.68. Land west of New Road, Melbourn: the site is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for 65 dwellings. The site has multiple landowners. A 
planning application (S/2048/14) for 64 dwellings on land south west of Victoria Way 
(the larger part of the allocation) was submitted in August 2014. The agent acting on 
behalf of the landowner of this area has indicated that development will start on site 
in 2015-2016 and be completed in 2018-2019. The landowner of 36 New Road has 
indicated that his land could provide 15 dwellings. Together this would provide a 
higher number of dwellings than included as a notional capacity in the Local Plan. 
Until the landowners proposals have been considered through the planning 
application process, the Council is only relying on this site to provide 65 dwellings.    
 

A.69. Green End Industrial Estate, Gamlingay: the site is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for 90 dwellings and light industrial and/or office uses. The 
agent has indicated that the site could provide 120 dwellings if the employment uses 
could be relocated to another site within the village. The agent has indicated that 
development could start on site in 2016 and deliver 30 dwellings per year. Until the 
landowners proposals have been considered through the planning application 
process, the Council is only relying on this site to provide 90 dwellings.  
 

A.70. Land at Bennell Farm, West Street, Comberton: the site is allocated in the Local 
Plan (submitted in March 2014) for 90 dwellings, a full size football pitch and 
changing facilities, and community car parking. The agent has indicated that the 
landowners are currently progressing technical work to demonstrate that the required 
drainage and transport infrastructure can be delivered and that a planning application 
will be submitted in early 2015. The agent anticipates that development will start on 
site in 2015-2016 and be completed in 2018-2019. 
 

A.71. East of Rockmill End, Willingham: the site is allocated in the Local Plan 
(submitted in March 2014) for 50 dwellings. The agent anticipates that development 
will start on site in 2016 and be completed in 2018.  

 
Parish Council Proposals 
 
Three Sites in Great and Little Abington 
 

A.72. The Parish Councils of Great and Little Abington are promoting three small scale 
housing developments to meet identified local housing needs, primarily for market 
housing but also including some affordable homes. All of the sites were considered 
through the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) which 
concluded that they were not potentially capable of providing residential development 
due to site factors and constraints including landscape heritage and noise impacts. 
 

A.73. The Parish Council did not concur with the conclusions in the SHLAA and as an 
alternative to taking forward a Neighbourhood Plan consulted local people about 
whether the sites should or should not be allocated for housing development. The 
consultation provided clear evidence of local support and therefore the Council has 

Page 290



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

145 

proposed a major modification (MM/7/0118) to the Local Plan to allocate these three 
sites for housing. 
 

A.74. Land at Linton Road, Great Abington: the major modification proposes that the site 
is allocated for 35 dwellings. The agent anticipates that development will start on site 
in 2015-2016 and be completed in 2016-2017. 
 

A.75. Land at junction of High Street & Pampisford Road, Great Abington: the major 
modification proposes that the site is allocated for 12 dwellings. The Committee for 
Abington Housing and the landowner anticipate that development will start on site in 
early 2016 and be completed in Spring 2017. 

 
A.76. Land at Bancroft Farm, Little Abington: the major modification proposes that the 

site is allocated for 6 dwellings. The agent anticipates that development will start and 
be completed in 2015-2016. The site is a former farmyard and therefore 
investigations will need to be undertaken to determine if decontamination is required.  

 
Land at Toseland Road, Graveley 
 

A.77. Graveley Parish Council is promoting a small scale housing development at 
Toseland Road to meet identified local housing needs, primarily for market housing 
but also including some affordable homes. As an alternative to taking forward a 
Neighbourhood Plan the Parish Council consulted local people about whether the 
site should or should not be allocated for housing development. The consultation 
provided clear evidence of local support and therefore the Council has proposed a 
major modification (MM/7/0219) to the Local Plan to allocate this site for 6 dwellings. 
The landowner anticipates that the development will start and be completed in 2016. 

 
 
e. Windfall Sites 
 
A.78. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) says that an allowance may be 

made for windfall sites if local planning authorities have compelling evidence that 
such sites have consistently become available in the local area and will continue to 
provide a reliable source of supply. 
 

A.79. In South Cambridgeshire, analysis of housing completions between 2006 and 2012, 
shows that an average of 208 dwellings per year have been completed on windfall 
sites. This excludes any dwellings completed on garden land as required by the 
NPPF, and dwellings completed on allocated land as these are not windfall sites. 
 

A.80. The housing trajectory includes two types of windfall sites: (i) identified; and (ii) 
unidentified. Identified windfall sites are developments with planning permission that 
are on land not land allocated in the Local Plan or Local Development Framework. 
Unidentified windfalls are developments that are not yet known about that will come 

                                                
18 Schedule of Proposed Major Modifications to the Proposed Submission Local Plan: 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/major-modifications-and-minor-changes  
19 Schedule of Proposed Major Modifications to the Proposed Submission Local Plan: 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/major-modifications-and-minor-changes  

Page 291



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

146 

forward in future on land not allocated. The housing trajectory includes an allowance 
for unidentified windfall sites.   
 

A.81. Identified windfall sites are predicted to deliver over 200 dwellings a year in the first 
two years of the housing trajectory (2014-2016) and just under 200 dwellings in 
2016-2017 and therefore no allowance for unidentified windfall sites is included in the 
housing trajectory. For the remaining years an annual windfall allowance (rounded to 
the nearest 50 dwellings) is included that together with the predicted completions on 
identified windfall sites does not exceed 200 dwellings a year. It is anticipated that 
unidentified windfall sites will deliver 2,600 dwellings by 2031.  

 
 
f. Planning Permissions Granted between 1 April and 31 August 

2014 
 

Windfall Sites: ‘Estate sized’ (9 or more dwellings) 
 
A.82. West of Cody Road, Waterbeach (S/0645/13): planning permission for the erection 

of 60 dwellings, car parking, open space and a children’s play area was allowed on 
appeal in June 2014. The agent anticipates that development will start on site in 
2015 and be completed in 2017.  
 

A.83. North of Bannold Road, Waterbeach (S/1359/13): outline planning permission for 
residential development of up to 90 homes was allowed on appeal in June 2014. The 
developer anticipates that the development will start on site in Spring 2015 and be 
completed in Spring 2017. 
 

A.84. Showmans Site, Kneesworth Road, Meldreth (S/2607/12): planning permission for 
the variation of the original planning permission (S/0177/03) to allow an additional 10 
plots was granted in May 2014. This planning permission regularises 6 plots and 
permits 4 new plots. The 4 new plots cannot be occupied until conditions relating to 
the provision and implementation of surface water drainage, the provision and 
maintenance of the area of public open space, and the provision of a footpath along 
the north west side of Kneesworth Road have been discharged. It is unclear exactly 
when the 4 new plots will be provided and therefore no allowance has been made for 
these 4 plots in the housing trajectory.  
 

A.85. Land adjacent to 13 Hurdleditch Road, Orwell (S/2379/13): planning permission 
for 15 affordable dwellings was granted in April 2014. Construction started on site in 
June 2014 and it is anticipated that the scheme will be completed in January 2015. 
 

A.86. Granta Processors, Mill Lane, Whittlesford (S/0641/13): outline planning 
permission for 16 dwellings following the demolition of existing buildings was granted 
in May 2014. The site is not available immediately as the existing active employment 
use on the site needs to be relocated. The agent anticipates that construction could 
start on site in Spring 2016 and be completed in late 2017.  
 
 
 

Page 292



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

147 

 Windfall Sites: Small Sites (8 or less dwellings) 
 
A.87. Between 1 April and 31 August 2014, 66 dwellings were granted planning permission 

on small sites that did not already have planning permission at 31 March 2013. It has 
not been practical to explore the delivery of each of these sites with the landowner, 
developer or agent, and as development has yet to start it is considered necessary to 
make an allowance for a proportion of sites that may not come forward for 
development. A 10% allowance for non-delivery has been used, which is an 
approach supported by the Inspectors examining the Council’s Local Development 
Framework documents when assessing housing supply. On this basis, 59 dwellings 
are anticipated to be completed during the plan period. 

 
 
g. Planning Applications for 9 or more Dwellings where Decision 

to Grant Planning Permission either Awaiting the Signing of a 
s106 Agreement or Resolution of Outstanding Issues (since 1 
April 2014) 

 
A.88. North of Fen Drayton, Swavesey (S/2312/13): the Council's planning committee in 

April 2014 gave officers delegated powers to approve the erection of 20 affordable 
dwellings, subject to the completion of a s106 agreement. It is anticipated that 
construction will start on site in Autumn 2014 and that the development will be 
completed in Summer / Autumn 2015. 
 

A.89. Rear of Cygnus Business Park, Swavesey (S/1329/13): the Council's planning 
committee in July 2014 gave officers delegated powers to approve the application for 
12 dwellings subject to the consideration of any comments received in respect of the 
revised scheme, confirmation that the viability of the scheme precludes a different 
market housing mix, and the prior completion of a s106 agreement. The agent 
anticipates that development will start on site in early 2015 and be completed in 
Summer 2016. 
 

A.90. Rear of 131 The Causeway, Bassingbourn-cum-Kneesworth (S/1199/13): the 
Council's planning committee in August 2014 gave officers delegated powers to 
approve the erection of 20 dwellings, subject to an independent assessment being 
undertaken to determine the viability of providing additional affordable housing within 
the scheme and the prior completion of a s106 agreement. The agent anticipates 
that development will start on site in 2015 and be completed in 2016.  

 
 
 
 

Page 293



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

148 

Appendix 2: Data for Indicators 
 
a. Core and Local Output Indicators 
 
Figure A.1: Cumulative percentage of dwellings completed on PDL (Indicator LOA6) 
 

19
99

-2
00

1 

19
99

-2
00

2 

19
99

-2
00

3 

19
99

-2
00

4 

19
99

-2
00

5 

19
99

-2
00

6 

19
99

-2
00

7 

19
99

-2
00

8 

19
99

-2
00

9 

19
99

-2
01

0 

19
99

-2
01

1 

19
99

-2
01

2 

19
99

-2
01

3 

19
99

-2
01

4 

26% 25% 25% 26% 27% 27% 27% 29% 29% 30% 31% 31% 31% 32% 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure A.2: Percentage of dwellings completed on Previously Developed Land (Indicator 
CO-H3) 
 

19
99

-2
00

1 

20
01

-2
00

2 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

26% 22% 28% 26% 33% 29% 24% 40% 28% 51% 44% 31% 22% 46% 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure A.3: Net density of completed new housing developments on sites of 9 or more 
dwellings (Indicator LOB2) 
 
  Less than 30 dph Between 30 dph and 50 dph More than 50 dph 

1999-2001 75% 19% 6% 

2001-2002 48% 52% 0% 

2002-2003 76% 17% 6% 

2003-2004 42% 34% 24% 

2004-2005 51% 47% 2% 

2005-2006 44% 34% 23% 

2006-2007 29% 61% 10% 

2007-2008 35% 45% 20% 

2008-2009 7% 64% 30% 

2009-2010 22% 32% 46% 

2010-2011 34% 42% 25% 

2011-2012 46% 22% 32% 

2012-2013 74% 16% 10% 

2013-2014 20% 73% 7% 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 294



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

149 

Figure A.4: Average net density of completed new housing developments on sites of 9 or 
more dwellings (in dwellings per hectare, dph) (Indicator LOB3) 
 

19
99

-2
00

1 

20
01

-2
00

2 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

26.4 27.0 24.6 34.1 28.4 33.2 32.4 30.6 40.0 38.7 35.8 32.9 25.9 29.0 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure A.5: Affordable housing completions (Indicator CO-H5) 
 

  

19
99

-2
00

1 

20
01

-2
00

2 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Gross 
142 38 127 271 115 285 238 463 275 281 205 192 105 207 

9% 7% 19% 26% 18% 30% 23% 35% 39% 41% 29% 25% 16% 28% 

Net 
142 38 127 259 95 283 169 459 223 245 202 153 69 150 

9% 7% 19% 26% 17% 32% 18% 36% 37% 40% 31% 23% 12% 24% 

Acquisitions u/k u/k u/k u/k u/k u/k u/k u/k 19 17 1 10 0 11 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council; Affordable Homes – South 
Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure A.6: Affordable housing completions by tenure (Indicator LOA2) 
 
  Social rented Intermediate housing Intermediate housing 

2004-2005 81% 19% 0% 

2005-2006 52% 48% 0% 

2006-2007 51% 49% 0% 

2007-2008 65% 35% 0% 

2008-2009 67% 33% 0% 

2009-2010 64% 36% 0% 

2010-2011 70% 30% 0% 

2011-2012 52% 33% 15% 

2012-2013 30% 50% 19% 

2013-2014 20% 30% 50% 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council; Affordable Homes – South 
Cambridgeshire District Council 

Page 295



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1)     November 2014 

150 

Figure A.7: Gypsy & Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople plots completed 
(Indicators CO-H4 and LOA14) 
 

  

Permanent Gypsy & Traveller 
Pitches 

Gypsy & Traveller Pitches for 
Emergency Stopping 

Permanent Travelling 
Showpeople Plots 

Private Public Private Public Private Public 

1999-2001 18 0 0 0 0 0 

2001-2002 19 0 0 0 0 0 

2002-2003 17 0 0 0 0 0 

2003-2004 7 0 0 0 10 0 

2004-2005 8 0 0 0 11 0 

2005-2006 3 0 0 0 0 0 

2006-2007 1 0 0 0 0 0 

2007-2008 4 0 0 1 0 0 

2008-2009 8 0 0 0 0 0 

2009-2010 1 0 0 0 0 0 

2010-2011 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2011-2012 10 1 0 0 0 0 

2012-2013 32 0 0 0 0 0 

2013-2014 59 0 0 0 0 0 

 
At 31 March 2014, a further 2 Gypsy & Traveller pitches had temporary planning permission (time 
limited). 

 
Source: Planning & New Communities – South Cambridgeshire District Council; Research & 
Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure A.8: Total dwellings built by settlement category (Indicator LOE1iii) 
 

 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Edge of Cambridge 100 307 149 100 97 57 34 15 

Rural Centres 260 362 214 290 341 181 194 277 

Minor Rural Centres 141 164 57 100 70 91 82 74 

Group Villages 231 209 72 65 104 224 178 107 

Infill Villages 67 60 28 13 15 21 15 8 

Outside Village Frameworks 125 172 90 43 29 104 56 155 

 
Settlement category as in the adopted Local Development Framework, see Core Strategy Policies 
ST/4, ST/5, ST/6 and ST/7. 
 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 296



             
November 2014     Annual Monitoring Report (Part 1) 

151 

Figure A.9: Percentage of housing completions by number of bedrooms (Indicator LOA1) 
 
  1 or 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4 or more bedrooms unknown 

1999-2001 23% 22% 48% 7% 

2001-2002 19% 27% 47% 7% 

2002-2003 31% 34% 32% 3% 

2003-2004 35% 37% 26% 2% 

2004-2005 32% 36% 29% 3% 

2005-2006 39% 34% 23% 3% 

2006-2007 34% 30% 35% 0% 

2007-2008 48% 19% 31% 2% 

2008-2009 48% 31% 20% 1% 

2009-2010 51% 29% 21% 0% 

2010-2011 37% 32% 31% 0% 

2011-2012 45% 23% 31% 1% 

2012-2013 32% 34% 29% 5% 

2013-2014 39% 27% 27% 6% 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure A.10: Market housing completions on developments of up to 10 dwellings by number 
of bedrooms (Indicator LOA5) 
 

  

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 
1 or 2 bedrooms 29% 28% 36% 36% 38% 32% 40% 36% 

3 bedrooms 28% 22% 27% 30% 26% 31% 25% 21% 

4 or more 
bedrooms 43% 49% 36% 34% 37% 37% 35% 43% 

unknown 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
 

Page 297



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

152 

Figure A.11: Gross amount and type of completed employment floorspace (sqm) (Indicators 
CO-BD1i and M33) 
 
 B1 B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 TOTAL 

1999-2002 650 64,666 63,332 7,135 27,558 4,951 168,292 

2002-2003 320 13,561 37,890 2,229 3,950 5,457 63,407 

2003-2004 1,328 12,196 17,114 2,030 3,816 4,166 40,650 

2004-2005 0 5,543 14,958 2,806 3,274 3,238 29,819 

2005-2006 448 9,314 7,356 11,437 5,999 10,027 44,581 

2006-2007 0 10,440 5,299 5,646 15,600 1,263 38,248 

2007-2008 546 4,767 8,557 4,971 7,937 17,811 44,589 

2008-2009 64 6,780 57,162 8,282 5,363 8,024 85,675 

2009-2010 0 1,502 9,404 1,284 235 1,318 13,743 

2010-2011 8,141 1,183 10,891 673 3,277 2,706 26,871 

2011-2012 0 564 5,461 172 5,767 4,467 16,431 

2012-2013 4,821 1,112 574 870 8,359 6,561 22,297 

2013-2014 128 829 4,154 691 2,261 12,065 20,128 

TOTAL 16,446 132,457 242,152 48,226 93,396 82,054 614,731 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure A.12: Gross amount and type of completed employment land (ha) (Indicators 
LOA10i and M33) 
 
 B1 B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 TOTAL 

1999-2002 0.61 18.37 15.61 2.12 6.93 0.99 44.63 

2002-2003 0.03 4.73 10.43 1.00 0.64 0.78 17.60 

2003-2004 0.33 6.88 2.86 0.75 0.35 0.53 11.70 

2004-2005 0.00 2.32 6.34 2.04 0.45 1.70 12.86 

2005-2006 0.05 1.95 4.03 3.63 1.13 3.12 13.90 

2006-2007 0.00 2.22 0.96 1.81 3.77 1.46 10.22 

2007-2008 0.22 1.65 1.92 1.30 2.03 8.80 15.92 

2008-2009 0.00 4.58 13.60 2.19 4.75 3.10 28.22 

2009-2010 0.00 0.83 1.99 0.30 0.02 0.82 3.97 

2010-2011 3.77 0.60 7.43 0.07 1.18 0.71 13.75 

2011-2012 0.00 0.88 2.83 0.02 2.50 25.21 31.44 

2012-2013 1.66 0.53 0.52 0.84 1.65 2.02 7.21 

2013-2014 0.03 0.63 1.41 0.25 1.13 3.00 6.44 

TOTAL 6.70 46.15 69.93 16.32 26.53 52.23 217.86 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 298



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

153 

 
Figure A.13: Amount and type of completed employment floorspace (sqm) on PDL 
(Indicator CO-BD2) 
 

  B1 B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 Total on 
PDL 

% of total 
floorspace 

1999-2002 0 16,789 25,278 2,361 15,510 3,000 62,938 37% 

2002-2003 0 9,843 278 535 2,830 1,978 15,464 24% 

2003-2004 0 2,525 7,678 100 1,550 2,447 14,300 35% 

2004-2005 0 3,977 4,888 1,476 1,473 246 12,060 40% 

2005-2006 0 5,488 2,973 3,578 3,641 3,897 19,577 44% 

2006-2007 0 9,367 1,045 31 4,471 186 15,100 39% 

2007-2008 122 1,120 8,557 842 2,741 4,008 17,390 39% 

2008-2009 64 5,865 24,482 485 1,961 3,340 36,197 42% 

2009-2010 0 208 4,285 1,032 235 1,318 7,078 52% 

2010-2011 8,141 409 1,960 673 2,821 2,355 16,359 61% 

2011-2012 0 401 5,461 172 2,282 4,467 12,783 78% 

2012-2013 4,821 505 574 0 6,529 6,561 18,990 85% 

2013-2014 128 705 1,135 449 2,261 1,474 6,152 31% 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 
Figure A.14: Gross amount and type of employment land (ha) available with planning 
permission at 31 March 2014 (Indicators CO-BD3i and M34) 
 

  
Outline planning 

permissions 

Full & RM planning 
permissions - not 

started 

Full & RM planning 
permissions - under 

construction 

Total (with planning 
permission) 

B1 2.24 0.99 0.00 3.23 

B1a 11.59 7.11 1.25 19.94 

B1b 58.96 9.84 14.17 82.96 

B1c 2.55 4.03 8.39 14.98 

B2 14.35 15.49 1.48 31.32 

B8 3.30 2.68 6.07 12.04 

Total  92.98 40.14 31.35 164.48 

 
Source: Research & Monitoring – Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 299



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

154 

 
b. Significant Effects Indicators 
 
Figure A.15: KWh (kilowatt hours) of gas consumed per consumer per year (Indicator SE3i) 
 

 South Cambridgeshire Cambridgeshire 

2001 20,291 20,043 

2002 20,609 20,324 

2003 20,829 20,513 

2004 21,163 20,643 

2005 19,691 18,685 

2006 18,832 17,950 

2007 18,290 17,445 

2008 17,417 16,587 

2009 16,120 15,309 

2010 15,936 15,150 

2011 15,047 14,246 

2012 15,060 14,223 

2013 14,576 13,790 

 
Source: Department for Energy & Climate Change 
 
Figure A.16: KWh (kilowatt hours) of electricity consumed per consumer per year (Indicator 
SE3ii) 
 

 South Cambridgeshire Cambridgeshire 

2003 5,621 5,152 

2004 5,615 5,191 

2005 5,503 5,036 

2006 5,353 4,948 

2007 5,291 4,860 

2008 5,015 4,582 

2009 4,889 4,486 

2010 4,903 4,490 

2011 4,805 4,405 

2012 4,761 4,346 

2013 4,628 4,239 

 
NOTE: Electricity consumption statistics for 2003 and 2004 are an experimental series. 
 
Source: Department for Energy & Climate Change 
 

Page 300



             
March 2015      Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2) 

155 

Figure A.17: Water consumption per head per day (in litres) (Indicator SE5) 
 

 
2001- 
2002 

2002- 
2003 

2003- 
2004 

2004- 
2005 

2005- 
2006 

2006- 
2007 

2007- 
2008 

2008- 
2009 

2009- 
2010 

2010- 
2011 

Cambridge Water 
Company 141 142 151 148 148 141 136 136 138 141 

Industry Average 150 150 154 150 151 148 148 146 146 n/a 

 
Source: Ofwat 
 
Figure A.18: Residential development assessed for Code for Sustainable Homes (Indicator 
SE14) 
 

Cumulative number of certificates issued in South Cambridgeshire, at: 

 

Ju
n

-1
0 

S
ep

-1
0 

D
ec

-1
0 

M
ar

-1
1 

Ju
n

-1
1 

S
ep

-1
1 

D
ec

-1
1 

M
ar

-1
2 

Ju
n

-1
2 

S
ep

-1
2 

D
ec

-1
2 

M
ar

-1
3 

Ju
n

-1
3 

S
ep

-1
3 

D
ec

-1
3 

M
ar

-1
4 

Design Stage 123 150 197 256 262 348 366 406 425 433 469 604 669 705 720 1,179 

Post 
Construction 
Stage 

103 139 139 151 217 252 261 334 388 388 388 396 407 424 460 533 

 
Source: Department of Communities & Local Government (CLG) 
 
Figure A.19: Household waste collected per person per year (Indicator SE19) 
 
2002-2003 2003-2004 2004-2005 2005-2006 2006-2007 2007-2008 2008-2009 

354 kg 356 kg 422 kg 434 kg 448 kg 442 kg 427 kg 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 
Figure A.20: % household waste collected which is recycled or composted (Indicator SE20) 
 

 

20
02

-2
00

3 

20
03

-2
00

4 

20
04

-2
00

5 

20
05

-2
00

6 

20
06

-2
00

7 

20
07

-2
00

8 

20
08

-2
00

9 

20
09

-2
01

0 

20
10

-2
01

1 

20
11

-2
01

2 

20
12

-2
01

3 

20
13

-2
01

4 

Composted 5% 9% 29% 31% 33% 34% 35% 35% 33% 31% 30% 32% 

Recycled 18% 20% 18% 18% 18% 19% 19% 19% 23% 27% 26% 26% 

 
Source: South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Page 301



             
Annual Monitoring Report (Part 2)      March 2015 

156 

Figure A.21: % of all 15/16 year olds achieving 5 or more GCSE/GNVQ passes at A*-C 
grade (Indicator SE38) 
 

  
2005-
2006 

2006-
2007 

2007-
2008 

2008-
2009 

2009-
2010 

2010-
2011 

2011-
2012 

2012-
2013 

South Cambridgeshire 69% 73% 78% 81% 85% 83% 88% 87% 

Cambridgeshire LEA 60% 61% 66% 70% 76% 77% 80% 79% 

East of England 59% 61% 65% 69% 74% 78% 81% 80% 

 
Source: Cambridgeshire County Council 
 

Page 302



Updated: 26  February 2015 

Planning Portfolio Holder – Work Programme 2014-15 
 
 
Date of meeting 
 
Democratic 
Services deadline  

Title of Report 
 

Key or Non-Key? Reason Key 
Specify no(s) 
listed below 

Purpose of 
Report, ie For 
Recommendation 
/ Decision / 
Monitoring 

Lead Officer / 
Report Author 

Date added to 
Corporate 
Forward Plan 
(contact: Maggie 
Jennings 

9 June 2015 
 
DS Deadline 
5pm – Fri 29 May 

Affordable Housing 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document – 
Consultation– 
Timing will depend 
on examination  
 

Non-key?  Decision Jo Mills / David 
Roberts 

10 September 
2014 

9 June 2015 
 
DS Deadline 
5pm – Fri 29 May 

Flood and Water 
Management 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document (SPD) - 
agreement for 
consultation 
 

Non-key  To agree Flood 
and Water 
Management SPD 
for public 
consultation 

Jo Mills / Jon Dixon 
/ Jenny 
Nuttycombe 

10 September 
2014 

9 June 2015 
 
DS Deadline 
5pm – Fri 29 May  

Design Review 
Panel – Annual 
Review 
 

  Decision Jane Green / 
Bonnie Kwok 

 

A
genda Item

 8

P
age 303



Updated: 26  February 2015 

10 November 2015 
 
DS Deadline 
5pm – Fri 30 Oct 

Pre-application 
Advice Service – 
Review 

Key 1, 2 ? Monitoring / 
Decision 

Jane Green / John 
Koch 

 

 
Key Decisions 
 
1. it is likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the 
 service or function to which the decision relates, or 
 
2. it is likely to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area of the District comprising two or more wards. 
 In determining the meaning of `significant’ for the purposes of the above, the Council must have regard to any guidance for the time being issued by the 
 Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the 2000 Act (guidance)). 
 P

age 304


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	4 Section 106 planning obligations - speeding up negotiations: student accommodation and affordable housing contributions consultation
	Section 106 Appendix A
	Section 106 Appendix B

	5 South Cambridgeshire Local Plan - responding to the local green space landowner consultation
	Local green space Appendix A - Criteria used for Local Green Space
	Local green space Appendix B- Local Green Space - the sites included in the Submission Local Plan
	Local green space Appendix C- Summary  of representations received during 2014 consultation
	Local green space Appendix D  Schedule of assessment of Local Green Spaces
	Local Green Space Appendix E - Maps

	6 Response to building more homes on brownfield land Government consultation
	7 Local Development Framework annual monitoring report 2013-14 - part 2
	Appendix 1 South Cambs AMR 2013-2014 (Parts 1 & 2)

	8 Work Programme

